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DONALD J. TRUMP, SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY

LAW DIVISION, CIVIL PART
Plaintiff, CAMDEN COUNTY
vs,
DocketNo. 1.-545-06
TIMOTHY O'BRIEN, TIME WARNER
BOOK GROUP INC., WARNER BOOKS CERTIFICATION OF RHONA
INC,, GRATF-RICCIO
Defendants,

L, Rhona Graff-Riceio, of full age, certify as follows:
1. I am a Vice President and Assistant to the President of The Trump
Organization, 725 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10022. I have personal

knowledge of the fagts contained n this certification in accordance with R, 1:6-6.

2. Inoraround October 2006, Donald J. Trump, my employer, asked me to

coordinate the effort of publishing a glossy, gatefold, fall-color advertisement depicting
his reel estate holdings,

0EZE 99. 2131 . duAEL 4860 B00Z-¥E-Ud¥
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3. To develop the advertisement, we contracted with an outside vendor and
inourred costs in the hundreds of dollars. |

4,  7The advertisement was published on four dates in three publications:
The New York Times, on October 15, 2006 at a cost of $146,400 and on March 18, 2007
ata co.st of $100,000; New York Magazine, on October 30, 2006 at a ¢ost of $89,100;
and The New York Post, on March 21, 2007 at a cost of $45,000.

1 coxtify that the foregoing statements made by me are true. I am aware that if

any of the foregoing statements made by me are wilifully false, I am subject to

punishment, %
aGraﬂ'-ya’cciow{ 7 -
DATED: April 24, 2009
2
peee 9%k 218t 408l 8a:60 6002-¥g-ddY _
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DEFENDANTS’ REPLY TO
- ELAINTIFE’S RESPONSES TOQ
DEFENDANTS’ STATEMENTS OF MATERIAL FACTS

e e e e s — A L e T e R W 1)

Defendants address below only those of plaintiff’s responses to defcndan%’
statements of undisputed facts for which further explanation may be useful to show that
plaintiff has not demonstrated that tht‘are exists a genuine issue to be tried. Defendants’
decision not to address other responses herein does z;ot constitute an admission to the
assertions contained in plaintiff’s responses.

Defendants’ objections herein t;) the admissibility of certain documents or
testimony cited as support for pIaintiff’s statements are not intended to be
comprehensive. Defendants’ lack of anf; objection to the admissibility of any document

or testimony cited by plaintiff does not constitute waiver of any objection as to

admissibility if offered at trial.

detual Malice

Defendants® Statement 14
Plaintiff’s unsupported allegation does not establish a genuine dispute as to the
facts set forth in defendants’ statement 14, Defendants were not required to produce

documentary evidence substantiating the interviews of O’Brien and his research assistant, ]

See Trump v. O'Brien, 403 N.J, Super. 281, 301 (App. Div. 2008). PlaintifFwas
provided with the names and interview dates of all non-confidential sources and thus had

the means to establish whether the interviews occurred. (See Opp. Ex. BO; Ex 12 at 2-
14; Ex. 7 at 249-63,)
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Defendants’ Statement 15

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 15, The roles of Plambeck and O’Brien in conducting research do
not controvert the fact that tht;.y conducted extensive documentary research for the Book.
Lokey's testimony regarding the April 21, 20 05 mesting also does not controvert the fact
that O’Brien conducted extensivc; documentary resca.rch, and does not support plaintiff’s
contention that the information assembled for O’Brien on April 21, 2005 was “critical,”
particularly given the tes.timony of Weisselberg, Lokey, and Trump that the information
shown to O’Brien on April 21? 2005 related only to ownership of the properties, and not
to valuation. (Reply Ex. 115 at 167:7-168:19, 179:18-180:10; Reply Ex. 116 at 43:20-
45:21; Bx. 11. at 44:3-7, 269:5-270:3.) The 'exhibit citcc? by plaintiff (Opp. Ex. Y at 16:6-
15) does ﬁot support the al!egation that Patrick (5’Brien wasa “goIcimine[] of information
for the Book™; in fact, Patrick O’Brien testified he is a tax attorney, not a “real estate
lawyer.” (Reply Ex. 119 at 7:8-15.)- 'I"he exhibit cited by plaintiff (Opp. Ex. Y at 16:6-
15) also does not provide any information supporting the propositions that reporters and

contacts of reporters at The New York Times were “goldmines of information” and that

O’Brien ignored them.

Defendants’ Statement 16

PlaintifP’s reliance on the newsperson’s privilege, which the Appellate Division
concluded was appropriate, does not raise an issue of material fact as to the facts

contained in defendants’ statement 16, In addition, the exhibits cited in defendants’
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statement 16, including the endnotes to the Book, demonstrate the undisputed fact that in
researching and drafting the Book, O’Brien relied on interviews conducted prior to

O’Brien’s signing a contract for the Book. (Ex. 18; Ex. 7 at 249-63.)

Defendants’ Statement 20

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 20. Nothing in plaintiff's response specifically controverts the
statement that in Chapter Six of the Book, O’Brien wrote about the extensive public

discussion regarding Trump’s net worth over the years. (See Ex. 7 at 143-74.)

Defendants’ Statements 21-29, 33, and 49-51

PlaintifPs response does not estapliéh a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statements 21 through 29, 33, and 49 through 51. Trump was provided with
discovery regarding the confidential sources, including the notes of O'Brien’s interviews
with the confidential sources, interrogatories regarding O’Brien’s efforts to confirm the
sources’ reliability and regarding other accurate financial information on Trump’s
finances the sources had provided, and O’Brien’s deposition testimony, att of which
support these factual statements, (See Ex. 15; Ex. 16; Ex. 17; Ex. 29 at 6-8 (Interrog. No.
1); Ex. 2 at 44:10-48:25, 330:10-17, 342:24-362:11, 616:12-647:11, 658:8-685:17,
690:11-706:2.) Plaintiff produced no evidence to the contrary. In addition, the Appellate
Division has held that the identity of the confidential sources was covered by the
newsperson’s privilege. See Trump, 403 N.J. Super. at 298-301, Plaintiff's reliance on

the newsperson’s privilege, which the Appellate Division concluded was appropriate,
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does not raise an issue of material fact as to'the facts contained in defendants® statements

21 through 29, 33, and 49 thrqugh 31,

¥

Defendants® Statements 31 and 32
Plaintiff’s response does not establish a'genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in

defendants’® statements 31 and 32. Nothing in plaintif’s response specifically controverts
the facts stated in deferfdants’ statement 31 that O’Brien met with Allen Weisselberg,
Trump’s CFO, and Michelle Lokey, Trump’s in-house counsel, on April 21, 2005 at
Trump’s offices, at which time Weisselberg estimated Trump’s net worth at or about $6
billion — facts supported by Weisselberg’s own testimony. (See Bx. 19 at 198:4-199:9,
331:5-21.) Nor does anything in plaintiff’s response specificaily controvert the facts
stated in defendz;.nts’ statement 32.that Weisselberg discussed valuations with O’Brien
and gave O’Brien asset valuations that appear in Chapter Six of the Book, facts also
supported by Weisselberg’s tc‘;stimopy.. (Id. at 241:2.21, 257:25-258:8, 262:2-6, 265:3-8,

268:16-269:6, 274:6-25.)

Defendants’ Statement 37

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 37. Judge Feémandez-Vina’s ruling that, on the applicable standard
for a motion to dismiss, a reasonable person could find that O"Brien endorsed the
sources’ estimates does not controvert the fact that O’Brien placed the estimates in the
context of other estimates, includ%ng Trump's own estimates over time, the estimates of

Forbes magazine over time, and Trump’s CFO's estimates (including a full-page chart of
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Trump’s asset values as estimated by Trump’s CFO). (See Ex. 7 at 149-57.) In addition,
defendants’ statement 37 cites to objective facts régarding what O’Brien published in the

excerpt and Book, which plaintiff’s response does not refute.

Defendants® Statement 39

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 39, In addition, defendants’ statement 39 cites to the objective fact
that O’Brien published Trump’s denial — which Trump in his response to statement 35
admits giving — in the excerpt and Book following the reference to the confidential

sources, which plaintiff's response does not refute.

Defendants® Statement 54

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 54. Nothing in plaintiff’s response contravenes or even addresses
the undisputed facts that Trump’s holdings are private or that O’Brien needed to rely
upon Trump to obtain complete information on his outstanding liabilities, For example,
Weisselberg testified at his deposition; “These are private individuals, Nt; one has any
c;lue as to what someone else is worth if you're a privately held company. ... [ don’t
know how any other c_leveloper can make a public statement as to what Mr. Trump’s net

worth is.” (See Ex. 19 at 111:18-112:2))

Defendants’ Statement 55

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in

defendants’ statement 55, and indeed is entirely.consistent with defendants’ statement.

3605a



Defendants object to the phrase “synonymous with huxury and enormous success” as

vague and not a material fact pursuant to R. 4:46-2,

Defendants’ Statement 57

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 57. The testimony cited by plaintiff explains why Trump feels that
his 30% ownership in & limited partnership that owned the West Side Yards was the
_ cquivalc;lt of 50% ownership. (Ex. 11 at 62:25-64:19.) It does not specifically
controvert the statement that Trump claimed in interviews with O’Brien to havea 5 0%
ownership interest in the West Side Yards project, and in fact strongly sﬁggests that he

did so. (Ex.41 at TOB-PD-00004316; Ex. 42 at TOB-PD-00004323 )

Defendants’ Statement 58

Plaintiff's response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 58. Defendants have produced notes showing what the
conﬁd;antial sources told O'Brien about the West Side Yards, but Trump chose notto
- depose OBrien about those notes. {Ex. 15 at TOB-PD-00004389-90, TOB-PD- A
60004408.) Plaintiff's own exhibits confirm that Trump had a 30% interest and was a
limited partner in the West Side Yards project without any power tq:inﬂuence disposition

of assets and any right to liquidate his interest for many years. (Opp. Exs, AE, AF.)

T

Defendants’ Statements 59-61

Plaintiffs tesponse does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in

defendants’ statements 59 through 61. Nothing in plaintiff’s response or in the exhibit
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cited (Ex. 10) says or suggests that O'Brien was an employee of Time Warner Book
Group Ine. or Warner Books Inc. (the “Warner defendants™) or that he received a salary
or benefits. In fact, the exhibit cited by plaintiff fully supports defendants’ statement.,
(See id. Y9 1, 3-4, 17.) Paragraph 18(e) also does not co;ltroven the fact that O'Brien
retained responsibility for the Book’s accuracy. The Warner defendants’ right to choose
not to publish the Book if O‘Bri'en refused to make cﬁanges does not contradict
Paragraph 17(a) of the coritract, in which O’Brien warranted, represented, and

covenanted that the statements in the Book were true or based on reasonable research for

accuracy.

Defendants* Statement 62

Plaintiff’s response does not establish 2 genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’® statement 62, Plaintiff never sought to depose a single Warner defendant
employee regarding the existence of a legal review. In addition, to ﬁle extent that Trump
had sought information about the specific detatls of the legal review, that information

would be protected by the attorney-client privilege. (See Opp. Ex. BO.)

Loss Causation qndDamages
Defendants’ Statemetit 11

Plaintiff’s unsupported allegation does not establish a genuine dispute as to the
facts set forth in defendants® statement 11, Defendants were not required to produce
documentary evidence substantiating the interviews of O’Brien and his research assistant.

See Trump, 403 N.J, Super. at 301, Plaintiff was provided with the names and interview
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dates of all non-confidential sources and thus had the means-to establish whether the

interviews occurred. (See Opp. Ex. BO; Ex 12 at 2-14; Bx. 7 at 249-63) *

L]

Defendants’ Statement 12

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth m
defendants’ statement 12. The roles of Plambeck and O*Brien in conducting research do
not controvert the fact that they conducted extensive documentary research for the Book.
Lokey’s testimoﬁy regarding th.e April 21, 2005 meeting also does not cbntrover.t the fact
that O’Bl.'ien conducted extensive documentary research, and does not support plaintifi’s
contention that the informatio_n assembled for O’Brien on April 21, 2005 was “critical,”
particularly given the testimony of Weisselberg, Lokey, and Trump that the info;'mation
shown to O"Brien on April 21, 2005 related only fo ownership of the properties, and not
to valuat.ion. (Repiy Ex. 115 at 167:7-168:19, 179:18-180:10; Reply Ex. 116 at 43:20-
45:2]1; Ex. 11 at 3'}:13-22, 44:3.7, 269:5-270:3.) The exhibit cited by plaintiff (Opp. Ex.
Yat 16:6-15) does not support the allegation that Patri_c:k O’Brien was a “goldminefj of
information for the Book™; in fact, Patrick OBrien testified he is a tax attorney, not a
“real estate lawyer.” (Reply Ex. 119 at 7:8-15.)' The exhibit cited by plaintiff (Opp. Ex.
Y at 16:6-15) also does not provide any information supporting the propositions that

reporters and contacts of reporters at The New York Times were “galdmines of

information” and that O’ Brien ignored them,
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Defendants’ Statement 16

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 16. Nothing in plaintiff’s response specifically controverts the
statement that in Chapter Six of the Book, O’Brien wrote about the extensive public

discussion regarding Trump’s net worth over the years, (See Bx. 7 at 143-74.)

Defendants’ Statement’17

Plaintiff’s response does not e.stablish a genuine dispute asto the facts set forth in
defendants’® statement 17. Nothing in plaintiff’s response specifically controverts the
statement that the chapter included Trump’s own estimat-es over time, the estimates of
Forbes magazine over time, and Trump’s CFO's estimates (including a full-page chart of
Trump’s asset v.';tlues as estimated by Trump’s CFO), facts that are evident from the face

of the exhibit cited by defendants. (Ex. 7 at 149-55.)

Defendants’ Statement 18

Plaintiff’s'response does not establish a genuirie dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 18. Plaintiffs reliance on the newsperson’s privilege, which the

Appellate Division concluded was appropriate, does not raise an issue of material fact as

to defendants® statement 18,

Defendants’ Statement 27

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genvine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants statement 27, Nothing in plaintiff's response specifically controverts any

fact in defendants’ statement 27, which is a statement setting forth what Trump claims,
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Defendants’ Statement 28

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants® statement 28. While disagreeing over whether Exhibit 53 constitutes a
concession, plaintiff admits that no agreements or documentation exist with any licensor

for any of the five alleged European opportunities.

Defendants’ Statement™29

Plaintiff's response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set fortl;{ in
defendants’ statement 29. The exhibit to which plaintiff cites, plaintiff’s own deposition
testimony, does not establish plaintiff’s conclusory statement that “[t]heée deals were
going to be done but for the Book and excerpt in The New York Times.” Plaiﬁtiﬁ‘s
double hearsay tess_imony regarding statements of Tevfik Arif — who has stated through
his counsel that he believes that he had no knowledge or information relevant to the
dispute between the parties in this litigation (Ex. 56 at 1) — cannot support the otherwise

" unsubstantiated statement that “[tlhese deals were going to be done.” (See Ex. 11 at
587:3-11 (“What I’m saying to you is that these were deals that were going to be -~

according to Tevfik, they were going to be done.”).)

Defendants’ Statement 30

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 30. It is undisputed that plaintiff made the statement cited in

defendants’ statement 30.

10
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Defendants® Statement 31

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the ficts set forth in
defendants’ statement 31. The exhibit cited by plaintiff, McConney’s testimony '
containing the sentence, “I didn’t say it is speculative” (Ex. 30 at 502:19-23), does not
alter his testimony from moments earlier, cited in defendants’ statement 31, (Id. at
500:23-501:2 (*Q. So even once it’s written down, if may well be speculative as to what

the profits will be; correct? A. Right.™).) Nor does it controvert the fact that the essence

of the testimony quoted in defendants’ statement 31 is that before deals get to the

documentation or financing stages, they are too speculative to be valued for financial

statement purposes. (Id. at 499:19-501:2, 502:19-23; Ex. 19 at 178:9-13.)

Defendants’ Statement 33

Plaintiff's response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 33, Nothing in plaintiff’s response specifically controverts any

fact in'defendants’ statement 33, which is a statement setting forth Trump’s testimony,

. Defendants’ Statements 37-39

PlaintifP's response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statements 37 through 39. Defendants’ statements 37 through 39 discuss
deals in Istanbul, Kiev, Yalta, and Warsaw, and do not mention Moscow. Plaintifs
response begins with a discussion of Sater’s testimony regarding Moscow, which.does
not specifically controvert any fact in defendants’ statements 37 through 39. The

remainder of plaintiff’s response, citing to plaintiff’s double hearsay testimony regarding

- 11
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statements of Tevfik Arif-- who has stated through his counsel that he believes that he
had no knowledge or information relevant to the dispute between the parties in this
litigation (Ex. 56 at 1) —cannot support the otherwise unsubstantiated statements that
Trump was negotiating with many foreign investors 'through Arif, that many of the deals
were certain to be comple.tefd, or that Ariftold Trump that publication of the excerpt and

Book “killed” the deals,

Defendants’ Statement 45

Plaintiff’s résponse does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants® statement 45, Plaintiff’s conclusory allegation is contradictéd by Sater’s
testimony (Ex. 59 at 152:21-25) and is not supported by any admissible evidenc;-..
Plaintiff’s double hearsay testimony regarding statements of Tevfik Arif — who has stated

through hi's counsel that he believes that he had no knowledge or information relevant to

the dispute between the parties in this litigation (Ex. 56at1) —:cannot support plaintiff’s

otherwise unsubstantiated statement that “[tJhe fact that Sater did not hear anything from

the investors was the result of the Book.”

befendants’ Statement 46

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 46, The fact that McConney did not use the word “frequently”
does not conu'ov;art the fact that the essence of the testimony quoted in defendants’
statement 46 is that McConney testified that potential real estate deals frequently fall

apart. (See Bx. 30 at 500:18-22.)

12
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Defendants’ Statement 54

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuiné dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 54, The testimony to which plaintiff cites says that “to a ce'rtain
extent,” the project did not go forward because of terrible publicity allegedly caused by
the Book and excerpt. (Ex. 11 at 402:2-21 (emphasis added),) The words “to a certain
extent” indicate that even plaintiff thought there we1:e additional reasons. Thus, the
testimony cited by plaintiff does not specifically controvert the exhibit cited by

defendants to establish an additional reason. (See Ex. 63 at 1.)

Defendants’® Statements 56-57

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set for;th in
defendants’ statements 56 and 57, Defendants’ Exhibit 61 does not support the
proposition that the project had received zoning approval. Defendants’ Exhibit 61
describes a decision by the Phoenix City Council to raise height limits in the Camelback
Corridor neiéhborhood as a whole, not “zoning approval” for any individual project.
Nothing in plaintifi’s response to defendants’ statement 57 specifically controverts — or
even refers to — the statement that as late as Qctober and November 20085, at the time of
the Book’s publication, Trump’s finance personnel did not estimate profits from the
Phoenix project in compiling Trump’s net worth because its future was uncertain, and it
was at too preliminary a stage to allow for such projections. (See Ex. 98 at 399:14-404:8;
Ex. 94 at WEI000001944.)

13
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Defendants’ Statement 61

Plaintif®s response does not establish a genuine dispute as'to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 61. Nothing in plaintiff’s response to defendants statement 61
specifically ;:ontroverts the fact that he is unable to identify by name, job title, or any
. other identifying characteristic any opponents of Trump’s Phoenix project who relied on
the Book or any person who informed Trump or his ;gents that the allegedly defamatory
statements were a factor in any persmi's- decision regarding the potential transaction, The
exhibit cited by plaintiff, Ex. 11 at 402:2-11, does not support the proposition that Trump
teséiﬁed that anyone stood in anger, o stood at all, duriné community meetings, and
indeed Trump did not say so. Trump testified that he did not attend the hearings in
Phoenix and so relied on hearsay from pcoéle he could not name for the truth of the
statement that people held the Book up and screamed during commimity meetings. (Ex.

11 at 402:22-403:23.)

Defendents’ Statement 63

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a geriuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 63. The testimony cited by plaintiff, that Sater saw people with the
Book in their hands at a town hall meeting (Bx. 59 at 124:3-7), does not specifically
controvert the fact that Sater offered no evidence of any person opposing Trump’s
Phoenix project because of ﬂ;e Book, and in fact testified that hie doubted the Book

caused the neighborhood opposition to the project (id. at 125:4-13).

14

36l4a

L mmimame.



Defendants® Statements 74, 76, 78, 80-83

Plaintiff's response does not establish a genuine disp.ute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statemenis 74, 76, 78, and 80 through 83. Nothing in plaintiff’s respo'nsc to
defendants’ statement 74, which ke cites to again in statements 7 6, 78, and 80 through 83, -
specifically controverts any fact in defendants” statements 74 or 82, which are statements
setting forth what Trun}p testified to; any fact in deft;.ndants’ statement 76, which isa

statement about what evidence was not produced; or any fact in defendants’ statements

78, 80, 81, or 83, which are statéments setting forth Lorber’s testimony.

Defendants® Statement 87

Plaintiff’s response does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 87. Nothing in plaintiff's response specifically controverts any

fact in defendants’ statement 87, which is a statement setting forth Trump’s testimony.

Defendants® Statement 94

Plaintiff's response do:;s not egtablish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 94. The difference between an “assumption” and an “informed
opinion” is not a genuine issue of fact that must be resolved at trial. Whether Lorber’s
belief about what Prudential would have done is characterized as an “assumption™ or an
“informed opinion,” it still does not establish what Prudential actually would have done,
given Lorber’s admission that he was not empowered to make unilateral decisions on
behalf of Prudential Douglas Elliman, and that he would have needed Dottie Herman and

Prudential’s approval (the other sharcholders) to complete any deal with Trump —

15
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approval which would need to be based on Prudential’s sale of their shares or overall
dilution of their.ownership. (Ex. 65 at 7:16-25, 22:6-18, 103:15-104:3; 10'5:I§-23,
114:14-17 (“I believe Prudential would be a little bit of a sales job to sit down with them

and tell them why we wanted to do it.”).)

Defendants’ Statement QS

PlaintifP’s respdnse does not establish a genuine dispute as fo the facts.set forth in
defendarits' statement 98. Defendants’ statement 98 refers to mitigation gxpenses and to
the documentation of those expenses produced by Trump in this litigation. Plaintiff’s
response refers to no additional documentation of mitigation expenses, and plaintiff has
failed in discovery to produce any such documentation of any mitigation expens;as other

than the expense of his alleged corrective advertising, (See Ex. 67) -

Defendants’ Statement 113

Plaintifi’s résponse does not establish a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth in
defendants’ statement 113. Nothing in plaintiff’s response specifically controverts any
fact in defendants’ statement 113, which cites to O*Brien’s taped interviews with Trump
himself. Plaintiff’s testimony about alleged damages does not negate the fact that he |
made the statements attributed to him in defendants’ statement 113, nor does it raise any

genuine issue of fact that must be resolved at trial.

16
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DEFENDANTS?’ RESPONSES TO
PLAINTIFF’S COUNTERSTATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

Defendants’ objections herein to the admissibility of certain documents or
testimony cited as support for plaintiff’s statements are not intended to be '
comprehensive. Defendants’ lack of any objection to the admissibility of any document
or testimony cited by plaintiff does not constitute a waiver of any objection as to the
admissibility of a giveh document or testimony if offered at trial,

1. Defendants admit that Trump is a businessman, real estate developer,
entrepreneur, author, and television personality with many holdings and business
ventures. With respect to the ‘phrases “extremely successful,” “extraordinarily valuaﬁle,”
“enormously successful,” “among the most highly rated,” and “synonymous with hoxury
and enormous success,” defendants object that such self-congratulatory phrases are vague
and not material facts pursuant to R. 4:46-2; to the extent they are materiél, defendants
deny them,

2. Denied, Plaintiff’s citation to his own self-serving testimony is
insufficient to establish the facts in plaintiff’s statement 2 or to demonstrate that it is
uncontroverted pursuant to R, 4:46-2,

3. Denied. The Trump deposition testimony cited by plaintiff, making the
unsubstantiated claim that he lost deals that he does not know about, does not support the

proposition that his ability to close deals and secure ﬁnanciné “depends on investors

trusting his reputation,” (Opp. Ex. B at 502:2-16.) The Forbes article cited by plaintiff

does not support or even address the proposition for which it is cited, that Trump’s

17
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“status as a billionaire enables him to marshal resources.” Defendants object to the
phrase “what most in the industry woutld deem impossible” as vague and nota “fact” that

is verifiable or of record. )

4, Denied. Plaintiff's citation to his own self-serving testimony alleging that

he was damaged by the allegedly defamatory statements does not support or even address

the proposition that Trymp’s business “is based on his billionairedom,” and is insufficient -

to establish the fact or demonstrate that it is uncontroverted pursuant to R. 4:46-2.

5, Admitted.

6. ‘Defendants adl:nit that O*Brien’s credentials suggest that he is credible and
produces quality journalism, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement. Thie exhibits
cited by plai;ltiff do not support plaintiff’s t;ontentions that O'Brien hasl “a history of
unprincipled'repofting practices” or “a personal bias against Tramp.” (See Opp. Exs. B,
F,G.) '

7.  Defendants admit th:ctt (;)’Brien and the Warner defendants signed a
contract for the delivery, publication, and marketing of the Book, and they admit thata
Warner employee drafied the document that plaintiff cites as Exhibit [, but deny that the
exhibit demoﬁst‘rates that the Warner defendants were “eager to participate,” Defendants

object to the word “however™ as vague and as improperly suggestiué that the Book was

not “frank and honest,” without citing any evidence for this alleged “fact.”

8. Defendants admit that the Warner defendants marketed the Book, but deny °

the remainder of plaintiff’s statement, The exhibits cited by plaintiff do not establish that

the Warner defendants “provided substantial editorial oversight.” Defendants object that

18
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the word “defamstory” in this statement is a conclusion of law rather than a statement of
materiat fact pursuant to R. 4:46-2.

9. Admitted,

10.  Admitted.

11.  Defendants admit that O’Brien bublished Exhibit G on March 28, 2004,
but deny the remainder, of plaintiff’s statement, which is not supported by Exhibit G or
any other exhibit.

12.  Defendants admit that O’Brien published Exhibits K and L, but deny the
remainder of plaintiff’s statemeént, which is not supported by Exhibits K-and L or any
other exhibit. The articles cited by plaintiff noted that analysts believed that Trump’s
casino comp.anyhad an unmanageable amount of debt and that a bankruptey might occur,
(See Opp. Exs. K, L.) That bankruptey did in fact ensue. (See Reply Ex. 129.)

13.  Defendants admit that O’Brien reported in Exhibit M a value for Trump’s
casino holdings of $34.5 million an.d tl;at Trump told him the value was $49-million, but
deny the remainder of plaintiff's statement. The exhibits cited by plaintiff do not support
plaintiff’s statement as to the actual amount of Trump’s stake, nor does any other
evidence of record. (See Opp. Exs. M, N.) ‘

14.  Defendants admit that O’Brien wrote Exhibit O, which raised the question
of whether Trump would need to borréw $55 miilio,fl o make an investment in Trump
Hotels & Casino Resorts, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement. The exhibits

cited by plaintiff do not establish that O’Brien “stated” that Trump needed to borrow
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$55 million; nor do they support plaintiff’s statement as to whether Trump actually

needed to bosrow the money, nor does any other.evidence of record. (Opgi. Exs.0,P,Q) .

15.  Defendants lack sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny that O’Brien’s
access was “unprecedented” or that plaintiff’s intent was “to make sure that O°Brien had
correct information,” and deny that in fact such full and correct accounting was ever
provided. (See infra § 18.) Defendants admit the rer.naindf;} of the statement.

16.  Defendants object to the ;wvord “countless” as vague, but admit the
remainder of the statement.

17.  Defendants adxyit ﬁlat Tiump took O’Brien to California, but deny the
remainder of plaintiff’s statement. The trip occurred on January 12, 2005. {Ex. 6 at
TOB-EF-00607894 ) .

18, Det:endants admit that net worth is calculated as assets minus liabilities,
but dehy the remainder of plaintiff’s statement. O’Brien has testified that he never saw
Trump’s Statement of Financia} Co;ldiiion (“SOFC™) prior to his deposition. (Ex.2 at
248:16;22, 251:4-13, 255:12-256:7, 259:10-21.) Beca'use O’Brien reported in the Book
claims by Trump and Trump’s CFO that Trump’s net worth was between $4 billion and
$6 billion (Ex. 7 at 153-55), it is irrelevant if O’Brien ever reviewed a document in which
Trump claimed.that he was worth about $3.5 billion. (Reply Ex. 112 at TR000051483.)
Because the SOFC is an unaudited, unverified statement summarizing Trump’s own
claims about the values of his assets and liabilities, which explicitly states that itisa

“compilation” and “the rel;mentatiox} of the individual whose financial statements are

presented,” and that the accountants “have not audited or reviewed” the SOFC and “do
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not express an opinion or any other form of.assurance on it” (id. at TR000051480),
defendants deny that it-could have proved Trump®s net worth even if O*Brien had seen it.

19.  Denied. Defendants further deny that anything in this statement would be

material even if it were true.

20.  Defendants admit that O’Brien never mentioned the course at Palos
Verdes by name-in the"Book, but note that O’Brien ciiscusses Trump’s golf courses
collectively in the Book on pages 155 and 172. (Ex. 7 at 155, 172) The deposition
testimony cited by plaintiff does not Sl;pport either the proposition that the glolf course is
extremely valuable or that O’Brien does not mention the goif course in the Book, (Opli.
Ex. B at 41:20-42:10.)

21, | Denied. The exhibit pages {;ited by plaintiff describe a March 2005 flight
from Florida to New York, not a trip to California. (See Ex. 7 at 181-82.)

22,  Defendants lack sufficient knowledge to confirm or dcniw what instructions
plaintiff gave to his employees. Hc;we‘ver, defendants admit that Lokey, Weisselberg,
and Trump all testified that the documents gathered for the April 21, 2005 meeting were
designed to show ownership (Reply Ex. 115 at 167:7-168:19, 179:18-180:10; Reply Ex.
116 at 43:20-45:21, 44:3-7; Ex. 11 at 37:13-22, 269:23-270:3), and defendants deny the
remainder of the statement,

. 23, Defendants lack sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny this statement.

24.  Defendants lack sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny what Trump

previously had provided to the media.
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25;  Defendants deny that 0’§3ﬁen was invited to question anyone about
Trump’s property ownership, but admit the remainder of the statement, O'Brien has
testified that he understood that the purpose of the meeting was to document Trump’s net
worth, but that the materials he was provided were insufficient for that purpose. (Ex. 2 at
248:8-15) |

-26.  Admitted.

27.  Admitted,

28.  Defendants admit that the statement accurately describes Weisselberg’s
testimony, but otherwise deny the statement.
29,  Denied. O'Brien has testified that he spoke to Weisselberg on April 21,

2005 for approximately two and a half hours. (Id. at275:4-8.)
30,  Denied. O’Brien has testified that he never saw the SOFC prior to his

deposition. (Id. at 248:16-22, 251:4-13, 255:12-256:7, 259:10-21.)

31. Denied. OBrien ha.;' tc-stiﬁcd that he never saw the SOFC prior to his
deposition. (Id. at 248:16-22, 2511413, 255:12-256:7, 259:10-21.) Weisselberg also
testified that Trump handed O’Brien a document with a blue cover, which Weisselberg
assumed was an SOFC but never saw the actu.al document. (Opp. Ex. A at 201:21-
202:6.)

32.  Admitted.

33.  Admitted.
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34.  Defendants admit that the statement accurately describes Lokey’s
testimony, but otherwise deny the statement, d’Bn’cn testified that he “definitely didn®t"
tell Lokey that he had already written the Book. (Ex. 2 at 329:6-18.) ,

35.  Denied. O'Brien testified that he and Lokey made small talk for 15 or 20
minutes, (Id. at 341:12-25.) .

36.  Denied. O’Brien testified that he anci Lokey made small talk for 15 or 20
minutes, (Id. at 341:12-25.)

37.  Denied. O’Brien has testified that he believes Lokey was lying when she

testified that O’Brien spent two and a half hours flirting with her, (Id. at 747:6-15, 295:6
23.) Plaintiﬁ"s‘ Exhibit T does not establish that O*Brien invited Lokey “out to dinner,”
but rather establishes that O’Brien suggeste-d that Lokey have dinner at ‘the home of her
law professor Mark Alexander, who was one of O'Brien’s close friends, and who had
spoken highly of Lokey to O’Brien (Ex. 116 at 48:4-50:5), and that Lokey replied that “a
trip to the ‘burbs® would be a great thlng to look forward to.” (Opp. Ex. T)

38.  Defendants admit that Lokey wrote a letter in which she used those words.

39.  Defendants admit that O*Brien testified truthfully that he never saw
Trump’s SOFC prior to his deposition on October 15, 2007, but-deny the remainder of
plaintifP's statement,  (Bx. 2 at 251:4-13, 259:10-21.) '

40.  Defendants admit that O’Bﬁen’s notes establish that O'Brien received
information from Weisselberg at the April 21, 2005 meeting, but otherwise deny the '
statement. Plaintiff’s use of the phrase “reviewed voluminous information™ also suggests

that the notes indicate review of documents by O’Brien, an impression belied by the
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notes themselves, which are clearly interview notes that include frequent quotations and
the words “AW says.” (Opp.Ex.V.)

41, I?enfed. .Plaintift’s own exhibit demonstrates that Weisselberg |
acknowledged that O*Brien “may have taken some notes.”” (Opp. Ex. A at 150:7-8.)

42,  Defendants admit that the statement accurately describes Weisselberg’s
testimény, but otherwise deny the statement. O’Brien has testified that t@e meeting lasted
two and a halfhours. (Ex. 2 at 275 :4-'8.) Weisselberg’s admissions that he said many of
the things O’Brien recorded in the notes undercut Weisselberg’.s testimony about the
length of the meeting. (Repllex. 115 at 230:16-231:9, L;37:9-241:21, 250:7-14, 257:25 -

' 258:22.; Ex. 19 at 262:2-6, 263:5-9, 268:16-269:6, 274:6-25.)

43. Defendants admit that the statement accurately describes Lokey’s and
Weisselberg’s testimony, but otherwise deny the statement. For exélmplc, Weisselberg
substantially admitted that he prowded the information contained in the notes to O*Brien
at the metting. (Reply Ex. 115 at 230’16—231 19, 237:9-241:21, 250:7-14, 257:25-258:22;
Ex. 19 at 262:2-6, 263:5-9, 268:16:269:6, 274:6-25.)

44,  Defendants admit that the statement accurately descnbes Weisselberg’s
testimony, but otherwise deny the statement. O’Brien testified that he did not tape record
the meeting. (Ex. 2 at 275:24-276:25, 278:7-279:8, 284:8-17, 298:5-299:14.)

45, Defendants ‘ad;nit that the statement accurately describc.:s Trump’s

testimony, but otherwise deny the statement. O'Brien testified that he did not tape every

interview with Trump. (Ex. 2 at 307:5-9.)
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46.  Denied. The tape recording that plaintiff claims O"Brien denied the
existence of was produced to plaintiff on May 25, 2007, along with a transcript that "
begins with the words “TIM IS WITH DONALD AND ALAN ON THE WAY TOTHE
AIRPORT.” (Ex. 6 at TOB-EF-00007826-7827; Reply Exs. 106, 130.) Weisselberg has
testi_ﬁcd that he spoke to O’Brien once on the way to the airport, once on the plane back
from Florida during that same trip, and once at Trun;p Tower on April 21, 2005, and at
no other time. (Reply Ex. 115 at 151:17-152:9.)

47,  Admitted.

48.  Denied.

49,  Denied. The alleged facts stated in plaintiffs statement 49 would not be
material to this motion in any event. Such ;1 statement by O’Brien would not amount to
proof'that O‘Briel; believed that Trump’s net worth was more than $500 million. The
value of one of Trump’s assets — in isolation from all of Trump’s assets and liabilities -
could not show Trump’s overall ne-t w;thh.

50,  Admitted.

51, Defendants deny plaintiff’s characterization of Plambeck as describing his
research role “much differently” from O’Brien, and den‘y that any such difference would
be a material fact, but admit the remainder of the statement.

52.  Denied. The cited portion of Plaintiff’s Exhibit X does not establish what
O’Brien did or did not ask Plambeck to gather. (Seg Opp. Ex: X at 40:2542:9.)
Plaintif’s Exhibit Y also does not establish that Patrick O*Brien was a “goldminef] of

information” regarding plaintiff’s net worth. (Opp. Ex. Y at 16:6-15); in fact, Patrick
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O’Brien tc;,stiﬁed he is a tax attorney, not a “real estate lawyer” (Reply Ex. 119 at 7:8-15).
The oxhibit cited by plaintiff (Opp. Ex. Y at 16:6-15) also does not provide any
information supporting the propositions that reporters and cc;ntacts of reporters at The
Times were “goldm.ineé of information” and that O’Brien ignored them.

53.  Defendants admit that Trump and his attorneys wrote, letters to The Times
ahd defendants, but deny the remainder of plaintif’s statement. Defendants object that
the word “defamatory” in this statement is 2 cgnclusion of taw rather than a statement of
material fact pursuant to B.-_ 4:46-2. ‘

54,  Defendants deny that Lokey explained anything about, or even mentioned,

. the West Side Yards in the document cited by plaintiff (Opp. Ex. U), and deny that the

Book stated that Trump did nt;t have an interest in the West Side Yards, but admit the
remainder of the statement, In the Book, O’Brien accurately descr{bcd Trump’s interest
in the West Side Yards as entitling himto a management fee and a cut of the profits, but
not to control over the disposition o-f tI;e propcrt'y. (Bx. 7 at 173 (“Donald gets a

management fee of about $2 million a year to oversee the property, and a cut of the

profits after all sixteen of the project’s buildings are completed and the group he sold it to

gets all of its expenses repaid.”).}

55.  Defendants admit that Trump’s attor.neys wrote a letter to the Warner
defendants regarding the Book, but den,;,r the rest of the statement.

56. Defendants admit that Trump wrote a letter seeking a meeting, but deny
that the Book contained “glaring factual errors” and deny that the exhibit cited by

plaintiff supports the-statement that the meeting was refused. (Opp. Ex. AA)
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57.  Defendants admit that The Times published an excerpt from the Book on
- the front page of the Sunday business section, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s
statement. Defendants object that the word “defamatory™ in this statement isa
conclusion of law rather than a statement of material fact pursuant to R. 4:46-2,

58, A‘dmitted.u

59.  Denied,

60.  Defendants deny that the “TrumpBroke” chapter “repeatedly states that

Trump lies about his finances,” but admit the remainder of the statement.

61.  Defendants admit that Forbes magazine estimated Trump’s net wortlrat
$2.7 million in the fall of 20035, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement.’

62. - Defendants admit that pl!aim:iﬁ' has accurately quoted the Book’s statement J
that the three anonymous sources told O’Brien that they thought Trump’s “net worth was
somewhere between $150 million and $250 million.” (Ex. 7 at 154.) Defendants deny
that the Book quotes the sources as. sa)'/ing that Trump was “not remotely close to being a
billionaire,” and note that the Book actually said that “none of these people thought he
was remotely close to being a billionaire.” (id.) Defendants deny the remainder of the
statement,

63.  Defendants admit that the Book does not list dates 01: places of the
interviews with the three confidential sources, and admit that O'Brien testified that he
held himself to The Times’s standards in writing the Book, but deny the remainder of
plaintifPs statement. The exhibit cited by plaintiff does not support plaintiff’s contention

that The Times’s standards require a reporter to list the date and place of an interview
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with a confidential source. (See Opp. Ex. E.) Other citations in the Book do not list the
dates and places for interviews with other confidential sources (sge. e.g. Ex.7 at 99 n.44
& 254 (listing date but not place of interview), 205 n.48 & 261 (listing neither date nor
place of interview)). 7

. 64,  Defendants deny that plaintiﬁ"s' unsupported opinion regarding what the
story “suggested to the reader” is a material fact purs-uant to R. 4:46-2, and deny that the
sentence as a whole ?s stated in the past tense (Ex. 5 at TOB-PD-00603265 (“'I‘i'le largest
portion of Mr. Trump’s fortune, according to three people who have had direct
knowledge of his holdings, apparently comes from his lucrative inheritance.”), but admit
the remainder of th_e statement.

65.  Defendants admit that plaint'ift' correctly quotes a sentence fragment from
the Book and that plaintiff correctly quotes O’Brien’s testimony, but deny the-remainder
of the statement. Defendants deny that plaintiff’s unsupported opinion regarding what
the story “suggested to t!w reader” 1s a. material fact pursuant to R, 4:46-2, The full
sentence from which plaintiff extracted the sentence ﬁ‘agment reads: “Three people with
direct knowledge of Donald’s finances, people who had worked closely with him for
years, told me they thought his net worth was somewhere between $150 million and $250
million.” (Ex.7 at154.) O'Brien also kept the information current in returning to the
sources for updated estimates after his conversation with Weisselberg on April 21, 2005.
(Ex. 15 at TOB-PD-00004409; Ex. 2 at 330:10-17, 342:24-347:11) ‘

66. Denied, Among other things, plaintiff’ s statement 66 contains a complete

mischaracterization of the interview of Trump that is cited in that statement. (Opp. Ex.
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AH; Reply Ex. 105.) In that interview, O’Brien asked Trump to comment on his brand,

and referenced in his question a just-published Business Week article titled *“Trump:

Bigger Than Coke or Pepsi?,” which quoted Trump as saying: “The brand has become
the best bran.d . ... 1 think it’s a bigger brand now than Pepsi Cola (PEP) or Coca-Cola
(KQ)." (Reply Ex. 131 at 1.) O*Brien never endorsed that characterization. Far from
ignoring Plaintiff’s Exhibit AE, the Agreement of Li;nited Partnership of Hudson
Waterfront Associates I, L.P., O'Brien fn the Book accurately summarized the
document’s terms (Ex. 7 at 172:73) — which directly contradict statements by Trump
(Reply Ex. 106; Reply Ex. 107). In the Book, O’Brien ci-tes his discussion of the West
Side Yards to his interview with Weisselberg on April 21, 2005, and Weisselberg has
acknowledged providing O’Brien with som;a of the information that appears in that
discussion. (Ex. 7 at 172-73, 259; Ex. 19 at 262:2.6.) |

67.  Denied. The Book does not contain a $55 million figure in relation to
40 WeaH Street. (Ex.'7 at 171-72.) i\Io;le of tht‘: exhibits cited by plaintiff establish that
the tax assessor did not value the building at $90 million. (Opp. Ex. A; Ex. 7 at 171-72))
O’Brien’s statement that New York City assessors valued the building at $90 million was
indisputably true. (Ex. 7at 172,) Defendants deny that the statement is a statement of
material fact pursuant to R, 4:46-2, since using the tax assessor valul;, w_hich was
objectively true, as one data point in evalua{:ing Trump’s claim that the building was
worth more than four times that tax assessor value does not demonstrate that O’Brien

knew the sources’ estimates were false.
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68.  Defendants admit that the rebound in the value of Trump’s casino
holdings appears in the excerpt (which went to press after the Book), but does not appear
in the Book. (Ex. 13 at TOB-PD-00004204.) Defendants deny that the statement is
material pursuant to R. 4:46-2, since O’Brien’s update of the sources’ estimates based on
the rebounding value of Trump’s casino holdings prior to the publication of the excerpt in-
late October 2005 cannot possibly indicate that O’B'r.ien disbelieved the original
confidential source estimates.

69.  Defendants object to plaintiff’s misleading characterization of the
estimates given by the three cc_:nﬁdential sources as “the Book’s valuation,” but admit the
remainder of the statement. Defendants deny _that the statement is material pursuant to
R, 4:46-2, sir;ce O'Brien’s update of the son;rces’ esti'mates based on the rebounding
value of Trump’s casino holdings prior to the publication of the excerpt in late October
2005 cannot possibly indicate that O'Brien disbelieved the original confidential source
estimates. o ‘

70.  Defendants deny that updating an excerpt, but not a Book that already
been drafted, constitutes “neglect” on anyone’s part, but admit the remainder of the
stafement. Defendants deny that the statement i_s material pursuant to R. 4:46-2, since
O‘B'rien’s update of the sources’ _esﬁmates based on the rebounding vﬁluc of Trump’s
casino holdings prior to the publication of'the excerpt in Jate October 2005 cannot
possibly indicate that O’Brien disbelieved the original conﬁdeptial source estimates.

71.  Denicd. Defendants object that nonactionable statements not at issue in

this case are not relevant to this litigation and therefore are not material facts pursuant to
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R. 4:46-2. Plaintiff’s interrogatory answer listing communications he alleges to be
defamatory did not mention the statement described in plaintiff’s statement 71. (See
Ex. 39 at 1-2.)) .
72.  Admitted, Defendants object that non-defamatory statements not at issue
in this case are not material to this litigation and therefore are not material facts pursuant
to R. 4:46-2. ’

73.  Defendants admit that Trump told O'Brien that his father built Trump
Village before the Book was publisheci, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement.
The exhibit cited by plaintiff does not establish whether Fred Trump built Trump Village.
(Opp. Ex. AL) Defendants object thiat non-defamatory statements not at issue in this case
are not matc;'ial to this litigation and therefore are not material facts pursuant to
R.4:146-2.

74,  Denied. Trump has not identified any credible information that O'Brien
ignored that directly contradicted ﬁ;e I;ook. In addition, Trump’s reputation for
exagperation — which defendants have documented and which Tn.xmp now has admitted
exists (Actual Malice Br. at 20-22; Opp. Statement of Facts at 8 § 56; Exs. 32-35) -
supportec! O'Brien’s belief that the sources’ estimates of Trump's net worth were more
likely to be accurate than Trump’s self-serving estimates.

75.  Defendants admit that the defendants marketed the Book, but deny the
remainder of plaintiff's statement. Peféndants deny that the exhibits cited by plaintii%

‘ support the existence of a “plan.” (Opp. Exs. AJ, AK, AL.) Dillon testified that he

intended Plaintiff’s Exhibit AJ as a joke (Reply Ex. 118 at 118:19-22); O’Brien’s

31

363la



testimony showed that he viewed it as a joke (Ex. 2 at 570:24-571 :6); and other witnesses
attested to Dillon’s general lack of seriousness (Reply Ex. 119 at 66:17-67:2, 70:22-
72:13; Reply Ex, 120 at 47: 16-20) .

76.  Defendants deny that the exhibit cited by plamt:ﬁ‘ “described the goal™
and object to the phrase “described the goal” as vague and meaningless, but admit the
remainder of the statement. . ‘

77.  Defendants admit that O’Brien made radio apﬁearances and attended book
signings; but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement. Plaintiff has failed to cite to the
portion of the motion record establishing this fact or demonstrating that it is

' uncontroverted pursuant to R, 4:46-2.

78. Defendants admit that plalntlff has accurately quoted Plaintiff’s Exhibits
AN, AQ, and AP, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement. The exhibits cited by
plaintiff do not establish that O’Brien drafted the talking points plaintiff described or that
these talking points ever were distri.but‘ed. Plaintiﬁ-"s Exhibit AN, written by O°Brien’s
friend David .Dillon, cannot prove what Plaintiff’s Exhibits AO and AQ (which Dillon
did not write) were “designed” to do.

79.  Admitted.

80.  Defendants object to plaintiff’s characterization of the documents as
having “f'ocuse.d'_’ on organized crime or Trump’s sex life, but admit that one of the
seventeen points in PlaintifPs Exhibit AQ mentions organized crime and that another

mentions Trump’s own accounts in interviews with O’Brien of his dreams about sex.
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81.  Defendants admit that O’Brien recorded an audio track for a VidLit (Ex. 2
at 606:23-607:13) and discussed the possible use of circus music and a Trump doll, but
deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement. .

82,  Admitted. The Book described a television reality show called Eco-
Challenge, produced by Apprentice producer Mark Bumett, which “became famous for
the episode in which a leech squirmed into one contc;,stant’s urethra,” (Ex.7at 13,)
O’Brien-then referred to that portion of the Book in one of the Book’s quizzes. (Id. at
38.)

8.3. Admitted. The evidence cited by plaintiff does not establish that O'Brien
used the doll, (Opp. Ex. AT)

84, . Defendants object to plainti%f‘s characterization of Siegel’s reaction as
“ire" and of his email as having “chided” O'Brien, characterizations not supported by the
exhibit to which plaintiff cites (Opp. Ex. AV), but admit the remainder of the statement.

85. . Denied, '

86.  Defendants admit that O’Brien made statements similar to those alleged
by the plaintiff, but deny that any of the quoted language appears verbatim in PlaintifPs
Exhibit AW,

87.  Defendants admit tl{at plaintiff has acct;ratcly quoted Slate, but deny the
remainder of plaintifi’s statement. The exhibit cited by plaintiff does not establish that
O'Brien’s statements “quickly permeated the financial community.” (Opp. Ex, AF.)
Defendants object that the word “defamatory” in this.statement is a conclusion of law

rather than a statement of material fact pursuant to R. 4:46-2.
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88.  Defendants lack sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny the statement,

89.  Decfendants fack sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny the statement.

90,  Defendants lack sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny the statement,

91.  Admitted, though defendants note that the exhibit to which plaintif;f cites
says “Donnie” rather than “Don Jr.” (Opp. Ex. AY.)

92, . Ad:mittgd, though dcfendfants note that the exhibit to which plaintiff cites
says “very kind of hard to value” rather than “very hard to value.” (Id.}

93,  Denied. The exhibits cited by plaintiff do not establish that Trump was
“forced to commission™ an advertisement or that the advértisement’s purpose was to
“counter O’Brien’s charges.” (Ex. 52 at 2; Ex. 67.)

94,  Defendants admit that Trum;J published a four-page advertisement that

cost more than $380,000 te run in The New York Times, The New York Times

Magazine, New York Magaz.ine, and the New York Post. Defendants deny that all of the
properties showcased in the adverﬁ.sen'lent were “his” (Trumyp’s), since about half were
owned by other people or by entities to whom Trump had licensed his name. (See Reply
Ex. 121; Reply Ex. 112 at TR000051482-96.) Defendants deny the remainder of the
statement, and note that plaintiff has failed to cite to the portion-of the motion record
establishing the fact or demonstrating that it is uncontroverted pursuant to R. 4:46-2.

95.  Denied. Plaintiff has failed to cite to the portion of the m.otion record
- establishing the fact or demonstrating that it is uncontroverted pursuant to R. 4:46-2.
96.  Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately summarized Lorber’s

testimony, but deny the remainder of the statement. -
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97.  Denied. The exhibit cited by plaintiff does not establish that “Trump and
Lorber agreed on the nature of Trump's participation.” (Opp. Ex. BB at 1 11:16-2L.)
Trump’s and Lorber’s testimony varied on almost every aspect of the deal, including the
structure of the deal (Ex. 11 at 570:6-10; E;(. 65 at 98:15-25); whether Trump would
receive commissions (id. at 569:5-17; Ex. 65 at 112:12-21); and when Lorber told Trump
the deal was off (id. at §76:20-577:2; Ex. 65 at 117:2.2-1 18:9).

98.  Denied. The testimony cited by plaintiff does not establish that “Trump
and Lorber were actively negotiating.” (Opp. Ex. BB at 105:24-106:19.) Lorber testified
that they did not talk a lot about the structure of the deal, (Ex. 65 at 108:16-19.)

99.  Denied. The exhibits cited by plaintiff specifically contradict plaintifi’s
proposition tlllat Trump and Lorber discusse'd the name of the combined company.

Lorber testified to what he believed was in his mind and in Trump’s mind, not to what

they discussed if anything. (Opp. Ex. BB at 111:11-13.) Trump made no mention of a
discussion of the name. (Opp. Ex. B a;: 571:3-4.) Neither of the names Trump testified to
appear in Lorber’s téstimony, or vice versa. (Id.; Opp. Ex. BB at 111:11-13,)

100. Denied. The exhibit cited by plaintiff does not establish that Trump and
Lorber were negotiating “details” or that Lorber “wanted to have all the details ironed'
out” (Opp. Ex. BB at 101:18-19.) Rather, Lorber testified that he wanted to have “a
clear understanding with Donald as to what the deal would be” — which cannot be
described as “all of the details.” (Opp. Ex. BB at 101:4-19 (emphasis added).)

101. Defendants admit that plaintiff has quoted Lorber’s testimony almost |

accurately, though defendants note that the exhibit to which plaintiff cites says
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“Prudential would be a little bit of a sales job” rather than “Prudential would have been a
little bit of a sales job.” But défendants deny there is anything in the record that would
support Lorber’s speculative belief. Furthermore, the statement is not a material fact
pursuant to R. 4:46-2, because it does not connect Lorber’s decision to any allegedly
defamatory statement at issue in this Iitigation:

102,  Defendgnts admit that plaintiff has accurately quoted Lorber’s testimony,
but lack sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny the remainder of the statement.

Furthermore, the statement is not a material fact pursuant to R. 4:46, because it does not

connect Lorber’s decision to any allegedly defamatory statement at issye in this litigation.

103. Defendants admit that Lorber testified that Trump “missed a good
opportunity,” but defendants lack a basis to- confirm or deny Lorber’s speculative be]i.ef
about the possible deal. Defendants note that the statement is not a material fact pursuant
to R. 4:46, because it does not connect Lorber’s decision to any allegedly defamatory
statement at issue in this litigation. o

104: Defendants admit that Lorber was working with a group of Italian
investors Ied by Davide Bizzi of Di & Bi Realty, owners of 400 Fifth Avenue in New
York City, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statement.

105. Admitted.

' 106. Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately described and quoted
Lorber’s testimony, but otherwise Iacfc sufficient knowledge to confirm or deny the
statement.

107.  Admitted.

36

3636a

T



108. Denied,

109, Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately summarized Trump’s
testimony, but otherwise deny the statement. Lorber directly contradicted this tesfimony,
testifying that he did not think there was any discussion of terms at the meeting. (Ex. 65
at 62:10-15.)

110, Admitte}_d.

111. Defendants admit that Trump testified that it was just a deal that was
going to hapl;en,” but o;hcrwise deny the statement. Lorber testified that Bizzi “seemed
very interested,” not that he was very interested. (Opp. Ex. BB at 62:19 (emphasis
added).) Defendants object to the admissibility of Lorber’s hearsay testimony about
Bizzi's stater;xents. .

112. Denied. Plaintiff testified that no such document existed (Ex. 11 at
565:18-566:9), and plaintifP’s counsel certified that the deal did..not réach the
documentation stage (Ex, 53 § 3). The exhibits that plaintiff cites do not establish that
“Lorber and Donald Trump Jr. ultimately drew up a term sheet,” nor do they establish the
exact fee or the exact sales price percentage contained in any such term sheet. (Opp. Ex.
BB at 64:4-13, 65:8-22 (using phrases such as “somewhere in ths neighborhood” and
“something like” rather than precise numbers); Opp. Ex. B at 552:23: -553:7.) Neither
plaintiff nor Lorber produced any such term sheet. (Ex. 65 at 64:17-65:7; Ex. 53 §3.)

113. Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately summarized Trump’s and
Lorber’s testimony, but otherwise deny the statement. Defendants object to the

admissibility of Lorber’s hearsay testimony about Bizzi’s statements,
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114, Defendants deny the statement, but ob:iect to the admissibility of iorbcr’s
hearsay testimony about.Bizzi’s statements.

115. Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately quoted Lorber’s testimony,
but object to the admissibility of Lorber’s hearsay testimony about Bizzi’s statements,
Furthermore, the statement is not a material fact pursuant to R. 4:46, because it does not
connect Bizai’s statement to any .allegedly defamatory statement at issue in this litigation.'

116. Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately described Lorber’s
testimony, but object to the admissibility of Lorber’s hearsay testimony about Bizzi's .
statements, Furthermore, the statement is not 2 material fact pursuant to R. 4:46, because

" it does not connect Biz;zi’s statement to any e;!legedly defamatory statement at issue in
this litigation.

_117. ~ Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately described and quoted
Lorber’s testimony, but object to the admissibility of Lorber’s hearsay testimony about
Bizzi’s statements. Furthermore, th'e s’;atement is not a material fact pursuant to R, 4:46,
because it does not connect Bizzi’s statement to any allegedly defamatory statement at
issue in this litigation.

118. Defendants admit that Lorber testified to his undesstanding of Bizzi’s
views, but deny the statement and oi:ject to the admissibility of Lorber’s hearsay
testimony about Bizzi’s statements.. Defendants note that the testimony cited by plaintiff
makes no mention of the allegedly defamatory statements having caused Bizzi’s alleged i

_reaction. (Opp. Ex. BB at 72:13-73:3)) Furthermore, the statement is not a material fact
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pursuant to R, 4:46, because it does not connect Bizzi’s statement to any allegedly
defamatory statement at issue in this litigation,

119.  Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately described Lorber’s |
testimony, but otherwise deny statement and object to the admissibility of Lorber’s
hearsay testimony about Bizzi’s statements.

120. .Defendgnts admit that plaintiff has accurately described Trump’s
testimony, but otherwise deny the statement, Furthermore, ﬂ10 statement is not a material
fact pursvant to R, 4:46, because it does not connect Bizzi’s statement to any allegedly
defamatory statement at issue in this litigation. -

121, Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately quoted Trump’s testimony,
but otherwise deny the statement. Defendants note that any connection between the
allegedly defamatory statements and Bizzi’s alleged reaction is pure speculation on
I;Iaintiﬁ’s part. (Ex. 11 at 560;15-562:23.)

122, Defendants admit that ﬁaymc'k is & Maghattan-based real estate and
development group, and that plaintiff has accurately summarized and quoted Sater’s
testimony, but deny the remainder of plaintiff’s statenient,

123, Denied. The testimony cited by plaintiff does not establish that any such
“deal” or “arrangement” existed. (Opp. Ex. B at 591:2-9.) Sater’s testimony about the
Phoenix and Moscow deals did not mention an ownership stake. (Ex. 59 at 94:2-95:5,
138:8-139:10,)

124.  Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately quoted Trump’s testimony,

but otherwise deny the statement.

39

3639%a



125. Defendants admit that Plaintiff's Exhibit BD is a letter from Trump
allowing Bayrock to explore possibilities for a Trump International Hotel and Tower in
Moscow, but deny that the éxhibit supports the proposition that Trump and Bayrock were
“intalks.” (Opp. Ex.BD.)

126. Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately quoted Sater’s testimony,
but otherwise lack sufficient information to confirm ;.)r deny the statement,

127.  Admitted.

128, Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately summarized Sater’s
testimony, but atherwise deny_ the statement. In the testimony cited by plaintiff, Sater
specifically dtsscribes the BBG plans as “preliminary.” (See Opp. Ex. BC at 135:24-
136:10.) '

129. Defendants admit that plaintiff has summarized Sater’s testimony almost
accurately, except that Sater described Ilya Haikan as one of 2 group of owners, not as the
owner, but otherwise deny the state;nex'lt. (Ex. 59 at 136:14-137:7.)

130. Defendants admit that plaintiff has acci:rately quoted Sater’s testimony,
but otherwise deny the statement, .

131. Denied. The exhibit cited by plaintiff does not support the statement.
Sater testified that he concluded that the lost deal was “possibly” related to the Book and
the excerpt. (Opp. Ex. BC at 151:5-21.)

132, Denied. Arif'stated through his counsel that he believed that he had no
knowledge or information relevant to the dispute between the parties, (Ex. 56 at 1.)

Sater testified that Arif never dealt with or had any conversation with the Moscow
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project. (Ex. 59 at 149:19-150:5.) Sater testified that he was unaware of any Bayrock-
Trump project in Kiev, Warsaw, or Istanbul thgt was being discussed prior to the Book,
let alone that any such project did not go forward because of the Book. (Id, at 15?::4-
155:10; 156:21-157:5.)

133. Denied. Arif stated through his counsel that he believed that he had no
knowledge or infonna@on relevant to the dispute bet'ween the parties. (Ex. 56 at1.)

134.  Admitted. ‘

135. Denied. The exhibit citt;.d by plaintiff contains inadmissible hearsay
because Trump was not present at the hearing and lacks first-hand knowledge of the
events he purported to describe. (Ex. 11 at 402:16-403:18.) Even if admissible, there is
nothing in piaintiff’s testimony to support tl.xe fact that opponents “used the Book ... to
try to thwart zoning approval.” (Id.)

136. Denied. The testimony cited by plaintiff about Trump’s conversation with
an unnamed individual is inadmissii:lc.hcarsay. (Opp.. Ex. B. at 407:6-19.) Furthermore,
the statement is not a material fact pursuant to R. 4:46, because it does not connect the

. City Council’s decision to any allegedly defamatory statement at issue in this litigation.

137. Denied. Trump was notseeking an “approval.” Trump was seeking an
overall change in the district’s zoning that woulci have allowed any developer to build a
building over 56 feet tall in the Camelback Corridor neighborhood. (See Exs, 60-63.)

138. Defendants admit that plaintiff has accurately quoted Trump’s testimony,
but otherwise deny the statement. Defendants deny that the testimony cited by plaintiff

establishes that Trump lost any such deals, (Cpp. Ex. B at 19:13-20.)
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Date: May 7, 2009

DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP

Mary Jo White, Esq.
Andrew J, Ceresney, Esq.
Andrew M. Levine, Esq.

REED SMITH L1LP

by /IML ASlos

Mark S. Melodia, Esq. |
Kellie AlLavery, Esq.
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REED SMITH LLP
Formed in the State of Delaware
Princeton Forrestal Village
. 136 Main Strect
| Suite 250
® D Princeton, New Jersey 08543-7839
: (609) 987-0050
* DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP
919 Third Avenue
7 New York, New York 10022
* - (212) 909-6000
Attorneys for Defendants
-~ : : .

2 DONALD J. TRUMP, SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
® : LAW DIVISION: CAMDEN COUNTY
. Plaintift, '

) DOCKET NO. CAM-L-545-06 -
-V,
- : - . Civil Action
1.)*' TIMOTHY L. O’BRIEN, TIME WARNER
=~ . BCOK GROUP INC., and WARNER SUPPLEMENTAL CERTIFICATION OF
® BOOKS INC., MARK S. MELODIA
: Defendants.
S ) .
® MARK S. MELODIA, of full age, hereby certifies as follows: : -
" 'l. ITam an attomey‘ licensed to practice in the State of New Ji ersey, and a
@‘ l _ partner wnth the law firm Reed Smith LLP, attomeys for defendants Timothy L. O'Bricn,
PY . . ‘ Time Warner Book Gpoup Inc., and Warner Books Inc (collectlvely “defcndants”) in this
' mattcr As such, 1 am fully familiar with the facts set forth herein. )
A .
D . - 2. I make this Ccrtlﬁcauon in. ﬁlrther support of defendants’ Motlons for
® - Summary Judgment.
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3. " Atrue and correct audio copy of an excerpt from an interview of Donald J.
Trump by Timothy L. O’Brien; dated December 20, 2004, is attached hereto as

Exhibit 105.

4, A true and correct audio copy of an é).(ccrpt from an interview of Donald J.
Trump by Timothy L. O’Brien, dated January l2; 2003, is attached hereto as
Exhibit 106.

5. Atmeand correct audio copy of an excerpt from an interview of Donald J.

) 'l."rump by Timothy L. O'Brien, dated February 16, 2005, is attached hereto as

Exhibit 107.

6., ._A true and correct audio copy of an excerpt from an interview of Donald J.

- ) Trumﬁ and Allen Weisselberg by Timothy L. O’Brien, datéd March 4, 2005, is _attach‘ed

hereto as Exhibit 108.

1. A true and correct copy of a letter from William M. Tambussi, Esq. and

Mark P. R_esslér, Esq., to the Honorable Mic‘he]é M. Fm.c, J.8.C., dated February 12, 2609,

s attached hereto as Exhibit 109.

. 8 " Atrue and coméet copy of the article Say Spree Hurt Hand-During Boat

Fracas, by Mare Berman, which appeared in The New York Post on October 4, 2002, is

attached hereto as Exhibit 110.

'9. A true and correct copy of the article Spree Might Have Broken Knicks

’ Deal, b]-( Marc Bérman, which appeared in The New York Post on October 5, 2002, is

. attached hereto as Exhibit 1-11-.-
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10. A true and correct copy of Donald J. Trump’s Statement of Financial
Condition, dated June 30, 2004, is attached hereto as Exhibit 112.

11. A true and correct copy of a mortgage agreement for Mar-A-Lago, dqted
April 6, 1995, is attached hereto as Exhibit 113.

12. A true and comrect copy of a pay;nfent guara‘mty made by Donald J. Trump
in favor c;f UBS Warburg Real Estate Investments Inc.,- dated November 26, 2002, is '
attached hereto as Exhibit 114.

13. A true and coirect copy of excq.rp;s from the transcript of the cieposition of
Allen Weisselberg, on January 7, 2008, is atta'ched hereto as Exhibit 1:15.

i4. A trlie and correct copy of excerpts from the transcript of t‘he deposition of
Leigh Michelle Lokey, on September 7, 2007, is attacheq hereto as Exhibit 11;5.

15. A true and correct copy of excerpts from tI_le transcript of the deposition of

. Gerald J. Rosenblum, on November lj, 2007, is attached hereto as Exhibit 117.

16. - A true and correct copy of excerpts from the transcript of the deposition of

David Dillon, on August 13, 2008, is attached hcreto as Exhibit 118.

17. A tvue and correct copy of excerpts from the transcnpt of the deOSltlon of :
Patrick J. O’Brien, on March 27, 2008, is attached hcreto as Exhlb.t 119

18. A true and correct copy of excerpts from the transcrlpt of the deposition of
Michael O’Bnen, on August 13, 2008 is attached hereto as Exhibit 120,

19. A trueand correct copy of an undated list of Trump’s licensing

. agrec{nénts, which Tﬁmp produced in discovery, is attached hereto as Exhibit 121,
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20. A true and comrect copy of the article Leighton Hit by Mothballed Tower,
by Miriam Steffen, which appeared in The Sydney Morming Herald on December 2,

2008, is attached hereto as Exhibit 122,

21. A trug and correct copy of the article Trump Posggones Philadelphia

_Development, by Suzette Parmley, which appeared in The Phtladelghla Inguirer on

November 4, 2008, is attached hereto as Exhibit 123

22. A true and correct copy of the article Tampa Tower Lose.s Trump, by
James Thorner, which appeared in The St. Petersburg Tir.nes on May 30, 2007, is attached
hereto as Exhibit 124,

23. A true and correct copy of the article Developer: Condo Developtent on

Hold in N.O., which appeared on The Associated Press State & Local Wire on April 22,

2009, is attached hercto'as Exhl_blt 125,
24.  Ate and correct copy of the article Donald Declares “Trump Nation’

Enemv Territory, by Lloyd Grove wh;ch appcared in The Dally New s on November 10,

" 2005, is attached heretoasExhlblt 126.

25. T Atne and correct copy of an order of the Honorable Michael J. Kassel

J.8.C., dated January 23, 2008, is attached hereto as Exhibit 127.

26. A true and correct copy of excerpts from the u'anscript of the deposition of

) Donald Bender, on November 29, 2007, is attached hereto as Exhlblt 128.

" 27. A true and correct copy of the article Trumg Wins Plan Conf’ rmatlog, by

: Enk Moser, whlch appcared in Daily Deal/The Deal on Apnl 6,:2003, is attached hereto

- as Exhibit 129,
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28.  Atrueand correct copy of a letter from Andrew J. Ceresney, Esq., to
Maria Gorecki, Esq., dated May 25, 2007,-producing audio recordings of interviews of

Trump, Allen Weisselberg, and Leigh Michelle Lokey, is attached hereto as Exhibit 130.

29. A true and corect copy of the article Trump: Bigger than Coke or Pepsi?,

by Diane Brady, which appeared in Business Week on December 14, 2004, is attached

hereto as Exhibit 131,

30. A true and correct copy of Ajax Enterprises v. Declan Fay, No. 04-4539
2007U S. Dist. LEXIS 38515. (D.NL.J. May 15, 2007) is attached hereto as Exhibit 132. -

31 Atrueand correct copy of Bums v. gaﬁk of America, 03 Civ. 1685, 2008
Dist, LEXIS 98335 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 4, 2068) is attached hereto as Exhibit 133,

32.  Atrue and comett copy of Kipper v. NYP Hold‘ings, inc., No. 54, i009
WL 1148653 QV.Y. Apr: 30, 2009) is attached hereto as Exhibit 134.

33. Atwecand correct copy ' of Liberty Lobby. Inc. v. Anderson No. 81-2240,

1991 WL 186998 D.D.C. May 1, 1991) is attached hercto as Exhlblt 135.°

34.  Atrueand correct copy of Neff v. Coatés, No. L-977-04, 2008 WL

1988022 (N.3. Super. App. Div. May 9, 2008) is attached hereto as Exhii)it 136.

35.  Atrueand correct cOpy of Sktdmore v. Wall Stadlu“n Concessions, Inc.,

No L-1460-01, 2006 WL; 552505 (N.J. Super. App. Div. Mar 8, 2006) is attached hereto
as Exhibit 137, '
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{ certify that thefo'regéing statements made by me are true, I am aware that if ariy
of the f-oregoing statements made by me is willfully false, I am subject to punishment.

/LM A"fl.ﬂ:ﬂm :

l Mark S. Melodial

Dated: May 7, 2009
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Honorable Michele M. Fox, J.S.C.
Camden County Hall of Justice

101 South 5th Strect

Camden, New Jersey 08103-4001

BY HAND DELIVERY

Re; Frump v. O’Brien, et al.

Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, Civil Part
Docket No. L-545-06

Dear Judge Fox:

We are co-counsel for the plaintiff in the above matier, Donald J. Trump (“plaintiff” or
“Trump”), We respectfully submit the following summary of the status of this matter in advance
of the discovery conference scheduled for February 13, 2009.

L Background

This is an action filed by plaintiff against Timothy L. O'Brien, Time Wamer Book
Group, Inc., and Warner Books, Inc. (“defendants™), alleging that defendants defamed him by
knowingly, deliberately, and maliciously disseminating out-and-out falschoods about him and his
business acumen, honesty, and net worth - falschoods aimed precisely at damaging one of the
principal bases for his repulation and success in his real cstate, enlertainment, and brand-name
businesses, ’

The last discovery conference was held on'November 12, 2008, Afier the confercace,
the Court issucd an Order setting the following discovery deadlines:

- Fact discovery shalt be completed on ebruary 12, 2009,
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PAGE 2

- Plaintiff shall produce all expert reports by March 16, 2009.

- pron service of plaintiff’s final expert report, plaintiff shall notify defendants that ‘
the last expert report has been submitted.

- Defendants shall produce all responsive reports sixty (60) days following service
of plaintiff’s last expert report, or by May 15, 2009, whichever is sooner.

- The parties shall complete all experl depositions by July 3, 2009,
See Order of December 3, 2009, at 1-2. The deadlines are clear.

On February 5, 2009, defendants sent a letter lo Your Honor advising that they believe
fact discovery should conclude on February 12, 2009. The purpose and relevance of defendants®
submission are unclear because plaintiff does not seek, and has made no suggestion to
defendants that he intends to seek, any extension. Indeed, plaintiff has long welcomed the close
of fact discovery.! There is no dispute between the parties on this issue.

As to the issues that do merit consideration at the next conference, plaintiff submits the
following points.

II. Issues for Review at February 12, 2009 Conlerence

Plaintiff respectfully submits the following proposals for the Court’s consideration during
the conference on February 12, 2009,

A.  The Submission of Dispositive Motions Should Not Disturb the Progression
of Expert Discovery

As noted above, the Court set deadlines for expert discovery in the Order of December 3,
2009, Plaintiff sees no need to adjust these deadlines. At the last conference, defendants asked
for a “staggered approach to expert discovery” such that expert discovery would be stayed
pending submission of summary judgment motions.? The Court rejeeted this proposal.® Nothing

! In fact, during the last conference, plaintifi*s counsel made clear that plaintiff did not sec the
need for any further fact discovery at all, except for the deposition of Arthur Sulzberger, and two
other non-party corporate representatives sought by defendant, The issuc (hat arose was that
defendants suddenly advised on the day of the conference that approximately fifly (50) pages of
O’Brien’s notes existed and would be produced. Plainti(l has elected nol to depose O'Bricn on
such notes, -

2 See Letter of Mark S. Melodia to the Court, November 14, 2008.

3 See Transcript of November 14, 2008 Hearing, at 7-16 to 8-3.
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that has transpired in the three months since the last conference warrants changing that position,

B. A Trial Date Should Be Set for September 2009
=ss=s—=ongid be wet for September 2009

. Given the close of fact discovery and the anlicipated closure of expert discovery on July
3, 2009, plaintiff requests that a trial date be set for September 2009. Following the close of all

discovery, this case will not be subject to mandatory arbitration pursuant to R. 4:21A-1. The

We look forward to the conference on February 13, 2009,

Thank you for Your Honor’s gencrous attention and consideration,

Respectfully submiited,

KASOWITZ, BENSON, TORRES
& FRIEDMAN, LLP

By:  Mark P, Ressler
Mark P, Ressler, Esq.
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@ LexisNexis:

Copyright 2002 N.Y.P. Holdings, Inc. All rights reserved.
The New York Post

October 4, 2002, Friday
SECTION: Late City Final; Pg. 088
LENGTH: 556 words
HEADLINE: SAY SPREE HURT HAND DURING BOAT FRACAS
BYLINE: MARC BERMAN

BODY:

CHARLESTON - It was either a fight with the angry sca that busted Latrell 'Sprcwcll's right hand or, according to
two eycwitnesses, just an angry fight.

Spreweli's agent, Bob Gist, said yesterday his client's right-pinkie fracture accurred whilc skippering his new yacht
on the choppy waters of Lake Michigan off the Milwaukee lakefront.

However, two cyewitnesses who asked not to be identified told The Post the Kaicks superstar hurt his hand
afterward, when, during a late-night party on his boat, he was involved in 2 skirmish in which he threw a punch that
missed and hit a wall.

According to Sprewcll"s account, Gist said, a wave smacked his.plush boat and he scrambled to gain control of the
vessel, pulling on a rope to redirect it. Sprewell-banged his hand in trying to get the boat back on course, Gist said.

The two eyewitnesses said that after they had sailed on his boat Sept. 20 Sprewell had a party while it wos docked
gt the lakefront area in downtown Milwaukie. About 14 people attended.

Reportedly, an argument ensued about 2:30 a.m. after a woman Sprewell hadn't invited became sick after drinking
and vomited on a catpet by the bar area. Sprewell wanted the woman to leave'the boal, but her boyfriend objected.
Sprewell took a swing at the boyfriend, known as "Mark,” missed and hit a wall. |

Sprewell, according to the eyewitnesses, cursed in pain and asked his guests not to mention the incident.
No police report was filed,

Through one of his publicists, Sprewell last night denicd the account sayisig, "There's no validity to it. I don't even

know a Mark,"

Gist conld not be reached for comment regarding the cyewitngsses’ account.

When told of Gist's version, one eyewitness said, "No way, man. No'use lying. Keep it real. He swung at a friend
and migsed."

ARy eV s
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SAY SPREE HURT HAND DURING BOAT FRACAS The New York Post October 4, 2002, Friday

Last night, the Knicks said they were unaware of cither version.

According to hand specialists interviewed, some fractures of the fifth metacarpal arc called "a boxer's frecture”

beeause they result from 2 punch, "A boxer's fracturc” normally occurs when someone punches something with no give,
such as a wall or pole.

Sprewell, who has been told by the Knicks not to come to their Charleston training camp, believes he may have
first irritated the pinkié in the weight room and that the boating mishap may bave resulted in the fracture, Gist said.
Sprewell had surgery Monday and will miss six weeks,

"He was 50 excited, so prepared for camp,” Gist said. "He wished he would've known it was broken, He's oplimistic
he'll be playing before six weeks. He's itching to getout of the cast.”

All Sprewell told the Knicks Monday was he banged his hand a couple of weeks ago. The vagueness prompted

Knicks coach Don Chaney and GM Scott Layden to sct up a special meeting with Sprewell Monday to find out
specifics. .

In truth, the Knicks weren't worried how Spree hurt the hand. They were angry he didn

't report it sooner and
wanted to know his thought process before deciding whether to fine him. Tn their meeting, brass wants to remind him

how important he is to the franchise, and as such, is responsible for reparting even minor injuries in the offseason,

GRAPHIC; THE LOWDOWN: According to Latrel] Sprewell's agent, the Knick star broke his right pinkic while
skipping his new yacht on Lake Michigan, NY Post [color)

LOAD-DATE: October 4, 2002
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@ LexisNexis:

Copyright 2002 N.Y.P. Holdings, Inc. All rights reserved.
The New York Post

October 5, 2002, Saturday
SECTION: All Editions; Pp. 044
LENGTH: 702 words
HEADLINE: SPREE MIGHT HAVE BROKEN KNICKS DEAL
BYLINE: MARC BERMAN

BODY:

CHARLESTON - Latrell Sprewell, in possibly failing to give "prompt notice™ to the Knicks about his off-season
hand injury, might have breached his Knick contract, according fo a clause in the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

The last time Sprewell breached his contract was when he choked his coach P.J. Carlesimo five years ago. Golden
State terminated the contract, but it was later reinstated by a judge.

The Knicks don’t plan to terminate his confract, but a fine or suspension could be in arder afier GM Scott Layden,
Garden sports prez Steve Mills and Don Chaney mect with Sprewel]l Monday at their Westchester practice facility.

" It appears to depend upon how contrité Sprewel], who will make nearly $13 million this season, acts during the
meeting.

It also could hinge who defines the word "prompt” as it relates to Sprewell here.

With evidence mounting Sprewell fractured his right pi-nkie by punching a wall during a Sept. 20 altercation ata
party on his new yacht, this could be the final straw in his often-sicllar but always controversial Knick career. Sprewelt
didn't inform the Knicks about the injury until 10 days later - is that prompt? That question remains to be answered.

According to Chaney, he only told them he banged his hand on his boat, Sprewell will miss at least six weeks.

The relevant clause in the CBA states, "The player agrees to provide to the team's coach, trainer or physician
prompt notice of any injury, Hllness or medical condition suffered by him that is likely to affect adversely the players
ability to render the services required under his contract, including the time, place and nature of such injury, illness or
condition.”

A prominernt Manhattan hand surgeon confirmed that the injury Sprewetl suffered - a fracture of the fifth
metacarpal in the pinkie area - can be known as "a boxer’s fiacture® and is most commonly caused from punching
something hard.

."Bm‘cer’s fracture tends to come from a clenched fist striking a solid object,” said Dr. Pamela Sherman of the
Hospital for Special Surgery, "That's usually how it happens, punching a wall or drawer; something solid that doesn'

I s LT U S SRS R
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SPREE MIGHT HAVE BROKEN KNICKS DEAL The New York Post Qcrober 5, 2002, Saturday

move,"

cwitnesses told The Post on Thursday that Sprewell, hosting a party on his yacht docked at Milwauket's

Two cy
lakefront area, got angry when a woran guest drinking shots of alcoho! throw up or: a white carpet by the bar, They

said Sprewell wanted the woman off the boat, but afier her boyfriend interfered, Sprewell took a swing and missed,
Sprewell denjed the incident through one of his publicists,

Bob Gist, Sprewell's agent, backpedaled on his prior account that his ¢
yacht afier 2 Lake Michigan wave smacked the vessel. "I don't know and [
long 25 it's not & crime,” Gist said,

lient suffercd the fracture navigating his
really don't carc how he hurt his hand, as

Shopping Sprewell was 4 management priority this summer. With Shandon Anderson the scourge of a tumultuons
training camp, Sprewell's Knick career is in jeopardy ngain.

Layden made a telling remark Tuesday. Layden said of Sprewell's
well that Coach [Chaney] has an unbelicvable decision as what to do
about your supposed franchise player.

replacement, Anderson, “T'm hoping he plays so
when we're at full strength.” You don't say that

Chaney said he has to believe Sprewell's version for now,
find out exactly what the story is," Chaney said. "That's
said. He said he banged his hand on his boat. We still d

"I read it in the paper but I'd like to speak with him w0
one of the reasons we'l] be meeting. I can go by only what he
on't know. Right now we're tatking about hearsay,"

L ]

Anderson wasn't surprised by Layden's high praise. “Ha's the guy who drafied me in Utah,* Anderson said. "Your
bring in guys you have confidence in," Chaney said, "His weight's down, bod

y fat is way down, he's shooting much
better. I look 2t it 2s just an off year [last season],* . . . It's questionable whether rookie PG Frank Williams will play a

preseason game, two weeks away from contact drilis . . Allan Houston {sprained ankie) still hasn't practiced here. If he
misses Tuesday's preseason opener vs. Celts, Chaney may start camp fillers Toby Bailey or Danny Johnzon a1 $G.

LOAD-DATE: October 8, 2002
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ACCOUNTANTS' COMPILATION REBORT
To Donald J. Trurop: .

We have compiled the acconapanying statement of financial condition of Donald J. Trump as of

) June 30, 2004, in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services
® ~ issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

A compilation is liraited o presenting in the form of financial statements information that isthe
representation of the individual whose financial statements are presented. 'We hiave not andited
or reviewed the accompanying statement of financial condition and, sccordingly, do not express

3 an opinjon or uny other form of assurance 00 it However, we did become aware of cextain
departures from generaily accepted accounting piinciples that are described in the following
poragraphs.

Generally accepted accounting principles require that in order to reflect amounts to be received
in the foture at cstimated current values the rights must be non-forfeitable, fixed and
determinuble and not require aay future services. As discussed in Notes 4 and 5, scveral of the

> values cxpressed bave been besed on future interests that, in some instances, are not for fixed or
determinable amounts and, in some instances, ace based on performance of future services.

Generally accepted accounting principles roquire that, with respect to cach closely held business
eatity, summarized information about assets, liabilities and results of operations for the most
. current year be disclosed in the fnancial statements, In addition, the current estimated value of
3 cach ¢losely held business should be recorded as a net investment (assets net of liabilities).
Lastly, the ownership percealages of each closely held business should be disclosed. The
pecompanying statement of ginancial condition does not include the required summarized
disclosures and reports some closely beld business entitics in a monner that seporately states
gross assets and Habilities and states certain cash positions scparately from their related operating
entity and docs not disclose Mr. Trump's ownership prrcentage in certain closcly held
3 businesses. .

Generally accepted accounting principles require that the receipt of non-interest bearing deposits
in exchange for rights or privileges be recorded st fhe present value of the Tiability. As
in Note 4, the present value of the Hability for non-interest bearing deposits received as a
condition of membesship in club fecilities has not been included in the 2ccompanying staterent
) of financial condition

’ . . l--:i-h—l—hlt—rnnr:.
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Generally accepted accounting principles require that pexsonal uancial statements include 2
well as estimated income taxes on the differcnces befween

provision for current income taxes as
the estimated current values of assets and the estimated chsrent amounts of linbilities and their
tax bascs. The nccompenying statement of financial condition does not include such provisions.,

The effects of the departures from genesally acc

frave not becn determined.

Becan;;c {he significance and pervasiveness of the melters discussed above make it difficult to
assess {heir impact on the statement of financial condition, users of this fizancial statement
should recognize that they might reach differeat conclusions shout the financial condition of
Donald J. Trump if they had access w0 a revised statcment of financial condition prepared in

epted acconnting principles as described sbove

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
R
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Lake Success, N.Y
September 29, 2004
3662a
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

JUNE 30,2004

(Sec Accountants’ Compilation Repord)

ASSETS
Cash
Bscrow and reserve deposits
Marketable securities - Trump Hotels & Casino
Recorts, Inc.
Real and operating propertics: ’
“Trump Towez - 725 Fifih Avenve, New York, New York

NIKETOWN - East 57th Street, New Yok, New York
40 Wall Street - New York, New York
Club facilities - New York, Florida, New Jersey and California
The Trump World Tower at United Nations Plaza-
Now York, New York
100 Ceatral Park South - New York, New York
Tramp Plaza, Commercial and retained residential
portions - New York, New York
Trump Pelace, Trump Parc and Trump Parc East Condominiums,
Commercial partions - New Yark, New York
rump International Hotel and Tower - One Central Park West,
New York, New York :
Properiies under development - Westchester County, New York

Partnershipd snd joint ventures - (net of related debt):
Trump Place - Upper West Side, New York, New York
Miss Universe Pageants
Trump Park Avenue - New York, New York
Trump Grands QOcean Resort and Resideaces - Sunny Isles, Florids
Trump Tower Chicago
Properties under development in conjunction with others

Cther gssels

Total assets

$ 156,000,000
16,700,000

72,800,000

349,400,000
212,400,000
410,000,000
560,000,000

152,000,000
40,100,000

26,600,000
8,400,000

10,800,000
102,000,000

1,204,000,000
12,500,000
133,000,000
4,500,000
259,000,000
90,000,000

109,100,000

The accompanylng notes are an jotegral part of this financisl statement.
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LYABILITIES AND NET WORTH
Accounts payable and accraed expenses
Deposits payzble

Loans payable on real and operaling properties:
Loan related to Trurp Tower
Sccured lease bonds ~-NIKETOWN
Loaus related to 40 Wall Strect
Loans related to chib facilities )
Loans related to The Tammp ‘World Tower at United Nations Plaza
Loan related to the commexcial and retained residential
portions of TP Plaza, New York .
* Loan related to commercial portions of Trump Palacs,
Trump Parc and Tromp Parc East Condominiums
Loan related to Trump Interaationat Hotel and Tower
Loans related to properties under development i Westchester

Mortgages and loans payzble secured by other assets

Commitments md contingencics

Met worth

Total lisbilitics and net worlh

3664a

6,600,000
5,200,000
32,400,000
£3,100,000
151,000,000
64,600,000
41,400,600
9,300,000

5,600,000
4,500,000

8,000,000

8,500,000

420,200,000
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DONALD J. TRUMP
N.(.)TES 70 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
(See Accountnnts’ Compilation Report)
BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

The aoeo:;lpznying statement of financial condition consists of the assets end lizbilitics
of Donald J. Trump. Assets are stated at their estimated current values and liabilities at
their estimated current amounts using various valuation raethods.

Such valuntion methods include, but o not limited to, the use of appraisals,
capitalization of anticipated eamings, recent sales and offers and estimates of current
velues 25 determined by Mr. Tromp in conjunction with his associates and, in some
instances, outside professionals. Considerable judgment is mecessary 0 interpret
market data and develop the related estimates of current value, Accondingly, the
estimates presented herein are not necessarily indcative of the amoums that could be
realized upon the disposition of the assets or payment of the yelated Habilities. The usc
of differcut market assumptions and/or esiimation methodolopgies may bave a material

effoct on the estinated current value amounts, :

Generally accepted accounting principles vequire that personal financial statements
include a provisien for current fucome tascs as well as estimaled income taxes on the
Jdifferences between the estimated cumrent values of assets and (he estimated current
amounts of lisbilitics and their tax bases. The accompanyiny statement of financial
condition doss ot includz such provisions. -

Certain immaterial personal assets and Lebilities, such as antomobiles, personal and
houschold eFects and personal paysbles havé not been reflected in the accompanying
statement. ’ ‘

Purstant fo gencrally accepted accounhng principles, these financinl statements do not
reflect the value of Donald 7. Trump's workiwide reputation. When sttached to a real
property interest or gaming venurs, Mr. Trurmp's nzme conveys & high degree of
quality and profitability. His persona riszs to the Teve! of an intemationally recognized
brand name, This prestige significantly enhances the vafus of the propexties reflected in
these statements, as well as that of Lis fature projects. For example, the selling prices
of condominiom urtts at Trump Towes, The Trump World Tower at United Notions
Plaza end Trump International Hotel and Tower have been recorded at the highest
Imown Jevels per square foot. The goodwili attachied to the Trump name has significant
finzmcial value that has not been reflected in the preparation of this statement.

CASH:

" Cashrepresents amounts held by Donald J. Trump personally and amounts in operating

entities used for working capital, debt service and other business purposes.
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3. INVESTMENT IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES (CONTINUED):

.Since 1998 ond prior to June 30, 2004, Mr. Trump bad purchased 2,066,000 shares of
the common stock on the open market.

The net effect of the above is that, as of June 30, 2004, Donald J. Trumyp has beneficial
ownership of 25,679,610 shares of the publicly held corporation, Trump Hotels &
Casino Resorts, Inc,

This ownership position is more fully described as follows:

- The 36.6% limited portnership interest in Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts
Holdings, L.P. is convertible in whole or in part into 13,918,723 shares of Trump
Hotels & Casino Resorts, Ine,

Note that the 1,000 Class B shares now owned by Mr. Trump has voting power
egivalent to the voting power of the 13,918,723 conversion shares but the voting
power of the Cluss B Stock would be pmpumunnlciv dmnmshed as voting common
shares are fssued pursuant to the conversion rights,

- 9,960,737 sharcs owned directly by Mr. Trump including the 7,894,737 shares of
conmmon stock whick Mr, Trump 2oquired in July of 2003 upon the exchange of
his 1,500 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. .

- ‘The beneficial ownership includes 1,800,000 shares that Mr. Trump bas the right
to acquire pursuant to options described above,

Mr. Trump has also purchased bonds issued by Trump Casing Holdings, LLC with a par
value and market velue of $15,000,000 as of June 30, 2004, These bonds prowdc an
interest rate of 11.625% per anpum 1o be paid semi-annually end an additional 6% in the
fonn of “payment in kind™ notes, The bonds mature in the year 2010,

On June 30, 2004 the quoted market value of each share of Trump Hotels & Casino
Resorts, fnc. was $§2.42. The value ascribed 1o Mr. Trump's awnership interests in the
publicly held company was derived based on thal value multiplied by the number of
shares which he effectively owned on June 30, 2004, The value of his bonds,
$15,000,000, was then added to that munber o oblam the value of these scaurities,
$72,800,000. This value is subject to change. as it is based upon market conditions. The
quoted market value of each share of Trunip Hotels & Casino Resorts, Inc, on September
29,2004 was $.75, .
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REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES:

Donald J, Trump wholly owns rcal and operafing properties. Estimates of current value
of the propertics and related debt are defermined on various bases, 25 desctibed below.

Tromp Tower

Donald J. Trump is currently the owner-of 100% of the equity interests in the entities
that own and operale the commercial and retail elerents of the 68 floor mixed-uce
property known ss Trump Tower. The property also combains residential
condominiums that are owned by the residents. The commercial and retait aspects of
the property are located at 725 Fifih Aveaue between East 56 and East 57 Streets in
New York City. 1t has been described as New York's most famous contemporary
building and third most visited attraction with in excess of 4.5 million visitors anaually,

" Tromp Tower stands s a symhol of quality and success and is unequaled in the quality

of its retail, professionnl office and private condominium space. Desigaed by
renowned architect Der Scutt, this 68 floor bronze glass and polished brass stntcture on
Fifth Avenue boasts 178,000 square feet of coramercial space and 114,000 square feet
of retail space. The continuing success of the retail space has recently been
demonstrated when » world famous tenmt dromatically expanded its space in the
property through the year 2021 at rental sates which ane among the highest in the world.

Unti! the construction of The Trump World Tower 2t United Nations Plaza, Trump
Tower was the tallest residential building and concrete structure i Manhatian,

The estimated current value of $349,400,000 is based upon the asscssment of Mr,
Trurup in conjunction with his associates and outside professionals of recent sales of
compamble properiies,

Mr. Trump's interest in this property has been pledged as collateral with respect to a
loan paysble. As of June 30, 2004 the amount of this debt was $32,400,000. The nofe
mabures on Febmary 1, 2013 and bears interest at the rute of 7.36%.

Fupds in the amount of $2,524,000 have been escrowed pursuant to the terms of this
loas. This asset is reflected in this financial statement under the caption " Escrow and
reserve deposits.” )

NIKETOWN

Donald J. Teump is cumently the awner of 100% of the entity that is the lessee with
respect bo two long-term ground leaschold estates relating to Iand and buildings located
between Fifth and Medicon Avenues 2nd principally on 57th Strect in New York City.
On December 8, 1994, the premises were Jeased to NIKE Retail Services, Ine. The
NIKETOWN retail store is a single integrated building with five floors containing
approximately 65000 squere feel. NIKE Relail Services, Inc. characterizes its
NIKETOWN stores as high-profite stores designed to showease NIKE products, The
building has’ direct access to both the Trump Tower Atrium and the IBM Throngh-
Block Arcade,
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4. REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED):

NIKETOWN (Continued)

The property is leased to NIKE Retail Services, Inc. for 2 term that will end on May 31,
2017. . The Iessee will then have the option to extend the {ease for three five-year terms

beyond that date.,

Mr, Tramp's interests in this property both as lessee and lessor have beea assignedto a
new catity, which has used those rights fo sccurc bouds which, as of June 30, 204,
were in (he amount of $83,100,000. These are 7.125% gecured lease bonds that are
designed 1o be self-amortizing through scheduled payments the tast of which will take
place on Fune 1, 2017, The bond payments ar: designed to be satisfied by the
minimum rental payments under the terms of the NIKE lease.

Tho current value of $212,400,000 reflects the net proceeds which Mr. Trump in
conjunction with his associntes and outside professionals expect to be derived by him

from rental activities pursuant to the lease described above es well as the residuat value
of the propexty.

Secwity deposits in the form of U.S. Treasury Seawitics in the amount of $7,200,000
have been escrowed pursuant to the tems of these arrangements. This asstt is reflected
in this financiat statement under the caption "Escrow and reserve deposits.”

40 Wall Street

On November 30, 1995, an entity, which is wholly ewaed by Donald J. Trump, beceme
the lessee wmder a long-tem ground lease for the propenty at 40 Wall Street iu New
York Cily.

This is a 72-story tower consisting of 1.3 million square feet. . Mr., Trump has
restorod this property to ts positon as downtown Manhattan's premicr office

building.

The cstimated.current value of $410,000,000 is besed upon an evaluation made by Mr.
Trump in conjunction with his associates and outside professionals of leases that have
been signed or are cuprently the subjcet of negotiation and the present value of the
yesultant cash flow to be derived from the building’s operations as well 28 its residual

value. Some ofthe major tenasits are American Express, CNA Insurance; Countrywide-

Insurance aud on.effiliate of Bear Steams & Co. In the evaluation of this property
provision was made for griund rent payments when forecasting the anticipated cash
tow.

The property is curently subject to two moripages payable to Wachovia Sccuritics.
Ope mortgage i% in the amount of $140,000,000 2s of June 30, 2004, It is duc on
September 9, 2005, Iterest is at 2.55% more than the rate known as the London
Interbank Offering Rate and at June 30, 2004 was 3,7888%. The other morgage is in
the amount of $11,000,000 as of Jurc 30, 2004, Ttis ducon September 9, 2005,
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REAL AND OPERATING PROFPERTIES (CONTINUED):
40 Wall Street (Continued)

Interest is at 15% more than the rate known as the London Interbank Offesing Rate and
at June 30, 2004 was 16.2388%.

Funds in the amount of §5,390,000 bave heen escrowed pursuant to the tenms of these
Toans. This asset is reflected in this financial statement under the caption “Escrow and
reserve deposits”™,

Club Facllitics

Mr, Trump has acquired cestain propertics for the purposc of developing them into club
facilities. Several of these clubs will also contrin residential units which he will cither
ent to others or sell outdght. The cunent value of $560,000,000 is based on an
assessment of the cash flow that is expected to be derived from club and rental
oporations or the sale of residential units afier subtracting the estimated costs to be
incurred. That asscssment was prepared by Mr. Trump werking in conimetion with his
assuciates and outsids professionals,

The Mar-A-Lako Club in Falm Beach, Florida

Mr. Trump acquired this property in 1985 and transferred ownership 1o a wholly owned
Trmited Bability company in 1995, It is now an exclusive private club. One¢ condition
of membership is the contribution of non-intexest bearing deposits that do not require
vepaymzent until thitty years afler receipt and then only upen a members resignation,
The fact thut Mr. Trump will have the vse of these fimds for that perfod wilkout cost
and that the source of repayment will most likely be a replacement membership has led
him to value this Jiahility at zero. Theough June 30, 2004 these deposits amounted to
$26,204,000, )

The real property owned by the Club is the subject of & morigage payable that had a
balance at June 30, 2604 of $15,300,000 and bears am interest rafe of 8,50%. This
mostgage will suature on April 25, 2010,

Funds in the amount of $259,000 have been escrowed pursuant to the terms of this loan.
This asset is reflected in this financial statement under the caption *Escrow and reserve
deposits.” .

Trump National Golf Chub in Bri&m]iffMangr. New York

Mr. Trump, through a wholly owned entity, acquired Briar Hall Cointry Club,
Briarcliff Manor, New York for $8,500,000. Trump National Golf Ciub opened for
play on July I, 2002. Construction of a 42,000 square foot clubhouce is under way and
will be complete in the spring of 2005. Three hundred and fifty memberships are being
offcred. One condition of membership is the contribwtion of nun-intercst bearing
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REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED):
Club Facilities (Continued)

Trump National Golf Club in Biiarcliff Manor, New York {Continued)

deposits that do not require repayment until thirty years after receipt and then only upon
a members resignation, ‘The fact that Mr. Tnump will have the use of these funds for
that period without cost and that the source of repayment will most likely be &
replacement membership has fed him to value this liability at zero. Through June 30,
2004 these deposits amounted to $20,143,000.

The real property owned by the Clab is the subject of a mortgage payable that had a
balance due at June 30, 2004 of $6,200,000 and bears an interest rate of 1.5% above the
prime rate. At June 30, 2004, the rate was 5.50%. This mortgage will mature on
Febrary 28, 2011.

In addition to the Golf Clab, this property will contain 87 luxury condominium units.,
These vi}l consist of 16 townhouses and 71 units in two mid-rise buildings. Selling
prices range fiom $1,250,000 to $2.450,000 with regand to the townhouss uhits and
$500 to $835 per square foot with regard o units in the mid-rise buildings. The
Attornoy Generel of the State of New York has sccepted the condominium plan and
sales have begun, As of June 30, 2004 there were cight open signed contracts for
townhouses and two townhouses hizd been delivered.

Deposils in the amount of $1,930,000 have been received fom unit purchasers and are
refiected in this financial statetnent as 2 lizbility under the caption ** Deposits payable.”

Trump Internationa] Golf Club in Palm Beach County, Florida

Mr. Trump, through a wholly owned entity, acquired 3 long-term leasehold interest in
Jand that he developed into a first class golf course along with a 45,000 square foot
super-Juxury clubhouse which is cuwently in operation. Five hundred and fiRy
racmberships are being offered. One condition of membership 1s the contribution of
non-interest bearing deposits that do not require repayment until thirty years after
receipt and then only upon a members resignation, The fxct that Mr, Trump will have

. theuse of these funds for that period without cost and that the source of repayment will

most likely be'a replatement membership has led him to velue this Jisbility at zero.
Through Junc 30, 2004 these deposits amounted to $31,662,000.

Sufficient land is under lease and Mr. Trump will be coastructing an additional nine-
hole conrse at this facikity.

‘The real property owned by the Club is the subject of & mortgage paysble that had a
batance at June 30, 2004 of $7,800,000 and bears an interest rate of 1% above the

prime rate. At Junc 30, 2004, the rate was 5.00%. This mortgage will mature on

February 28, 2011, .
Funds in the amount of $140,000 have been escrowed with the county with regard to

this property. This assct is reflected in this finzncial stateraent under the caption
“Bscrow and reserve deposits.”
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REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED);
Clab Facllities (Continued)

Ocean Traild Golf Club in_Palos Verdes, California

Mr. Trump, through a wholly owned entity, acquired a property that he is developing
into a world-class golf course and <lub on the bluffs of the southern most point of the
Palos Verdes Peninsula in California. Once completed this club will be known as
Trump Nationat Golf Club / Los Angeles. The couse, designed by Pete Dye, features
panoramic views of the Pacific Ocean and Cotalina Island from every hole, A world
class ddving rnge will also be available, The clubhouse boasts fine dining I two
Zagat rated resfaurants, a players® loungs, bar and banquet facility which can host
special events for up to 350 people.

In addition to the Club, Ocean Tralls is presently zoned for 49 home sites with
unpanalieled ocean und golf cousse views, These will be developed into homes which
will sell for prices that range from $5,000,000 to 39,000,000, There-will also be 150
golf villas which will be rented ot rates that will range fom 51,000 to $1,509 per night.

The real property owned by the Club is the subject of 2 mortgage payable that had a
balance ot June 30, 2004 of $20,000,000 and bears an intercst rate of 7%, This
mortgage will mature on December 11, 2004. .

Furds in the amount of $257,000 have been escrowed pursuznt to the terms of this Joan.
This asset is reflected in this financial statement under the caption “Escrow and reserve
deposits.”

Trump National Golf Club in Bedminster, New Jersey

Mr. Teump, through a wholly owned entity, acquired a property consisting of 580 scres
that has been developed into a world-class golf course and club in Bedminster, New
Jemsey. Tho Club is desipned by Tom Fazio aud opened in the summer of 2004.
Membership positions are being offered at $175,000 but will reach a level of $225,000
over time. This area of the Club can accommodate 300 members, The Club's property
will also sccommodate a second golf course with facilities for 300 additional tmembers.
There will also be 18 cottages available for rental by members, In addition ta the golf
course, members have the use of an Olympic sized swimming pool and an equestrian
center, One condition of membership is the contribution of non-fnterest bearing
deposits that do not require repayment until thirty years after receipt and ther only upon
2 members resignation. The fact that Mr. Trump will have the use of these finds for
that pesiod without cost and that the source of repayment will most likely be a

repiacement yembership has Jed him to value this Hability at zero, Through June 30,
2004 these deposits amounted to $22,175,000, .
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REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED):
Club Facllities (Continved)

Trump National Gelf Club in Bedminster, New Jersey (Continued)

Deposits in the amount of $380,000 have been received fiom potentizl members and
are teffected in this financial statement as a liability under the caption * Deposits
payable.”

The real propety owned by the Club is the subject of two mortgages payable. One had
a balance at June 30, 2004 of $11,300,000 end bears an interest rate of 1% above the
prime rate but will be at least 5.5%. The ¢ffective rate at June 30, 2004 was 5.5%. This
montgage will mahme on February 28, 2011, The other mortgage is in favor of the
persons from whom the properly was scquired, The morigage had a balance at June 30,
2004 of $4,000,000 and bears an interest rate of 4,75%, which was the prime rale as of
the date of purchase, October 11, 2002, Segments wifl reature on September 30, 2004
and 2005.

The Frump World Tower at Unlted Notions Plara

Donald J, Trump developed and constructed a super haxury residentinl condominitm
development at 845 United Nations Plaza in New Yok City, The 90-story tower hasa
gross area of 877,000 square feet and is 860 fect in height. The building is situated at
tbe northwest cormner of the United Nations Plaza with exposures to the United Nations
Potk, the Bast River, Midiown and Downtown Manhattan, There are 378 super buxury
condominium units with ceiling height varying from 10 to 16 fect at the uppeymost
floors. As of Toue 30, 2004, 331 units have been sold at prices that exceeded $900 per
square foot. In addition to the condominium nnits a bar and a restaurnt are on the
ground floor Ievel, There is & valet paking facility for 75 cars below grade. M.
‘Tawmyp will retain and vent out these commercial spoces,

The current valuc of $152,000,000 reflects the net proceeds which Mr. Trump in
conjunction with his associates and outside professionals expect that he will derive
Fom unil sales during periods subsequent to June 30, 2004 based on cumrent pricing as
well ag the resideal value of the commercinl space wluch will be retained by Mr.

Trump.

Deposits in the amount of $2,360,000 have been received from purchosers and are
reflected in this financial statement as a liabitity under the eaption ** Deposits payable,”

Mr. Trump's interests in this property have been pledged a3 collateral with respect to
two loans relating to this property. One had a balance at June 30, 2004 of $11,300,000
and bears an inferest rate of the greater of 4% more than the rate known as the London
Interbank Offering Rate or 7% and at June 30, 2004 was 7%. The other loan had a
balance at Junc 30, 2004 of $15,100,000 and bears an interest rate of 6%. A portion of
both of these loans was to be repaid each time a unit is delivered, Both loans were fully
repaid in September of 2004,

Funds in the amount of $670,000 had been eserowed as of June 30, 2004 pur‘suant to
tbe terms of the loans described above. These funds are refleeted in this ﬁnancm[
statement under the caption “Escrow and reserve deposis.”
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REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED):
The Trump World Tower at United Nations Plaza (Continued)

Mr. Tromp has also pledged his interests in this propesty as collateral with regard to a
purchase moncy note payable to his former partner with regard to this venture. The
balance of thot note was $15,000,000 at June 30, 2004, The note was issued with
original issue discount 5o that amount is inclusive of interest at 3.49% through its due
date which is January 12, 2006,

100 Central Park South

The propexty at 100 Central Park South in New York City is known as Trump Pere East
Condominium and consists of ad 81-unit luxury epartment house located:at the comer
of Central Park South and The Avenue of the Americns, The prepesty also contains 2
commercial condominiom unit that is currently leased to three retail tenauts, Mr.
Trump has converted the property to 8 Condomininm. Through June 30, 2004, units
with a value of $24,034,000 have been sold,

The cument value of 340,100,000 reflects the net proceeds that Mr. Trump in
conjunction with his assoclates and outside professionals expect that he will derive
from residential unit sales during periods subsequent to June 30, 2004 based on curent
pricing,

Trump Plaza Cooperatives

Trump Plaza was developed by Mr. Trump in 1983 and was sold pursuant to a
cooperative offering plan. The property is located on Third Avenue between 61st amd
62ad Streets in New York City.  The assets reflected in this statement Tepresent cettain
residual interests that Mr. Tromp stifl owns. These consist of two residential units, and
long-term Jeasehold interest in two residentiul townhouses, each consisting of four
residential units, a parking garage and commercial space.

The estimated current value of $26,600,000 is based upotl 3 receot appraisal of most of
the property interests deseribed above ($24,700,000) and an assessment made by Mr

Trump in conjunction with his associates of the value the balance of the property
interests ($1,900,000). -

Mr. Trump's interest in the two residential fownhouses, the parking garage and lhe
commercial space has been pledged as collateral with respect to = loan payable. Asof
June 30, 2004, the amount of this debt was $9300,000. The note matures on
November 1, 2004.and bears interest at the rate of 7.6%. Subcequent to Juge 30, 2004
thig loan was refinanced with & lower interest rate,

Fundéin the smount of $215,000 have been escrowed pursuant to the terms of this loan.
This asset is reflected in this financial stalement under the caption "Escrow and reserve
deposits.” :
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4. REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED):

‘Trump Palace, Trump Pare and Trump Parc East Condominiams -Commercial
Porilons

These propertics were fully develaped aud the only areas that remaned unsold as of
June 30, 2004 were:

- 42 storage units ot Trump Palace Condominivm :

- 38 storage unils, a parking garage, and other commercial condominium spaces at
Trump Parc Condomininm

- the commercist condominium elements at Trump Parc East Condominium

The estimated current value of $8.400,000 was bascd on an assessment made by Mr.
Trump in conjunction with his #ssociates of the value of the various propertics
described above,

These properties have beent pledged as collateral with respect to a loan payable. As of
June 30, 2004, the amount of this debr was $5,600,000. The note matures on August
31, 2004 and bears interest at the prime rate, As of June 30, 2004, the interest sate was
4%. Subsequent to June 30, 2004 this loan was refinanced ot the sane interest rate and
a mahnity date of August 11, 2009,

Trump International Hotel aitd ‘Tower

Donald ¥, Trump joined with General Blectric Pension Trust and The Galbreath
Company in the redevelopment and convesion of the former Paramount Building at
One Central Park West in New York City from an office tower into a luxury residential
and hotel condominium development. ,

Under the terms of various agreements with his associates and the condominiung, Mr.
Trump yeeeived cestain fees based upon the success of the venture and mamagement
fees relating to property operations.

The estimated curvent value of $10,200,000 was based upon on an assessment made by

- Mr. Trumy in conjunction with his associstes of the remaining compensation which he
and entities which ke owns will denwve a5 a result of hotel and vental operations as well
a5 the value sscribed to the retained commercial condominium elements of the
property. These are the garage fucility, the restaurant and an ezsement with respect to
the rooftop area, al} of which are now owned by Mr. Trump as bo has acquired them
from his former partnera.

Mr. Trump's infercst in this propesty has been pledged as collateral with respect to 2
loan paysble. As of June 30, 2004, the amount of this debt was $4,500,000. ‘The note
matures on January 30, 2009 and bears interest at the prime rate. As of June 30, 2004,
the intevest rate wos 4,.00%.
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4. REAL AND OPERATING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED):

Properties Under Development i Westchester Connty, New York

Mr. Trump acquired a propaty known as The Mumsion at Seven Springs in Bedford,
New York which consists of over 200 acres of land, 2 mansion and other boildings,
This property will be trausformed into 20 luxurous Yiomes, It hos been valued at
$80,000,000 based on an assessment made by Mr. Tnump in conjunction with bis
assogiates and outside professionals of the projected net cash flow which be will derive
as those nits are constructed and sold,

This property is the subject of a marigage payable that had a balance due at June 30,
2004 of $8,000,000 and bears an interest rate that is the higher of 1% more than the

prime mte or 5.25%. At June 30, 2004, the mte was 5.25%, Thie monigage will mature
on July 1, 2005,

Frmds in the amount of $71,000 bave been escrowed pursuant to the terms of this loan,

This asset is reflected in this financial statement under the capfion “Escrow and reserve
deposits.” .

Mr. Trump sequired two additiona parcels of land in Westchester County, New York
for developraent end/or sale. One of the them is the subject of an option agreement
which permits the potential purchaser to buy that property for 515,000,000 and has

been valued at that amaunt. The second has been valued at $7,000,000 based on its
comparable features,

A deposit in the amount of $500,000 has been received from the potential purchaser
described above and is reflected in this financial statement as 2 liability under the
caption * Deposits payable,”
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PARTNERSHIFPS AND JOINT VENTURES:

Estimates of current value of Mr. Trump's interests in partnerships and joint ventures
reflect his interest thercin and are determined on various bases, as described below,

Trump Place

Construction and sales activity are well underway at the 76-acre Trump Place
development, located along the Hudson River between 72od and 59th Streets in
Marhattan. Six of the seventecn buildings scheduled for development are complete.
These buildings 240, 220, 200, 180, 160 and 140 Riverside Bouvlevard ere located
between the newly built extension of West 7ist and West 66th Streets, the newly built
Riverside Boulevard and Freedom Plzce. 180 Riverside Boulevand, a Juxury rentat
apartment house, is 98% rented, ai rates that average $50 per square foot. There are
also 104 affordsble apartments in the building thst are rented pursuznt to 2 lottery
sepervised by » non-profit agency. 160 Riversids Boulevard opened in February of
2001 and is now more than 97% occupted at luxury rents that average mote than $50
per sqoare foot. 200 Riverside Bonlevard is now in full opetation as a condoptinitm
with all of the 376 units sold and occupied. Constriction at 220 Riverside Boulevard is
complete. At 48-storics and over 800,000 gross square feet it is the Iargest emd tallest
building on the site. This building is comprised of 441 tuxury condominium units with
unsupassed smenities and bresthtaking views. While the selling prices of
condominitms at 200 Riverside Boulevard were in excess of $600 per square foot,
those at 220 Riverside Boulevard cxceeded $812 per square foot and all nuits have been
sold. At 140 Riverside Boulevard rental activities have reached the 92% occupancy
level. Like its ncighbors to the north, this 26-story building is a huxury rental expecting
1o average rents contparable fo the vther buildmgs on the site. Ofits 354 units, 71 are
be affordable housing units to be rented pursuant to a lottesy supervised by a non-profit

agedcy and the balance are luxury rental apartients. The sixth completed building is

The Heritage at Trump Place beiween 71% and 72™ Streets, also known as 240

Rivesside Drive, It consists of 170 units of luxury condonunium housing. One hundred

and fiRty of these units have been sold al prices that exceed an average of $1,233 per

square foot. Four other units have been-2old at prices that average $1,740 per square

foot. This property is 31 stories tall and contains 266,937 square feet,

A Yease has been signed for commercial garages 2t 220, 200, 180 and 160 Riverside
Boulevard and additional commercial spaces are being sctively offered for leasing.
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5. PARINERSHIPS AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED):

Trump Place {Continucd)

The catire property consists of 76 acres and has been fislly zoned for 5,700 housing
units, refail and other uses totaling 7,900,000 square feel of above ground space. Mr.
Trump owns 30% of the entire project. Mr, Trump's Hong Kong based partners and
various ather companies are obligated to fimd the development of this project.

The cstimated current value of $1,203,000,000 is based upon oo fm assessment mede
by Mr. Tsump in conjunction with his associates and outside professionals of the net
cash flow the partnership will derive from management fees, property sales and the
residual value of the property. They then applied kis percentage of ownership in order
to derive the value ascribed to his position in this financial statement.

Miss Universe Pogennts

In October of 1996, Donald J. Trump acquired all of the assels that together are the
"Miss Univevse Pageants,” In 2002 NBC became a 50% joiut venture participaat in
those activities, replacing CBS. Th= company preduces the Miss Universe Pageant, the
Miss USA Pageant as well as the Miss Teen USA Pageant. The pageants have been
redefined to present the combination of style and intelligence that define the woman of
the new milleanium. Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts Holdings, L.P, owns a 25%
interest in this veaturs and M. Trump owns the remaining 25%.

The alltance with NBC has enabled the Miss Universe Organization to bring together
women from around the world in the spirit of first class compelinion. ‘The resultmnt
prime-time network television specials are broadeast live to a worldwide audience. As
& result of this notoriely, site fees for Miss Universe events far cxceed those paid to
similar organizations, In valuing his 25% interest in this venture ot $12,500,000 My,
Tramp angd his associates considered negotiations currently in process with regard to
ownership of the other interests.

Mp Park Aven.ue

Donald J. Trump has joined with General Electric Pension Trust in the development of
the former Delmonico Hotel at 59™ Street and Park Avenue in New York City.

The property consists of 134 residential condominium units that range from one to
scven bedrooms contained in approximately 220,000 squars fect, Duplex Penthouse
unils arc located on the 31* 2nd 32 floors.” The property also contains 30,000 square
feetof commercial space, |
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PARTNERSHIPS AND JOINT YENTURES (CONTINUED):
Trump Park Avenue (Continued)

Costas Kondylis, a prominent architect long associated with Iwcury architecture, has
been engaged to maintain the prewar acsthetic of the area by designing elegant
apartment homes. Mr. Kondylis has previously desigaed such prominent properties as
Trump Intemstional Hotel and Tower, The Trump World Tower at United Nations
Plaza, and 616 Park Avenue that was a conversion of the former Mayfair Hotel.

Tromp Park Avenue will beconie syncnymc;us with an upscale intemational lifestyle
characterized by greciousucss and old world huxury skillfully blended with modemity at
atruly unrivaled location.

Under the terms of various ugreentents with his pactuer, Mr. Trump is to receive ceriain
fees and partnership distributions based wpon the snecess of the venture,

As of June 30, 2004, 67 units have sold at prices that exceeded $1,500 per square foot.

The cstimated current value of $133,000,000 was based ypon on an essessment made
by Mr. Trump in conjunction with lus associates and outside professionals of the
compensation andd parinership distributions that he and enfities that he owns will
receive @5 a result of the sale of condominium units as well as the residual valne of the
commercial space.

‘Trump Grande Ocean Resort and Resldences

Mr. Trump hins entered into s sales and marketing license agresment with Dezer
" Propeties for an oceanfront development located between Bal Harbour and Aventurs.
Upon completion, this project will contain three buildings on cleven acres and. neardy
1,000-lincar feet of uninterrupled oceanfront property. The Trump ternational
Sonesta Beach Resort was the first building compleled and opened to the public in May
of 2003. The condominium hotel containg 372 zooms, ballrooms, a state-of-the-art
business center and 20,000 square fest of meeting rooms, with approximately §2% sold.
Curreally under construction  is Tramp Palace, 2 residential condominium tower with
267 units that are scheduled for completion in August of 2005, with.spproximately 93%
pre-sold.  Pre-construction sales of the third residential condominium called Trump
Rayale have also began. Construction of Trump Royale will begin in October 2004 and
is approximately 76% pre-sold.
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PARTNERSHIPS AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED): ]

Tromp Grande Ocean Resort and Residences

Under the terms of various agreerments with his associates, Mr. Trump is to receive
fees based upon the success of the venture.

The estimated current value of $4,500,000 was based UpoQ on &n gssessment made by

Mr. Trump in conjunction with his associates of the compensation that he and entities
that ke owns will derive as a result of propexty sales and rentel operations,

Trup Tawer Chicago

" Donald J, Trump end Hollinger Externational Inc. had enlered into an agrecment to

develop Trump Internation:d Hotel & Tower at 401 North Wabash Strect, the site of the
current headquarters for The Chicago Sun-Times.

Under a revised agreement, Hollinger will sell its interests jn the propexty and the joint
venture to Mr. Trump and hos received $4 million in cash a5 of June 30, 2004, with a
balanice of $69 million in cash to ba received o closing, for a total of §73 million, The

. Closing is scheduled to occur in October 2004, Mr, Trump considers this to be a cost of

his acquisition of the propesty and reflects it in his assessmens of the cument value
deseribed bolaw,

The project is a 2.5 million square foot, 90-story, super-loxury, mixed-use tower
located along the Chicago River just off Michigan Avemue, The glass codain-wal
building has becn designed by the world-renawned architectural fimm of Skidmore,
Owings and Menill, The building will contain 461 residential condominiums, 227
hotel condomiviims, #pproximately 100,000 square feet of retnil and restawrsnts along
2 fiver walk, a 1.2 acre public park and indsor ing facilitics for over 1,000 cars,
Sales and marketing of the condominims begen in September of 2003 and contiacts
kave been signed Fepresenting approximately 6756 of tha units with a value in excess of
$447 million, When complete in 2003, Mr. Trump will menage the building under the
Taump Intemational Hotel & Tower flag. The building will be the fowth tallest
building in Chicago and one of the most hmaious buifdings in the world,

during periods subsoquent to June 30, 2004 as well as the residual value of the
commercial space which wil] be retained,
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PARTNERSHIPS AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED):

Properties Under Development In Conjunction with Others

Mr. Trump has formed certain associations with others for the purpose of developing
certain propertics as described below. The estimated current value of $99,000,000 was
based on an assessment made by Mr. Trump in conjunction with his associates and
outside professionals of the cash flow that is expected to be detived by him from these
associations as their potential is reatized.

Trump Tower Las Vegac

A joint veoture apreement has been signed between M. Trump and Hyde Pad, LLC
{controlled by Philip Ruffin) to build a huxury cesidential condominium tower near the
Yas Veges Strip. The properly is opposite the fxnous Fashion Show Mall and is
planncd fo he the taltest residential tower in Las Vegas with over 1,000 condominiuvm
units, The site is part of an existing hotet and casino complex, which Ruffin jntends to
re-develop seporately. The project is cumently sceking zoning end condominium plan
approval, A sales and muketing progrem is alsp currently bemng planned, with a
teservation only sales program expected to begin in Octoher of 2004 and contract sales
to commence in early 2005.

Trump Teland Villas and Trump International Golf Club at Raffles Resort and
. Deump Casing ,_ Canouan Islund, 81, Vincent and the Grenadines, West Indies

Mr. Trump has entered into a sales and matketing agreement with the developer of this
prepeniy for the purposes of operating a S-star resort and building residential villas,
The project consists of a 156-room Raffles Resort & Spa, with a Tramp casino znd
Trump International Golf Club. The residential development will consist of 135 villas
and custom-designed estate homes, all to he sold with private golf club memberships.
The Reffies Resort will open in the Fall of 2004, and sales will begin on the villas in
Deéember 2004,

Tramp Internafional Hote] & Tower
Toronts, Ontario, Canada

A developmaent agreement has beeit signed with the developer of this project to build a
G8-story Iuxury hotel and residential condomininm tower in downtown Toronto, Mr.
Trump intends 10 brand and manage the building under the Trump Internztional Hotel
& Tower flag. The building will contnin 263 hoted condominiuras and over 100
residential condominitins, as well s restaurznts and a health club & spa. Pre-cales for
the condominiums began in April 2004. The developer will seek financing upon a
certain percentage of pre-sales required,
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PARTNERSHIPS AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED):

Properties Under Development {n Conjuuction with Others ( Continned )

Trump Intemntiona) Beach Chib
Fort Landerdale, Flotida

i Tow
Fort L suderdale Florida

A development agreement has been signed with the developer of this project to build a
luxury, ocean front boted condominium jo Fort Lauderdate. Mr. Tramp intends to brand
acd manage the boilding under the Trump Intemationsl Hoted & Tower flog. The
building will contain 261 hotel condomimiums, as well as retail space and o private

health club, The project is currently seeking zoning approval, and pre-sales for the
eondominiums arc expected to begin in the gpring of 2005,

Tmmp [ntemational Hotel & Tower
Phoenix, Arjzona

project wall contain 200 condominjums amd 150 residential condominturas, a5 well as
restaurants, retail space and a private health club, Pre-sales for the condominiums are
cxpected 10 begin in the spring of 2005,

Toump Tower Tom pa
Tampa, Florida

A development agreement has been signed with the develaper of this project to build a
56-story luxury residential condominium in downfown Tampa, The building will
contzin 200 condominiums, as well as retaif space and a private health club. Pre-sales
for the condominiums are expecled (o begin in the fall of 2004,
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OTHER ASSETS:
Trump Tower

Mr. Trump owns a triplex apartment on the top three floors of Trump Tower (see Note
4). Mr, Trump and his associates have estimated the airrrent value of that apartmeqt to
be $60,000,000 based upon their knowledge of the velue of similar unique real
property. The property is subject 10 a mortgage that had a balance duc at June 30, 2004
of $6,800,000 and bears an interest rate of 7.25%. The morigage will mahre on
December 1, 2005.

Mar-A-Logo

Mr. Trump owns two homes which are contiguous to the club facility at Mar-A-Lago
which is more fully described in Note 4.

Mr. Tromp and his associates have estimated the current value of those homes to be
$4,000,000 that based upon their knowledge of the vahie of similar wnique real
property. Mr. Trump’s inferests in these properties have been pledged as collateral with
sespect to two loans. One had a balance at June 30, 2004 of $500,000 and hears an
intcrest mie of 1.5% mote than the mte known as the Londoo Interbank Gifiring Rate
and at June 30, 2004 was 2.73%. ‘This loan will mature on January 1, 2019. The other
Toen had a balance at June 30, 2004 of $1,200,000 and bears 2o interést rate of 1.75%
Anore than the rate known as the London Interbank Offering Rate and at June 30, 2004
wag 2.98%. This loan will mature on February 1, 2019,

Corporate Jet

An entity owned by Donald J. Trump is the owner of a jet aircraft. Mr. Trump and his
associstes have estimated the current value of this aircraft to be 58,000,000 based upon
their knowledge of the value of similur unique property,

The Wollrazn aud Lasker Sksting Rinks in Central Park

Having recanstructed the Wollman Rink in 1986, Mr. Trump bas been associated with -

its success in bringing enjoyment to the people of the City and its snrounding grea. .

The City has granted a license to operate and manage both the rinks in Central Park
until June 30, 2012, This amangement has been in effect since November of 2001 and
is achicving great acclaim from all parties.

The estimated curient valuc of $2,500,000, which Mr. Trump and his associates have
ascribed to the leense, was based upon the present value of the net cash flow that they

“expect he will desive from this arrengement,
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OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED):
Other

Mr. Trump and entitics that he owns control scveral other active businesses as well a3

properties which are in preliminary stages of development, ‘The assels related to thess
interests includes

- an intermational la!cmrcpmcnlaﬁonagmcy

- A maagement company that supervises the operation of condominium proparties as
well as Mr, Trunp’s owa properties

- receivables representing amounts eamed to date with regard to television, mdio,
game and book publishing endeavors

- contract rights with regerd to fature perfonnances on television, radio and other
media octivitics .

- properties awned in conjunction with his siblings consisting priraarily of rented
apartment units being renined ip properties converted to cooperative ownership

The estimaled cunrent value of these assets of $34,600,000 is based upon oa an
asseszment made by Mr. Trump in conjunction with his aseociates and outside
professionals of the cash How that they expect he will derive from these endeavors,

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCTES:

Mr. Trump slso has personal responsibilities with respect to various employment
Contrasts, construction contracts, loan agrecments and other commitments, Thesa
include recourse obligations conceming partnership indebtedness, guarantees relating to
the.completion and environmental aceeptance of certain prvjects,

Mr: Trump and his affiliates are parties to varions lawsaits and legal actions. At the
present fime, the outcome of those proceedings cannot be estimated, My, Trap
believes that these legal actions will not bave a material effect on his financial position,

"Commission, as well as a cense ity the state of Indiana, which regulates the ownership

and operation of various casine and hote] facilitics. He was also found suitable to hold
a casino license in the state of Nevada and bas been approved for & license (o manage
casino facilities by the Nations Indian Gaming Commission. The various casino
control commissions have broad disciction with regand to the issuance, repewal,

' revocation or suspemsion of these licenses, The casinos are paties 10 varjous

sdminjstrative proceedings involving allegations of violations of certain provisions of

the Casino Control Act, Mr, Trump and his affiliates believe that the final outcome of

these proceedings wiil not have a material adverse effect on his financial position.
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COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

Various taxing authorities are currently auditing Mr. Trurop and certain of bis affiliates.
Al the present time, the outcome of these examinations cannot be detenmined,

Mr. Trump petiodically mmintains funds on deposit in banking institutions In excess

of FDIC insured amounts. He is at risk for any amounts exceeding the FDIC
amount. '
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FIRST MORTGAGE, SECURITY AGREEMENT AND
"ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS

. By

THE MAR-A-LAGC CLUB, INC., .
R Florida corporation

ASMORTGAGOR
In Favor OF

THE, UNION LABOR LYFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
a Maryland corporation

AS MORTGAGEE

DATED AS OF April {>, 1995
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FIRST MORTGAGE, SECURTTY AGREEMENT
—AND ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS

‘THIS FIRST MORTGAGE, SECURITY AGREEMENT AND ASSIGNMENT OF
RENTS {this "Motizage®) made and delivered as of this &  day of Aprdl, 1995, by THE
MAR-A-LAGO CLUB, INC., a Florida cosporation, having s address ¢lo The Trump
Orgminwn,mmﬂﬁAmuc,Nchmk,NmYork lomnmmnaum
*Morgagar”), in favor of THE UNION LABOR LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, 2
Muryland corpozation, baving an oftics st 111 Masnachusetts Avenne, HW,, Washington,
D.C. 20001 (herelnafier called “Mortenpen™).

WITNESSEXIH

*  WHEREAS, Morigager Is Indebied to Mortgagee in the principal sum of TEN
MILLION AND NO/100 DOLYARS ($10,000,000.00), together with interest thereon, a8
evidenced by that cerain Promissory Note dated of even date herewith (the "Noie®),
execuied by Morigagor and delivered to Mortgagee, which Note by reference is made a part
heseof to the same extent 25 though set out in foll heren,

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the suni of Ten ($10.00) Dollars
and other good and valuable consideratlon, the receipt and aufficlency of which is hereby
acknowledged and in order to securo (2) the payment of all indebtedness evidenced by the
Note, including, without limitztion, the Principa) Sum, plus atl interest, additional interest
and other sums payable pursuant to the Note, (b) the payment of al abligations z2nd liabililies
of Morgagor under the other Loan Documenls (a5 such tama is hereinafier defined), {c) the
payment of 21 amounts, sums, and expenses paid hereunder; uider the Notz or any other
security instrument securing the Note, by Mortgzgee in sccordance with the provisions
Bercof, of the Note or of any of the oter Loan Documents, and (d) the obscrvance, payment
and pu'formmu: of all of the teoms, covenants, coadltions, ohfizations, representations,
warrantics, Lahilities, and ts of Mortzagor tnder this Morigage, the Note, and all
of the other Loan Docoments (all of the aforesaid iteme (3)-(d) being herelnafier cotlextively
referred to as the *Indehicdness™), Mortgapor does hereby grant, bagain, s, alienate,
vemise, release, convey, assign, transler, morlgage, hypothecate, pledge, deliver, st over,
warrat and confirm unte Morigagee, its successors and assigns forevers

THE MORTGAGED PROPERTY

(A) THELAND: Al that certaln plot, ploee and pareed of land Jocated in Palm
Beach County, State of Flotida described on Exhihit A% annexed hereto’and made a pan
hereof (the "Land™).

(8) THEIMPROVEMENTS; (1) All the bulldings, structures znd Improvements
of every miure whattoever now or hereafter situated on the Land; (2) all fixtures,
machinery, appliances, equipment, fumiture, furnishings, bullding supplies, sratexials and
persanal property of every nature whatsoever now o bereafter avmed by Marigagor and
Tocated In or on, or ettached to, installed in, znd nsed or intended to be used {n conpaction
with or with tha eperation of, the Land, bufldingy, structures or other improvesnents, or in
comection with any construction being conducted of which ray be conducted thereon,
Encluding, bet not Bmited to, 81! scrent, awnings, shades, blinds, cortaing,
caxpets, rugs, furniture and fumishings, heating, electrical, mechanfeal, Ii;h!mg. plumbing,
vealitatng, slr conditioning, refiigerating, Mmﬂu;uﬂdmnqﬁpmand:yﬂm
stoves, rangey, vacum cleaning systems, call systems, spnnldcrsynems{mﬂnawunow
of bereafter situnted on the Land) and other fire prevention snd extingulshing apparatus and
materlals, molors, machinery, pipes, appliances, equipment, fittings and fixtures
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{collectively, the “Equipment®); (3) all drawings, painlngs, photograghs, tapesries,
sculptures, pottery, chiva, glasware currenily owned or hereafier acquired by Moctgagor and
mubﬂuﬁaaumdw.mmimdhorminmmhnwimdeogmﬁmonhe
Land, fncluding without limitation, the kems zet forth on Exhibit “B annexed fereto and
made 2 part bereaf (collectively, the “Artwork®) and (4) the trade name, good will ard books
and records relaticg 1o the busioess of Motigagor and operation on the Land and alf
extensions, 3dditions, imptovements, betterments, renewals, substitutions and teplacemeny 1o
any of the foregolng, and alt of the right, tide and Interest of Mortgagor ta and 1o any such

property of [oxures which, 10 the fullest extent permitiad by law, shal) be
eumtmhdydeemedﬁm:undlmcfdﬁcmlpmpmymmbmdhutby(nm
buildings, improvements, Equipment, Antwork and other propesty described in this
paragraph (B) being collectively berebmlier called the *Improvements®).

(C) ~EASEMENTS: All exsements, righu-ofoway, iparian rights, trore! sights,
gares of land, stzets, ways, alleys, passages, sewer rights, water courses, water rghts and
powes3, and all appuniesinces whatsoover, In any way belonging, celating o appertaining o
any of the Mostgaged Property descrited in paragraphe (A) and (B) sbeve, or which

. beseafier shall in toy way belong, relate oc be appiunicmant thereto, whether now owned o

bercaficr acquired by Morigagor.

(D) TOGETHER WITH {1) aif the estate, cight, title and interest of Mortgagor of,
in and to all judzments, tasurance proceeds, awards of damagey and sewlements bereafter
made resulting from condemnation proceedings, tax reductlon of cattiorari proceedings i
mpodofrﬂlmbx:sl:\dmmﬂkuing&emaaged Propecty, oc the taking
of tho Mortgaged Property described in paragraphs {A), (8) and (C) abave oc any part
thereof under the power of eminent domaln, or for any damage (whether caused by such
uking or otherwise) to the Mertgaged Propenty described In paragraphs {A), (B} and (C}
above at any part themof, of to agy rights appurtenan therelo, and all proceeds of uny sales
or otber dispasitions of the Mortzaged Property described in parsgraphs (A), (B) ad (C)
above of aoy part thereof including aqy awards for changes of the grades of streeis of 3s a
fesult of any other damage to the Land; and, subject to the further provisians bereof,
Mortgagee is heseby authorized to collect and recefve said awards and proceeds and 1o give
proger teceipts and acquittances therefor, and (if & o elects), subject to the tetms and
conditions herefnafier sct forth, o apply the same toward the payment of the indebiedness
and other suros seeured , notwithstanding the fact that the amount owing iercon may
oot then be doc and payable; (2) all contract rizhts, general Langibics, actions and tighs Ia
actian, ln:!udh;widsomliuﬁmionaﬂﬂaht:wimumpmm:ndumndpmhm
arbsing from of relating to the Montgaged Propenty descrived In parazraphs (A), (B} and (C)
abave; aund (3) all proceeds, products, veplacements, additions, substitutions, renswals and
accessions of and to the Mongaged Property described In paragraphs (A), (B) and (C) sbove.

() TOGETHER WITH all rents, focome and other bencits to which Mortgagor
may now or herezfier be cutitled from the Mortgaped Property described in paragraphs (A),
(B) and (C} above to be appiled agakint the Indcbtedness and other sums seured hereby:
‘Prervided, haweyer, that Mortgagoc Is berehy given & tevocable lkense, sa bong as no Event
of Defanlt has occureed hereunder, to colleet and use such ments, fneome and other benelits
as they become due and payable, but st In advance thereol (except 13 otherwise expressly
permitied n this Mocigage), in alt events subject to and In sccordance with; the provisions of
this Mortgage and the other Loan Documents. Upon the occurrence of any such Event of
Default, the revocable license hereby given 1o Morigagor to collect such remts, Income and
other benzfits from (be Mortgaged Property described in paragraphs (A), (B) and (€) above
shall terminate and such lleense shall not be relnstated wpoa a cure of such Event of Default
without Mortgagee"s prior written comsent, "

‘The foregalng provisions hereof shall consthute an absolute aod prestnt
assignment of the rents, Income and other benefits from the Mortzaged Property described in
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paragraphs (A), (B) and (C) above, subject, however, 1o the tevocsble ficense given to
Montgagor 1o collect and use such rents, income and other benefits as hercinabove provided:
‘and the existente of exercise of such right of Mortgagor shall aot operats so subordinzte this
assignment o any subsequent assignment, in whole or in part, by Mortgagor, and any such
subsequent assignment {without implylng any right to assign or any consent by Morigagee)
by Moctgagor shall be subject to the rights of Morigagee hereunder,

() TOGETHER WITH 2l right, tide and inicrest of Mortgagor i and to 2ay and
all leases, subleases, Iattings, reatal agreements, occupancy agreemeons and llesnses, if xny,
now or hereaficr on of affecting the Morigaged Property described I paragrapls (A), (8)
and (C) above, together with all security therefor, il reserve accounts snd reserve (unds
relating theret, 3l rights of Moctgagor onder any reserve agreements refating to any such
feases, subleases, leitings, rentat agrcements, cocupancy agreements and feentes, and alt
monles payable under alt leases, subleases, lenings, rental agreements, occupancy agreements *
and Heensea, and all books and records which contaln payments made under the leases,
subleases, leuinps, rentzl agreements, oceupancy agreements and licenses, and alf security
therefor, subject, however, 10 the revacable licenss berelnabove given to-Motigager o
collect the reats, Income and other benefits arfsing under 2ay such fezse, sublease, letling,
rental 2greement, occupancy agresmeit of license, Upon the ocourrencs of any Event of
Default, Morigages shall have the right, at any time and from time to time, to notlfy any
lesser or occupant of the rights of Morgagee as provided by this paragraph (F).

{ TOGETHER WITH any and all 2ir rights, oll, gas and miness) sights,
development Fights, deciamnt's or developer's rights under any applicable development order
or similar agreement, 2od a1l other such rizhts of Mentpagor with respeet (o any of the
Morigaged Property, and all zoning rights and other similar rights or interests that benefit or
uz:;;punm 1o the Land or the Improvements or both, and any proceeds arising
therefrom.

() TOGETHER WITH 2| right, title and interest of Mortgagor in and to any
reserve accoums beld by Mostgagee fincluding, without limitation, the Reserves). This
Moctgage creatss an absolute and continuing assignment of any secutity Interest in any
reserve accounts beld by Monigagee (including, without limiatlon, the Reserves), imespeetive
af (2} the validity or enforecability of the Lown Documients, (b) any change, amendinen or
walver of the tarms o conditlons of the Lozn Documents, andfor {c} any exchange, relcase
or pon-peclection of any reserve accounts held by Mortgages, As Jong as any of the
Indebiedness rensalns unpaid, Mortgagor will nat create o permit the exinience of any ten of
2oy othes type of preferential arrangement upon any seserve accounts beld by Moagages.

All of the Monigaged Property dezeribed in paragrpls (A), (8), (. (D), (E),
(B}, (G) and {H) above, and exch item of mortgaged property therein described, ks sometimes
collectively hereln referved to as the “Mogtraged Progeny”.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Moctgaged Propesrty and all parts thereol urio
Morigagee, lis sucoessors and assigns, to its own proper we and benef forcver, subject,
however, o the terms and conditions bereln: '

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if Morigagor shall prompily pay of cause to be paid
1o Mortgages the Indebtedness, at ihe thtes and in the manner stipulated in the Note, hereln,
and in the other Loan Documents, ali whhout any deduction or credit for taxcs o other
slmilar charges paid by Mortgagor, and shall keep, perfonh and observe all the covenants
and promises in the Note, and any rencwal, extension of modification thercof, and In this
Mortgage and o the other Lozn Documents, (0 e kept, porformed o observed by
Mortgagor, then Uils Mortgage, and all the properties, interest 2nd sights hereby granted,
conveyed and assigned shall cease and be void, but shall atherwize remain in full force and
effect.
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ARTICLE ONE
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS,

In addition 1o the tzrms elsewhars defined In this Mongage, as used bereln, including
any Exbibics hereto (unless such Exhibit expressly provides for & different definition), the
following terms shall have the followlng meanings, unless otherwise specifically defined
herein and if 2 caplatized term is not defined berein, the same shall bave the meaning
assipoed in the Note:

*Awards™ shall mean all awards andfor compensation bereafter made with tespect io
the Mortgaged Property of any pant theseof by any Governments! Autbority of other lawfil
avthority for apy Condemnation,

*Ceqtlfled Membership Roll* shall mean that certaln Certificate Regurding
Meoibership Agreements, dated x< of the date bereof, given by Mctgagor o Mortgage.

"Cordzmpation® shall mean any taking of the Property, or any part thereof, pussuant
to condeountion proceedings, by the exercise of the fight of eminemt domaln of by
conveyares In Leu of condemnation,

- " means any waste, pollutant, fazandous substance, toxic substance,
hxzardous wasts and any substance regulated or forming the basis of lizbility under any .
Enviroamental Law, including, without limitatlon, any special wasts, petroleum or
peiroleum-derived substzues or waste, or any constitient of such substance or waste.

“Conwrol” means the possessian, directly or indirectly, of the power 10 direct of tause
the direction of the macagement and policies, whether through the ownership of vorting
securides o gencral oc limited parinesship interests, by contraet of other manoer of control.

*Post-Defaylt Rate® shall have the meaning assigned in the Note.

“Euvironmental Law® means all federal, staic and local faws, stawies, ordinantes and
regulatlons, now of hereafier in effect, and In each case as amended of supplemented feom
time to thae, and any judich! or administrative inerpretation thercof, tocluding, withoul
limitation, any Judicial or sdministrative order, consent deeree o judgrent, relating to the
regulation and prowction of buman bealth, safety, the environment andfor natural resouroes
(including, without Hmitation, amblent alr, surface water, groundwater, wetlands, lasd
sutface of subsurface strata, wildlife, aquatic specics and vegeation), Euvirommerts] Laws

. include but arc not limited to the Comprehemsive Environmental Retponse, Compensation,

and Liabllity Act of 1980, as amended (42 ULS.C. §9601 gf g8q.) {"CERCLA®): the
Hazardous Materlal Transporntion Act, as amended (49 U.S,C, § 180 g8 poq.); the Feder)
Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, as amended (7 US.C. FI6al scq.); the
Resource Conseevation and Recovery Act, as amended (42 ULS.C. 56901 ¢t 0. {"RCHAT)'
the Taxic Substance Control Act, as amended (42 U.5.C. §7401 ¢l #20.); the Clean Air Act
as amended (42 U.5.C, §740 gf 320.); the Fedetal Water Polfution Controt Act, 33 amtnded
(33 ULS.C. §1251 g1 22q.); the Occupationa] Sufety and Health Act, s amended (29 U.S.C.
§651 st 2e0.); and the Safe Drinking Water Act as amended (§2 U.5.C. 120002t &4.), and
thelr #tatz and focal countterparts or equivalents, a1 amended from time to time asd any
transfer of ownership notficatlon or approval statutes.

‘Environmente! Lisbflitics and Costs® meas, s to'any Perso, all Habilices,
obligations, responsibitities, Remedizl Artons, losses, damages, punitive damages,
consequentia) damages, treble damapes, costs and expenses (inchuding, withont Bmintfos, all
fees, disburzements and expenses of counsel, experts and consultants and costs of
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Investigation and feasibility studies), faes, penalties, sanciions and initerest incurred as a
result of any chim or demand by any other Person, whether based in contract, tar, implied
o express warranty, strict liability, criminal or civit statute, including, witheut limiatioa,
any thezeof arising bnder any Environmenst Law, Permit, ocder of agreement with any
Gavernmenta! Authorfty oc other Person, and which refate to any environmental, health o
safety condition, or 3 Releate or Uueatened Releasz, and result from the past, presest o
future operations of such Person.

*Enviranmentat Lizn™ meant any len tn favor of any Governmental Authority for
Environmental Lizbilitics and Costs.
~Event of Default® shall have the measing set forth for such term la Section 3,01

1&5mmﬂﬂﬁﬁmﬂfmumuwmﬂmwswuummhvmww;wn
paligeat subdivision thereof and any entity excrclsing executive, legishative, judichl,
regulatory or administrative fanctions of of pertaining 0 gavernment.

'mn‘ﬁﬂlmmmmmmmmmwunwdmmwbﬁpﬂmmmd
the Note tade by Mortgagee to Mongagor, purstant Lo the serms, provisions and canditions
of this Mongage, the Notz and the gther Lozn Documetits,

" *fcan Docyménit™ shall mean the Note, this Mortgage, the Assignment, the
Giarandes and all dther documents, agrecments and instruments sow of hereafier evldenclng,
sccuring o in any way relating to the Loan,

*Permit” shalt mean any permit, appraval, authorization, license, variance of
permisslen cequired from 3 Governmental Authorlty under an applicable Requirement of
Law.

*Permitted Encumbrances™ shall mean those matters descrived on Exhibit "G
annexed hereto and Incorporated hereln by reference,

*Permitied Transferce” shall mean any of the following: (i) MALC, toc., » Delaware
corporation, ope bundred percent (100%) of the owtstanding stock of which shall at all dimes
be owned of record and beneficiatly by Guarantor, of (11} any ciher caiity whikch shalf st sl
times be Conrolted by Guarantor znd at feast filcy-one perceat (51%) of the issved and
ountanding volicg Interests of which ghall at atl tmes be cwned benelicially and of record by

-
-

*Person” shall mean an individial, partnershilp, cocporation (including, without
limltation, 3 business trust), Himited Habilicy campany, jolnt stock cormpany, trust,
upincospesatod assoclation, jolnt venture or othet cutity, of Goverumentat Authority.

*Principal Sum® shall bave the meaning assigoed to uch e In the Notz,
*Releztc® means, as to any Person, oy release, spilt, crnission, leaking, pumping,

i &de.dkmhﬁmmtngmmly:doummmcbﬂwm
oatdoor environncat of into oc out of any property owned of operated by such Petson,

including, withoul limintion, the movement of Coptaminans through of in the air, soil, .

surface waler, ground waicy Of propesiy.

*Remedial Action” means sl actions required or Voluntarily underteken to (x) clean
up, femove, treat oF in any other way address Conunirant in the isdoor or outdoor
covironment, {b) preveat the Releass of treat of Release of minimize the further Release of
Contamminants so they do not migrate or endanger of threaten to endanger public haalth or
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welfarec or the indoor or ourdoor eavironment, oc () preform pre-remedia) studes and
investigations and post-remedial monkoring and care.

*Requirement of Law* shall mean, 21 to any Persan, all federal, suate and Jocal laws,
fules and regulations, including, withous limitation, Envionmenta) Laws, ERISA aod 2]
orders, fudgments, decress oc other determinations of any Govesniental Autharky oc
arbitratoc, applicable w or binding upon such Person oc any of fts property or 10 which such
Person or any of its property is subjece,

Mongagor sepeesents, warrants, covenants and agrees with Morzages 23 follows;

.01, Ferformance of Note, Mopzage, Etr. Mongagor shall perform, observe and
comply with all provisians hereof, of the Note and of each of the Loaz Documents, and will
promptly pay to Mortgages the principal with interest (Berean and all other Indebtzdness
requited 1o be pald by Mengager under the Note and pursuant to the provisions of this
Mortgage and of the other Loan Documents when any payment shall become due,

2,02, Bepresentations, Covepants and Warranties.

2001, dpseific Representations.  Mertgagor represents, covenans
and warmmants that as of the date hereof and at alf times thereafler during the term hereafs

(3)  Mongapor s 2 corpocation duly organized, valldly existing and active
under the laws of the State of Florida and bas the pawer and autharity to own its popertics
and 1o caTy oa jts business as now being conducted;

. ()  Mortgagor has complicd with all filing, registration and other
fequirements of state and loca] laws, Incofar as such Jaws relate to doing bieslncss;

{€)  Mortgapor has complied with all of the requirements of the Florida
Fletitious Name Statuie a8 pertaining 10 the cxmes used In connection with the Morigaged
Propesty o any part therzof; .

() the executlon, delivery and performence of this Morgage, the Note and
each of the other Loan Documents have been duly autharized by all Tequisite corpornle action
of Morigagoc;

() lhc:xccuﬁonmdddivayhmengaodﬂmpufwmoriu
obligations under this Mongage, the Note and the other Loaa Documents will nof result §n it
bein;lndcfa.ullmd:r.bmchofnrinawgﬂhwithmypm&bnof!thbk&of
tmonﬁmwByhuomeorormyasmmmqwﬁiuhlh:Mmguukam.
of any requirement of any Governmental Authority having jurisdletion aver the Mongeged
Pmpeny.ormultlnuucmﬁonofmylimorozbermmhunmoutheldmcd
Property puriuant to any judpment, agresment o other fnstrument to which the Mortgagor is
2 party of by which 3t or any of Its assets are bound (ather than liens ercaied by the Loan
Documenss); .

) the exerution and defivery of this Mortgage, the Note and each of the
other Loza Documents dommmmmymmmw:mmwwh&htmmorha
patty or by which Mortgagor or any of its propertles may be bound and do pot contravens
any law, order, decree, mle of regulation to which Morntgagor is subject;
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() o authorization oc approval or other actlon by and no notice 1o or
filing with any Governmental Authority of regulatoty body s required for the dus execmion,
delivery and performance by Mortgagor of this Mortgage, the Notz, and the other Loan
Doauments;

{t)  this Mortgage, the Note and )l the other Loan Documents have been
duly executed and delivered on behalf of Mongagor and are valid and binding obligations
enforcezble in acoordance with thelr respective terms;

)  svbiect only to the Penmitied Encumbrzoces, Mortgagor ks seized of an
indefeasible estate ia fee simple in, and bas good and absaluie dde o, the Motigaged
Property, and kas good fight, full power and lawful aathocity o motigage and pledge the
same as provided herein and Morigages may atall times peaceably and quictly enter upon,
hold, occupy and enjoy the Mortgaged Peoperty in accordance with the terms hereof the
Moctgaged Property 1s free and clear of alf Hens, security tnterests, charges and
encumbrances whalsoever except the Permitted Encumbrances;

@  Mongagor will myintain and peescrve the fiest llea of this Mortgage on
aﬂof;:dl;[nongaged Property untll the Indebiedness and all other sums secured hereby have
been paid in full;

&)  Mongagor is now able to meet its debis as they matare; the fzir market
value of its assess exceeds lts Tabifities: and uo bankruptcy or lnsolvency proceedings are
pending ot contemplated by or aguinst Mortgegor of Guarantor;

@  all rmpouts, statements and other data furnished by Mortgagor and
Guaranter 10 Mortgages in connection with the Loan are true, comest and camplere in all
material respects and do not omit to state any fact of circumstance necessary W make the
statements contained thesein not misleadiog: . N

. {m) there are no actions, suils of praceedings pending, of o the knowledge
of Morigagor threatened, against or affecting Morigagor or all or any pottion of the
Morigaged Property;

(c}  Mongapor Is not in' defaylt under the terms of any Instrument
evidencing o secusing any indebtzdness of Mortgagor. and there fus occutred no event
which would, if uncured or uncocrected, constitote, with the giving of notice, passage of
time or both, & default voder any such insmument;

(0} 0o Event of Defankt exlsts under this Morigage, the Note or any of the
other Loan Documents; and no event has occurred and is continulng which with notics or the
prssage of Gime or elther would constitute an Event of Default under any provislon theteol;

)  no chatiel mortgage, bill of sale, security sgreement, financing state.
ment of gther title retention agreement {except thote exccuted In favor of Mongagee) has or
will be exceuted whth respect to any personal propesty, chattel or fixture used in cotinection
with the constrixctlon, operation o malaicmnce of the Mungaged Property;

(@ 3l of the Membership Agrecments and the form of Membenbip
Agreement respecting the Club 1o be operated upon the Mortgaged Propeny that have been
submitted to Mottgages, and that will be submftted to Mortgages hereafier, for examination,
and, if required, spproval, are true, accurate and complete coples thereal; - ;

() the Certifisd Membership Roll sets forth a schedule of Membership
Agreemeats now In effect, topether with data which is tue and corredt 1n all material
respects reganding the Membership Deposhs and annual dues tereunder and other
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information respecting each of said Membership Agreements; the Certified Membership Rol!
accurazely reflects the Memberhip Agreements vnder which the members of the Club are
pmuywﬁuadwmlhc(}.ﬁandthmmmmhumm«uﬂmm%p
agercments of leases alfecting the Mongaged Property ay of the dats hereof; all of the
Mesmbership Agreements listed on the Cenified Membership Roll have been entered into as
*ares lengih® tramsacrions, and are valid and in full force and effect: (be dues and other
income and charges set forth in the Membership Agreements aie the actual ducs, Income and
charges peesently being cotlected under such Membership Agreements; Mongagor knows of
mwtmwdmwcmmbmwmmmmm
:rdnunmimhubecnmdved&ommycmbmmberddqﬂngmde&nuhyuonp;«
under any Merbershin Agtecment; there are o modifications or amendments ® any of the
Membership Agrecments; there are 20 other agreements in exbitence, or2l o written, which
modify the obligations of Morigagor oc the Club rembery under zny i
Agrecmszati and Mortgagor bar acliher commitied nor suffered any known act oc omissica
that would constinne a default oa H#s pant etitling apy Club member to damages, rights of
set-off or sight to termluate any Membershlp Agreement .

{s) the annual does set forth on the Certified Membership Roll have not
besn asigned of encimbered except as set forth in the Loan Documents; po Club mamber fs
cotitled to any concessions, rebatzs, allowancss o free dues:

(0 the Membershiy Déposits payable under the Membetship Agreements
shown on the Ceruificd Membership Roll are nor-refundabie (0 the respestive Club members
except {1} upon the earlier to ocour of (A) thinty (30) yeary from the date of the admission of
the respective member (o the Club and such member's resiznatlon from the Club or
(B) within thirty (30} days after the resignation of such member and th subsequent
reissuance of the Club membership 108 fiew Club member; or (H) in the event that the vze of
the Club shal} revest 10 a private single family residence;

{(v) all necessary means of fogress and epress to the Mongaged Propenty
fuve been dedicated 1o, and accepted for operation and maigienance by, the sppropriate
municipality or otber 2ppropriaie entity, and all easemenss and cross-cazements for otilities,
and egress and ingrest, necessary for tie full uthization of the Mortgaged Propeety for s
Intzhded prrposes, hava beog duly recorded and perfected;

()  there 5 po moratociumm o ke governmeatal ordes In effect with
Tespect Lo the Morigszed Property aod, to the best of Morigagor's kmowledge, no such
monaterium or similar cidinance s now contemplaied;

{w) the Morigaged Propesty & not now damaged ax a result of any fire,
explasion, accident, flood or other casualty;

(x}  the Land & zoped In sccordance with all applicabls governmenzal rales,
ordinances, regulasions and Taws so ss ta petmit the operation of a privaie soch) clob
(including, without fimitation, 2 translent rental operation with respect to the revidential
mnm}nmcMmedPropmy;mdeuwhuamofmm_nzw
requirement respecting zonlng ordinmances, rules of regulations or any olbes gavernmental
laws or regulations or any covenats, conditions, easements of restrictions of recoed which
would Jeogardize the usz of the Morigaged Property for the forcgoing nzes;

() Morigagor bas in full force and effect all Permlts, ocoupational Hoenses
andothcnppmahmwymmandupmuaprivat@m&!dubﬂnﬂudw.wm
Hmiaticn, ammmmtmmmwmmwm).,m.uame
dae hereof the Club I fully cperational; sl such Pesrlts, occupationzl lieenses and other
approvels bave been dssued without variznes or comdition and there I no liilgation, sction,
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ciatan, injunictive proceeding or like matter pending or threatened with respect 10 the
validity of such maners;

.(z) the buildings and other improvemems tocated on the Mortgaged
Property are in good conditlon, strutturally sound, frce from struciural defects and the roals
are watertight and fn good sound condition, and the buildings and improvements are free -
from termites and other Infestation and any damage therefrom;

{r3)  clecuic, sewer, water facilities and any other necessary uritices are
mwkmmﬁmﬂmqwmmmwhwmmn

(th)  all instaliments of special taxes or assessments, servics charges, water
and sewer charges, private malnterance charges, and other prioe liea charges by whatever
name called, presently due and payable, and all installments of geaerad real estate taxes
preseatly due and payable, respeeting the Mongaged Ptopmy.havcbegpaldlaﬁm:

{cc)  alf balance sheets, Income statements, firancial stements and ather
financls) data that have been provided to Morgagee with respest w Morigagor and Guarantor
(i) are complets wnd corvect in all material respects, (i) accurately present the financlal
coadition of Mortgagor and Guaranter, respectively, and the results of ks or thelr operatlons
for the periods for which the same have been furnished, and (1) as so all batance sheets,
incarme statements, other fsanchl statcments and other financixl dan respecting Morigasor
and Guaranior have besn prepared In accordance with sound accounting stindards, methods
and practices constsiently applied;

(dd) {3 no material adverse change in the business, assets, Yabilities,
firancial condition, resulis of operations generlly or with specific referencs to the
Maortgaged Proptrty or, Insofar a3 the Mortgagor is aware, the business prospects of the
Mongagor or Guarantor have occurred since the date of the most recent financial statements
delivered 1o Mortgagee, (if) 5o cvent has occurred or failed (o occur since the date of the
most recent financial statemetts delivered to Mongagee which hzs fad o nuy have
materfal adverse effect on the Morgagor of Guaranser, and (itl) the Morigagor has no
knowledge of any event which has occurred o failed 1o occur since the date of the most
recent financlal swtements delivered to Morigages which has or may have 3 matcrial adverse
effect on the financial condition of Manigzgor oc Guarantoc;

{e2) (1) ali federal, stue and other tax yerurns of the Mongagor and

Gusrantor required by Iaw 10 be filed tave been duly filed, () atl federal, state and other
taxes, assessments and other charges ar Jevies upoo the Mornigagor and its
propertics, income, profits and asscts shat are due and payable have been patd, except any
such non-payment of which is at the time permitted under Sectfon 2,04,1(b) heseof, and

(iti) the charges, accruals and rescrves on the books of the Morntgagor, bn vespect of such
taxes and charges that are not yet due and payabls (or the pon-payment of which & at the
tie pecmitted under Scetlon 2,04, 1(b) bereof) are adequate, aod the Mottgagar koows of 0o
reason 10 anticipste any sdditlonal asessments for any of such years; N

() Mongagor's business and axtets are and wil oomlmc.to be restricted
solely to the owncralifp and operation of the Morgeged Property;

(r)  Mottgagor & not 2 party o any sgreement of Instrument adverscly
affecting its present or propesed business, propenics, xsseit, eperation of conditlon, financial
or otherwise, and Mortgagor s not la defauls in the performance, dbservance or fulfillment
of iny of the obligations, covenants o tonditfons set forth In any agreement or instrument to
which it is a party;
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(bh) Martgagor bas not ipstituied, caused 10 be instiuied or been a pany 1o
and, 1o the best of its knowledge, there has not bee any public offerings with respect to the
Moctgaged Propetty o the meoberships i the Club within the meaning of the Securities Aa
of 1933 ard the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934;

(M Mongagor possesses 1)l pecessary mademarks, franchises, wade names,
copyrights, patents, patent rights and licenses 10 conduc business 3t the Morigaged Property
a3 now operated, without any known conflict with the valld trademarks, trade names,
copyrights, patents and license rights of others;

GD (D the Morgaged Property Is presemaly and, a3l dines during
Mongagoc's ownership thereof bas been, Free of contarmination from any substance or
muuﬁlpmcndywaﬂﬁgdmbemicnrhmmmdh; Ly the Hazandous Wasts Law,
iocluding, withoot timiaton, any Hazardous Material; {1 Moctgazor kas bot caused or
suffered o occur and Mortgagor will not hereafter cause o suffer 1o oceur, any Spilt at,
upm.unduutd&intheumdhopmywmmlmmlu'm;ﬂmm
Mortgagoe vor any other party, Inctuding, without limbtation, any temant oc occvpak of any
portion of the Mortgaged Property kat been, is or will be irvaived in operations at of near
|h=Mm¢:gedPropmywhid:wu!dk:dmm:hpoakhnoanmuoruymhaww
of the Mortgaged Property of liabflity or the creation of 3 lien oa the Mortgaged Propenty
uadet the Hazardous Waste Law; Gv) Ia xummaas, cltation, directive, kiter o other
comaquanlcation, writen or orl, from any government entity ks outstending against
Moctgagor concerning any Inteotiona) or unintentional actioa ar ombision on the part of
Mongagor resulling in 2 Release of any Contamimnt releasing, leaking, pumping, pouring,
omitiing, emptying or dumping of any Hazardous Materhals Intg any waters o¢ unto the kands
of the Sui of Florida, or into any waters outslde the jurlsdiction of the State of Flotida,
vesulting in damage to the lands, waters, fish, shallfish, wildlife, biot, air and other
resources gwped, mamzged, beld in trust or otherwise conwolled by the State of Flosldz: and
{¥) po portion of the Mongaged Propenty contains any underground or abave ground tanks
for the storape of fuel oil, gazoline and/or other petroleum producis or by-prodocts;

X}  the openations of Mortgagor comply with al! applicable Eavironmental
Laws; -

() Mongagor bas chtained all environmentl, kealih and safety Permbs
necessary for the occupancy and operation of the Mortgaged Prepety foc ts prescnt uses, alf
such Permits are In good standing and Mongagor ks In compliance with the terms e
conditlon of such Permits; *

(mm) Moctgagor does not curvently, and has not previomly owned of leased
real property or cperations subject to any threatened of outstanding ordet or fudgment from,
o cosent decree or simitar agreement in respopse therelo with, any Governmentat Authority
or other Person or subject to any judicial or docketed adminlstrative proceeding respesting i)
Eavironmeatt Laws, (i) Remedil Actlon o (i) any Exvironmesta) Lizbiides and Cezty
arising from a Release or threatzned Releases

, {on) lhﬂcmmmdﬁbmucﬁwmunormhwdwaﬂwﬁmnﬂyh
or previously owned o leased real propenty or operations ¢ Morigagor which coald result
aviolation of Environmenta] Laws;

{oa) po part of the Mortgaged Property i a treatment, siorage or dispesal
mathmamuwmmmmmmmuus.c.
§690% ¢t 1eq., the regolations thereunder or xny sute analog, Mottgagor s int compllancs
with all applicable financlal responsibility requircments of al) Envionmental Laws,
including, without limitation, those contined 1n 40 C.E.R., parts 264 and 265, subpart H,
and any sate or local equivalents: .

10
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[1vy)] neliher Mortgagor nor its predecessor kas failed to file any notice

rﬁqukednuduuyapplhhh&vﬁumnnluwreporﬁugxkdm:

(qg 20 Environmental Lien and no umgecorded Envircomenta) Lien has
atzched to any property of Moctgagorn;

() thero i pot taw oa of in the propetty awned, leazed or cpenated by
Morgagor (including the Mortgaged Property) () any underground storage ks or surface
impoundments, (i) any polychlatinated biphenyls {"PCH3™) used In electricad or othet
equipment, of (iki) any asbestos-containiog material;

{») Mongagor's principal office is Yozated /o The Trump Organization,
725 Fifth Aveaue, New Yook, New Yoik 100225

{t) uchonhcmprd.enuﬁummdwmiuufhﬂmasocwm
Gmmmmmufmmmmukmmmmmmmm
mpwu..Auof:u:hmpmenmhmmdmmmiaminwpmmdmﬂnby this reference
10 the same extent as if made hereln by Mongagor.

2.02.2 Acconacy of Repressniations, Morgagor knows of 0o facts
which would, in any manner, Indicate that the staements and the fmplications therefrom et
forth I the wamantles and representations congined in this Moctgage are pot ue and
complete in all materis] respetts.

2023, Represantations and Waransies to b Cortinuige. Al
sepresenations and warranties of Moctgagoe set fort’s In this Mortgage shalt be tree inall
material respects as of the date hereof and at all times thereafier as if restated in their
cotiresy at all times durlng the term of the Loan.

. 2,03, Compliance with Yawg. Mortgagar covenams and warrants that Mortgagor
will at all 1imes hereaficr comply with all applicable restrictive conferams, development
arders, zoning and subdivitton ordinances and buitding codes, bealth and Environmental
ummmmmmmmmmmduwmmwumm operations of
the Mongiged Property. If Morigagor ecelves notice from any federat, state o other
governmeneal body that either Morigagor or the Mortgaged Property s not In complixtee
with the forepoing requirements, then Mottgagor promplly sialt motify Morigeges of such
noncorepitance, Without limitng the geoeralicy of ihe forcgoing, if Mongagoe receives
notice from any Govormmental Atthority or any other party that clther Mortgagor or the
Moxtgaged Property s nat, or may not be, in cotmplitnce with any of the forcgalng
tequirements, thea Mortgagoe promplly shall provide Mongages with a copy of such notlce,

2.04, Taxesand Other Charges.
204.1. Taxes and Aseassmants.

() Moctgagor shall pay proptiy when due all axes, stscssments, Fates,
ducs, charges, fees, levics, fines, lmposidons, Jiabilitics, obligutions snd encumbrances of
evwkindwhtsoevumm‘hmﬂdimpwd, levied o mysexsed upon of agalnst the
Monmedl’mpmyounypmmmf.umﬂnaﬂ income taxes, assesyments and other
governmeatal charges levied and imposed by the Unlted States of America of any suale,
county, municipality o other taxing suthocity upon or against Mortgagor of in respect of the
Mortgaged Propecty or ay part thetoof,” Mongagor shall promplly pay when due any and
all txes, charges, filing, registratian and recocding fecs, exclzes and levies imposed upan
Morigages by teason of fts ownership of the Note, this Mottgage and eny of the other Loan
Dmmu«wlmrumwiuimuﬂﬂnmwlmmmotﬁmhum.
olher than ncome, franchite, gross recelpts, doing business and similsr taxes, and shall

1
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promptly pry whea due aff stamp wxes and ather taxes required t be paki on the Note, the
Mongage 2nd any other Loxn Document. In the evert Mongagor fils to make such
payments or fails to cinse such payments 1o be made when due, then Mortgagee shall have
the right, but not the obligation, o pay the amaants due, and Mottgagoe shell, on demand,
reimburse Moctgages for 323d amounts, together with interest thereoa at the Post-Defzult
mrmmemmdmmmmﬂwunmmmmmwmeg:;ee.

(&)  Nothing in thiy Section 2.04 shall require the pryment or discharge of
wobﬁplionimposednponMonpgmhysmzm(nabmnnmumlh:w!mm
10 do shall not result in the forfelure, uncnforceability o subordination of the llea of thk
Morigage, and (1) Moctgagor shall & good Faith, at ks own expense, coctest the same o the
mmqmrwwummmpmmmmwum
mwhmorwd&amdmﬂ:dhmmmmm)mmmc
collection thereof oF other sealization thereon, the sale of the fien thersof ard the g3le o
forfelture of the Moctgiyed Fropesty or any part thereof, to satlsfy whe sune; provided,
Mmu.&uﬁniuaﬂmnM«wMu&wﬁoudeu,mi&

reasopably sulisfactory to Mongages, sssuring the discharge of Mortpagor's
obligations hereunder and of-any sdditiom} intzrest eharpe, surcharge, fing, lae charge,
peatlty, fe¢ or expense arlsing from or bncured a3 2 result of such conzsssy and provide,
forther, thas If at acy thme payment of any cblization imposed vpon Morigagor by tiks
Scotlon 2.04 sbell become nesessary to prevent the delivery of a tax deed conveylng the
Mociguged Property of any porticn thereof or any Interest therein or the nale of the te lien
therefoe becass of non-payment, of the Impesition of any penzlty, fie, surcharpe, taz
ch:rgc.nostorupew:.thchongn;orsluﬂmlhcmminmmdmﬁmcmpnmuﬂw
defivery of such tax deed or the sale of such Jin o the Impostion of such penally, finc,
surcharge, fate charge, cost of expense.

2.04.2, Methanic’s apd Other Liens. Mortgagor shalt pay, bond, or
provide affirmative title insurance endorsemenss respecting mechanies” or other fiem, in form
and content acceplable to Mongagee, from time tp time when the same shall become due,

, with respect to all clalms and demands of mechanics, materialmen, laborees, and others

which, if uppatd, might result in, or permit the creation of, 2 lien ou the Mortgaged Propeny
or any portion thereol, of on the revenues, rents, Bsuct, income or profits arksing thereffom
and, In general, Mortgagor shall do, or cause 1o be donc, at Lhe cost of Mortgagor and
without expense to Mortgapee, everything necesnary to fully preserve the lien of this
Morigage. Withln thirty (30) days aftor notification of tbe Tiliog of any such kea, but I any
event ptior o the tequest foc any nidsequent Advancs under the Note, Morigagor shall
release o discharge the same of record by paymest, bonding oc shall cause sume to be
alfirmatively insured gver by title Inserance endorement as aforemald, In the event that
Mortgagor fails to make payment of, of bond, or provide afTirmative title joserance with
respect to such chims and demands, Mortgages rmay, but shall not be obgaied to, make
payment thereof, and Mortgagoc shall, oa demand, reimburse Mortzages for all sums so
expeuded, topether with fntecest thereon al the Past-Default Rate from the date such sums are
expeases untll the ixme ate pald to Mocigagee,

2,04.3. Tax Resarve. “To furdier secure the porformanee and discharge
of Motigagor's obligations under thi€ Sectlon 2.04, but pot in Iiey of such obligations,
Mortgagor shall, commencing on December I, 1995 and oa each Diss Date thereafier, pay
over 1o Mortgagee an amount equel 1o 1/12th of the next matering anmal 8d valorem taxes,

- assessments and charges (which charges for purposes of this Sectlon 2.04.3 shalt [nclude

without limitaton water and sewer charges, if any) of the naure deserlbed in Seetion 2.04.1
bereof for cach month that bas elapsed since the fast date to which such taxes, assessments
ard charges were paid; and Morigagoc will, in addition, pay over 10 Mortzages on the first
day of cach wonth sulficlest funds (a5 eatimzted and 35 may be adjutted and readjusted frotm
time (0 time by Morgages in jis sole discretion 1o accomplish e stated purposs and In order
1o acumpilaz at-deast thiny (30) days prior to the duc date hereof) to permbt Morgagee to

. 12
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pay said raxes, ussessments and charges whea they first become doe, Upon demand by
Mortgages, Mortgagor shall deliver 10 Mongages such additloral monies as are required o
make up any deficlencles In the amounts necessary 1o enable Mortgagee to pay such taxes,
asseysments and similar cherges. Such deposits shall not be, nor be deemed o be, trimt
funds but mxy be commingled with the geactal funds of Mortgages. Al fands 30 deposited
with Morngagee shall be held by it without Intereit ang tmay be commingled by Mortgagee
with ks gesncral funds, Providcddemmdqunuodmwﬁchmmedapoﬂlonof
such funds in accordance with the provisions of thl Morgage, such fands (fess the amoonts,
If any, which are payable tnto the rescrve fund to be used 10 pay taxes not yzt due and
payable).s!u!lbe:ppﬂodinpaymofd:ufmmhnedchzrguwbmnﬂnmyzblc.m
the extont Mortgagee shall have such funds on hand, In the event that there shalt occur 20
Event of Defanlt, the funds depostied with Mortgagee, as.aforementioned, shall be applied
first in paymene of the chirges for which such funds shel} have been depositad (t0 the extent
then payable) and then to payment of the Indebiedness or any oter charges aficcting the
security of Mongagee, a8 Mortgagee deteemines, In i sole diseretlon, but no tock -
application shall be deemed to bave becn made by operation of faw ar otherwise unti]
acwaily made by Mortpagee a3 hereln provided. 1f reserve deposits are being mada with
Morgagee 18 aforenid, Morgagor shall furnish Mortgages with bills for the churges for
which such deposits ere required to be mide bereunder and/or such other documents
necessary for the payment of same, at least fifieen {L5) days prior to the datz on which the
charges firat become due,  Upon an astigoment of 1bis Mortgage, Mortgages sball have the
vight to pay over the balance of any sums deposited purmant to this Scetioo and in it |
pextctsion 1o the axnsignee, and, upoa written verification of reexipt of such furds from such
assignes, Mongagee shal) be completely released from af) thahllity with respect to much sums,
and Morigagor shall fook solely to such assignee with respect therers.

2044 Bo Credit Aainst the Indebiedress Scoured Heeby, Mortgagor
shall nat claitn, demand or be eatitled to receive any credit agaiast ihe principal or interest

payable-under th terms of the Note or o nuy other sums secured by this Mongage fot 5o
much of the taxes, assezsments or similar kmpositlons as are asseased agalnst the Morgaged
Froperty or any part thereof of a8 are applicable to the Indebtedneas or to Morgagee's
Interest in the Mortgaged Propery.  No deduction shall be claimed from the taxable value of
the Morigaged Property oc any part thefeof by reason of the Note, this Mortgage oc any
ather fnstrument securing the Note,

4045 Ingmance: Restortion.

@a)  Morgagor shall maintals (1) “casualty” insurance insuring the
Improvements now or hereafier constituting 2 pars of the Mortgaped Propenty agatest damage
by five and the other haxards covered by a standard all-rick, extended coversge lnsurance
policy for the full insurable valve thereof (which, unless Mortgagee shall atherwlse sgree in
writlng, shall mean the fall repair and replacement valoe thereof without reduction for
deprechation or vo-fnsurance}, (H) business Interruption imsuranee In an 2ot adequats to
cover continuing expenses during any period of repales or Testoration which amount shall &t
teast be equal 2o twenty-four (24) months® anticipatsd gross rental Income or gross business
earnings, s applicable, from the Mortgaged Property and twelve (12) months® aoticlpated
debt service on the Loan, (§il) Compeelicnsive General Labiity Inscrance bn respect of the
opetation of the Mortgaged Property with limits of Tiability of not bess thar $5,000,000 for
bodlly infuty per person per occurrence atd 55,000,000 for property dumage liability per
occurrence and (iv} flood (including surface waters) If the Morigaged Property i Jocated In
ap arez [demified by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development oc any other official
baving jurisdiction 23 having special flood havards and in which flood Instrance kas been
tmade available under the Natfom! Flood Instrance Act of 1968 and the Flood Disaster
Protectlon Act of 1973 (a3 the foregolng may be modified or amended #5d any successor 1cts
thereto), n 2n amount 2t least equal to the outstanding xmount of the Indebredness of the
mantmur Yimit of coverage available under said Acts In respect of the {mprovements,
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whichever s fess, 1n addition, Morigazee may require Mortgagor 10 carry such other
insurdnce on the Morizaged Property in such amounts a3 may from Lo 1o fime reasonably
be required by nstitédonal Tenders, 2painst nsurable casusliies incloding, without mitation,
the following types of Insurapce: antomobile, Bullder’s Risk, sinkhole, hurricane,

war, wuclear explosion, boiler and eachinery, alf in amounts adequate (0 cover
mp;&zndmphcemuexpcma;andmnﬁn;cmlhbﬂiqinmmimwﬁhmylmaishg
ﬁumthe{aaduunylmpmw&deemcdmbcmmrminxpmpmy.iﬁdnumc
time are commonly Instred agalnst in the case of maongaged property simitarly stivated, due
mg::dbeln;[ivnmdnshcmdlkclyp:nrlhcbuﬁdinz.andﬁwmmhu.loallon.
utitities and octupeocy of any replacements or substiutions thereft . In additton, from time
wdmm&mmufmmmﬂdm;:iudwm.m«wmerﬂm
Mmpge?mpmyorbtheanihbiliuoﬂminmezruinwh'd:deonpgad
Property I located, Morfgagor shall, within thicty (30) days afer demand by Mortpages,
obtaln such additiormt 2mountt andfor such other kinds of fnsurance a3 Mortgagee may
reasanably require, Monpzorsbsllmobnlnoreumtm:wnlmlmnyupmmor
additional Insutance which s conuibutiog in the cvent of Joss unless K 1§ properdy endorzed
mdolhawisemhﬁcuthmgazcchﬂ!mpm

() Al lhabllity Interance policies required pursinnt 1o ths Seetlon 2.04.5
shall be endorsed to name Mortgages, it diroctors, officers, representuives, agents and
cmployees a3 an additior) insured thereunder, ard all other Bovrance policies required
pursint (o this Section 2.04,5 stall mme Morigagee a3 the mortgages under New York {or
the equivalent in Florida) long form nog-contribulory eadorsernents, Al such insurance poli-
cles and endorsements shall b fully pald or paid parsuant (o an imtallment program offered
to Mortgagor by the insurer or bis brokerfapent, provided diat the instaliments are pid onor
before the due date thereof so that al) required insurance coverage Is malatalned without
interruption, Al tnsurance policies shall contain ) such provisions and expiration dates, (if)
pravide for such deductibles, and (i} be in such form and issped by such insurance
companies qualified and licensed to do busipess ia the State of Florida, all as may be
acceptable 1o Moripagee, AN irsurznce campanics issuing lnsurance for the Martgaged
Froperey shall have a rating of "AA® or berer by Duff & Phelps for clalms paying ability
and 2 minimum *A* Standard and Poors rating or a comparable Best Insurance Gulde
r=ing), as may be acceptable to Mortgagee, in s sole diseretion. Each pollcy shall provide
that such palicy may not be cancelled of tmatertally changed except upon not less than thiny
(30) days’ prior written notice to Mongapee of the intention of non-tenewal, cancellation of
matesial changz and that no act or thing done by Morgagor shall imvalldate the policy as
against Mortgagee. In the cvent Martgagor falls to maintin insurance In compliance wih
this Section 2.04.5 or, in the event that £ potice of von-rencwal, cancelisilon or material
change is glvea to Mottgagee, ax 2foresaid, and within teq (10} days after the delivery of
such notice Morigagor shall fail o deliver to Montgagee evidence of the purchase of &
substitute policy of Insurance or 2 renewal of the exlsting policy of fnsurance, Morgapes
1y, bt shall nol be obligated to, obtsin such jnsurancs and pay the premtum therefor and
Mortgrgoc shall, on demand, selmburse Mottgages for all soms, sdvances and reasomablk
exXpenses i connection therewith, together with Interest thereon ar the Poat-Default
Rate from the date such amounts are advanced until the same are pald to Mortgagee, .
Mortgagos shall deliver (o Mortgagee & centificate of inturance witk respect.to such 1i2bitiey
Insurance bsued to Mongages, and copics of al original pollcics of lnserance, cerlified to
Montgagee by the inurance company or authorized agent as being true copies, together with

Ea A r ey -
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BT the endorsements thereof requlred hereunder, which policies shall be assigned 1o Mucigagee
?:'.':4 i £a, and in such manner and foem, dulMonmecmdiBsuomuandmlgmshalluall
44 20 times have and hold the said policies as eollateral and further security for the payment of the
i\ ) Todebtedness, until the full payment theseof, The proceeds of Inserance policks coming into
Er N the possession of Moctgages shall pot be deemed trust funds and Mortgages shall be entliled
PR, ludisposcotmd\pmmdsubemlnpmﬂdcd.ar:smhaw’:s:agmedlnwriliugb;
s - Mongagoc and Mortgages.
L% '
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. {¢)  The proceeds of inzurance paid on account of any damage of

- destrsction to the Mongaged Property oc any part thereol, shall be paid over 1o Mortgagee.
Mmgzgeeshzllhvemcopdon.iniumlcdkaaioa.mapplyauyimumpmmdsit
mywczivepmmmwﬂxksmhnzﬂlstaﬁadndduuiondanymmi:mrrcdby
anhmhthacwﬁh]uﬂmpaymofﬂm[nd&ﬁwﬁnhaﬂaof
pﬁoﬁtrasmzybcpmvidadinthcﬂote}orwal!uwallorapaﬂouorndymdswhe
mcdforﬂzemmhmmpﬁratepwﬂlh:Mmaasedmupmﬁdedin
Subsection (§) below; provided, however, dha if () the aggeegate amount of insurince
Mhmnnﬁmﬂ&mm@quh&ﬁaﬂkl&ﬂmaq&lmmmo;nd
mmemunmhnoﬂheMm;agedepmyiaﬂnmmbkjudmmofMumgu.un
be completed withtn onc hundred twenty (120 days, Moctgagee shall aliow such proceeds io
heusedfumumnandnanohheuonp:edPropmynponcmplhmwihdlcrm .
umsandpxovislansofSuhudon(oww. Anry application of latyrance procesds to the | )
lndebwdnmxhubcmdcbyumme:lnmchmmmdudcro!pﬁomyum::gu
shall efect, in ks solo discreton, Anyponionn{ﬂmpromdsmmlninzaﬂup:ymh
foll of the austanding Indebiedness shatl be pald to Mongagoc. i

@ Inthe event of damage or destruction o the Morgaged Property or any
portica thereof, whether insured or unlusured, Morgagor shall give prompt wriuen notles
. mawfmemum.wmemcudampmmcdsmnotappl!ocll.odte
* reduction of Indehednesy In accordance with the serms and condltons hereof, Mortgagar
tha!l prompily commence and diligently continoe 1o perform the repalr, sesioration and
rebullding of the portion of the Mongaged Propeny 50 damaged or destroyed (bereimafter
peferred to 38 the “Wark®} to sestore the Mogtgaged Property in full compliance with all
tegal vequicements and so tut the Mortgaged Propery shall, o the extent possible and
reasonably practicable, be at least equal in value and quality and genenal wtility as diey were
prior 10 the damage o destruction, and if the Work to be done ls structeral or if the cost of
the Waork a5 estimated by Mortgages shall exceed the sum of $250,000 (hereinafier referred
10 3s "Major Work™), thee Mengagor shall, prior 10 the commencement of the Work, furnish
ot cause 1o be farished to Mostgagees (1) complete pluns and specifications for the Work
. (approved by 21l governmental authoriles whose approval 1s required), for Mocigagee's
. appraval, which plany and specifications shall bexr the signed approval thereaf of an architect ,
fisfentory.to Morngagee (hercinafter refesred 10 as the "Archiea™) apd shall be accom-
panied by the Atchiteet's signed estimate, Bearing tha Architect’s seal, of the cmire cost of
completing. the Major Work; and (2) certified of photostatic coples of all permits and approv-
als required by law In connection with the commencetnent and conduct of the Work,

(e) Mmonhulmtmmmany\%ttunm Maortgagor shall have
complicd with the applicable requircments refermed to in Subsection (d) above, and after

workminlike manner, in good faith, substmnizlly in accordance witli the plans and
specifications referred (0 In Subsection (d}{(1) above, I applicable, and in compifance with all
applicable laws,

® E;nhusmlqlnmmpolicysbﬂlpmidtummcpmdsn(
Wmﬁmmufm&mgs«daﬂuﬁmmﬁah&quhmy.uaay
pmﬂmeof('ﬁmm;h‘).thaﬂbcpﬂdlnmdmwwim:h:pmiﬁomw. Morgagor
pmmﬂdedmmepmmhMﬂﬁmmﬂdMynMommw
the casualty Insurance carrier. If, pursuant (o Section 2.04.5(c) above, Mostgagee has
dmmmmedmmmhumhupmﬂyrcqu&dbymmor
Smbn?.m..‘_:(c)nbow..mm:kuﬂorapocﬁoﬂofmy?mcccd:mﬂzblem}o{m:gorror
restocation of the Morigaged Property, all such Procecds Aellvered 1o Morigagee a8
aforesald, together with all Proceeds pald directly to Moxigagee on accour of damage oF
destruction (o the Mongaged Property, less the cost, if any, to Mortgagee of such recovery
and of paying out such Proceds {includiog reasomble attorocys® fees and costs allocable to
hspec&usdlewmkandtwicwiuzmcphmandspedﬁalbm therefor paid to thind pasties),
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upon the writien request of Mortgagor, will be applied by Mocigages to the pymeat of e
cost of the Work referred 1o in Subsection (4) sbove and shall be pald ot from time 1o fime
to Mottgagor a8 restoration progresses and/or, at Motgages's opilon excreisabls from time
10 time, directly to the cantractor, subcontracions, matetialmen, Tubocers, engineers,
architeets and other persans rendering services or materfals in connectlas with the Work, 13
siid Work progresses, except as otherwise hereinafier provided, but subfect 1o the following
conditions, any of which Mortgagee may watve:

() 17 he Work 10 be donc ks structural of 1f & s Major
Work, the Architect (af other professional satisfactory 10 Mortgagee) shall be
In charge of the Work,

- @y Each yequest for payment shall be made at Jeess ten days
prinrmmcnqumdarzo{dhbmmmmﬂbewniedbya
cerdficate of die Archiect, and Mortgzgor stating {1) that 2] of the Work
mmpldndhnbecudmuh::oodmdwhnmmmmw.mnyh
compliance with the approved plans and speclficatdons, If any be required
under zald Subsection {d) above, and In accordance with all provisions of law:
(7} the sum requesied b justly required o retmburse Moagager for payments
by Moagagor to, or I jostly due to, the contractor, subcontractery,

- materiiimen, fabosers, enginesrs, archltects or other persons rendering
services of materials In connection with the Work (giving a brief description af
such services and marerhals), and that when added to all, Sums previowsly paid
out by Mosgagee, if any, does nol exceed the cost of the Work done (o the
date of such centificate; and (3) that the amount of Procezds remaining in the
hands of Monigagee, together with other funds otherwite avallable o

. Moxtgagor, will be sufficient on completion of the Work to pay for the same
in fulf (glving in such rcasomble deeall as Mongagee may require an estimate
of the cost of such completionand If such other funds are requlred, including a
centificats of Morgagor, as to the sources of soch funds),

(U} Eaxch request shall be accompanied by partial walvers or
releases of Hent, salisfactory to Mottgagee, covering that part of the Work
grevivusly pald for, i any, and by a 122rch prepared by = title company
a:hﬁmthmwwbyoMevﬂmnﬂs&wthm:#w. that
thete hos ot been filed with respect to the Moctgaged Property, or any part
thereaf, or any mechanle’s licn of othet Hen of Instrument for the retcotion of
ﬁﬁ:mdhcbrgedofrmﬂ(bybondlngauhuwbc)hmofmypm
of the Work and that there cxlst no encambrancey g or affecting the
Motigaged Property, or any parg theseof, other than the Permilted
Encumbrances and those which may have been approved by Mortzsges,

(i) There shall be no Evex of Defatlt oa the pant of
Mortgagor under this Morigage, the Nate or any other Lown Docunent and no
facts or circumstances shall then exist whick, upon potics andfor e of time,
would cozstitute an Event of Default,

-

. (v} The request for any pryment afier the Work kas beesy
completed shall be accompanicd by & copy of any centificetz or cerfifiextes
required by law to tender occupancy and operation of the Morgaged Propenty,

Upon completion of the Work and payment In foll thercfor, or vpen fiilere oq the
pmomeotpmmpdybmmwi:orduigmuymmnﬂnued:Work,ornmyﬂm
upon writizn request by Mortgagor, Mortgagee may apply the amoutt of any Froceeds then
wﬂ:ﬂuﬁuhlhehndsofMoﬂnzuwﬂwpamoflhelndabwdmﬂnmof
priotity as may be provided In the Note) without premiums or peralty; provided, however,
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that nothiog betein cantained shall prevent Morgages from applying at any time this whole ar
;nypuncfnxh Proceeds to the curing of any Event of Default under this Mortgage of the
ote. . -

{£)  If e insurance proceeds are made avalhble for restoration of the
Martgaged Property purnant 1o Section 2.04.5(c) above, but the Work w be done s not
struciural of Major Work, the Proceeds shall be pald directly to Mortgagor from time to time
s restoration progresses 1o be applied toward the cost of the Work, subject to the provisians
of Submections {d), (c) 20d {f) above, other than thase applicsble o Major Work.

' () If withia one hundred tweaty (120) days (or such longer period of up to
one hundeed eighty (180) days as may be approved by Mongsgee In writing upon the writizn
request of Mortgagor and submission by Mongagor t Morigages of evidence that

() Morigagor Is diligently procecuting all uch ection a5 may be requined by this provision
and (1) potwithstanding such continuous diligent effosts by Mortgagor, Morgagor cannat
comply with this provision within 120 days) after the oceurrence of any damage or
destruction to the Morigaged Property or any pordon thercof requiring struchurat work or
Major Work In order to restors the Mongaged Property, Morigagor shall not have robmitied
to Mongagee, for Motigagee's appraval, the plans and specifications for'the repalr,
ressoratdon and rebullding of the Mortgaged Propesty 1o damaged ar deswoyed {approved by
. \be Architeet and. by all Governmental Authocldes whese approval b required), or i, afier
such plans and specifications are approved by all such Governmental Authorities. other
partics and Morigagee, Mortgagor shall faff prompdly to commence such repait, restoration
and rebullding, of if thereafeer Mostgagor fzily diligeraly to continue such repalr, sestocation
and rebuilding or is delinguent in the payment to mechznics, materialmen of others of Uie
costs fncurred in connectian whh the Werk, ar in the case of any damage or destrettion 1o
the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof requiring nelther structoral work nor Major
Work in order to cepair and restore, if Mortgagor shall fail promptly ta repair, sestore and
rebuild the Mongaged Property so damaged or destroyed, ot in any other material respect
£33ls 10 comply with §ts restoration obligations under this Section 2.04.5 theg, vpox notice 1o
Mortgagor, in sddition to all ather vights besein set forth, Morgagee, ot any lawfully ap-
pointed tecciver of the Moctgaged Property, may at thefr respective optioas, performt or
cause 1o be performed such pepair, restoration and cebollding, and may cke such other sieps
as they deem advisable to perform the Work; provided, however, that Mortgagee shuli'be
penitied to give such shoroer potics (and in such mamner) & i teusonably practical or no
notice If peceesary to meet an emergency dfwation in case of other spesial clrcumstances.
Mortgagor herehy walves, for Mortgagor and all others holding under Mortgager, any claim

: : aga!nnMon;tgeundsucbmxhcruhtmmtofmh}ngdombyumm:eorm
S recelver pursiznt hereto (other than 2s & result of Modtgagee’s or such reeciver's gross

Fyg B negligence or willful misconduct) and Mongages may apply all o a portion of the Proceeds
‘#ﬁ - {withaut the need to (WIfill any other requitements of this Section 2.04) to seimburse
Mortgagee, and/or such receiver, for alf amounis expended or incurred by them, respec-

dvely, in connection with the performance of the Work, aod any excess costs shall be paid
by Mortgagor to Moxigagee upoa demand.

. @  To further secure the performance and discharge, of Mottgagoc's
chligations under this Section, but not i liet of such obligations, Morigagor thall pay over
to Morigages an smount equat 10 1/12h of the vext maturing annval izsurance premiums for
exch mouth that bas elzpsed since the last date W which such premiums were pald; 1d
Mortgagor shall, in addidon, pay over to Morgagee togother with each monthly installment
on the Notz, sufficient funds {as extimated, and 35 may be adjusted and readjiied, from time
fo time by Mongages In it sole.discretion to accomplish the stated purpase} w0 permit
Morigages to pay said premiumse when they first become due. Such deposts shall not be,

* poe be deemed 10 be, trust funds but may be commingled with the general funds of
Mortgages. Upon demand by Motigagee, Morgagor shall deliver to Mortgagee such
additional monies as 2re necessary to make up any deficiencics In the amounts necesrry to

?‘ﬁ
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emble Mongagee o pay suck premiums when due. Provided tha Morigages shall nog
otherwise have used 2 porion of such funds lnmdxuwi;hdwpmvisinmumh
Mmme.sud:ﬁmds(luslhcmouw, ifaw.whid:mmmkmmamrundm
be vsed (o pay preminms not yer due and payable), shall be applied In payment of the
aforementioned premiums, whent and as payabls, mmmMmud:mbmmch
funds o hasd. In&em&uﬂ\acmnmm&murm&aluméfmapmhd

2.04.6, Nondmpairmen of Mottegpee's Rists. Rottting contatned in

Sections 2,04,3 and 2,04.5() bereln shall be decmed 10 alfect any right or remedy of
Morigagee under any pravisions of this Motigage o of any saute or nde of law to pay any
ameunt requited ta be pald by Sections 2,04, 1 and 2.04.5() hereof and ¢0 3dd the amaunt 20
pald together with buterest a1 the Post-Defanlt Rate w0 the Indebledness, Althaugh Mortgager
shall usc its reasonable effons to make sueh payments in a timely fachion, the Amangemenis
provided for in Sections 2,04.3 and 2.04.503) hereof are solely for the added peotection of
Mortpagee and entail no Fesponsibility on Mortgagee's part beyond the use of doe credit for
sums zconally received by . Upon assignment of this Moetgage, ary funds on hand shall be
tumned over ta the assignes and, upon writicy verificution of recelpt of such fiunds from xuch
assignee, Mortgages shull be completely released from all Hability with respect 1o such

. funds, and Motigagor shall Inck solely ta such assignee with tespect thereto,

2.05. Condemmytion,
) Morgagar, immediately vpan obtainiog knowledze of the Justition of
any procezdings for the tlon of the Mostaaged Property or any portion iereaf,

shﬂmﬁfyh(mmuhw&ingoflhcpendcwyﬁmhpmmedlup. Mocigagee, st jux
dcaiunandluiudkudhu.m:yw&i;mcinmywd:pmdlnpmdearfm
time to time shall deliver vo Mortgages all fnspuments sequested by ¥ to permbt such par-
vcipatfon. ASl Awards or other uking or purchase In leu therent, of the Mortgaged

thetfo:uaidAmrdsandcompensaﬁoanmce rmlnddurormylkm.dmguor
encumbrances of any kind or pature whassocver. Mortgagor hereby authotizes Mongages to
voliect and receive such Awards, wzivcpmpurcc:iptszpdu;uhnmmmfa-win
Mortgagee"s mhdkawbnmapplydummwd uwmymoflhelndcund:m.
rorwithstanding the fact that the Indebtedness miy not then be due and payshle, or s the
restoration of the Mongaged Property.
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() 1o the event that the whole of the Mortzaged Propery shall be taken or
eondemned by any Governmental Authority foc any public or quasi-ptiblic use or purpose, or
if aty part thereof shall be 30 taken or condemoed and the part thereof not so tken or
eondemoed cannot feasibly be used ac reconverted foe use as a buflding or buildings of the
type, character and condition existing immediately prior to such tking or Condemaation, 2s
dezermined by Motigages (the foregoing being referted to as a “Complete Taking™), then,
any Award payable in connection tGerewith stall be pald to Mortgagee and applicd 1 the
Tudebtedness (In the order of priority as may be provided In the Note). Any poriion of any
Award remainlog thereafier shall be paid 10 Mortgzgor,

()" 1nthe cvent that a portion of the Mortgaged Propenty is taken or
condemned so that there &5 less than a Complete Taking, then, Morigagor prompdy shall ~
commence (bt bn 0o event Jater than sixty (60} days afier the date of such takring or
condemnation) and diligendy contlnse k repair, restare, replace ot tebuild the Mongaged
Property in accordance with the proviions of Sectlon 2.04.5 hereof, as if such tddeg or
condemnation had resulted In *daoage or destruction to the Mongaged Propetty® (within the
meaning of subpangraph (d) of s1id Section 2,04.5), substartially to i condition
Immediately prior (o such aking or coodemuation and the proceeds of any Award paid o

. Morigages in connection therewith will be made availabiz o Mortzagor for such purposes;

pravided, howeyer, that fn sich cvent such procecds shall be disharsed to Morigagor subject
to and in accordance with the provisions of subparagraphs {d), (¢) and (f) of sald

Scetion 2.04.5, provided, funther, bowover, that ¥ the part of the Mortgaged Property
reoaining after any Condemnation cannot feasibly be used or reconverted forese asa
distinet and functional architectural unit buildisgs of the type, character and condition
existing immediately prior to such ‘Condempation, then the proceeds of any Award pald 1o
Mortgagee in connestion therewith will nof be used or yuch repair or restoration and will
insiead be applicd 1o the Indebiedness as provided In subparagraph (b) above,

{d) Nowithsunding any txking by eminent domain, alteration of the grade
of ay street or other injfury to of decrease in value of the Mongaged Property by any
Goverimestal Authority, Mangager shall comipue to make all payments due hereunder and
under the Note and under the other Loan Documents, .

2.06. CARE OF THE MORTGAQED PROPERTY.

()}  Mongagor shall preserve and malotain the Mortgaged Propenty in good
condition and repafr, Motigagor shall nat pecmait, commit of suffer any waste of the
Mortgeged Property or of any part thereof, and will not takee any action which will increase
the risk of fire of other hazard o the Morigaged Property of to any part thereof,

) Except as ntherwise expressly permitied onder the Loan Documents, ro
past of the Morigaged Property shall be removed, demolished, altered of added to, without
the prior writien content of Mortgagee, which coment fmay be withheld or denjed In
Mortgagee's sole and arbiury discrction. Moagagor shiall have the right, without such
consent, 10 yemove xod dispose of fres from the lieq of this Mortgage any partofthe
Mortgaged Property s from time to time may becoms worn ovt or obsoletz, provided,
bowever, that either simultaneotsly with or prior to such semoval, any such Mongaged
Property shall be yeplaced with other mortgaged property of equal willty and of » value at
Ieast equat to that of the replaced Mortgeged Property, when first acquired and free from any
security interest of any other petyon aod by such removal and ceplzeemett Mortgagor shall
be deemed 10 have sublected such replacement mertgaged property 1o the lien of thls
Mongage, and provided, fursher, that in no event shall Mortgagor temove any of e
Artwork, without the prioc written consent of Morigagee, which consent may be withheld or
denled in Mongagee's sole xnd arhitary diseretion.
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() Morigagee may enter upon and inspect the Mortgaged Progeny a1 any
reasomble time during e Ife of this Morgage for all purposes. Incleding, withoos
limitation, vesification of Morigagor®s compliance with all of the wrzns, coversnts and
provisions of this Mortzage.

2.07. Compotivion of Mortrayor. Atall times troughoot the tzem of te Loan, tie
Morntgagor shell be Controlled by Guaranior and Guarantor shall be the record and benefical
mofakmﬁftympqummﬂoruwinuodandomwiumdngmﬁthd
Monzagoe., lud:emntdn:(:)lnyonhnndn;mﬁﬁuofh{mwswlbem!d.
conveyed or otherwise transferred or pledged, hypotherated or otherwie transfered s
security for debt (whether volunzarily, involontarily by cperation of faw or otherwise): (b)
thera shall be an incrte in the oumber of fssued and/oc outstanding shares of the votlng
mﬂiunmemor(n)d:m;bﬂIbeuumdmwmaddIﬁomldwesoﬁodu
securities of Mongagor, bowever socomplished and whether in a toghe tramsction or [na
mi:ormhuanmﬂnhﬁmhm.widuhemumuhwmunmh
sccurities of the Mortgagoe shall be Controlled by & person o eatity otfier than Guarantee,
the entire balance of the fodebiedness of the Note shall be accelerated and become
Immediately due and payable, &t the opton of Mostgager, In the event Moctgagee elects
acceleraie the earir balancs of the Indebtedness, Morigages skall havé no obligation to
anegcnnhw:nyimpaimmofh;mﬂlywmypmmmykgdorquiublermedlﬁ
for default fo such payment without such allegation or showing,

2.08. Creaion of Sccurity Arrcement. Morgagoe shall not awn or acquirs o¢ 2gres
1o acquire any property for use at the Mortgaged Property of any charseter sublest to any
securily agreement, mortgage, conditional sale agreement or other 1l retention agrezment,
of as3ign, pledze or in any manoer wansfer o encumber b rights 10 reccive income from
the Mortgaged Propetty.

2.08. Compliance with Environmentsl Law, .

() Mortgagor shall comply strictly and in alf respects with the
requlirenients of Il Environmenta) Laws and related reguladons and with al) similas
applicable aws and regolations and shall notify Mortgages prompily In the event of any
Release or the presence of Cantantlirams tpon the Morigaged Property, and shall prompily
forward to Mortgagee copies of 2] ocders, nalices, permits, applications o other
communications and reports received In coonection wlth any such Release of Contamlnants
or any other mutiers refatdng to any Envitorsental Law o relaied regulstions or soy similar
applicable laws oc regulations, as they may affect the Mortgaged Progerty,

(b} Morigagor shall not, and shall cot knowilagly pesmit any other Person
10, (1) cause or sulfer to occur any Release at, upon, under or witkin the Mortgaged Property
of 2ny contiguous real cstate, or (if) engage in operations, at or pear the Moxtgaged
Froperty, which coold lead to the Imposition on Mongagor or any other gwner of the
Mortgaged Property of lisbiliry oc the creatlon of a fien an the Mortzaged Property under
any Environmenta! Law.

() Mocgagor shall pet permit any portion of the Mortgaged Propeny o
mnninmymdagroundmabovcmmndunh!’orsmgcorfu_doil.gnoﬂnund!orotha
petreleum products or by-products.

210, Copuminants, Mortgager shall not, and shall not knowingly peemit any other
Person to dispese of any Contamimut by placing It In or n the ground o waters of any
property owned or leased by Mertgagor or any contiguous propeny,

211, Environmental Audh. Meortgages shall buve the sight from dme Lo time
(which right will ooly be exercieed i Morigagee reasonably belioves that there maybea
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Release or Contaminants ypon the Mortgaged Propenty) 1o chrin, 2t Mortgagor's sole st
mWnMWsmmlmelWﬂmemeol
such an assessment of repart, with respet to the Morigaged Propesty, all in scope, foem and
content satisfaclory o Mongagee, The cost of any such environmestal assestinent shall be
borne by Mortgagor. $pon receipt of any notification or otherwise obuining knowledge of
any Release or other event that could resalt in Mosgagor tncurreg Environmenal Liabillies
and Costs, Mortpagor shall, at s cost, canduct or pay for consultants w conduct, such tests
or assezsments of eavironmental condition a1 such operations or propesties Gf any),
including, without limitatlon, the investigation and testleg of subsurface conditions, end shal]
ukcsmhmndhl.bvmigaﬁomlwoghaaﬂbu.nmydwmmﬂhuﬂnﬁtyuwha
or as i appropeiace and conshstent with yood business practice. If the consuttant selected by
Mortgagor iy et reasombly scceptable lo Mortgagee, Mortgagee shall (i) sckect a consultan
of s awn cliodsing to monitor the work of Mortgagor's consultant and Mortgagor shall pay
for all rexsonable costs naurmd by Morgagee's consulunt i connectlon with performing
such monitoring activities, and (i) prompdy ootify Mortgapor of such detsrmination and
appolntment. Nothing contained in this Mortgage shall be construed as limiting or Enpeding
Mongagor's rights xnd obligations s take uny and it sctions pecesary and desicabile o
address any Release of Environmentz! Lizbllitles and Costs or to comply with all
Environmental Laws, .

2.1z, Emvironmental Ipdemnlficaifon,

()  Morgagor agrees to defend, indemnlfy and bold harmless Morigapes
"and its respective AfTillates, and direct and indirect directors, shareholders, offlcers,
employees, agents, auofncys, conwuitants and advisors of o¢ o exch of tic foregoing persons
{cach of the foregoing being an *[ndempites”) from and agalnst any ard all claims, damages,
* Tiabilities, obligatons, losses, pemaltics, actions, judgments, suits, costs, disbursements and
expenses of any kind of mawmre (including, without limltation, fees and ditbursements of
counsel to any such Indemnites) which may, 3t any time or frem time to time, be 2ctusally
fmposed on, incurred by 6r asserted agalost any such Indemaltee In connectlon with or
arising from or out of, any investigation, litizetion or proceeding, whether of not any such
Ipdemnites & a party thereto, and/or any matter whethey based on any federal, state or local
faw or other stanutary regulution, seturities or commercial law or regulktion, o wnder
comman faw o Io equity, or In contract, tort or otherwise, in any manner relating ta of
ariting out of tils Morgage, any other Loan Documenis, any of the Indebtedness, or any
art, event o trenszetion relaled to or attendant w any thereof, including, whhout Hmbztion,
(D any and aii Envircamental Liabilitls and Costs arfsing from or connecesd with the past,
. preseat Gr futire operations of Mertgagoe involving any of the Mortgaged Property, or
. damage to real ar persoaal property of natuyal resources or barm or infury alleged to have
reslied from any Release of Contaminants on, vpon ot inte such property o any contiguous
veal estate, (i) any and all costs andfor Babilitics incurred In conacetion with the
Investigation, removal, eleanup endlor remediation of any Contamimnt present or arising owt
of the operations of any facitity of Morigagor, (iff) any and all costs or Jiabilides incurred in
connection with 2ny Environmental Lica, (iv) any and all costs or Habllities focurred in
connection with any other manes affecting any fcillty purssart o Environmestal Laws, .
including, without Jimiuzion, CERCLA and spplicable state propesty transfer laws, whether,
with respect to any of the foregolog, such Indemnlier i & mosigagoe purseans to any
leasehold mottgage, 2 mongagee-n-possessioa, the successor fn interest to Mortgapor, or the
owner, Iessee of operator of any feility of Mortzagor by vicme of forectorure, except, with
Fespect to any of the foregolng seferred © in clavses (), (8, (i) and {Iv), to the extent
Incurred following (x) foreclosure by Mortgagee, or (y) Mongages kaving become the
successor in interest 1 Mongagor, titributable solely 4o atcts of Morigagee, (v} any and all
damages, Fabilities and costs acmally incirred in connection with the breach of any
representation, warranty or covenzit made by Morigagor under Secvions 2.62.1(,
© 20L1(kk), 102.141), 2.02.3(mm), 2.02.5(nn), 2.02.1(00), 2,02.1(pp), Z.02.1(g9).
2.02.1(m) 2.09., 2.10., 2.11,, 2.12., andlor 2.13. of this Mostgager, andfoc {vi} the use or
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intended use of the procceds of the Loan or in conniection With ay investigatio of any
potential matier covered hereby (collectivel y the *Indemnified Mittess™); providéd, that
Moitzagor shall sot have any oblization under this Section 2.12(2} (o any Indemaitee with
respect ta any Indemalfied Matter caused by or resalling from the gross neglipence or willfel
niitconduct of that Jndesonltee, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction In 2 fima)
ror-appealible fudgeient of order,

) Mm!:a;eeapwthniumcmwm:::ymchtmﬁgal!o.a,uﬂgzﬁm

or nesponas action, quagonluﬂpmmj:dydo:oudmchhﬂ:mﬂculull hw;thcrighl

@)  Mongapee shall give Mortgagor reasorsble prior notios of any
scilement, compromiss or similer disposition by Montgagee of any InvesTxatdon, litigation or
proceeding porsuant to whlch Mortgagor has an obligation to defend,

{5)  ‘The obligations of Mortzagor under this Section 2,12 shall survive the
sepayment of the Loan and releass of the Lieas ereatod by tls Motigage,

213, 't Ri » 1n the event of any
m«mmormmuwmgwmmm Property, whether or pot
the supe orennmufmmmeuonp;cdi’mpmyoranyumd;um:almw

neglipence or willful misconduct after Morigagee sequires title 1o the Morigazed Property
cither throwgh the foreclone of this Moxtgage or 2 deed In e thaeof), andlor if
Mortgagor shall fil o comply with any of the requirements of any Environmenta) Law,
Mostgagor shall cause such work ta be perfonmed at the Mortgaped Propesty and/oc take any *
and all other actioas a3 Morlgagee shall deem or advisable In order to remedy such
Release or semove sich Contaminants or cure 1ajd Filare of compliance,

2. Euher Asmrances, At any e and from e 6o Gime, upon Mortgagee's
Tequest, Modz:;or:lnllmh,mandddlva, or cause 49 be made, execuind and
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continte and preserve the obligations of Mortgagor under the Note, this Morigage andfor
other Loan Documents, and the fien of this Mottgage as a lizn upon alf of the Mongaged
Property, whether now owned of hereaficr aoquired by Morigagor, subject onlty to the
Permined Encarnbrances, and nate all and every persan of persons desiving any esaie, right.
thile or interest under this Mongage oc the power of sale herein contiined, Upon any failure
by Morgagor 10 do so after request by Mortgagee, Motigages may make, exceute, recond,
file, re-recond or refile any and all such mortgages, Instroments, eentificates and documenrs
for and In the pame of Morigagor, and Mortgagor hereby irevocably appalats Mongagee tie
agent and attomey-in-facz of Morgagor 1o do 3, which appointment wil serminaie tpon the
A satisfaction of record of dils Mosgage,

2,15, Sepuriny Arresment apd Finopcine Sxtemante, Morgagor {as Delot) hereby
graars to Morigages (25 Creditor and Secured Party} a security Enterest i 211 of Monigagor's
right, tifs and interest bn and w all fixtures, machivery, appliarces, Equiptneat, Antwork,
furniwre and personal propesty of every pature whatsocver constituing part of the
Mortgaged Property, sublect caly to the Permitted Encumbeances,  *

Mortgagor shall exceute any and all such Socuments, including withot limitation
Financing Statements pursuant 1o the Unlform Commerclal Code of the state in which the
Mortgaged Property s located, a3 Morigages razy reasonably tequesl, to preserve znd
malntain the priocity of the len cteated hereby on property which euy be deemed personat
property or fixtures, and shall pay to Morgages on demand any expesues reasonably
incurred by Mortgages in conncetion with the preparation, exccutlon and filing of any such
documents, Mortgagor hereby anthorires and empowers Mortgagee to exccute and file, ot

. Mornigagor's behalf, all Financing Statements and sefilings and continuations thereof as
Mortgagee deems necessary or advisable to creste, preserve and protect ssid lien,  When and
If Mortgagor and Morrgagee shall respectively become the Deblor and Scextred Parey in any
Uniform Commercial Code Financing Statement affecting the Mongaged Property, this
Morgage shall be deemed 3 security sgrectment as defived in sald UnHorm Commercial Code
and the remedies for any violation of the covemnty, teams and conditidos of the agreements
heteln contained shall be (i) as presaribed hereln, or (1) as set forth by the laws of the Stze
in which the Mortgaged Property s located, of (lif) as to such part of the security which k
also refiectzd in 52id Financing Statement a3 set fonh by the specific statulory consequences
now or hereafier erizcted and specified in the Uniform Commercial Code, all at Mortgagee's
sole election.

i ey

ST,

M

Mortpagor and Mortgupes agres that the fillng of 2 Financlog Statement in the
records nerinally having 1o do with personal propetty shall never be construed as b anyway
derogating from or Empatring the express declanatich wod Intention of the parties hereta,
berelnabove stated, that everythiog used in connecalon with the production of Income from
the Morigaged Property and/or adapled far use theteln andfor which is described of
reftected in this Mortgage Is, and at all times and for all puoposes and in all proceedings both
legal or equitble, shall be regarded as part of the real estate encumbered by this Mortgagze
nrespective of whether (1) any such item it physically attached to the Eprovements,

(i) seelat ounbers are wsed for the better ideatification of certaln equipment fizcax capsble of
being thus identificd in & reciul contiined bereln or Lnaxy §ist filed with Mortgages, oc

(iif) aoy such itemn Is referred to or reflected In any such Finaneing Statement so filed ot any
time. Similarly, the meation in any yuch Financing Statement of (1) righes fnor w0 the
proceeds of any fire andfor harard inswrance policy, or (2) any swasd in eminent domain
proceedings for a taking or for loss of valuz, or (3) Mongagor's fnterest as Jestor in say
present or future lexse or rights 1o Income growing out of the wse andlor occupancy of the
Mongaped Property mortgaged hercby, whether purtuant lo such jease or otherwise, shall
never be constued as kn anywiss alieting any of the rights of Morigagee as deteomined by
this Instrument of impugaing the priority of Mocgagee's llen granied bereby o by any other
recorded document, ot such mention in the Financing Statement s declared 1o be for the
protection of Mortgagee in the event any cott of Judge shall at any time hold with respect to
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clamses (1), () and ) of this Section 2.15 that vodes of Mortgagee™s priccity of interest to
be effective against a panicular class of persoas, Including but st limhed to the federal
goverament and any subdivisions or entity of the federal government, must be filed in the
Uniferm Commercia! Code records.,

L AL
2 skl R 7

2,16, Asipoment of Remts. The assignment conined under the Section of this
Moagage endiled "THE MORTGAGED PROPERTY", in paragtaph (E) abave stall be fully
opentive without 20y firther acilon an the part of elihier party and specifically Mortgages
stall be entltied, 2t its option, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder, 10 alt
m,lmwmmmrmmmcumudmdmm&mnphm.
(B), {C) and (D) above wheiber or not Mortgages takes posseaslon of yuch Mongaged
Properyy. Moctgagor hiereby (urther grants to Mortgages the cight, at Moctgages's opticn,
tpoz the occmrrsoce of an Event of Delialt, (i) to eoer vpon and take possession of the
Moxtgaged Property foc the puupose of collecting the said rents, income and other benefits,
(13} to disporsexs (tubject ta the tesms of any appiicable leass) by the urval

2t any (e defaulting in the payment thereof 1o Mortgugee,-(itl) fo Jet the

Martgaged Property or any part thereof, and (iv) 20 apply sald rens, income and other
benelits, after paymeat of all pecersary charges and expemes, on sccouat of the Indebiedness
and other sums gecured herehy, Such assipament snd grant shatl comtinue tn effect unell the
Indebtedness and other sums recured herchy are fully pald, the excanion of this Mottgese

. constimting snd evidencing the imevocable content of Morgagor to the £oiry upon and
uking passession of the Mortgaged Property by Moctgages pursuant to such grane, whether
or nat foreclastre bas been inctited, Nehher the exerclse of any rights under thls
Section 2,16 by Mortzagee nor the applicatioe of any such rents, income of other benefits 1o
the Indebtodness and other sums socured berchy, shall cure or walve any default oc notice of
default bereunder or fovalidate any 0t done pursuant heren of to 2ny such notice, bot shali
be cumulative of al} other 1ights and remedies.

2.17. Beuktive Coverants. In advancing the principal sum secured by this
Mongage, Mocgagee bas relied upon, Inter aliz, the integrity, experiencs and geners)
reputation of Mortgagor in operating the Mortgaged Property for ks intended purpoce.
Morigezor acknowledges that the valus of Mortgagee's secqurity s directdy related to the
manner in which the Mortgaged Property will be operated. Moxtgages, prior to advaneing
the principal sum secured hereby and apresing 10 the terms vpon which this Morgage i
made, considered Morgagoc's pet worth, experience, Inegrity and gencral reputation.
Accardingly, Mortgagor covenants and agrees that it shill vot, whhiont the prior wrkuen
copsent of Mortgages, which consent may be withheld or denled bn Morgagee's sole and
arbjuary discretion: ’ ’

(a)  coter Into any Membership Agreement for all or any portion of the

. Premises other than Membershlp Agreements that (i) aro prepared upon a form which has
previausly been approved In wrillng by Moctgagor and Morigagee; (i) provide that the
Mcmbership Depasits payablo thereunder shall bo ron-refundable to the respective Club
members except (A} upon the exrlier W oocur of {y) thirty (30) years from the date of the
sdmizxslon of tbe rerpective member to the Cith and such member's sesignatioa from the
Club or () wihin thirty (30) days afier the resigration of such member and the subsequent
reissuance of e Club membenship to a new Club mamber, or (B) in the event that the we
of the Club shall revert to a private siogle family residence; and (i) require & minimum
Memberhlp Deposk of $50,000; o¢ modHy atty Membership Agrestoent uless such
Membership Agretment a5 modified meett the conditions set forth in (7), (1) xad () shove;

{t)  volucurily cancel, terminate of accipt a resigration from 2 Club
member under 20y Membership Agreement and in connection therewith, refund the -
Membership Depoaity

.I.g,‘ !
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. (¢} fail to maintain a fully operationa! Club {including, witkout dimitation,
. s . the necessary dtaffing to operate & private soclal club of by 10 five bundred (500) members,
B restaurant facilities and a translent rental business whh respect to the residential quaners) of
y otherwise cease operatiots at of vacate of abandon the Ciub st any time {other than during

the mooths of May through September, during which period the Club shall not be requited 1o
e open to ks members but shall yemaln well-maleained; -

ey
Ih
e

pptaria RNy

(@) take or fail to ke any action tat may tesult in the loss of any
occcupational Ticemes and Permins required for the operation of the Club;

g

(z) ke or fall ¢o take any action that may cxuse the Town of Palm Beach
w revoke the zoning for the Club; .

(  take o fail o Ghe any sction that may reduce the number of
memberships permitted in the Cluli; .

| .4 ) (&) change the location of Mortgagor's principal offics of change the -
- location where it keeps it books and reconds, exeept upon thirty (30} days prior written
poics to Mogagee;

.
.
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¥ ()  exernte any conditionsl bill of sale, chastel mortgage oc other security
b Instrument covering 2ny of the Equipment or purchase any Equipment fa such a manner such
oy that owoership of the same will not vest unconditionally in Mortgagor, frce from
s encumbrances oo defivery ' the Traprovements o creatz, assume, gursanty, permit  exist

ot

if ) o otherwhss become directly o indirecty tiable foc any indcbisdness;
_4 . Gy  further assign ny Membership Agrecment or the annual dues payable
i . thereunder of any of the rights assigned to Mortgages simultanemssly herewith;

. ) furher assigh any lease or other occupuicy amangemment or the fenls
derived thercfrom or any of the rights assigned to Mortgages simulazously herewithy

()  sell, convey, transfer, oc assige (by operation of law or otherwisz) of
mortgage, further encurnber, refinance, shicnate, hypothecats or grant a security fnterest in
(whethet supesior oc inferior to the len of this Mortgage), or grant any other tnttest
whatsoaver In, il of any, pare of the Morigaged Property writhout dhe prior writen conseat of
i Morgagee having been obtained it cach Instance 10 the proposed kafe, conveyanse,

23 uﬁgnummfa.w«pldgz.whichmmwbcwi&bdddrdw&dh
R . Morigagee's salc and arbleary discretlon. Any such sak, conveyance, sssignmest, wans(er,
3 pledge, mortgage, refinancing, cocumbrance, alienation, hypotheration ot grant made without
Morigagee's prior written copsent shall be void.  Without limiting the foregoing, in the event
that without the prior writien consent of Mengagee, Mortgagor shall seil, convey, transfer,
aslzn, mostgage, pledpe, further encumber, refinance, aliemie, hypothecate or grant &
security Enterest b the Mortgaged Propenty or any past thereof, or any interest thereln (togad
oc benefich) oc shal] be divested of tile or any Inzrest Mercin in any. meaner 6f Wiy,
whether volunaary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, the entlic bulance of the
Indebiedness shall be seeelerated and $ecome immediately duz and payable, at the option of
Mortgagee (excrcisable 2t any time and in the sole judpment and discretion of Mortzages).

i,
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T Ta Ec cvent Mottgeges elects to 30 acorlerate the entire balanee of te ibdebiodness,

bR Mortgagee sl have oo obilzation to altzge or show any impatnment of ils secwhy and may
1453t pussue any begal of equitable remedies for defanlt in such pryment withont such allegation of
K showing, Morizagor sl pot, without the prlor written consent of Mortgzgee is cach
vt imatance, which consent may be withheld oc denied i Mottgagee's sole and acblrary
'*ﬁ*-“‘ discretion, forther sssipn the tents from the Mortgaged Propeity, and any such assignment

&
QY

3 ) without the prier express written consent of Mongagee shall be mill and void. Without in any
¢ way limlting the pencrality of the foregolng, Morigagoc agrees thar in the event the

25
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L. ownership of the Morizaged Property or any part thereof becomes vested ln 3 person other
: . than Monzagor, Mongages may, without notice 1o Morgagor, deal in any way with such
uccessor of successons in Interest with refereoce to this Morigage and the. Nots and other
sums hereby secured without bn any way vidaing or discharging Mortgagor'’s Wability
betestnder or vpon the Note and other suges bereby secored. No sale of the Mongaged -
Loy Froperty and no forbearance to any person with fespect to this Morgage and no extension 10
ey any persoq of the time for payment of the Notz and other sutms kerehy secured ghven by
A3 MmuMwmnMdkm.moﬁ&.mummuuﬁm&wh
e ¢ of Morgagoe elther in whole or I parg; notwiihstanding the forezalng, Mongagor way,
. without the prior wrinen consent of Mosgagee, transfer the Mortgaged Propeny 0 a
T Permitted Trarsferee provided that (i) Mongagor furnlshes Moctgagee with writtes notice of
s any peopased transfer at feast s (10) days prior thereto, (1) the propesed tansferes
- executes and delivers 10 Morqages an Assignment of Membenship Apreements, Deposiis end
Duzs tn the form of the Ansignment, 3 Hazardous Substances Isdemalry Agreement In the
form of the Harardous Substances Indemnity Agreement dated of eves date herewith made
bmewMGmmhﬁmofMaumMulwﬂmhwmh
(st forma of the Indemnification Agroemernt dated of even date berewith made by Guansior
In favor of Mortgages and (1if) Mortgager shall, withia five (5) days of any such transfer,
provide s Mocgagee complete coples of alt docurnsnss and instruments txeemed In
tonnection with axy such tramsfer, includizg, without limitatlon, all of the docoments
. descrived in (1) sbove;_ .

(0 suffer oc permit a voluntary sale, pledge of other transfes of any
Cortrolling kuierest In the Mortgagor without the prior writtzn comsest of Mongages which
conseat may be wridibeld or denled in Morgagee®s sole and arblirary disevedon;

(m} amend, alter or conzent to o suffer any amendment, alterztion,
modification or revocation of the Arieles of Tacorporation or Bylaws of Mortgagor, of the
application for Regbstration of Fictitious Name of Mortzagor of iy other material agreement
to which Morigazor Is a party or by which its as1cts are bound {or waive a material Hzht
therennder) In any manner;

(n)  suffer or pormit the Mortgaged Property or any portion thereof, 1o be
used by Ui public tn such & manner 23 might seasonably t2nd to il Morgagor™s titke 1o
thr.Moﬂpgedepaqu;uypofdanﬂaml.wlnsuchammsmlsktmmmbly
mkcpouib!cadaimordaﬁmoﬂdmmp«ndmcpms&ionbydmpnbllc.as
sudx,wufﬁnplhddcdhﬁonord:eMmpgedepenyormfpmm' thereoly :bgheg
permit the wse of the' Morngaged Property oc any postion thereof for any purpose,
the reasomble oplnlon of Mortgager would adversely affect the value or character of the
Moxtgaged Property oc sny part thereof;

(0}  perform or catse to be petfocmied any consuction tpon the Morgaged
Property, including transportation of major construction matetials, by a peneral contractor o
subcontracior not having collective bargaialng agreements with unlons affillzted with the
e AFL-CIO Bollding Trades Department; thirty (30) days prior o the commencemient of any
Er canttruction wpan the Mongaged Propesty, Morgagor ahall provide Mongagee whh a list of
the mames of the geacral contractor and subcoatraciors for verification by Morgagee as to
v thelr current statos with the Building Trades Departmeris .

T T
SR, s
RN AL S

-

()  employ contractors or subcontractors not having collective bargeining
agreements with unlons affiiated with the AFL-CIO Building Trades Department w perform
the following work upon thie Moctgaged Propenty: (i) exgiansion, (i) replacement of the

Lo roof, {ill) wajor repair of replacemcnt of the HVAC system, (iv) élevator repaic and
m;,:n?m (v} repair, replacement or Instatlation of elecmric pae! boards and entry
. service wables;

T
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(@  vse Mortgagee™s name or the name of any person, firm of corporation
controlling, coutrolled by or under comman conol with Morizager in connectlon with any
of Mortgagoe's activitles, except as such vse may be required by applicable aw or u;ulzuan
of any governmental body,

218, Intentiomally Omibtied.

2.19. Expenscs. Mmswﬂuﬂwyﬂlmmdupcmmmmmmhmc
Loan and the preparation, executon, delivery, performance and enforcement of this
Morigage, including, but oot limited to, ail loan application fees, tie reasonzble fecs and
disbursemtents of (he counse! for Martgagee (Including, brt not limited o, {2) the rexonshie
fees of Morigagee's coninsel in connection with the prepasation of this Mongage, the Note,
all other Loan Documesnts, the closing of the Loan, ard (5) the enforcement and protection of
marlghuofumuduﬂmmcakmofﬁhmgquwdhormm '
spcrlﬁc proceedings shall be commeniced) and Mortgagoe, all documentary, Itangitle

other recording tuxes and fees, 2l recording costs and expenses, surveys, appratsals,
pbomwpyb;andlongdmmcpmehmsefﬂmmgm:mumd,ﬂonpzwmk

insurance policies and any endorsementt thereto, fecs for faspections and 1ide examination:
and Mortgagor shall indemnify 3nd hold harmless Mortgages from and agalnst any and alt
sctnl costs, Josser, lhbﬂkymdupamu&luinmnmlouwhhuyoﬁh:fac;du.
Mongagoe herehy authorizes Mostgages o utllize the proceeds of the Loan to satisfy any and
all of the costs and ‘expenses referred 0 berein i oot paid by Mocigagor when due and no
further directlon or authorization fran Mortgagor shall be necessary 10 warram
dishursements In payment of the foregoing, acd all such disburements shall be secored by
this Morigage as fully x¢ if made 10 Mortgagor, and Mongagod shall indemnify and bold
karmicss Monigagee from and zgainst, and relmborss & for, all claimt, demands, Jizbilitles,
losses, da.magu. Judgmenes, penaliles, costs, and expenses (including, without limiation,
suormeys® fecs) which may be actually imposed ppon, assenied against, or incurred or paid
by &t by reasom of, on account of or in connection with any bodily injucy or death o propeny
damage occurring In or upon the Mortgaged Property subsequent to the date of this Mortgage
through any cause whatsoever (unless difectly cauzed by Morigagee's s subsequent (o
Mortgagee's acquisition of duemmnMomﬁhwmghmr«edm of this
Moctgage or-z deed in llen thercof) or asserted against it on socount of any act performed of
omitizd ta be performed hereunder or o account of any transacting arislng out of or In any
way connected with the Mongaged Property; or with this Moetgage or any of the
Indebtedness, Without Emiting the foregoing, promptly upoa demznd by Mortgages,
memﬂmymmmmmhamfmummbmeearm
legal, architectural or engincering services readered (o or for the benefit of Morrgagee in
connection with the making of the inltis! or any subsequent foun ta Morgagor, secared in
whole or in part by this Morigzpe, the preservation of any security for any such lotn or (e
eafercement of any Mottgagee's rights or remedies hereunder, To the extent not prohibited
under applicable law, Morgagor shall pay all reasonzblé costs and experses and relmburse
the Mortgagee {or any and all reasorable expenditures of every character incanved or
cxpended from time (0 time mgardiess of whether or oot an Event of Default shalt have
oczurred in conneaction with the Mortgagee's evaluning, monltoring, admintstering and
protecting the Mocigaged Propesty ot any coflateral now oc bereafier secaring the paymeet of
the Indebiedney, and creating, perfesting and realiziog vpon the Mortgagee's securly
interest thereln and Liens thetoon and all reasonahle cocts and expeoses reluting tothe -
Mortgagee's exercising any of io rights and remadles hereunder o under any of the other
Loan Documenty oe at law, including, without limbzlon, all nppeabial fees, consulting fees,
filing fecs, ines, brokerage feet 3nd commbssions, Unlform Comumercil Code search fees,
fecs incident to other dile searches and reports, ezcrow fegs, atomeys’ fecs, fegel expenses,
court costs, auctionees (ees and atker foes incurred in conmection with fiquidation and alf

. other professionat fees. Any.zmounts to be paid bereunder by the Mongagoe ta the

Marigages shall be a demand obligation owing by the Mortgapar 4o the Mortgzgaes and shall
bear Interest from the date of expenditnre until paid at the Post-Default Rz,
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2.22} Moneaeee®s Performance of Defalts, I Mortgagor defanlls beyond the
expiration my:ppliab!:;ﬂmpdiodinﬂzepaymdmym.&m;
mmmhmwoﬂuiumoﬁﬁm,hiuobﬂpﬁmmﬂmkhmm.ahm
mmwwmmduyowmmmaﬁﬂmumhmummm
N&whmyuhamvmnm,mmmmy.nmhbmhme
Mmmd?rupumpafmoro&mtbcnm,‘mdﬂlpaymmdc(whubam
pmummnhrwamlmpm)mmzndwmupﬁby
umehmmwmwmmmmﬁw . The amounts
mmm«wbylmm.mﬂuﬁmmmmammmmm
&mmwmmmuwumw.mnhwumwmm
secured by the Tien of this Mortpage, Monigagee Is herely empowered bo enter and 10
mmwmmuuwmuuymwmmmur
p:fmhgwobmﬁn;mymdcbmummﬁuuwhw.wiww
mmwemumwumymmmmm;mumm.

2.21. Bogks xnd Becomls.

() annmshﬂlkmp:ndmﬁanhuaﬂdmmpuc.wcmd
mmwmmmmmmuorumﬁmoru
Morigaged Property. Mmm:!uﬂﬁmhh.orammbeﬁm!ﬂmd.hlﬂmmm
ﬁ)ﬁmnhdy@mdayslﬂamcuﬂo!mhfwrwdvmm.mlnwd@m
and financil statement of Moctgagor, prejared, compiled and eenified by an Independznt
ouﬁﬁcdwblicmmﬁmmhndmd!ngmdaﬂsfadmyhmmmh
m:ﬂanocwithmdmmﬁngmdbodgsu.mmmcﬁmmﬂumuyappﬁod,
wbhhmmmdunindmmcopmumwﬁandemy(mthnmﬁw
and financia} statemeat format) Lopether with, withoot Emitation, balance sheet, income
saiement, 2nd cash flow statement, all In form and coatent reasomably stisfactory to
Monggcc.(ﬁ)ﬁminnincty(smdaysmnruwmdofud;rmlyazorcmmw(wh}d:
fumlrms!uIlcndunh@b&%}.:mmﬂm!ofﬁmﬁﬂmndiﬁmof
Guarantor, prepared and compiled by an Indeptndent cortified public accountant of
mgnhdmmmwhﬁumbemumhmrdmﬁthmndmmu .

methods and peactices consistently 2pplied and centlfied by Guarantor, (il) withia

. standards,
!maen(lﬂmmmemormdmmmmdmﬂwmdmm,a

statetia peepared and cenilfied by Morigagor, setting fotth the number of members In the
Gub.ﬂcfuﬂmuuﬂaddmormemhg.mmcnbeMmbauﬁpbepmk
pald by tach member, the annua! ducs payable by cach member and the .
mepwmmmq«miuthmmmywq
calendar menth, tozether with certfied-copics of all Manbership Agreements excoired
dusiog the immedialcly preceding calendar month, {iv) within Gifteen (15) days after the end
danbdm&rmm&mm&cmofwcm monthly operating statements
sespecting the Mortgaged Propesty, in fom and stbstence accepiable 1o Morgages, conifiod
o by the chicf financial officer of Morigagor or the equivalent thervol, (v) forthwith after the
mmmﬁumnmmhurmdgmmmarumwmcmmbym
accountant or fumithed ditectly or indlrecily 30 any other ereditor, (v} withia filteen {15)
mm&mhm.:mdmmmdw«mm.

{v5) reports £ forn and content satisfactory to Morigagee with espect (o epenating repocts
a3 requested from Gme o time by Mostgagor and (vill) any othes fimunela) information
rezsonably requested by Morigagee, Moﬂp;uuﬂludcdxmmdqms!unhwcﬂcﬁm
wlmmMonpgwsbmhudmodsnimmpmmmeWPmmudl
reasosble mes. To the extent reasonably practicable and in 2ccomdancs with Mortpagee's
cuslomary practices and controlt, Montgages shall keep the finenclal informutlon furalshed
bmeguwuouﬁdmﬁal.;nbjoahomu, to the pravisions of Section 25 of the Note,
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o)  Inthe event Mortgagor Gils to comply with the reqairements ses forth !
& - . in this Section 2,21, Morigagee shatl bave tie tight upos one Buslness Day's notice 10 have .
Moctgagor's books and recotds audlied by an tndependent cenified public accountam selected

by Mongages, and the cost of zuch audic shall be the obligation of Morigagor which ‘thall be
pddonmcdmnddmwzluﬁﬂhgwhkbd:cm:hzﬂbwhmum

Post-Default Rate from the date of payment and shall be eaforceable by all of the remedies

t1 focth in this Martgage or as otherwise pravided by law.,

() The books, records, statements and other firancial informstion required
w0 be drlivered 0 Mortgages ynder this Section 2,21 are in addition to those required o be
delivered to Mongages under the Note. Nothing contained bereln shall be deemed 1o limit
or atherwise modify Mortgagor's ebligations under the Note W furnish to Mortgages any
bm.mﬂ.mmm.mwﬁummrmmwmdonmuuwm .
Mongaged Property.

- (& Upon each failure by Mogagor to deliver esch fimanchl tatement,
e certificatz, document, statement of summasy required toder dils Section 2,21 ot of prior to
7. the date upen which such E required to be delivered heoounder, Moctgagor shall pay to
Mortgagee, tn sddition to all other payments due heretinder wad under the Notz, $1,000.00
a2 liquidated damages o0 actount of such defzult and not a3 & pepalty,

2.72. Estoppel Affidavis, At any time oc times, within ten (10} dxys afier written
request from Morngagee therefor, Mertgagor shall furnish a cenificate, duly executed and in
Y form satisfactory to Motigagee, seitiog forth the unpaid principal of and inicrest on tiz Nate,
3440 andmyoduunplidmmmcdhuchy,udwhﬂhu«nuanyuf&ds.df:femuor

5 counterelaims exiot agalnet such principal and interest or other sums,
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: 273, Comnliants with laws. Mortgagor shall promptly and faithfully comply with,
K conferm 1o and obey all preszat and funre laws, ordinances, rules, repulztions and

> requirements of every duly copstituted governmenta! authorily of agency and of the Board of
Fire Underwriters having Jurisdiction, oc similar body exerclsing simitar functions, which
S mybeupplknmcwhmmd:eMonadempcﬂy.oqanypmmmf.wmmuécm
smanner of vic, ocoupancy, postssion, obligaton, malmenance, teraton, repar of
reconstruction of the Mengaged Property, of any past thereof, whether or not such law,
ordinance, tule, order, regulation or tequirement shall necessiate strucizral clunges o
improvements or interfere with the use or enjoyment of the Mongaged Property.

. g

st
.-.'

2.24. Bulldine Codes. Mortgagos shall exercise reasowmble cuT (0 prevent &
violation, by act oc amision, of the applicable building codes and other applicable
regulations concerning the Mortgaged Propenty and, in the event that such a violation shall
occur, Morigagor shall use jis best efforts ta correct same as prompily &5 practicable.

2.25, Manarement.of the Morteaged Prooerty, The Mortgaged Propesty shall be
managed at all times throughout the term of te Loan by Mongagor oc by any other entity
Mh@mﬂdhﬁm(&:'mm:dﬂ;mm’]uhmmrum
apptovcdinwﬁﬁn;bymtgthhulemdubimdhmﬁonm;nwmh .
forrs and content satisfactacy to Motgages providing for manegement fees satisfaciory o i
Marigages In its sols and asbitrary disezetion, Coples of such agreements ahall be. furnlshed
to Morteages for It approval prioc to the execution thereal, The approved management
agent of Mortgagoe shal) submlt ta Motigagee such information as Morigagee may reguest - i

pebois, from time (o time., Al agresments between Morigagor end the pragement agent () shall i
Yoy be termimble vpon b0t mofe thay thiryy (30) days potice and (i) ahall expressly provide that :
.z‘,:' mwmkm;mmmmmmwwumcmdmm

.,‘:__x;?-' thereof} and the Noie. No change in aoy matzpement agest or wodification In any muerial

mpeanfmyappmvedmuuz:mmummcm:mubemdcwimmmmddwpﬁw ;
writcs approval of Motigages, No management agent may be xppointed (oder than an :

. . N
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Approved Mamager) nor may any approved mamagement agent of agreement with 2a
appraved mamapement 3gent be modificd i any materhal sespect or eeemizated withowt notee
to and (ke prioe wiitien approval of Mortgagee In s gote and arbirary discretion,

2.26. [niensfotally Omitted,

277, Appuinli. At Mongages's opiion, Mongagee shall fave the right 1o procure,
bﬂmm&:qumdythanonmcvaymdve(mmuuduﬁnztbcmnofﬂmlmu
appraisal of the Mongaged Property from an appraiser selecked by Moagages, The et of
amy such appeatsal shall be boros by Mortgagor. Upon Mortgagor's request, Mocigapee
shalf provide a copy of any such sppralsal to Monpagor.,

228, Indemniry. Mongagor berchy represenss and wamants to Morygages that K has
dealt with no beoker, finder or like agent in conncctioa with the Loan and hercby $ademnifies

any claim by any broker, {indet or Iike ageot who shall claim s have deaht whh Motgagor,
Wikhoist Umbing the foregoing and except for Fogney Intermatlonat, Moctgrges acknawledzes
that as of the date of this Mortgage, Mongages Is not aware of any bivker chiming x
commbision arising out of o Io conneetion with the Loan a5 a sesaht of Inving deakk with
Moxtgagee in connection with the Loan,

229, Litiraion. Atall times throughout the term of the Loz, Mortgzgor shall
promptly furnish to Mortgages written sotics of, and copies of any documents requested by
Mortzager relating to, any actions, suile or proczedings pending, o¢ to the koowledge of
Morigagor threalened, against or affecting Mortgagor or alf er smyportion of the Martgaged
Property,

230. ERISA Compliance. Morigagoe hereby represents, coverants and warranis

that, 23 of the date hereof and at all mics hereafter during the term of this Morigage:

()  Nonc of is right oc title to, nor any of its intesent in, the Mortgaged
Property comstltutes plan assett (as defined In Department of Laboc Reguladons 29 CFR
§ 2510.3-101, Including the provisions of sub-paragraph (k) thereof) of any: () “employee
benefit plan,” as such term s defined In section 3(3) of the Employes Retirement Income
Sceurity Act of 1974, xs amended ("ERISA"), that s subject to Part £ of Title 1 of ERISA
('EE!SA.P.Im_;}: or (i) any "plan® that is deseribed a section 4975¢8)(1) of the Code {"Tax-

¢} irshall pot cause or peanit: (7) any right or title o, or any jnterest ia,
the Mortgaged Property to become plan asscls of any ERISA Plan or any Tax-Favored Plan;
and (1) the satisfactlon of any of the Indebredness by any ERISA Plan or any Tux-Favored
Plan (or any assets thereof);

() without limlting the generality of Sections 2,17¢7) and.2.17()} bereof, i
will not scli, convey, or transfer by interest In the Mongaged Property or any past thereof o
a person or entlty which could not or will not satlsfy the underukings of this Section 2.30
regaedicas of whether any of the above arise by operation of faw o otherwize;

’ &) cotwithstanding anything contained In this Mongage to the contrary, b
shall sot enter into any direet Jease with any tesant whiclis (1) an ERISA Plan of (If) a Tax-
Favored Plan;

() itahall, upon the request of Mortgages and st Morizagor's sole cost
and expense, cooperate with Mortgagee in secklng any opinions, rulings or exemplions which

30
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{ Moctgagee, in s discretion, may desm necessary of apgropriate for purposes af avolding
. tiahility for probibited trosactions described in section 406 of ERISA or section 4975(c) of
the Code:

R : () If Mongages requests verification tha Mongager &s in compliance with
i the requirements of this Section 2,30, Mortgagor sball furnish sich verification W Mongagee
N In writing within thirty 30) days following the date of such request andfor shall advise in
L8 whatmpectormmwitkmtinmmplhm.uﬂﬂatanyﬁm.mwbmmsawm
e af a faihure to comply with is obligatians under thls Section 2.30, i shall prompily advise.
.,' Morgages in wrlting, with all relevant demuils;

o .

(3] notwithstanding any other provision of thls Manigage, 1 the event that
kG Mmmwmﬂumymmsﬂ.mwy.mmfuwlmumusdl.m.muh
W mmmmmdm(ummmmvmammm.mn
. Mmga;msb:ﬂ.lnaddkhnual!righumdrcmcdiuhmyhv:uhw.inequitymdlor
-9 uﬂaﬁkMM&bemﬁdeﬂwadwmmudumuﬂnmmmmmm
L e mansfer and Mortgagoe shall pot plead in defense thereof that there would be

convcyance
an adequate remedy 2t iw (i belng hereby expressly acknolodged and agreed thut damages
at aw would be an i:ukqm:remdyfntbruchord;mhmdbmchofﬂxmvishmor

this Section L.30); and

. @  fwill indemnify Monigages against, and hold Mottgagee barmless
* from, any damages, lhabilldes, jodgments, Tosses andfor costs (tacluding, without limiltion,
reasomble attornzys’ fees) incurfed as a result of Mongagoe®s breach of any of the
represeatations, warrantizs or coverants contained in this Section 230,

. 231, Key Man Lifc fasuranes Poticy, Throughout the term of the Loan, Mortgagar
shal! mainain or shall caure Goaranter to maintain 2 key man life insurance policy having a

Face value of $10,000,000, which life insurance policy shall be collaterally assigned 1o
Mortgzges pursuant to the Assignment of Life insurnnce Palicy as Collateral of even dakc
berewlth executed by Guarantor jn favor of Mortgages (e *) ")
The face valye of suth key man ife insurapce policy way be reduced by 51,000,000 -
fatervals as and when the Principal Sum stali be so reduckd predicsted wpon seiual
repayments of the Loan. .

ARTJCLE THREE
- DEFAULTS

3.01. EventofDefault: The term *Eveat of Default,” wherever tsed in tis
. Mortgage, shall mean the occarvence of any ont of more of the following cvents:

AL @)  failure by Mongagoc 1o pay (i) any payment of interest or principal

44 whcnducnndﬂtbcmm:ucbdcﬁultshllmnﬁmefwapuiodorfwcﬁ)d:ﬁ:(ﬁ)tk
ouunding Principal Sum of the Note, topother with interest acorued mﬁwn.ungamttty
(withoot the benefit of any grace period); {ill) any deposits foc taxes and zssessmertt o
mmmumm.mmwmnmnmrwawomn

i) - (5) dxys; o (iv) any paymet gf-any other sums #a be paid when duc by Mortgegor
¥ huwndct.nndcrﬂwNot:otnnder:nyunhcodutmnDomnuandmdsd:faulldnll
[N contimic for & period of five (5) days;

jo Hhg .

if{i:-» . ()  if there shall oceur a default in the due obzervance or pesformance of

b

wmwmwabmmmeorhumndé.mdwﬂnmnrwyofwe

ik odmmnbmwu(mherﬂunmmofmnq)mdm:hddmluhﬂlnotbecmblc
Y~ in whﬂwemwpuhd:hllbuppthble.orlfmablcﬂulimminncfuuperiodol‘
2 ' m(lO)dmmmmmhumﬁmMm&mMmzmmm.m
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il such default is curablz, but requites work 18 be performed, a¢ts 1o be done of conditions [
be remedied which hbymekmmmm:mublybcpufomed.domwnmcdm.u
the case may be, within such ten (10) day period k shalf pot bs an Event of Default
bereunder il Morigagor shall commence a cara of such defaylt within such tea {10) day
period and shall thereafier diligently and contipiously process the same to completion;
proyided funher, however, hmmmﬂuﬂ:u:hhuepaiodauwdon:huzﬂrrdmnty
(120).days):

(¢} i any reprecenmation of warranty made by Morttgagor heseunder, or by
Guaranior under any of the Guarastics or In any siaiement, instrument o certificars delivered
by MmgagnrorGummtnMonmeepmwmmcprmm hereof, or under the
Note oc any other of the other Loan Documenss shall be determined by Morizages 1o have
been false or misleading in any materisd respect}

{9} Mongagor oc Guarantoe shall file, o there shall be fifad agaiast such
party, a petition oc amwer sceking any reorganization, armnzement contpasition,
readjisaent, liguidation, dissolution ot similar rellef under the hazkauptcy Lews of the
Uxited States, under any other applicable Fedennl, statz or other struts o7 law (heretnafter
collectively or individually meferred w as “Iniolveney Procesdings™), or a recelver, trystes of
liquidztor shall have been appointed With respect so any such party, for 2l or any gubstarlal
past of such party's property. Notwlthstanding, the pravisioos of tis subseetion shall mot be
applicable to any irvoluntary Insolvency Proceedings which shall be dismiszed within sixty
(60) days of the lazer of (i) its commencerent, e (i%) service of such process or aotice of
upon such pariy, as is required by law 10 cbnin persomal jurisdiction over it

{e} i Mongagor commiu, or omits 1 do, any ae1, oc any event oceurs 25
a result of which any obligation of Morigagor 1o Mortgagee is declared Immediately due and
payable by the holder thereaf;

) the enmy by any court of Jast tezort of & decision that 31 und
by Mortzagor as hereln provided 1o pay taxes, assessments, levies, Tabiliter, cbiizations end
s legally inoperative or cannot be enforced, of In the evert of the passage of
any law changing in any way or respect the Iaws saw In force for the twaation of mortgages
or debts secured thereby for any purposs, or the mammer of collection of any such taxes, 30
as to affect adversely this Mortgage or the Indebtedness or other sums secured herehy,
provided, however, that if, in the opinion of Mortgaget's counsel, it shall be Jawfc! for
" Morigagor to pay such baxes, sscssments of ehurpes, of 10 reimburse Mongagee therefor,
then this substction (g) shall not consiftue an Event of Defaull if Morgagor pays such baxes,
asscssments o¢ charges or reimburset Mortgagee therefor withln fifieen (15} days afier
written request by Mortgapee;

@  if Mongagor or Guarator veluntreily suspends the transaction of
business, or there ks an siachment, execution of other Judiclal sefrare of any maierhal portdon
of the assets of Monigagor or Guarantors and such scizure ks noc discharged within thiny (30)
days; .

(B) il st zny dow this Mortgage docs not constitute a valid fin {lan fox the
Indchtedness oa all of the Morgaged Property, subject only to the Permitied Encumbiunces,
and such defaull i ot cured within fificen {15} days after notice from Mortgagee:

@ i Morgagor or Guzrantoc shall fn Mortgages's rexsonable judgmen,
become imolvent or i€ in Mongagee's reasomable Judgment there shall hsve oceurred »

tmaterial adverse change in the xssets, Hahikies of fmnchl positian of Mottgagor o
Guaranor;

e
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M i Mortgagor shall voluntarily dissolve or imvoluntarily dissolve by
operatian of taw and not be teconstitued within thisty (30) days thereafier or shall cease to

[ exist in good standing in the jurisdictlon under which it is organtzed cxisting andfor

E operating:

24 () if Mortgagor shall seit, tramsfer, assi

£, ' assiga, coavey, pledge, montgage,
xr‘::- [urther encumber, refimance, alienate, hypothecats, kase or pract a security intorest In all or
o8- any part of the Mongaged Propenty, amy Membership Agreement {or the Membership
-l Depesits and dues payable thercunder) or any lease (or any rents payable under any fease) o

if there shall occur any other default oc vialulon under Sections 2,17 or 2.25 berenf, without
the prior written approval of Mortgagee in cach instance;

M  if any (ival, vaappeatable and yninsured money judgment or judgments
in the aggregate sur of $100,000 or more sball be rendered against Mortgegor or in the
aggregate sum of $2,000,000 or moce sinli be rendered ageinst Guatantor, o any writ or
warraot of atachment or similzr process shall be answered or filed agzinst Mortgagor or
Guaranior or any of their respective astets and such fudgment, welt, warrant or process shalf
semain unsatishied, nasettfed, unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of thirly (30)
days or iz any event fater than five days prior sa the date of any propased sate thercundet:

g
o

R
afa b, LT AL

e
i

{m) if there shall be filed of record any wotice limking the maximum
principal amount that may be advanced under this Morigage pursuan to
Section 697,04(1}(b), Florida Satates, oc any successor starute, unless Mortgagee shall have
consented {0 same, In writing;

otk

£
sl
£

(n)  if there shall occur and be continutng (beyood any applicable grace o
cunative preriod) a default under the Note or any of the other Loan Documnents; or

(o) adehault under, or any 2tempted withdrawal, cancellation or disclaimer

h"ﬁ@ .
:):*1;'-:11.. i
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LR
-
v

< of lizbitity under, any guarzoty or indemnkty given by Guasantor to Mortgages (including,
H without limintion, the Guaranties) or under any agreement giviog scenrlty for any such
.y puaranty;
ﬁtg_, @  fallure to keep the Life Jnsuranee Assizagwent i full foree and effect:
[N (@ i clther of (i) the occupational license for the Club o (i) the zoning
Bl for the Mongaged Property petmitting the operation of the Club shall be revoked;
b
0y (0 adefauk under Scction 2.17(c) hereaf; or
_.“:::: (s}  if the vse of the Clud shall revert 1o a private single family residence,
g
2
i REMEDIES
. fg‘ - 401, Accolerstion of Matwrity. If an Event of Default ahult have occurred,
= Mortgagee muy declare the outstanding principal amount of the Notz and the interest accrued
K thereon, and all other Indchiedness secured herehy, to be due and payable immediately, 2cd
Ry upon such declaration such principal and interest and other sums sha!l immediately become
. and be due and payable without demand or notice, .
e .
i 4.02, Moreares’s Power of Enforcement. 1f an Event of Default shall have
k‘.:é occurred, Mortgagee may, elther with o without eatty or taking possession as hereinabove
ﬁt} provided or atherwise, and withoot regard to whether or not the {ndebtedness and other sums
£ -
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secured bereby shall be duc and without prejudice 1o the fight of Morigages thereafier to
bting an detiot of foccclosure oc any other activa for any default existing at the tme such
uﬂiu-a:dmmmmmoed.pmdbywlpmimmbaorpmcwdhu () 1o
enforce payment of the Note or the performance of any term hereof or any other Hght (b) w
rmedmmkaxagezndmsdl.umcmhﬁyorinmmnm«pamh.ﬂ\c
Mortgaged Property under the power of sale hercimifter pravided of the judgment or decree
of a court of courts of competent Jurisdiction; and (c) W cumulatively pursue any other
xemdynoworharuﬁamihhlemkund:ranyboanbowmcm.in:qui:y.uhw.by
vimié of satute or otherwise, Mortpagee shall tke action cither by such procecdings o by
mncxc:ciscoﬂupcmvﬁthmpmwcmorukln;pmimorbmh.uMon;qee
may determing,

()  Ifan Evect of Defaulg shall bave occurred, (i) Morgegor vpon demand
of Mortgagee, shall forthwith surrender to Morgagee the actusl postession of, and i and to
the extent permdeed by law, Mortpagee-ielf, or by such officers oc agenis as k euy
appoist, may enter and take possession of afl the Mongzaged Property and may esclude
Morgagor and ks ageety and employees wholly therefrom and bave Jolw scoess with
Mortgagor ta the books, papers and accounts of Morgagor; and (1) Morgegor wiil pay
moathly ln advance 1o Marigagee, on Mortgagee's enrry ino possession, of to aoy receiver
appoloted to collect the rents, income and other beoefits of the Mongaged Property, the fale
and reasomable tental value for the e and occupation of such part of tbe Mertgaged
Property as may be in parsession of Moryagor, 1nd upan defanlt In any yuch paymest will
vacate and susrender passetalon of such part of the Morigaged Property 10 Mongazee or to
such recefver and, in default twreof, Morigagor may be evicted by summary proceedings o
otherwise.

®) I Morigagor shall for any reason fadl to surcender or deliver the
Mongaged Froperly of any pan thereof after Morigagec’s demand, Mortzagee may seek to
obtain 2 judgment or decres conferting on Morigages the right (o immediate posseasion or
requiring Mongagor to deliver Immediste patsexsion of all or any part of the Morigaged
Property ta Mongagee. Mongager shall pay to Mosntgagee, upon demand, all costs and
expenses of obalning such judgment or decree and eczsonable compennation to Morgages,
its averneys and agents, and all such costs, expenses and eompensation shall, uniil paid, be
secuted by the licn of bis Mongage.

{c)  Upoa every xuch entering upon or tking of pessersion, Mottzages may
hold, store, use, operaie, manage and cootrol the Morgsped Property and conduct the
business thereof, and, from time o tirne:

(I} make 2)) necessary and proger mainienance, tepairs, renewals,
- replacements. additions, bauerments and improvements thereta end thereon and
purchace of otherwite acquire sdditiona! fixtores, persons] and other morigaged
propenty;

G insure oc keep the Mongaged Propesty insured;

(i) manage, eptrate and bease the Morigaged Property and exercize
nlllhcrlzhlsmdpwmomemwhmmwomcmisumhmmmme
same;

. {v) enter into agreemenss with others to excrcise the powers herein
grmdemu.aﬂuMmmﬁnmdmmﬁmmyddmﬂnqmd
Mortgages may collect and recelve all the reats, income and other benefits thereof,
including those past due us well ac thase accruing thereafler; and shall apply the
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manies so received by Morigagee in such manner and order of priotity a5 Mongapes
may determing, in its sole and wrbitrary discredlon, to (1) the payment of interest,
principal, and other payments due and payable under the New, this Montgage and/or
any other Loan Document, (2} the deposits for taxes and assetsmentt and insurance
premiums due, {3) the cont of imurance, taxes, assessments and other proper charges
aupor the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof; and (4) the reasorable
compeasation, cxpenses and disbursements of the agenls, atiorneys and other
representatives of Mortgagee.

Mongagee shall surrender possession of the Moctgaged Property o Mortgagor only
whep &l that is due upon such imerest, principal, and 2] other outstanding Indebtedness, tax
and insurance deposits, and all other amounts due under any of the terms of tiis Morrgage
andfor amy other Loass Document, shall have been paid and all defaults made good, The
‘same right of taldng possessiont however, shall exbst i any subsequent Evest of Default shall
occur and be contimibog.

4,04, Lepses. Mongages is suthorized o foreelose this Momgage subject 1o the
rights of any tenarits of the Mongaged Progerty or mxy ¢lect which wecams Morigagee
desires 1S pame as parties defeodant in soch foreclosure and the falhire 0 make any such
teoants partles defendant to any such foreclozure procecdings and W foreclose their rights
will mx be, nor be assereed by Mongagor to be, a defense to any proceedings mstituted by
Morigagee to collect the sums secured hereby of to coliect any deficiency remainlng unpald
afier the foreclonwe salc of the Monigaged Property.

4.05. Purchass by Moneages. Upan any such forcclosure sale, Motigapee may bid
for and purchase the Mortgaged Property and, upon compliance with the teoms of sle, may
hold, retaln and possess and dispose of such property in s own sbsolute eight without
further accountabllicy.

4.06. Application of Jadcbiedness Towind Purchase Prics. Upon any such
forcclosure sale, Morgages inay, if parmitied by law, and afier allowing for costs and
expenses of the sale, compensation and other charges, in paylng the purchase price, apply
=oy poction of or 8l of the Jndetiedoess and other sums due 1 Mottgages under the Nete,
thls Mortgage oc any of Whe other Loan Documents, in lizg of cash, 1o the amount which
shall, upoa distibution of the net procesds of such sale, be payable thereen,

[ ¥y d. Il 4] o
Mortgagor agrees o the full extent permitied by lawr tiat In cxse of a default on jis
herevnder, peither Montgzgor nor anyone clalming through or onder # shall or will g2t up,
clalm of seek to ke advantage of any appraliement, valuation, sy, or extension laws naw
or hereafter in force, In arder 1o preveat o hinder the enforcement or foreclorure of this
Mongage or the sbsolute rale of the Mongaged Property or the fin) and sbsolute putting
into poxsession tiereof, immediately after such sale, of the purchasers thereat, and
Morigagor, for itself and all who may at any time clalm through of under it, herehy waives,
to the fill exteot that it may hiwfully 10 do, the benefit of all soch {xws, wnd 2oy and all
right to fave the asyets comprising the Mongaged Property masshatled tpon any foreclosuse
of the lien hereof and agrees that Mortgages or any court havirg Jurlsdiction o foreclose
such lfen may xell the Morigaged Property in part or as an entirety,

4,08, Reesiver. I an Event of Default shall have ocotrred, Mongages, without
segard o the vaive, adequacy or ccoupancy of the secarity for the Indebedness and other
sums secured heeehy, shall be eatited a3-a matier of right if It so clects so the appolniment of
2 recciver 10 enter upon rnd take possession of the Mortgaged Proparty and to collect all
rents, income and other bepefits thereaf and apply the same 2x the court may direct, The
expenses, including receiver's fees, attorney's foes, costs and agent’s compensation, incurred
pursuant to the powers hereln contained shall be secured by this Morigaze. The tight to
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emawdulccpossmioufandwmmgeandopemunh&mmedhnpaqandn
wmmm.mmmuﬂummwam«m.MI
bcmmuhﬁnmuyowﬁzht«mﬂwdyhmuuderuralfmdedbthudmybe
uuchedwmnmdyduwiﬂmrwcpmdcndy thereof, Mongages siiall be hable 1o
account only for such rents, incame and other benefits acunally recelved by Mongagee,
whethes received pursuant 10 this Section 4.08 of Section 4,01 hereof, Notwidstanding the
appolntment of 2ny secxives or other cusiodias, Mortgages shall be entitled as pledpen 10 the
possm!onaudmnn'olo!auyash.dcpostuorimn'umeauulbcﬂmcbddby.nrmyabkor
deliverable voder the trms of this Mortgage %, Mortgagee.

4.09. Syits to Prorect the Morteaged Progerty, Mortgages shall kave dhe power and
audnirywinsﬁmt:mdmﬁua!nmymlsmdpmwcdlnpnumumym
advisabla (a) to prevent any impainment of the Morgaged Propesty by any tcts which may
beunlawﬁﬂurluyviohﬁono{'lhhumgue. (b) Lo preascrve o¢ proteet b Intetest {n the
Mofgaged Property, md(c)tnm:lnlhun!mwnemdnrmmplhnm‘wld:w
k;bbxbnundugwmmcmmmu.mlcuudamamybwmmiwﬂonﬂw
otherwise invalid, Uthcmfmmof«muplhmmmnbmmmkwwdu
wight Bmpalr the icqurity hereunder or be prejudicial to Mortgages's inerest, .

4.10, Proofs of Chim. In the cxce of any veczivership, insotvency, bankruptcy,
reorganintion, amangement, adjustment, compositlon of ather Judici! proceedingy affecting
Montgagor, or any co-maker or endorser of any of Morgagor's obllgations, i credhiors or
its property, Morgagee, ta the extent pennined by Jaw, shall be endiled (o (il suth pronls
of clzlm and other docutents a3 may be pecessary or advlsble in order to Bave ks clalm
allowed In such proceedings for the eatire amount due and payable by Martgrzor under the
Note, this Mottgage and any of the other Lean Documents, st the dite aof the institwtion of
such proceedings, and for any additional amounts which may become due and payatie by
Mongagor after snch date, .

4.1. Apufication of Monizs by Mortzaeee.

() If vpon acocleration of the Indebtedness xs pravided Ia Seetion 4.01

-hueume«Mfl!l to pay the sune forthwith vpon such demtand, Mortgages shall be

entitled, 1o soe for and to recover judgment against Mortgazor for the whale amount o due
and unpald together with conts and cxpenses, incloding without iimitten the reacombile
compensation, expenses and disburzement of Mortgagee's agents, anorneys and other
representatives, cither befoce, after or during the pendency of any procoedings for the
enforceinent of this Moctgage; and 1he right of Merigugee t recover such Judgrment shatl
mbe:ﬂmndbymynkﬁz;pouwinuwfwxlmsﬂehuwm.uby the exerchse of
any other right, power or remedy for the exforcement of the topms of thls Mortgage, oc the
foreclosure of the Hen bereof,

® Incscofa foreclosure sale of il or any purt of the Moctzaged
P:ngeruandormcnpplhﬁmurm:pmd:afmcmﬂwmmnrmewmmmd
herehy, Mortgagee stall be entitled to enfocce payment from Mortgagor of al] kmounts then
duc and unpakd and to recover judgment agatnat Mottzagor for any portion thereof
rewaining wnpald, with Interest.

this Mortgage upoa the Mortgapod Froperty oc any part ditreof or any fien, rights, powers
or remedies of Mongagee hereunder, but such Jien, tights, pawers and remedies shall
contlnes unimpaired as before,
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(€}  Any morkes collected or reecived by Mortgzges under this Section 4,11
shall be applied 1o the payment of the [ndebtzdoess and alf other amounts due aed urpald
under the Note, this Mongage and all other imsmumenss securing the Note, in such manner
and order of priority as Is set forth in the Note, this Mortgage and the other Loan

.

(c) ‘The provisions of this Secticn 4.11 shall not be deemed to Jimk or
olherwise modify the provisions of the Note or the Indebtedness evidenced by the Nz,

4.12, Delay.or Omission No Waiver, Ma delay o omission of Morgages or of any
holder of the Notz to exercise any right, power or remedy accrbicg vpoq any Event of =
Default shall extamt or impalr any such sight, power of remedy or shaf] be construed w
waive any such Event of Default or to constinuid acquiescence thereln, Every right, power
and remedy given to Mortgages may be excreised from time to time and as ofica a3 may be

deemed expedient by Mortyages,

4,13, NoWaler of Qo Defiult o Affect Another. No waiver of any Event of
Wmmmmhmnﬁmmmbg@cg«mmmuﬁwmllm
existing, or fopalr any vight, pawers of Temodics conséquent thereon, I Maripagee (a)
grants focbearance or an extension of time for the payment of avy sums secuied hereby; ()
takes othes or additional security for the payment thereol; {c) waives or does not exercise
any right granied in'the Note, this Marigege o any other incstrument secering the Note (d)
releases any part of the Mortgaged Property frota the Hen of thls Mortgage or any other
Instroroent securing' the Nates (¢) cootenis o the [ding of any map, plat or replat of the
Land; (F} consents (o the grantng of any eazement on the Land; or (5} makes or consents to
any agreement changing the tzrms of this Mortgage ar subordinating the Jien of any charge
hereol, no such act of omlission shall sddease, discharge, modify. change or affect the original
liability under the Note, this Morigage or any other Lozn Document or athetwite of
Morgages, or,any subsequent purchaser of the Mortgaged Property or any part thereo! of
any maker, co-signer, endorser or surcly. Except as otherwise expressly provided inan
ﬁwumqlmhmmumudwmmammmmmmhiwshﬂpmdwe
Morigagee from exerclsing any sight, power of privilege bérein granted or intended to be
granied in case of ay Event of Default then existing or of any subsequent Event of Defauli
nor, except as otherwise expressly provided In an isstrument of instruments exctuied by
Moctgages, shall the lien of this Mortgage be altered therehy, except to the extent of releases
xt descrived in subparagraph (d) above of this Section 4.13. In the evest of the sle or
teznsfes by operation of law of etherwhse of 3l or any pax of the Moageged Propenty,
Mortgagee, wiibout noties to aqy person, firm ot corporation, s bereby authorized and
cmpawered Ly deal with any such vendes o transferes with reference to the Morgaged
Propecty o the indebtedness secured hereby, or with reference to any of the terms or
conditions hereof, as filly and to the same extent as it tnight deal whh the orighmal partics
hereto and wibaw in any way releasing o discharging any of the Tabilities or undertakings
hereunder..

shall have procesded 1o coforcs any right or remedy under this Morigage by foceclosure,
cmuuhuwkczndm@pmdh:pshﬂhmbundb:pnﬂm«m{mw
season, of sach proceedings shal] bave reiuited fo's final determiination adverse o
Mortgages, then and i every sich case Mortgagor and Mortgagee shall be restored 1o theke
former positions and rights beretnder, and all tights, power and remedies of Morigages shall
continue a1 1 no such proceedigs had occuzred or had been taken, subject o the effect of
any judgment extered In such proceedings. :

4.15. Remedies Cumulative. Mo right, power or remedy confemed upon or reserved
to Mortgzgee by the Now, this Mongage or any ather Loan Document or instrumest
securing the Nots i exclusive of anry other right, power or remedy, bit each and every such
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right, power and femedy shall be comufative and concurrent and shall be in addition w0 any
other right, power and remedy given bereunder or under the Notz of any other Loan
Document of lastnument sccuring the Noce, of iow ot bereafter eafstlng at law, In equity or
by statute.

SRR e e ey,

4.16. Imcred After Event of Defyult. If an Event of Default shall have occurred, aff
sums cutstanding and unpaid under the Note and this Morgzge shall bear inzerest a1 the Post-
Default Raze as provided fa thy Note.

4.17. Righttg Rzlave, Mortpages atall times shalt kave wbe right v refezse any
pmon!memchmpwmorhemfurmvmdbymhhmumwmym

as seeurisy fot the Indebtedness in additlon to and exmulative of the lien and secutlty Interest
of this Tnstroment, Foreclosure beceunder shall consdiute foreclostre of the Subrogated
Liens,

) mwm;amhu«myluafwmmgmmorauwaymdm
R Indebiedness, without veleasing any other part of the Moryaged Property of other securly,
i, and without affecting the lien, assignment of rents and security lnterest of this Tnstrument as
"2 to the patt or party thereof not 20 redeased, .
1 i 4.18. lnbromation. Mocigages shall be subrogated 1o all rights, titfes, Ioterests,
’ * el Ucm.bcncﬁu.medlu.equmu.mpeﬁamlcmdmmyimnuu(mc'
R - Licps®) owned, claimed or beld as sceurity for any indebiedness o other obligation (the
- < "Ditcharged Obligations”) direcily or fodirectly sxtfsfled, discharged or pald with mooey o
RN : other property advanced by Moctgagee. Irmespective of any formal or Informal
o acknowledgement of pantha oc complete stisfaction o telease of the Discharged Otlipatioss,
: ;,{ 1he Subrogaied Liens shall be contimued, rentwed, extended, brought forward and fearrasged
{ .

T s
g5 MISCEYLANEOUS PROVISIONS
)
v al )
g 501, No Asswmption of Lisbilitizy, Mostgages in no Way ASSUMCS OF agtess 10 any
L. i Jabllity, oblignton or experse of Morgagor arising from or In connecilon with the
i iy Mortzaged Property, die Club or the Membership Agresments. By accepting this Mongage,
“o . Mmgzger.dounmmum:nouhllMonp;ubcdbcmedwh:v::nmncdanyonhc
¢ A obligations or Tabilides of Mongazor respecting any of the Membershlp Deposlts por shall -~
. Ry Morrgages grant oc be doemed to bave granted any subordination of non-distiebance

agreemenss with respect thereto,

5.0% Heirs, Sucreasors and Assiens Inclnded in Parties. Stbject to the teems and
conditions of this Mortgage, the Notz and the ather Loan Doctments restricting Morigagor's
¥ight 1o 22}, assipn, pledge, cocumber or In afty other manper transfer any Inkerest in juelf,
the Motigaged Property, of any of the Loan Documents, and withoot implylnx any right of
Mostgagor 3a to do, whenever one of ibe parties heretn & nxmed or referred 1o herela, the

=k heies, successors and asaigms of such party shall be Eacluded and all eovenxnss and
L agrecmerts coctalned In this Martgage, by of on bekalf of Mongager or Mortgagee shall
. Femid bind and knure to the bénefit of mhelr respective helrs, suecessors and assiges, whether so
- j‘ 5, expressed of pot
B 5.0, Nofices, Demands and Other Instrumenty.. Ay potice, demand, consent,
s -, authorizatian, remiest, approval of other communication given of required hereunder shatt
N . < contaln & clear and concixe staemen: of e puspoie of such potie and shall be effective and
Y . valid only If in writing, signed by the panty glving such notiee or bis suthorized counsel and
1353 {3) delivered in perso by a commercial mesienger service regulatly retalning receipts for
ACRREY'T.. such delivery, () sent by facsimbe transmission (provided the same b followed immediately
R '
BLY, "
'.h'
o “'i':. 18
A
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,; by 2n original hard efpy sent by one of the other means eaumerated herddn), (c) 2 sepotble
“= express.courier or delivery service for whom a receipt Is obtained, or (6) Lf mailed, sent by
":“ repistered or centified mall, postape prepaid, retum receint requested, addressed s follows:
A .
3N If o Mortgagees
i The Union Labor Lifc Insorance Company
- 111 Massachusatis Avenue, NW,
g Washington, D.C. 20001
t g Attention: Mr. Thoenas C. Pesking
R Factimile No.3 (202) 682-7932
{ with mandaloqy coples 103
«?’ ‘The Unlon Labor Life Insurance Company
N 111 Maszackuselts Avenue, LW,
& Washingtoa, D.C, 20001 .
3 Atientions James FM, MeNulty, Exq.
] Fadmils Nos (202) 6827992
* Wdl, Gotshal & Manges
. 701 Beickell Avenue, Sulte 2100
Miaml, Florida 33131 .

Atientioa: Bamy Frank, Esq.
Facsimile No,; (305) 3M4-T159

If to Mortgagor

The Trump Organization

725 Fifth Avenuc

New York, New Yok 10022
Atcition: Mr, Donald Teump
Facsimile No,: (212) 935-0141

with mandatory copics to:
The Trump Organization
725 Fifth Avenue
3 New York, New York, 10022 . .
Bl Attention: Allen Welsselbers
= Foctimile No.: (217) 9350141
R The Trump Osganiztion
s 725 Fifth Avenve
3 Now York, New York 10022
o Attention: Joseph Tabl, Exg.
e, . Facsimile No.s (212) 8269727
g Aﬂnnhmdmdnﬂbcmﬁdaed;ivmwﬂwd:mw&mddivucd{m‘w;l of delivery

)

o,
o,
]

Mmﬁm&ddimy}orlfuuﬂd,mﬂmdauddzpnﬁwfmmummamdby
the retum receipt with Tespect-to mxch notics reccived by the scader theseod, addressed to the
pﬁamhmmdnmmmfmm«wuymﬂmxsuuym
uy hercafier specify to the others by Jlke notice. -

5.04. Hoadines. The beadings of the Articles, Seetions, paragraphis and subdivisions
of this Mortpage are for coavenience of reference only, are pot fo be considered & part

nadts o\, b
RS

i3
et

e hereof, and shall not Hou o expand of otberwise affect any of the tems bereof.
o 5.05. Imlid Provisions to Affeet No Qtbers. Tn the event that any of the
_ covernils, agrecments, tows oF provisions contained i the Noie, or in this Mongage or in
L.
K )
N {u, AT ARBETTHITION LI R ATT. 10C

1
q

COHFENTIL  soomonn

3728a

a—y

AL n AR dmate S St Ak Ty kY



. e BeT H BeR

any other instrument securing the Note shall be invalid, Itegat or uneaforceable in any
respect, the validity of (be remaining coveaants, agreements, temms or provisions contained
herein o in the Note or in any other fnstrument securing the Notz shall be in s way
affected, prejudiced or disubed therehy.

5.05. Chanees, Eie. Nelther this Mortgage nor any term bereol may be changed,
waived, dizcharged or teminated ocdly, or by my action or inaction, but only by an
Instrument in wﬁﬂngﬂmcdhyutmuﬁnnwmchufmdmmmm,
discharge oc termination Is soupht. Any agrerment hereafier made by Moctgagor and
Mmmceumin:wthal&mpzcs!nﬂbtwmwmenﬂﬂsorﬂnhﬂdaﬂmy
intcpveaing Yien or encumbrance,

5.07. Govemning Law, Tﬁzummgcﬂnnhcgwmedhymdmudin
accordance with the Taws of the State of Flocda,

5.08. Required Notices, Mortgagor shall notify Morigagee promptly of the
oceurrerke of any of the following: (a) receipt of notice from any Govemmental Authotity
relating to the Mortgaged Property; of: (b) commencement of any judiclal or administrative
proceedings by or againy or otherwisc affecting Morigagor or the Modgaged Propesty, of
;&:M;uion by any creditor thereof as & multol‘gnyggfzull_gndatheml of sy

5.09, Fulpre Advzrces. This Morigage secures such future or additions] advances
(in addidon to the principal amount of the Note) ax may be made by Mostgagee or the hiolder
heroof, at It exclusive option, to Moddgagor or {ls successars oc assigns in title, foc any
purposz, provided that all such advances are smade within twenty (20) years from the date of
this Mortgage or withia soch lesser period of time as may be provided by law aza

isite for the sulficioney of actual notice or record notice of such opticaal future of
additiona] advances as against the sights of creditors or subsequent purchesers for valuable
consideration to the same cxtent a3 if such future or additional advances were made on the
date of the execution of this Mertgape, The tola] amount of indebiedness seeured by this
Mortgage may be increased or decreased from ime to time, but the fotal wvipeid balance so
secured at any one lime shall not excecd the maximum peincipal amount of 520,000,000 plus
interest thereon and any dishursements made under this Mortgage mads for the payment of
Impoziticas, tixes, asscssments, Tevies, fnsurance, or olherwise with interest on such
dishbursements, ILis the intent of the partdes that this Morigape skall secure the payment of
thnNmnmdanyadd‘banl:dnnmmdcfmmumcmﬁmpmmlumyﬁdmom!
prontissory notes of otherwhie conternplated under this Mortgage, all of 52id indebledness
being cqually socured hereby snd having the same priorily 23 2ny smounis advanced x5 of the
date of this Mostgage. 1t Is agreed that any additional sum oc sums advanced by Mosigagee
shall be equally secured with, and have the same paiority as, the oripinal Indebtedness and
shall be subject to a1l of the terms, peovisions and conditions of this Mortgage, whether or
pot such additionat Joans or advances are evidenced by cther promissory notes of Morizagor
and whether or not jdentified by a recital that it o they are tecured by this Mortgape, Itis
further agreed that any additfonal prowissory note or promissony noles cxecuted and
delivered prrsuant to this Sectioa 5.09 shall sutomatically be deemed 10 be Included In the
term *Note® wherever it appears in the costext of this Mortgage.

5.10. Coverant Running with Tand. During the term of this Moegage and tntil 8l
amounts secured hereby are paid In ful, all of the covenants and agreements of Movtgagor in
this Mostzage are decmed 0 be and are covenants which touch, concermn, and run with the
Land; and it is the expressed intent of-Mortgzzor and Mottgagee that any suceessor of astizn
of Mortgapor oc any person who acquires tiic ko the Montgaged Property stall be bound by
mchmmnﬂwmuuﬂmd:mhadmwmuuﬂw
directly with Mortzagee,

5.11. Afier Aoyired Property. Al right, Gile, and interest of Morigagor in and to
alf extcasions, inprovements, ls.m\cwals substitutions, and replacements of, and
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all additions and appurtemances w the Mortgaged Propeny, hereafter atqoired by, of
conveyed o, Moftgagor or coastrucied, assembled, or placed by Mongagor upen the Land,
and all conversions of the zecurity constituted thereby, immediately vpon such zequisiion,
conveyanes, construction, assembllog, placement, of conversion, as the case may be, and in
esch such case, without any Furthey movigape, conveyance, assignment, or other act by
Mortgagor, shall become subjoct to the llen of this Mortgage as fully and completely, and
with the same effect, a¢ though now owned by Mongagor and specifically desciibed in the
granting clause of this Martgage, but at any and all times Moingagor will exccute and deliver
1o Moctgzges any and sll such further assurances, morigages, conveyances, of assignments
thereof, as Mortgages may peasambly require for the purpose of expressly and specifically
subjecting the sume (o the licn of this Morigage.

5.12. Timcof the Exenoe. Time is bereby declared to be of the exsence of this
Moctgage and of every part beeeof,

513, Relemte. Morigzgor acknowledges that & executed this Mortgage and each of
the Loxn.Docurments as its awn voluatary act fres from duress and undue influence,
Mortgagor hereby relesses Mocgages and ks cenployees and agents from any claims that it
aay have against Mostgagee, fts cmployees oc ks agents for the ac of ahy of the foregoing
partizs in the negotiation of the Loan,

'5.14. Recelot of Moptes. ‘The recelpt by Mortgagee of any sum of moncy pursuant
to thEs Morlgage with knowledge of the breach of any term, cavemum of provision of this
Mortgage shali not bt dectmed a walver of such breach, No provision of this Morgage shall
be desmed 10 have been walved by Morigages unless such waiver shall be 1o writing and
sipned by a duly autharized officer of Monigagee. No fayment by Morigagocs or teceipt by
Mongagee of 3 lester amount of any sum of money hesein stipulated shall be deemed to be
ather than on aceonnt of the next due payment under the Note or this Mongage: nor shatl
any endorsement o sarement on any check, or any letier accompanying any check, be
deamed an accard and satisfaction; and Moctgapes may accept such payment of check
without prejudics to Mortgagee's right to recaver the balance of any payment of other
rmonies under this Mongage or pursuc any of the remedies io this Mortgage or the Lozt
Pocuments.

5.15. Survival of Provistons. AN covenants, agrecntents, tepresentations and
warranties, made in this Motigage and the documents delivered in support of the Loan shall
be deemed o have been materka] and relied on by Morigages and Mortgagor and shall
supvive Lhe execution snd delivery to Morggagee of the Note, the Losn Documents and the
dishursement and advanre of funds purssant to the Loan.

516, Ezhibits. Al of the schedules and exhibits annexed hesetp are fncorporated
herein by reference and fonm a part of this Mongage,

§.17. Saturdav, Sundav or Non-Business Day. IF the date for the performance of
any trm, proviskoa er condition {monetiry or ctherwise) under the Note or this Morigage
shall happen to £l on a Saturday, Sunday of non-Business Day, the datz for the performance
of such term, provision or condition shall be extended to the next suocceding Business Day
immediately thereaficr occurring, with interest 2t the raie provided fo the Note on the
outstanding prineipal balance er other monetary payment ty such next succeeding business
day if such term, provision or conditlon shall result In the exsension of any monetary
payment duz 1o Morigages.

513, Ciplolized Terms. Capltalized topmns wed i this Morigage and not edserwise
defined berein shall bave the respectlve meanings 2ssigoed 10 such terms In the Note,

4l
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5.19. Egecuien by Parsies. Al persons exectuing this Morgage in a representative
cameity, acknowledge, warrant and reprezers that he is an official representative of the fim
orempomloniuwhoumhekmmzdemmcmddmhcpmfnﬂm
oomplw:aulhonrymbindnldfmoroupommwlhcfullmdﬁwpafmdm
conditions, terms, provisions, covemuns, wartantics and representations as contaloed in this
Moctgage,

5.20. lzzofthe Word “Herejn”, The words "berein®, “hereof”, “hereunder” and
other words of simitar import refer %o this Mortgage 23 3 whok and not to zny particular
arlicls, Section or ol sbdivision of this Moctgage unless specifically noied ciberwlhis in
this Morgage.

3.21, Eyldercs of Satisfacsion.of Condltfors. Any lem.pmismormdkionor
this Monigage which requices the submission of evidence of the exisience pr conealsence of
a specified ot o facts implies 2s 3 condision the exinence ér son-existence, as the case may
be, of such fact or facts and Morgages shall, at il titmes, be free independently to establish
10 its rezsomable satisfaction such exbitrce or pon-existence,

P . .

5.22. Monks. All references 1o monies fa this Mongage, the Note or any ol ibe
Leat Documents, or the equivalent thereaf, shall be deemed to rean lawful monles of the
United States of America, .

5.13. No Parrpership or Joint Venmre,  Nothing berein noe the acts of the partics
hereio shall be deemed of constmied to ereate 3 partnership of Joint vennire between
Mortgagor and Mortgagee, .

5.24. Gepder. The uze of any gender shall include ol other genders, The singular
shall include the plucl and vice versa,

525, SamporTax. Should any stamp tax, intangible tax, or other Gax (excluding
income, franchise, gross recefpts or similar taxes with respect to Mortgagee), now or

. berzafitr become payable with respecs to this Montgage, the Note, or any of the documents

executed In connection herewith or thelr exceution or delivery, Morgagor will pay the ame
prior to the due date thereof and hold Mongages harmiess from the cost of same,

5.26. Asstonment of Loan Docyments. Mongagee may astgn this Mortgage, the
Hote xnd the ether Loan Documents executed jn connection with the Loan and all of its
rights bereunder and thereunder and 3l of the provisions of this Mortgage siall continue to
apply to the Loan, Mortgapes shall have the right to pasticipatz and syndicate the Loan with
ather fending fnstitotions, The rights of Mosgager under this Mortzage, the Noie and the
other Loan Documents are not assignable,

5.27, Rishi of Thind Panies. Mortgagee makes oo representations and ssdmes no
obllgations as to thind parties concerning the quality of the construction of the fmprovements
or the ahsence therefrom of any defects. In thls regard, Mortgagor sgrees to and shall
indemnity Mortgages Erom any lisbility, claim or knses resulting from the disboretnent of
&Nm:w&omtﬁsmadxﬁonof:heMmedepuvwbuhruhwdmmethqc{
caastruction of otherwise and whether arksing during or afier the term of the Note. ‘This
paragraph shall survive thie repayment of the Note and shall continue In full force and effect
so lony as the possibility of any Jability, claim or loss exksts.

5§28, Promationa] Materizl. TbeMongageemrismepfmzdm advertize-
m:mlndmhﬂpmmhmlmtﬂnkhmwhnwnhMmmusmbmiaw.
promotiona! wnd marketing activities, describing the Loan and the musters giving riss o the
Loan wlth the prior consent of the Mortgagor, which conseot shall not be noreazombly
withheld or defayed,

42
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529, No Agency. Mongagee I oot the agent or represenziive of Mongagor, and
kam@qmummmdemﬁdmminmkam
;hdlbemmwdwmzkeMmmlhhlcwlnymrorgoodsddimudumics
pﬁamdbydmw&Mmgdewfwd&uwcuimmimwm
apainst Mengagor. No&hghatinshdlbecomedwm:mmwalrcmmm
buwmumwudmonemlﬁn;hhorummhkw&eMmodhmy.

5.30. Conflics and Inconsistepcles. In the event of any confiics or inconsistencies
betwesn the terms of the Note and this Mongage, the terms of the Note shafl govern and
control.

531, Consentto Juricdiction. Mortgagor docs herehy inevocably and
uncoaditionally submit ta the jurksdicion of Lhe courts of the Sttz of Florlda 2nd does
W&mumwmwummummmmmmm
State of Flosida or the Circult Court of the State of Florida in and for Paltn Beach Counly,
mmmmmwhwmnmwmmmemmmm
umwmmdwm(MyNMMy)wn&hMmc,lheNm
andfor the Losn Doctmients,  Mortgagor docs bereby trrevocably amd uncondidonally sppolnt
Prul Rampell, Esq. (the "Process Arcit™) o rresive on’bebalf of Mortgagor servica of
capiucnbemmansmdoumplahunduymhcrproemup:pmwhld:mybem
manyzahnwpmmedingakiuaouto{orwmdwimﬁ:h Mortgage, the Notwe andfor
the Loan Documents, Mottgagoe does berehy Errevocably authorize: and diect the Process
Agcntmamqnmiwoniubcbﬂfaﬂdouhmbymeclhatﬂmljudgmemhmymion
oc proceedings shall be conclusive and may be enforced In any other jurisdiction by suit on
the judgment oc In any other manner provided by'law, Nothing in thls Morgage shall affect
:hnrlg!uorMmgagc:wbringanacﬂonorpmeccdingazalnst!-{onsagurwksprogerrylu
the courts of any other jurisdiction. Ta the extent that Mortgagor has of hercafier may
scquire zny bamunity from jurisdiction of any coust or from ang legal process (whesher
through serviee or notice, amachment prios 1o Judgment, atuchment in aid of execution,
cxecutlon o atherwise), with respect to the Mongagor's property, Mortgagor hereby
vncoaditonally and Trmevozably waives such imumunity {n respect of ks obligations undes this
Mongage, the Rote andfor the Loan Documents. The foregolog conscat, In advancs, to the
Juriadiction of the above-meatioped couts and the appointment of the Process Agent are
‘materka] induccments for MoTtgages to make the Loan and ezocpt this Morgage.

532, Awgmaric Sty. Ja consideration of the rechls and munnl covenants
contained bereln, zad for other good and valuable comsideration, Mortzagoe hereby wgress
that io the cvent thet Morgager shall () file iz any bankruptey court of competcit
Jurisdiction of be the subject of any voluntary o involuntary petition under tithe 11 of te
1.S. Code, as amended {"Hankyuptoy Cods™), (i) be the stbject of any onler of relief hsucd
under the Bankrupicy Code, (i) file or be the subject of any petidon zecking any
teorganization, OF aTangement, composition, readjusiment, liquidatien, diszolution, or
similar relicf undsr any present or futre federal or staic act or law relatiog to banknupicy,
insotvency, or ether relief for debuace, {iv) tave sought oc consented 1o oc acquicsced in the
appolntment of any, trustee of receiver, conservator, of Hiquidator, o (v) be the wbject of
any order, judgment, wmmwmmammwmmmwa

filed agatmt Mortgagor foc any arrangement, composition,

liquidation, dissolution o7 similar rellef under any present of fistore federal or
fnsalvency or telief for debtors, then, subject o court
approval, Morgages shall Meuponbccnﬁt!ed:ndmmpzorwcby krevocably consents
wm&f&mmmmmﬂcsuylmbmdbysmhnmufmawhnpmycm.«
cibewise, oa or agalnst the oxercice of the Hights of remedics otherwise available to
Mostgagee as provided in the Note, this Mortgage, and cther Loan Docyments, 304 a5
::Blthawb:pmided by law, and Mortgagor frrevocably walves fis right to cbject 10 such

Ief.
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533, Limittion of Lizhillty, Notwithstanding anythlog o the contrary contained ia
this Mongage or any other Loan Documents and except 25 otherwise exprestly provided
below, aeither Mortgagor nor any member, partner, officer, shareholder, diector o
employee of Morigagor nor 2ny Permiieed Transferen shall be persorafly fiable for either
(2) the repayment of any of the principal of, Interest on, of prepayment foes o fate charpes
and any other fums or payments, of other charges or fecs, or other amounts due of required
to be paid tnder any of the Loan Documents of due in connection with 152 Lo (af] such
sums are herelmafeer collectively qlled the “Lgan Dabt®) or (b) for any deficiency or other
Mgm:mwﬂchMmormyobuinb:fmor;ﬁ:faulmmofﬂkamsmana
default by Mortgagor o (c) for the performance of 2ny covenana or chllyations of
Mortgagor under any of the Loan Documents, provided, however, that neither Monigager,
any gencral paziner of Mostgagor nor any Permined Trantferes shall be exonersied or
exculpaied for any Joxs br damape suffered by Morgagee, and Morgegor, any genenal
parmer of Mongagor and any Permlttzd Tramsfecee shall be personally lisble foc any
1lability, Sos3, or damage (incinding, without mitzton, reasonable attorneys® fees, paralegal
fees and disharsernents and appellite anocneys” fees and disbursemsents)- () wising out of any
fraud, saterial mistepteseniation, miszpplication of ltsurance proeseds, condemeation
awards, Membershp Deposha o must funds In viclation of-applicable law or the provisions
of ihls Morigape; (U) asizing out of Mortgagor's fallure & comply with b provisions of ik
Mortgage pohibiting the 3ule oc further encumbering of the Moctgaged Property: {iil) arising
cat of the failure of Martgagor 1o 2pply proceeds of xnmeal membership dues and odher
Incoma of the collateral taward the costs of improvement, repair, minenance and operation
of the Mortgaged Propecty and to the payment of taxes, lien clalms, fnstrance premivms,
management fees and debi servios payable to Montgages pursvant (o this Mortgage o any
other Loan Document; (iv} arising out of Mortgagor's entering Into or modifylep
Membership Agreetneats b violation of the provisions of this Mortgage or the Asskenment:
(v) arising out of waste o the willfu] destructlon o the Mortgaped Propesty, Including the
electrieal, plumbing, heating o air conditiening systems of the Morigaged Propenty; (vi) for
the faie market valuc of any personalty er Gxtures removed from the Morigaged Property or
dispased of in violation of any provision of this Morigage ot any other Loan Document;
(vif) arising out of the receipt by Mongagor of monies i contection with a modification of
any existing or future M Apreement and not applied In (iii) above of the entering
into of 2 mw Membership Agreement in violation of die appliesble provisions of the Note,
this Morgage or the Assipnment; (viTi) incurred by Mortgages in connection with any claim,
demand, order, consent decres, scitfement, judgment or verdiet arlsing from the
“mznufacture, deposit, storage, diposal, burlal, dumplng, injocting, spilliog, laaking o other
placement or release In, on or about the Morigaged Property of atbestos or 2 harardous of
toxic waste, wayie product or substance s defined in 42 U.S.C, § 9601 (as heresfish
amended and any soccesor saniles theteto) of as defined in any other statute, fule or
regulation poverning such wastes, waste products or substances; (ix) resching from any
clalmi, actiors, proceedings or suits Initiated by Mortgagor {or sty party conpowered 1o act
on bebalf of Mattgagor) or any Peemitted Transferee alleging that the retatlonship of
Mortgagor and Mortgsges b that of jolnt venturers, partners, tenans in common, Joint
tenants of any selationship other (han that of debior and credlion (x) auy and 2l brokerage
commisslons or finder's foes due In connection with the Loan or sequitition of the
Mortgaged Property by Marigagor; or {x3) for the reazonable atiomeys; fees and other costs
and expenses incurred by Mortgages ax a tesult of any xetion described In ltems (i) through
{x} above 6 In conneetion with exforcing the Habitity of any obligor under this Section 5.31:
and provided, further, that the facegoing fmitations on Morigagor's personal Vabifiry with
respect to the Loan Debt and other obligations shall not (1) fropair the valldlty of the
Indebtedness secured by Mortgagee's collateral of the lien op or security interest x the
collateral, (2) constiwte u walver of 2oy cbligation evidenced by the Note or secured by any
other Loan Document, (3) release or impale the Nole or the licn of thls Mortgage of any
other Loan Document, {4) release, fmpalr or affeet o any way the vatidity or enforceailiey
of any guaranty o indemnity agreement givea to Morigagee in connection with the Joan
secured hegeby, or (5)limit the right of Mongagee as mortgagee or secored paty 0
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. ) EXHIBIT *B*

Anwork

1. MymmwmaﬂumﬁwbymnAstRMuW
. Whits Hore, with Attendants, oil on canves, 82 x 53 Inches

2. gnvmnumm-mmwﬂmdmw 1963, oil on canvas, 29-4 X 24

3. ORVILLE BULMAN ~ Lame Reoo, sigued, oll on canvas, 21-5/8 x 23-112 inches

4. ORVILLE BULMAN — Three Yadits Riding Thize Zebms znd Three Tigers, signed,
ol ou canvas, 29-304 x 29-1/2 inches ="

r
5. ORVILLE BULMAN ~ The Joli Fille, signed, ol oa canvas, 19-% x 21-'4 Inches
6. ORVILLE BULMAN ~Le Lampyre., sizned, oll on canvas, 184 x 21-1 Inches
7. ORVILLE BULMAY — Tha Lams Fepo, signed, oil on canvas, 19-% x 21-14 inches

2. ORVILLE BULMAN — Jhe *Ant I 20d *Petite JT, signed, oil on canvas, 19-% x
21-% Inches

9. ORVILLE BULMAN — The, *Botton de Ross®, sipned, oil on canvas, 19-% = 21-%
inches

10. ORVILLE BULMAN ~ The Bonnz Chasee?, sipned, oil on canvas, 19-14 x 21-%

11. ORVILLE BULMAN — fhx ‘Coape ¢°Eszal, signed, oit on cenvas, 21374 x 23-112
. inches
12, ORVHJ.EBUIMAN—M'_’EM:L signed, oil oo cavas, 3194% x 2144

13, ORVILLE BULMAN *La Barque dz Rof, signed, it on canvas, 2134 x 23-112
inches

14, ORVILLE BULMAN — Chez Modesie, sipoed and dated 1963, oll on canvas, 25%
x 2448 Inches

1S, CHARLES BASKERVILLE — Thres Indisn Daocers, signed, oil on.canvas, 35-5/8 x
29 Inches

16, FRENCH SCHOOL, 18th Century ~- Fortrait of an Elerant Lady. Scated o 8 Chalt,

pastc], 354 x 28 inches
17, DOYLY-JOHN ~ Alone the Cam, signed, oil on’'eanvas, 17-% x 25-% inches
18, A. DZIGURSEI — Surf at Sunriss, signed, oll on canvas, 23-%; x 36 inches
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19. DUTCH SCHOOL, 1%t Century — Naval Batle Scene, oif on canvas, 30-% x 38.%4
inches (restored)

0. DUTCH SCHOOL, 18th Century — Three Warshins Weishine Anchor, it on canvas,
30-% x 39 inches -

21. DUTCH SCHOOL, 18th Century -- Shipging in 2 Stommy S:a, oil on canvas, 30-% x
39 inchey .

22. DUTCH SCHOOL, 18tk Century ~ Shipping Under Clondy Skies, oil on canvar,
3044 x 39 inches

23, ITALIAN SCHOOL, 1¢th Ceatury — Ponrglt of Bonsdsio Saluzze Della Manta,
Dated 1750, ol on canvas, 54 x 40 inches

24, B, HALPERN ~ Partreait of Murjoria Memiwegther, sigrod, pastel on canvas, 23 x
1914 Incliey -

25. FRENCH SCHOOL, 18th Century — Ponraliof » Genlleman Wearing Armor and

Cmyat, ol on canvas, 28-% x 23-U5 inchet

6. Style of RICHARD COSWAY ~ Porirait of Mrs, Hutten, ofl on canvas, 29-% x
24-% inches

7. Manner of BORGOGNONE ~ Exfensivg Baifc Scenes, a palr, oil on canvas, each
approximately 13 x 46 inches

28. CAMBRIO — Meglterranean Scens, signed, ofl on canvas, 2344 x 35-% inches
29, ELLA M. BURKET ~ Jup with Flowers, signed, oil on cnvashoard, 19-% x 15-%
inches
30. MILDRED HAYWARD -~ White: Chrysapthemums In 3 Green Glasy Vase, sipned,
oil on canvas, 41-3(4 x 33-1/2 inches
31, MARY MACKERNON - Purp'c Flowers in a Vize, signed, pastcd, 24 x 17-% Inches
32. O, MONCAYO — Two Zehmy, signed, oif on canvas, 3-% x 4-% inches

33, MARYLOU WHITNEY — Ganlen Party, signed and dated *63, Gounche, pen and Ink
on board, 7x 11-% inches

3. MARYLOU WHITNEY — Just Fricnds, signed and dated 6%, Gouache, pen and ink
oq board, 7 x 11-% inches

35, GILLESPLS — Little Girl with Flower 20d Do, sipaed, ol on wood, 4-3/8 3 6-112
inches

36. Group of reproductions of watercolors — Including 1 Van Gegh painting and two
botanical printe. (9 in Jot)

31, Reproductions of two GOULD printy

.

LORFLE

3735a

TR 000001004



B BEY1 M BTFS

38. ¥. BARTALOZZI after HOLBEIN - Ponraits of Two Women, Twa stepple
enpravings in brown and anguine, publiched in 1798 and 1799, 174 x 12-%: Inches,
one badly creased

19, Lithographie reproduction of a german 15th-contary ainting — The Gienflemen's
Mh!ddowaoap:nﬁ.pdnwdwu‘.T-JM:?-Sﬂm -

40, DUTCH SCHOOL, 18k Century — Portrzit of a Scholar, off oa panel, 9 x 7 inches
41, DUTCH SCHOOL, 1#th Ceanmy ~ Porimit of 3 Schotar, oif on gandd, 9 x 7 inches
42. DUTCH SCHOOL, - Lady znd Two Men Seated in an Intorios, oil an pane], 1244 x

10-3/4 inches
43. CHINESE SCHOOL, 20th Century — Iupks n the Harburr, wateroolor on slik, 14-%
x 10-% inches D

:' *
24, Rq:mduuiunof.lvmmlur—mm
45, GUY GORRIERO - Enslish Coliage, signed, pastel, 13-% ¥ 19-14 Inches

" 46. GEORGE SETFERT ~ The Landine of Ponoe de Leon, signed, oil on canvas, 234 x
51 inches

47. D. B. WALCOTT — Poriait of 2 Genllemn in 2 Black Coat, signed and dated 1863,
oil on canvas, oval 26 x 21 Inches

48. ENGLISH SCHOOL, [7th ceatury ~ Podgit of 3 Gentlenren, oil on canvas, 48 x
36-14 inches

49, FRENCH SCHOOL, 18th Centuty
watercolor mounted in needlepoint mat, 3 x 3-34 aches

£0. ITALIAN SCHOOL, 18th Ceatury —
Warkmen and Lady with Flower Tray, oll oa canvas, 65 % 35 inches

51. DOYLY-JORN — Canal Sesne, signed, ofl on canvas, 25-4 2 174 fnches

$2. Manner of H. RIGAUD — Pontrzif_of rp Elrgant Lady whb Red Clesk, of) on cxnvas,
3T x 28-1% inches

S3, DOYLY-JOHN — Hustses by the Sca, signed, oll o canvas, 2304 x 17-% inches

4. EDWIN HARD WEEKS — Market In Grenada, signed and dated Grenada 1870, oll
oa canvas, M- x 59-Y; [nches -

5. Aler MIGNARD - Postralt of 2 Lady Wearioz Plue Fabric Shawd, oil oa caavas,
oval 25 x 18 inches

54, DUTCH SCHOOL, 17th mw—mﬂmmmﬁmww
Lace Collar, oll on canvas, 39 x 33 inches *

57. Reprodoctions of twd parts of a DAVID painting — photograpbic reproductions 0a
canvas, 10 x 8 inches )
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58, Style of BRONZINO -~ Porait of an Elsrant Yeune Woman, off o pandl

59. FRENCH SCHOOL ~ The Himt, ofl on panct

60. FERSIAN PAINTING - il j
cit., pen and Ink and colors on card, 4-3/4 x 334 bty

6l. R. BUCKNER, JR. — Portnalt of Emprest Eveenls jn Formal Whits Gown, aigacd,

oil on canvas Lid down en board, 50 x 39 Inches

62, RUSS CONN ~ Elorifz Secne, slgred, vatercolar, 12-3/4 x 28 inchey

63. EMILIO DE BLAAS ~ Man Seated by ¢ Waterway, Hpned and dated Elogda 1929,
watercolor, 13:!8:3!4[\:1:5 :

64, DOROTHY HENDERSON ~ Thres Topezns, signed, watercolor, 14-34 x 21-304

65. AMERICAN SCHOOL — Mar-A-f 270, marker pen, 1044 x 8 inches

66, DUNCAN ARRAN - 537l 1ife with Flowers in 2 Glyg, signed and dated 1971, oil

on canvasboard, 2344 x 19-%4 Inches
67. Group of three repraductions of paintings tn canvas — Utiillo and two Duich Masters
68, g;oup of 1ix seproductions of watercolors and paintings — Winstow Homer and E, Le
69. BUGENE BERMAN - Yelndus de Chapeus, slgned 2ud daiod 1939, vatereotor, 24-
;4 x 1974 Inches
70. PHIL BRINKMAN — two reproduciians of palatings of beach soenes
71, Tw reproductions of WINSLOW HOMER ~— waterealors

72. JOHN HAYMAN — Paris Strnes, set'ol 7, signed, pen and ik and watcreolor,
11-%% x 8% inches

73. CAPTAIN H, MULZAC — Harbor Scene, sllkeercen reprodoction

. BOSSO -~ Woman Walking Throuzh Arch, signed, watercolor, 18- x 124 fnckes
75, Reproduction of a DEGAS painting -

76. Reproductions of two GERARD palndngs

71. Reproductions of MONTE drawings — Drawings of Dancers

78. REPRODUCTIONS OF FOUR PAINTINGS -~ Two Utrilles and Two Duich, 174
Century on canvas N

9. SPANISE SCHOOL, 18th Century — Barigait of 2 Womnn, ol o casvas, length: 22

4

S
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on canvat, 37-14 x 43-172 inches
21, Reproduction of a MIGNARD palnting — Eleeant Seated Eady and Bladanioor

82, After TITIAN — La Belfz, Color mexzotint

10, Iezn Schet afier DEWINNE (1840) - Poniil nf 8.0, Leopoid I, ofl oa canvas,
17-5/8 x 14-112 inches

#. FRENCH smoor.. 18th Century (Style of BOUCHER) -~ Twn Youne Gardeners in
a Formal Gandener, il

8. Reproductioas of two palntings — by R, W, Watsoa

85, FRENCH SCHOOL, 18th Century — hmnhﬂ&mﬂnmﬂﬁkﬂdﬂu;ﬁmm
Bouguet, oil on canvas, 50 x 38 [nehes

§6, F, GILLAN — French Chuteh, ofl oa canvas .

" B7. Afier FRANK SALISBERRY — Pogril of Marorie Meriweather, mezeotint
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EXHIBIT “C*
Beomitted Encumbrances

General Taxes {or the yrar 1995 and subsequent years which are not yet due and
payable.

Easemenls as recordod in thase certain instruments recorded In Deed Book 109, at
Page 37, Deed Book 116, at Page 191 as conveyed in Deed Book §24, at Page 430,
Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida,

Eazements and Ressrvations as reserved in that centaln instruineat recorded In Officlat
Records Book 2342, xt Page 773, Publle Reconds of Palm Beach County, Florida,

Exstments as reserved in thoze eertaln instrements tooorded In Deed Book 959, at
Page 401, and Official Record Book 887, al Page 1146, Public Recpeds of Palm
Beach County, Florida,

Deed of Conservation and Preccrvation Easement of Domald J, Trump and the
National Trus Historie Preservation I the Unfled States to be recorded fa the Public
Reeords of Palm Beach County, Florida,

The right, tile or interest, if any, of the public to use 21 2 public beach or recraation
area any part of the Land Jying between the water abutting the Land and the most
inland of any of the follawing: {a) the natural line of vegetalion; (b) the most extreme
high water mark; {€) the bulkhiead line; or (8) any other ine which has been or which
hereafier miy be legally established as relating 10 such pubilic use, This Permittcd
Encombrance shall apply only to the beachfront paseel of the Land located east of
South Ooean Boulevard.

‘The right of the United States Government arising by rexson of the United States
Govemment's control over navigable waters In the intcsest of mavigation and
COMMeITe.

The ordinaty high water mark of the Intmcozstal Waterway,
The mean high water line of the Atlantlc Ocean,

Coastsl Construction control line recordad In Plat Book 35, Pape 91, Public Records
of Palm Beach County, Florida,

The Right-of-Way of Ocean Bivd,, 23 1aid out and In use.

-Termy, pmmims, restrictive covenants, conditions, resenations and casements
contained in Declaration of Use Agreament dated August 10, 1993 by The Town of
Palm Beach, The Mana-Lago Club, Inc, and Dom]d.l.'l‘mmp'aadmadcdm
October 15, 1993 in Olficial Recocds Book 7933, Pape 72, Public Records of Palm
Beach Caunty, Flarida, -

Eazement Deed recorded in Official Record Eook 4746, Page MG) Public Records of
Palm Beach Counly, Flotidz.

Perpetuat Easement to the State of Florida Depariment of Transpontation recorded in
.Official Record Book 8396, Page 25, Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida,

" MO ARRMIATH IO (DI .38
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JOXRDER AHD CONSENT

The undorsiqned, DONALD J. TRUMP, lndividually ("DITv),

he:é::z Joine in and conoents to the sttached First Hortgage,

[ ty Agraenent and Assignnant of Renits of evan data harsvith

{the "Hortaage®) made by The Mar-A-Lago Club, Inc. (“Hortoagor®)

in favor of Unlon Labor Lifa Xnsarance Company (® ") for
the wole purpose of unconditionally and foraver subardinating any
and xl1 interest thak DJT may bave in the Xortgagsd Pruperty (es
auch tarm i3 defitned In the Hortgege) undexr or by virtus of that
cortaln Declaration of Usae Agresmant datad August 10, 1993 among

. the Town of Palw Baach, Hortgagor and DIY and pecordsd in
official Records hock 7333, Pags 32 Of the Publlo Records of Pelm
Beach County, Flocida {the “Daclaration®).

DJT hereby agreas and oconfirne that any and all interest
that DIT any have in the Mortgagsd Property under ob by virtue of
tha Daclaration chall at all tines be sntively subjeot,
subordinate and inferlor in xight of priovity to the lion of the
Hortgaga.

Withotut any notice to or the goncont of DJT, Moritguiyes may
amand, modlfy, axtend, consolidate, rastats or replace the
Mortgage in any racpect cx vajiva any of tha termx af, exercize
any rights undexr, or ctherwise deal with the Nortgage or axarcice
any rights in respect vt the Hortgaged Property allowsd st lav or
in ty or pursuant to any of the Loan Documentx (am such terx
i defined in the Hortgage), and the same chall in no way alter
the subordination of DIT'e interast in the Mortgaged Proparty.

DIT does hereby irrovocahly and unconditiopally submit to
- the juriddiction of the courts of the State of Florida and does
further irrovopubly and unconditionally stipulate snd agren that
the Fedara] Cotrts in the State of Florids or the Clreuit Court
of tha State of Floride in and for ralm Besach County, Florida
ohall have Jurlsdiction to hear and :.lnln.{ daternine any
. alxpute, clain, cont:wers{ or ection axizing ocut of or cooneoted
{2irectly or indireotly} with the Hortgage or this Joindaz and
Consent. DJIT doas hareby irrevocably and unconditionally appoint
Paul Rarpell, Bag., sz its sgent (the "Progosy AgongM) to raceive
on beholf of BIT sexvice of oopiens of the sussons and complaint
snd wny ather procescs or pspars which ni ba served in any action
or proossding arising out of or connacted with the Hortgageor
this Joinder and Content. Coples of the cuwnons znd complalnt
and any othor procoos or papers shall be seht to DI at the
adaress cet forth helow contexporancous with the dellivery of sans
to the Progess Agent. DIT does hereby lxrevocsbly authorize and
direot the Procacs Agant to aocept ssxvice on his bahalf and doas
hexaby agras that final judgment in uny wction or procssdings
shall be conolusiva and mny be snforved in any vther jurisdiction
by suit on the judgment or in why other mannsr provided by lav.
Notwithstandlng the foregoing sppointment of tha Process Agent,
zarvics upon DIT may be mede by mailing or delivaring & copy of
xuch process to the addrass of DIT, as set forth below. Nothing
in the Mortgags or this Joinder and Consant shall effact tha
right of Mortgegea to bring sn sction or proveeding agafnst pIT
o his prop in the courtx of any othaxr Jjurisdlotion. To tha
sxtant that DIT has or hereafter mhy acquirse any lwnunity frox
Jurizdictionh of any courk or from an legal procass {whether
gh ssxvice or notice, nttachuen i: or to judgmant,
attachoent in ald of exsoutlion, executien o otherwies}, with
respuct to DIT's property, DIT herwby undonditionslly smd
irrevocebly vwalvas much unity in respect of itz chligatlons
under this Joinder and conzent. The foregoing consant, in

P
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advanco, to the jurizdiction of the abave-mentiohed courts and
ths appointwent of tha Process Agent are matorizl inducemcnts for

Hortgages to make the Loan to Hortgagor and accept thie Joinder
and Conowit. ¢

s.lg'nnd, ‘menled and
de

iverad in the

PIucancs oft
" DONALD J, ThUNa, vidoaily
FEint Wamst soseph 4 7ah) Micecs: ofa T T
125 Tifth Avenus

o) Kok Hav York, KX 10022
Print Hamsi ©a b .
KTATE OP be»:ﬁ-‘chl ] .

COUNTY OF m‘m ;--‘

“The fovegolng instrumont wag acknoviedged bafore ma thin
3% day of Aprll, 1995, by DONALD Js TROHP. imdividuslly. tia 1o
porsonally known to na or haz produced 3 deljvort L
idontitication.

- .
Signeturs of Hotary Publlic
{Ar£ix Hoturind
Stanp) . Printed Home of Hotary Public
i Ctate of

Hy Cormmicsion expiraa;

——

HWEAITIR R 1
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PAYMENT GUARANTY
made by
BONALD J. 'I'RUMP.

as _Guarantor, ’

in favor of

UBS WARBURG REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS INC.

Dated as of November 26, 2002
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PAYMENT GUARANTY

-~

This PAYMENT GUARANTY (this “Guaranty®), dated as of November 26,
2002, made by DONALD J. TRUMD, an individual (“Guarantor”), having an address at 725
Fifth Aveoue, New York, New York 10022, in favor of UBS WARBURG REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENTS INC,, a Delaware corporation (together with its successors and assigns,

" hereinafter referred to as “Lender”), having an address at 1285 Aveaue of the Awmericas, 112

Flocr, New York, New York 10019,

RECITALS:

A, Pmsuanthoﬂ:atmmhhmmemdamdasot:lhudatchmf(asthc
same may be amended, modified, supplemented or repleced from time to fime, the “Loan
Agreement”) by and between VH Properly Corp., @ Delaware corporation (“Borrower”) and
Lender, Lender has agreed to make a loan (the “Loan) to Bortower in m ageregate principal
amount not to exceed $20,000,000, subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement;

B.  As a condiion to Lender’s making the Loan, Leader is requiring that
Guarantor execute and deliver to Lender this Guaranty; and

C.  Guamafor hereby acknowledges that Guagantor indirectly owns one
hundred percent (100%) of the benefictal interest in Bomrower, and consequently will materially
benefit from Lender’s agreeing to make the Loan; .

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth herein and as an

indncement for and in consideration of the agrcement of Lender to make the Loan pursuant to the
Loan Agrecment, Guarantor heteby agrees, covenauts, represents and wamants to Lender as

1. Definitions.

(@  All capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the
respective meanings given such terms in the Loan Agreement.

(l;) The tem “Guaranteed Obligations” means payment of all the
Debt as and when the same is due in accordamce with the Loan Documents (and whether acerued
prior to, on or aftef such date),
2. Gunranty.

()  Guamntor herchy irrevocably, obsolutely and unconditionally
guarzntees to Lender the full, prompt and complete payment when due of the Guarmmteed
Obligations,

‘ (b}  All sumns payable to Lender under this Guaranty shall be payable
on demand and without reduction for any offset, claim, cotmterclaim or defense.

10654294 3.00C
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(¢)  Guarantor herchy agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless

Lender from and against any and all costs, losses, liabilitics, claims, canses of action, expenses-

and damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements, which Lender may, suffer
or which otherwise may arise by reason of Bomower’s failure to pay any of the Guaranteed
Obligations when due, imespective of whether such costs, losses, lishilities, claims, causes of
action, expenses or damages are incurred by Lender prior or subsequent to (i) Lender’s declaring
the principal, interest and other sums evidenced or secured by the Loan Documents to be due and

" payable, (ii) the commencement or completion of a judicial or non-judicial foreclosure of any

Deed of Trust, or (jii) the conveyance of all or any portion of the Property by deed-in-liey of
foreclosure, .

(@  Guarantor agrees that no portion of any sums applied (other than
sums received fiom Guarantor in full or partial satisfaction of its obligations herennder), from
time to timo, in reduction of the Debt shall be deemed to have been applied in reduction of the
Guaranteed Obligations until such tims a3 the Debt has been paid in full, or Guarantor shall have
made the full payment required hercunder, it being the intention hereof that the Gaaranteed
Obligations shall be the last portion of the Debt to be deemed satisfed.

3. Representations and Warranties, Guarantor hereby represents and
warrants to Lender as follows (which representations and warranties shall be given as of the date
hereof and shall survive the execution and delivery of this Guaranty): -

. (8)  Anthority and Execution. Guerantor has all necessery power and
anthority to enter into and perform this Guaranty and all other agrecments and instruments to be
executed by him in connection herewith. This Guaranty has been duly executed and delivered by

* Guarantor, .

()  Enoforcesbility, This Guaranty constitutes 2 legal, valid and
binding obligation of Guarantor, enforceable against Guarantor in accordance with its tering,

except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptey, insolvency, reorganization, .

moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and general
principles of equity.

- () No Violation. The exccution, delivery and performance by
Guarantor of his obligations under this Guaranty do not and will not violate any Iaw, regulation,
order, writ, injunction or decret of any cowrt or govemmental body, agency or other
instrumentality applicable to Guarantor, or result in a matétal breach of any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of, or constitute a material default under, or result in the creation or

- imposition of any mortgage, lien, charge or encumbrance of any nafure whatsoever upon any of

the assets of Guarantor pursuant to the tenms of any morlgage, indenture, agreerient or
instrument to which Guarantor is a party or by which Guarantor or any of Guaraator's properties
isbound. Guarantoris botin default under auy other guaranty which it has provided to Lender.

{9} NoLitigation. There arcno actions, suits or proceedings at law or

at equity, pending or, to Guarantor’s best knowledge, threatened against or affecting Guarantor
which involve or might involve the validity or enforceability of this Guaranty or vhich might

10654294_2.00C 3
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materially adversely affect the financial condition of Guarantor op the ability of Guarantor to
periorm any of its obligations under this Guareaty. Guarantor is not in default beyond-any-
applicable grace or cure period with respect to any order, writ, injunction, decree or demang of
any Governmental Authority which might materially adversely affect the financial condition of
Guarantor or the ability of Guarantor to perform any of its obligations wmder this Guaranty.

(®  Consents. Al conszats, approvals, orders or authorizations of, or

" registrations, declarations or filings with, all Goveramental Authorifies (collectively, the

“Consenss”™), if any, that are required in connection with the valid execution, delivery and
performance by Guarantor of this Guaranty have been obtained and Guarantor agrees that all
Consents required, if any, in connection with the carrying out or performance of any of
Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty will be obtained when requ

(8) Consideration. Guarantor is the owaer, directly or indirectly, of
all of the legul and beneficial equity interests of the Borrower. ’

4. Financlal Statements. In addition 1o the Snancial statements required
pursuant to Section 6(b) below, Guarantor shall deliver to Lender within twenty (20) days after -
request by Lender, such other financial information with respect to Guarantor as Lender may
reasonably request.

5. Unconditional Character of Obligations of Guarsntor.

()  The obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall be imevocable,
absolute and unconditional, irrespestive of the validity, regulatity or enforceability, in whole or
in part, of the other Loan Docuraents or any provision thereof, or the sbsence of any ection to
enforce the same, any waiver or conseat with respect to any provision thereof;: the recovery of
any judgment against Borrower, Guarantor or any other Person or any- action to enforce ths

- same, any failure or delay in the enforcement of the obligations of Borrower under the other

Loan Documents or Guarantor under thig Guaranty, or any sctoff, counterclzim, and irespective
of any ather circumstances which might otherwise limit recourse agatnst Guarantor by Lender or
constitute 2 legal or equitable discharge or defense of & guarantor orsurety. Lender may eaforce
the obligations of Guarantor under this Guaranty by a proceeding at law, in equity or otherwise,
independent of any loan foreclosure or similar proceeding or any deficiency action against

10654294 3.50C 4
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Borrower or any other Person at any time, either before or after an action against any of the

. Property or any part thereof, Bommower or any other Person. This Guaranty is a guaranty of.

payment and performance and not merely a guaranty of collection. Guerantor waives
diligence, notice of acceptance of this Guaranty, filing of claims with any court, any proceeding
to enforce any provision of any other Loan Document, against Guarantor, Bomower or any other
Perstn, any right to require a proceeding first against Borrower or any other Person, or to
exhanst any security (including, without limitation, the Property) for the performance of the

* Guaranteed Obligations or any other obligations of Borrowor or any other Person, or any protest,

presentment, notice of default or other motico or demand whatsoever {except fo the extent
expressly provided to the contrary in this Guaranty),

(b)  The obligations of Guarantor under this Guaranty, and the rights of
Lendex to enforce the same by proceedings, whether by action at law, suit in equity or otherwise,
shall not be in any way affected by any of the following:

® any insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization,
readjusiment, composition, dissolution, reccivership, conservatorship, winding up or
other similar proceeding involving or affecting Bomower, the Property or any part
thereof, Guarantor or any other Person;

(i)  any failore by Lender or any other Person, whether or not
without fault on its part, to perform or comply with any of the temns of the Toan -
Agreemment, or any other Loan Documents, or any document or instrument relating
thereto; .

(i) the sale, transfer or conveyance of the Property or auy
irterest therein to any Person, whether now or hereafier having or acquiring an interest in
the Property or any iplerest therein and whether or not pursuat to any foreclosure,
trustee sale or similar proceeding against Borrower or thie Property or any interest therein;

(iv) the conveyance to Lender, any Affiliate of Lender or _
Lender’s nominee of the Property or any interest therein by a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure;

()  the release of Bomower or any other Person from the
performance or obscrvance of any of the agreements, covenmnts, terms or conditions
contained in any of the Loan Documents by operation of law or otherwise; or

~ (v)) the release in whole or in part of any collateral for any or
2]l Guaranteed Obligations or for the Loan or any portion thereof,

; (¢)  Except’as otherwise specifically provided- in this Gueranty,
Guarantor hereby expressly and invevocably waives ell defenses in an action brought by Lender

. to enforce this Guaranty based on claims of waiver, release, surrender, alteration or compromise

and all setoffs, reductions, or impairments, whether arising hereunder or otherwise,
(4}  Lender'may deal with Borrower and Affilistes of Bomower in the

same ‘manner and o5 freely a5 if this Guaranty did not exist and shall be entitled, among other

things, fo grant Borrower or any other Person such extension or extensions of time to perform
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anty act or acts a3 may be deemed advisable by Lender, at any time and from fime to time,
withont terminating, affecting or impairing the validity of this Guaranty or the obligntions of
Guarantor hereunder,

()  No compromise, alteration, amendment, medification, extension,
rencwal, xelease or other change of, or waiver, consent, delay, omission, failure to act or other
action with respect to, any lisbility or obligation under or with respect to, or of any of the tenms,
" covenants or conditions of, the Loan Documents shall in any way alter, impair or affect any of

the obligations of Guarantor hereunder, and Gusrantor agrees that if any Loan Doctument is
modified with Lender’s consent, the Guaranteed Obligations shall astomatically be deemed *
modified to include such modifications,

. ()  Lender may proceed to protect and enforce any or 21l of its rights
under this Guaranty by suit in cquity or action at Iaw, whether for the specific petformance of
any covenants or agresments confained in this Guaranty or otherwise, or to take any action
authorized or permitted under applicsble law, and shall be entitled to require and enforee the
performancs of all acts and things required to be performed hereunder by Guarantor. Bach and
every remedy of Leader shall, to the exteat permitted by law, be comulative and shall be in
addition to any other remedy given hereunder or now or hercafter existing at Iaw or in equity.’

: (g)  No waiver shall b deemod to have been mede by Lender of any
tights hereander unless the same shall be in writing and signed by Lender, and any such waiver
shall be a waiver only with respect ta the specific matter involved and shall in no way impair the

zights of Lender or the obligations of Guarantor to Lender in any other respect or at any other
time.

() At the option of Lender, Guarantor may be joined in any action or
proceeding commenced by Lender ageinst Borrower in connection with or based upon any other
Loan Documents and recovery may be had against Guarantor in such action or proceeding or in
any indepeadent action or proceeding sgainst Guarantor to the extent of Guerantor's linbility
hereunder, without any requirement that Leader first assext, prosecute or exhaust any remedy or .

claim agrinst Borrower or any other Person, or any security for the obligations of Borrower or
any other Person,

. (®  Guarantor agrees that this Guaranty shall continue to be effective
or shall be reinstaied, as the case may be, if at any time any payment is made by Borrower or
Gusrantor to Lender and such payment is rescinded or must otherwise be retumed by Lender (as
determined by Lender in its sole and absolute discretion) upon insolvency, bankruptcy,
fiquidation, reorganization, readjustment, composition,  dissolution, receivership,
canservatorchip, winding up or other similar proceeding involving or affecting Bomrower or
Guarantor, all as though such payment had not been made,

()  Inthe cvent that Guarantor shall advance or become obligated to
pay any sums under this Guaranty or in connection with the Gueranteed Obligations or in the
event that for any reason whatsoever. Borrowér or any subsequent owner of the Property or any

part thereof is now, or shall hereafter become, indebted to Guarantor, Guarantor agrees that
(1) the 2mount of such sums and of such indebtedness and all interest thereon shall at all times be

10634254 3.00C 6
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subordinate as to lien, the time of payment and in all other tespects to all sums, including
Principal and interest and other amounts, at any time owed to Lender under the Loan Dotuments,.
and (ii) Guarantor shall not be eatitled to enforce or receive payment thereof until all Frincipal,
interest and other sums due pursuant to the Loan Documents have been puid in full. Nothing
herein contained is intended or shall be construed to give Guarantor any right of subrogation in
or untder the Loan Documents or auy right to participate in any way therein, or in the right, title
or interest of Lender in or to any.collateral for the Loan, notwithstanding any payments made by

- Guarantor under this Guaranty, wntil the actiial and imevocable receipt by Lender of payment in

full of all Principal, inferest and other sums due with respect to the Loan or otherwise paynble
under the Loan Documents. If any amount shall be paid to Guarantor on account of such
subrogation rights at any time when any such sums due and owing to Lender shall not have been
fully paid, such amount shall be paid by Guarantor to Lender for credit and application against
such sums due and owing to Leader,

-

(&) Guarantor’s obligations hereunder shall survive a foreclosure,
deed-in-lien of foreclosure or similar proceeding involving the Property and the exercise by
Lender.of any of all of its remedies pursuant to the Loan Decuments,

4. Covenants.

() As used in this Section 6, “Net Worth” ghall mean, as of & given date,
() the total assets of Guarantor as of such date less (y) Guarantor's total linbilities as of such
date, determined in accordance with the sams method of accounting used to prepare the financial
statemnent of Guarantor delivered to Lender in connection with the closing of the Loan.

(b) Until all of the Guardnteed Obligations have been paid in full,
Guatantor (i) shall maintain a Net Worth in excess of $20,000,000, (ii) shall not sell, pledge,
mortgage or otherwise transfer any of his assets, or any interest therein, on texms materidlly less
favorable than would be obtained in am arms-length transaction if such transaction decrgases the
Net Worth of Guarantor below $20,000,000 and (i) shall deliver to Lender annually, withie onc

hundred twenty (120) days following the ead of April 30 of cach year of the texm of the Loana |

financial statement of Guarantor compiled by Guarantor’s accountant’s and certified by
Guarantor, which sets forth in reasonsble detail Guarantor’s Net Worth and which shall be
prepared in accordance with sound accounting practices. Lender hereby approves of MR
‘Weiser Co. ag Guarantor’s accountants, ’

(c) Until all of the Guaranteed Qbligations have been paid in full,
Guarantor shall not sell, pledge, mortgage or otherwise transfer any of its assels, or any interest
thetein, on terms materially less favorable then would be obtained in an amms-length transaction.

7.  Entire Agreement/Amendments, This instrument represents the entire
agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hercof. The temms of this
Guaranty shall not be waived, altered, modified, amended, supplemented or terminated in any
manner whatsoever except by written instrument signed by Lender and Guarantor.

8. Successors and Assigny. This Guoranty shall be binding upon Guarantor,
and Guarantor's estate, heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns, may nmot be
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assigned or delegated by Guarantor and shall fnure to the benefit of Teader and s successors
and assipns. e .

9. - Applicable Law and Consent to Jurisdiction. THIS GUARANTY
SHALY, BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE

LEGAL PROCESS IN ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW QR AFFECT THE
RIGHT OF LENDER TO BRING ANY SUIT, ACTION OR FROCEEDING AGAINST
GUARANTOR OR ITS PROPERTY IN THR COURTS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTIONS,

Guaranty have been inserted for convenicncs of reference only and shall in no way define,
modify, limit or amplify any of the terms o1 provisions heréof,

1L Severability. Any provision of this Guarmty whick may be determined
by any competent authorityto be prohibited or wmenforceablein any jurisdiction shall, as to such
Jurisdiction, be inoffective to the extent of such prohibition or uncaforceability without
invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or uneaforcesbility in any .
jurisdiction shall not invalidete or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction,
To the extent permitted by applicable law, Guarantor hereby waives any provision of law which
renders any provision heceof prohibited or uoenforceable in any respect. -

12, "WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY. GUARANTOR HEREBY WAIVES
THB RIGET OF TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY' LITIGATION, ACTION OR. PROCEEDING
ARISINGHEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION THEREWITH.

13.  Other Guaranties. The obligations of Guarantor hereunder are separate,
and distinet from, and in addition to, the obligations of Guarantor now or bezeafler arising under

any other Guaranties, pursuant to which Guarentor bas guaranteed payment and perfonmanee of
certain other obligatiogs of Borrower described therein, .

14.  Notices, All notices, consents, approvals and requests reqmmd or
pemmitted hereunder ( “Notice) shall be given in writing and shall be effactive for all purposes
if either band delivered with receipt acknowledged, or by & nationally recognized ovemight

Ioasqg;_s.noc 8
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delivery service (such as Pederal Bxpress, and using the next-day delivery option), or by cextified

or registered United States mail, retum receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by facsimile.and.

confirmed by facsimile answer back, in e2ch case addressed as follows (or to such otheér address
or Person as a perty shall designate from time to time by notics to the otherparty): Ifto Lender:
UBS Warburg Real Estate Investments Inc., 1285 Avenue of the Amgricas, 11th Floor, New
York, New York 10019, Attention: Robert W, Petiinato, Telecopier (212) 713-4631, with 2 copy
to: Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, 333 South Grand Avenue, 45th Floor, Los Angeles,
* California 90071, Attention; Mark S, Pecheck, Telecopicr (213) 229-7520; if to Guarmtor:
Donald J. Trump, c/o Trump Organization ILC, 725 Fifth- Avenue, New York, New York
10022, Telecopier (212) 755-3230, with a copy to: Trump Organization LYC, 725 Fifth Avenue,
New York, New York 10022, Attention: Jason D. Greenblatt, Assistant General. Counsel,
Facsimile No.: (242) 980-3821, and a copy to Trump Organization LLC, 725 Fifth Avenue,
HNew York, New York 10022, Attention: Allen Weisselberg, Facsimile No.: (212) 832-5396. A
notice shall be decmed to have been given: in the caso of hand delivery, at the time of delivery;
in the caso of registered or certified mail, when delivered or the first attempted delivery on a
Business Day; or in the case of ovemight defivery, upon the first attempted delivery on &
Business Day.

15.  Guarantor’s Receipt of Loan Documents. Guarantor by its execution
hercof acknowledges receipt of true copies of all of the Loan Docirments.

16.  Inferest; Expenses.

@ I Guarantor fails to pay all or any sums due hereunder upon
.demand by Lender, the amount of such sums payable by Guarantor to Lender shall bear interest
from the date of demand until paid at the Default Rate in effect from time to time,

. (b) Guarantor hercby agrees to pay all costs, charges and cxpmsw',
including reasonable attoreys’ fees and dishursemeats, that may be incurred by Lender in
coforcing the covenants, agreements, obligations and Yiabilities of Guarantor under this
Guacanty,

10654294, 300C 9
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17, Joint and Several Obligations. If Guarantor, consists of more than one

Person, each such Person shall have joint and several lisbility for the obligations of Guarantor.
hereunder, :

{Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Page Follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Guarmtor has executed this Guaranty as of the date
first above written, ) . .

UA R:
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SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION: CAMDEN COUNTY

DONALD J. TRUMP,

Plaintiff,

vs. No. CAM-L-545-06

TIMOTHY L. O'BRIEN, TIME
WARNER BOOK GROUP INC.,
and WARNER BOOKS INC.,

Dafendants,

St N N it el Nl gt vt Nt N Nt g

January 7, 2008
10:02 a.m.

Deposition of ALLEN WEISSELBERG, held
at the officas of Kasowitz, Benson, Torras &
Friedman, 1633 Broadway, New York, New Yoxrk
bafora Lauria A. Collins, a Registared
Profassional Raporter and Notary Public of
the State of Naw York.
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1 . 1
2 APPEARANCES: 2 THE VIDEQGRAPHER: Good moming. . This
3 3 is Tape Number 1 of the videotaped depostion
4 BROWN & CONNERY LLP 4 of Allen Welsseiberg taken by defendants in
5 Attorneys for Plaintiff 5 the matter of Donald 1. Trump, plaintff,
6 360 Haddon Avenue 6 versus Timothy O'Brién, Time Wamer Book
7 Westmont, New Jersey 08108 7 Group, Inc,, and Wainer Baoks, Inc,,
8 B8Y: WILLIAM M, TAMBUSSI, £5Q. 8 defendants, in the Superior Court of New
9 WILLIAM F, COOK, £5Q. g Jersey, Law Divislon; Camden County, Case
10 -and - 10 Number CAM-1-545-06.
11 KASOWITZ, SENSON, TORRES & FRIEDMAN LLP | 11 This depasition is being held at 1633
12 1633 Broadway 12 Broadway, New York, New York, on January 7th,
13 New York, New York 10019-6799 13 2068, Thetimeis 10:02 am,
14 BY: MARK P. RESSLER, ESQ. 14 My name is Ed Ford. T'm the certified
15 MARIA GORECK], ESQ. 15 legal video spedalist, The cowrt reporteris
16 16 Lawde Colling, We'ne in assodation with
17 DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP 17 Veritext, 1350 Broadway, New York, New York.
18 Attorneysfor Defenidants 18 For the record will counsal please
i9 919 Third Avenue 19 introduce themselves.
20 New York, New York 10022 20 MR, RESSLER: For Plalntiff Donald J.
21 BY: ANDREW J. CERESNEY, ESQ. 21 Trump from the firm Kasawitz, Benson, Tormes &
22 + ANDREW M. LEVINE, ESQ. 22 Frdedman, Mark Ressler and Marla Gorecd.
23 MARY JO WHITE, €5Q, (p.m. cnly) 23 MR. TAMBUSSI: Also for plaintiff from
24 JULIE S. SUH, ESQ. 24 the firm of Brown Coinery, Willam Tambuss)
5 25  and Willam Cook.
3 5
1 1
2 APPEARANCES {continued): 2 MR, CERESNEY: For Defendants Timothy
3 3 O'Brien, Time Wamer Book Group and Wamer
4 ALSO PRESENT: 4 Books, In¢e., Andrew Ceresney, Andrew Levine,
5 EDWARD FORD, CLVS, Videcgrapher | S and Julle Suh from the fim of Debevoise &
6 6 Pils:nptnn LLp,
7 7 THE VIREOGRAPHER: Oley. Naw will the
8 i court repocter please swear in the witmess,
g 9 ALLEN WEISSELBERG,
10 10 Gmnuawmssmehmum&ﬁmm_
11 11 by the notary public, was examined 2
12 12 testified as followss .
13 13 EXAMINATION BY
14 14 MR CERESNEY:
15 15 Q. * Good moming, Mr. Welsselberg,
16 16 A. Goodmorming.
17 17 Q. Letma justintreduce myself on the
18 18 record. ¥'m Andrew Ceresney fiom Debevolse &
19 19 Plimpton. Wa repcesant the defendants In this
20 20 matter. I'Hl bl azking you some questions in
21 21 connsction with a lawsuit that Mr, Trump, your
» 22 employsr, has brought agalnst my clients,
23 23 A ohro
24 24 Q. AndIapalogbze, I have a cold today.
25 25 Soif you dan't — X apotogixe iy advance if my

2 (Pages 2 to 5)
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Welsselberg - Confidential
the documents o that when be flaished with me, he
would start golng through documents with har.

And there was a tape recorder siiting
ﬁgmmﬂudhofwmaqm.ﬁtdag. Sol
assumed the thing was belng taped.

Q. DK he take notas during that meeting?
A, Ha may have taken some notes, Idoa't
recall that. X do recal] — [ don't typically get

LI I ST R N YT

bpuﬁwhmlspukhpoopk,bcuuuthn‘snot 10

152
Welsselbarg - Confidenttal

plane tying to Florida, He walked back. You
asltedm-mlnwmonlvmumes.

Q.. Okay. So thare's that timas, that .
incident «— that Instance, and then the Trump
Tower conference room?y

A Comrect.

Q- Any other phoiie calls with Mr. 0'Brien?

A, HNa,

Q. Priorto the trip to Forida, had you

11 my business. I have a cear recoliection of him 11 mrspokento"r.TmmplboutHr.O‘Bden?
12 saying that to ma, 12 A, Onlvhoth-lxhntd'mlutnldmhc
11 Q. ursjnstgommuum.mm 13 wugolnghwﬂhibookabautbmuandm
14 Forida, 14 Domldwnspendlm-mth:wugo{ngwspmd
15 A, Sure. 15 l:[m-withhlmuldnghhnmnndtouum
16 Q. Outtotheakportto Florids, Was 16 caurtes, taking him to Florids, I thiiik he even
17 that&llﬂmumcmmutnr.o'ndqn? 17 wentoutbaﬂfmnh!tﬁnkatmpdnt.
18 A Yeah, Ithink so. Hamay have bean In 18 And!wd,mwummmthdo
19 ﬂnoHIn,butldﬂa'tknwwhohqm! 19 ﬂrmbomhmﬁ!afeﬂow’:bﬁmund?no
20 hadn't met hie, Imey have sean him walk around 20 you know his writinge? Do you know who ha is?
21 OF coma to s2e Donald or something, But I hadn't 21 Huh-writhnlboutmbﬂbn? Hasald, No, I
22 officatly hoan introduced to hin, SoXdidn't 22 feul fina, I'm okay with it, Ithinkit's
23 know wha he was. Thea when Iawhimisthear, |23 impartant we share with him sverything we have,
24 lﬂﬂnklmmembcredsulughlmmlkhgamundﬂu 24 Qkay.
25 affics perlodically, coming In and cut of 5 Q. Ynummﬁcmdprloratﬁduhuhad

151 153
1 Welssalbarg « Confidential 1 Weitselbary - Confldentiag
2 Mr.Yrump's office, 2 writtan,
3 Q. Had you over spoken to him before? 3 A Hu,!nu,nldmdudﬂnmmu
4 A, No, 4 Mwﬂmﬂanyﬂ:hgaboutynubdm? Tdldn't
L lrﬂnuy,"r.‘l‘rumpspuallotof 5 know what thay wers.
6 tma with hlm, 16 Q. Imgﬂnghukmdldmkmw
7 Q. Whes was the t+ip to Florida? 7 aarﬂntnnaboutwhcﬂuuhhad\vﬁmubtfonabout
8 A, Wdl,ﬂ:mldhnhadhbcdmlng 8 Mr. Trump?
9 unﬁnhrmmbummwmmhmm 9 A !onlrfaundoutbhron,boauuof
10 Fotids the ond of March, 50 I would have to sy 19 unbook—andxdﬁuthnwuuhnohgln,m
11 somewhetw In February as a guess, teould hava 13 hlhldﬂrhdforlmmdllmttmbxk
12 bou—kwuuhubmﬂubeqlmﬂngunud: 12 Mun.wbo!ﬂ:hkhuwmuammommﬂ
13 or-Xthink February, 13 lboutﬂomldmulgo,hkkhldldn'thowunﬂl
14 Q. Soltuapﬁorhﬂnmﬂngfn‘l’mmp 14 I read tha book. It was mentioned In therw, T
15 Tower? 15 mnmmm!mmhhmmnmm
16 A, Oh, yes, 16 camafrom,
17 Q Prior to that dlscuseion on the way out 7 q Dldwulmowaboutmmm
13 mhzlfmmhdwnﬂ&lpo&enhﬂr.@ldm 18 m.wmmmmm-ﬂmam
19 on tha phone? 19 Mr. Yrump prior to the book?
20 A, No,orﬂnonthtmeﬁagmhm't 20 A Teuthfully, no, Ldon't know,
21 spokes. 21 Q. Goahesd,
22 Q. Somehnoﬂnmwu‘umlmto 22 A, Hamqhavcmﬂnummemhg.lnad
23 Mr-o'mhnmonﬂnrldcouttnﬂtczlrporton a tﬁehm:lmiydqandmm
24 tfmdavvoumﬂylnghﬁm-!dn? 24 Q Hadmhdanydhmsion:wiul
2% A, Andmu'muommnvunumunuu 25 Mr.‘tnunppﬂofmuuﬁodd.hipahout
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1 stselbun-(:onﬂ_denﬁal 1 Welstelbarg - Confidential
‘2 ponald told me or mayba a seaetary told me. I 2 A, No. Ifusthad to help her find soma
3 don‘trecall exsctly who toid me I wauld have a 3 af theca things, because thay wasn't there that
4  moeting with Mr. 0'Bren. 4 long and she didn't know the various places we
5 Q. What wera you told at that ima? 5 storethiags, But other than that, not really,
& A, Thera would ba a mesting with & Q. These wers documents that damonstrats
7 Mr.O'Brien. The purposs of tha meetingwastoge | 7 ovmerskip of properties; comect?
8 oversome assets, havae somae discussion about his 8 A.  Owneeship of proporties, yes,
9  nat worth, and also to show him ourvardous books | 9 Q. You afso sald that the meeting was
10 toba able to finally convinos him that tiings we 10 going to ba also related to net worth; right?
11 dalmed we ovned we did own, And we— 11 A, Yeah, I assumed we would sit down and
12 Q. Goahead. 12 go through il the azsets and the Habllites with
13 A Waspentthe next coupla of weeks ~ 13 him, and X said, okay, whatever quastions you
14 “we" belng myself and Michella Lokey, because she | 14 have, you ask me and I'l be happy to answer thom
15  hadn't beon with us alf tuat fang - Hiterally 15 foryou. .
16 going through our entire office finding every 16 Q. Did you pull documents relating to nat
17 binder and document wa could bring to that 17 worth?
18 masting. 13 A, There ara no documants relating to sat
19 By tha way, just g0 you understand -~ I 19 worth, I'Nl glve you an axample. Othier than
20 sald this bafore - we're a privately held 20 cash, you get # bank statement. Or marketable
21 company. We don't do this. Wa don't huva tado 21 zecxrity, we get a document,
22 this. Other reporters have beon mayba frustrated | 22 1P Y =ay 40 Wal! Is worth X dolfars, T
23 by tha fact wa didn't do this, as you indlcated to 23 show him numbaer ane we own 40 Wall Street, 1had
24 me eariler with somae of the articles you showed 24 to clear that hurdia first. We own 200 parcant of
25 me. 25 &0 Wall Street. So show him tha valuation, He
167 169
1 Welsseibarg - Confldential 1 Welsselbarg - Confidontial
2 But Mr. Trump choza In this caza tn 2 didn't ask to see anything to suppart 1y numbers.
3 takehim evarywheore aod show bim everything, which | 3 It was just conversation,
4 ha-— ask Harry Mackiowe ona day and soa tha 4 Q. Did you pull audited financial
S answeryou get. We took averything out, 5 statements for 40 Wall Strast?
6 averything, and tet him sew everything wa had. 6 ‘A Hadidn't ask for tham.
4 Q. When you say “everything,” what 7 Q. Thatwam't my quastion. My gquestion
8 specifically, what types of doctnents 8 wasdid you pulf thesa In advancs of the meating.
9 speacifically, did you ask -~ well, lak me back up. 9 A. No. Becausaaudited flnandal
10 Who determined which dociments to pufl 10 statoments doesh't necessarily give you the
11 toshaw tn Mr. 0'Brien? 11 waluation of thie proparty, That's the book value.
12 A Hicheila Lokey s 2n attomay, snd 12 Q. Wouldn't the audited financlat
13 cetalnly an attornay can determine what it (s 13 statements tell you the cash flow from the
14 thatwa have to show someona to prove ownershilp, 14 property?
15  whether it's through a dead or something being 15 A, Itwould tell you the cash flow from
16 recordad In a county cleric’s offics or a bindor 16 the property for that moment, that period.
17  showing avidence of owneship, 17 Q. And woulda't that alfow you to derive »
18 Whatever we had xt cur dispozal, 18 potential valuation for a preperty under the
19  anything wa had atour disposs] that would show 19 income method?
20 uwmupmmnudmbofmﬂtmn!ngl_ndnmw 20 A. That's one way of dolng it. I¥snot
21 himto ba able ance and forall to end the 21 the onfy way of dolng it.
2 argumentabout owneeshin 2 Q. Did you pull goif coumsa membership
23 Q. Did you have discassions with Ms, Lokey 23  lists to show him?
24  about what sha should pull, what documents she 24 A. Idan'trecall doing that.
25 should pLll? 25 Q. Why not?
43 (Pages 166 tqo_ 169)
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Welsselberg - Confidantial
really donw becausa wa dida't have anything to
show. Allwe had was basically all of our custs
that we Incurred and pald for In that job, whather
it's for land aocquisition ar legal fees or
accounting faes or architsctuval fees or
engincering fees. Thatwould have made up the
valuation at that point,

You can't valuae something untess you
actually have financing to bulld it, because you
can't sel) one apartment in a building untess you

-
I
e

Weissetberg - Confidentiat

ownership and not valuation?

A, No, we didn't discuss anything about
it. IT'would fust hand Him that mysedt, Butas
far as ownership, he would — understand one
thing: Mr, O'Brien continuously, o matter how
much Donald talked, did not bellave we ownad
anything on the west side, Ha didn't bellave it.
Thers was only one way to prove it: show him tie
documents that show evidenca of ownership.

Q. Did yous disciss with Mr, Trumip

12 hava the procasds, tha monwy, to bulld that 12 valuaﬁom,math,whatyoushonldmvidn—
13  bullding. w.dldn'tgltﬂlatﬂnandngundllnly 13 A Ho,
14 of'05, 149 Q. - with regard to valuations?
15 Q. Sofor Vegas that market valug of that 15 A, No.
16  property would have been minimal? 16 Q. DH you complte a list of what
17 A. Idon't know how much we spent. £ 17 dmunuwmmvudhﬂr.o'm“mﬂ
18 mean, the value of the fand could have been $100 | 18 21517
19 milfon. If you call that mtnimal, X don't know, 19 A, Ididnot,
20 Q. Attfis tima you spoke to Mr. 0'Btien, 20 Q. What other discusslons do you recall fn
21 the marketvalua of that property waz minlmai? |21 a:!vmuorﬂulprﬂnstmuuuuwimdum
2 MR, RESSLER: I object to the form of 22 Mr. Trump or M Lokey?
2 the question. 23 A Constanteunnrsauonmsﬂndlng wvery
24 Q. Whatwas the market vajue of the 24 binderthatwe had In our place, Thatwas the
25 property? 25 constant cenversation. I mean, if you would have

-1a iBl
1 Welzsalberg ~ Confldantial 1 Welssalberg - Confidential
2 A, Idon'trecll. Whatever —whatsver 2 bccnlnmyulﬂonﬂmnmﬂo"mb.mb&d
3 wu had probably pakdfspent in dollars at that tima 3 ten peapla finding all thesa documents to make
4 probably would have bean the valuation oa the 4 surevoe hed evarything,
5 statamentof inandal condition, . 5 Q. Hﬂwdldywdehmhcﬂutmbﬁ,u
& Tow, onios we had financing in place In 6  you say, evmrything?
7 ‘03 7 A Wall, wa knew the ascets that wa had,
8 Q. Julyof"0S5? 8 Q. Howdld you lmow that?
9 A July of'05. Oncawe bagan converting 9 A I¥'sonourstatement of finzncia!
10 resutvations into hard contracts, we began to tee 10 condition.
11 xpattstn of how things wers going and we were 1 Q. Soyou chadiod tha statement of
12 ableto ralse pricing and fust keap gatting more 12 finzndsl condition?
13 and mors. That would have now given me enough 13 A. Iknaw — I'm thers 34 yaars. X think
14 substanceto baglni to do a projaction. 14 Ishould know the ascots that we own. And I gave
15 But priot to that without finandng jn 15 hern!wdherwhatﬁ:wmauddnwentout
16 place, I woukin't do a profection. Tha deal may 16 mwmmamwmwm
17  have fell apast, 17 ownesship of those acsets.
18 Q. Oid Kr. Trump give you any instroctions 18 Q.. Whatdid you do to prepare for the
19 onwhat you should provide to Mr. O'Brien? 19 meﬂwmmnwwmumudomnmu?
i) A. Ko, Other than —yes, he did. 3 20 A, Notknowing the questions that were
21 showed him everything wa have In our possession to 21 golnglnbaadoedofmc,nmﬂthgrmdo!ng
22 showawnarshlp: every document, every binder, 2 today: I'm walking In fust with my knowledge of
23 every recorded deed. Wa showed hilm everythingso | 23 being In the company all thase years and a sensa
24 he walks out of there feellng comfortable. 24 ofwhatgouuuonad:yvh-dayhlds. X really
Fi Q. SoMr. Trump specifically mentioned 25 didn'tde much, .
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1 Weisselberg - Confidantial 1 Welsselberg - Confidentjal
2 A. Themathematics are, - 2 on.
3 Q. Atthe tima what was your understanding 3 MR. CERESNEY: Hold on, There isa dot
3 4 . of what Mr. Taump's stake In Trump World Tower was 4 there, Itsays*in" And if you —
- S worth? 5 MR. RESSLER: [t doesn't say “in,"
6 A. What his peroentage of ownership was? 6 Andrew.
7 Whatare yau asking? 7 MR, CERESNEY: But there Is a dot
8 Q Intommsof absolute doltar nuinbers, 8 there. If you ook — if you look ~
2 whatwasyour understanding of what Mr. Trump's g MR. RESSLER: Isthere g fegend here
o 10 stakein Trump World Tower was worth? 10 that you would fike to direct me to fike one
2 11 A. Whataver our statement of fiaandal 11 would find on a map? It is complétely
12 condition had on it Xdon't recall whatitIs 12 appropriate, Andrew - fet me just say this,
13 now. Iden't know today what it was then, 13 and then you can respond, It's completety
19 Q Wasitapproximately 300 million? 34 inappropriate — and you know this —- for you
I5 A Toould have been, 15 to stick words in an exhibit.
. 16 Q. Doesthisatal refresh your 16 The words that you're reading Into this
? 17 recollection regarding what you told Mr. 0'Brien 17 exhibit do not appear on this exhibit, You
18 about Trump World Tower on Aprl 21st? 18 know that, and It's wrong for you to insert
19 MR, RESSLER: Obfection to the form of 19 words that don't exist.
20 the question. 20 MR. CERESNEY: Mr. Ressler, I'm not
2 Q. Youcan answer. 21 Inserting words that dan't esdst, I will ask
22 A Heasked questions about what the 2 the withess --
32 23 property was wosth. Tmay have taken him through | 23 MR. RESSLER: Are you maintalning for
24 ascenatio of profected sales, As I Indicatsd to 24 the sake of this record that the word “in"
25 you before, profected salos, less cost to bufld, 25 appears between “stake™ and "the"?
. 231 233
(( 1 Welsselbarg « Confidontial 1 Weissefberg - Confidentiat
] 2 net profitat the end, the splft in botwoen the 2 MR. CERESNEY: Yes, I am,
3 two partners. 3 MR. RESSLER; Okay.
4 Q. Sodoes this refrosh your recoilection? 4 MR. CERESNEY: And indeed -~
5 MR, RESSLER: Obfectlon to the form of 5 MR. RESSLER: That's laughable,
[ the question, 6" MR. CERESNEY: —Ican—
7 Q. Youcan answer. 7 MR. RESSLER: That's laughable,
;) 8 A, It seoms to ba numbers that are on the 8 MR. CERESNEY: You know, Mr. Ressler —
9 right track to maidng sense, yes, 9 M5, WHITE: You and I are both
10 Q. Then it says, financial crisls: Korea 10 | lughing.
11 caused Bacwoo to pull out of the hatel, and thoy |11 MR. RESSLER: That's ridiculous,
12 forfoited thefr stake, Tha deal to Donald -« In 12 That's ridiculous. There's a Hne ~ there's
13 the dexlto bonald for zera?? 13 a dash, .
) 14 MR. RESSLER: I'm somry, I object to i4 THE WITNESS: There's a dash there.
’ 15 your insertion of the werd *In.® “The word 15 How does a dot
16 "in" doesn't appear in these jottings, It i6 MR. RESSLER: A dot signifies an “in*?
17 says,and they forfeited their stake, dash, 17 MR, CERESNEY: Mr. Ressler, I'm golng
) 18 thedeal to Donald. So ynu're supplying what 18 tomoveon
19 you would fike to interpret ~ 19 MR, RESSLER: It's preposterous.
120 MR. CERESNEY: Mr.-- .. 20 MR. CERESNEY: T'm golng to mave on.
9 21 ‘MR. RESSLER: ~ these jottings to be, - 21 MR. RESSLER: It's preposterous,
22 and that's Improper, 22 MR. CERESNEY:" I'm golng to move on,
x| MR. CERESNEY: Mr. Ressler, hold on a 23 and I hope yoit will too. And I'm going to ask
A4 second. 24 the witness then to read It so we can get his
25 MR RESSLER: No, 'm riot going to hold 25 understanding of what it says, :
)
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1 Vetsselberg - Confidenbal 1 Weisselberg ~ Confidential
2 THE WITNESS: This is totally — I read 2 Mr. O'Brien that day?
3 the comment when you guys were going back and | 3 A, Abgolutely,
E| forth. This ts absurd. 4 Q. Let’s tum to the next page. Do you
5 Q. Okay. 5 recall speaking to Mr. O'Brien about Trump Park
[ ‘A, What happened -~ 6 Avenue?
7 Q. Xwould like to ask a question. 7 A. Tdon't recall which assets he chose to
& A. Certainly you can. 8 talk about that day. These are hisnotes. I4t
9 MR, RESSLER: And then you provide the 9 bahappy to respond to things In these notes,
10 answer.that you were going to provide. 10 Q. Falr enough,
11 THE WITNESS: Okay. 11 A, Ldon't recall the cxact assets he
12 MS, WHITE: 1fit's responsive. 12 chose to talk about,
13 MR. RESSLER: You-provide whatever 13 Q. Letmo readit, and you tell me whether
14 answer you choose to provide, Mr. Welsselberg, 14 you agree with my reading of what's In front of
15 MR. CERESNEY: If it's responsive to 15 you, Okay?
16 the question. 16 A. Okay.
17 MR. RESSLER: You provide whatever 17 Q. Trump Park Avenue. GE putup 115M,
18 answer yots choose to provide. 18 which I will assume Is $115 milllon -
19 MR. CERESKEY; Are your done, 19 A. Correct.
20 Mr. Ressler? 20 Q. - for DT to pay off mortgage. DT took
21 MR RESSLER: Ask your question, 21 outGE. Therels a lina thore, which I intarpret
22 MR, CERESKEY: Are you dona? 21 as*In" Do you interpret that line as *In"? No?
23 MR. RESSLER: Ask your question, 3 A, You don‘t wantto be sarcastic, do you?
24 MS. WHITE: Is that a “yes"*? 24 Q. December tor 140M, which I will
25 MR. RESSLER: Ask your question. 23 interpretas a milfion doliars, Can we agree with
235 237
1 Weisselberg - Confidentlal t Welsselberg - Confidential
2 Q. Hr, Welssalberg, It then says no -- why 2 that? Iwliil read [tall. He fihanced the 140
3 dow'tlsay lt, and thon you tell me whather you 3 milllon. Estimates he will seli units for 300 to
4  agree with what I've read, 4 400 milllon, Values It at about $160 milllon,
5 Ho dollar sign pald. "No, none at 5 Did I read that as you read it?
6 all* 6 A. Yqu read tho words. I have no ldos
7 Iz that what you ~ did I read what 7  whatthey mean, though. Tundarstand a couple of
6 appears to ba on this pape? 8 things thatare on hare.
9 A.  You road the exact words on the pago, 9 Q. What do you understand that's on here?
10 which never happened. 10 A, Tha originxl 115, 115 milllon mentioned
11 Q. Thatdoes not refresh your recollection 11 upfront.
12 about what you sald at the meeting about Daewoo? | 12 Q. Isthat--goahead,
13 MR. RESSLER: Objection to the farm of 13 A We bought out GE for $140 million, We
14 the question. 14 financed that through a loan from UES to take them
15 A Noi.:mrendose. 15 out. Justsd you know, that laan today Is davm to
16 Q. Okay. Thank you, 16  $15 mitlion trom $140 miifon, Iactuslly even
17 A, Actually I indicatad to you eartler 17 reupped part of that loan by an additanal 25
18 exactly what transplred, induding the promissory 18 mlillon, So we aveq pald off more than that. The
19 note and hiow they ~ how they got cut of the Trump | 19 Toan would havs been gone by now,
20 World Towar doal and why they got out of the dead, | 20 And we still have a bunch of units left
21 because they wanted to diversify tholr holdlngs in 21 tozell, And the building is doing great, getting
22 theUnlted States snd abtoad, Andthiswasaway |22 big numbars,
23 of gutting them to ba Involved in lots of our 23 Q. Sothalisthat GE putup Initially,
24 lcensing deats, 24 that's accurate; correct?
25 Q. And that's what you recall tolling 25 A, Agaln, it's a3 long tima ago. The
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1 Weisselbery - Confidentia) 1 Weisselbery - Confidentiaf
2 numberlooks correct, I have to assumae iX's 2 Q- Okay, And we're going to talk about
3 comect, 1 Chicago tater.
4 Q. And the amount that Mr. Trump pald GE 4 A. Goahead.
5 tobuy out GE, which is 140 miltion listed here, L MR RESSLER: Are you finkhed with
6 that'saccurate? . 6  your—
7 A. That'saccurate, Stmaybo 143, I 7 THE WITHESS: Uh-huh,
8 don'trememberexactly. Maybe 140, 143. That's | 8 Q. Then it says mexzonine debt and
9 abautright. & Deutsche Bank, Y70 million,
10 Q. Hereitalso says, estimates he will 10 1s that tha approximate amount of tha
11 sellunits for 300 to 400 million dollars, values 11 debtthat Deutsche Bank and the mezzanine dabt?
12 itatabqut- vahtagitat about $160 milllon. 12 A, Sounds about right.,
13 A, What that prabably meanc Is 300 milllon 13 Q. Itsays, Fortress gets kicker and
14 all together, 140 golng to pay back the bank, and |14 Interest,
15 160 abovethat, 15 . Doos that ook accurate?
16 Q. Isthatwhatyeu told Mr, 0'irien? 15 A Yes,
17 A. Itsoundslike —~ agaln, tha numbers 17 Q. Is Fortress actually getting m kicker
18 seem to make sense, yos, 18 andinteraston the loan?
197 Q. Let'sgo to the next projact, Chicago, 19 A. The kicker comes at the and, and the
20 A, Whatis that? 20 interest Is saccrued while the constructon [y
21 Q. I'mgoing to read It, and you taff mia 2L golngon.
22 whether this your understanding of what tsays, |22 Q. Justtobadear, Fortrass is the
23 A. Okay. 23 entity thatlent the mezzaning debt on this
24 Q. Itsays, ESTS. 1.1 billfors. And this 24 project; correcty
25 Isthodisputed dash, 1.1 biillon - 25 A That's cormrect.
239 241
1 Welgzelberg - Confidantia) 1 Welssalberg - Confidential
2 A. Youwsantto belleve a dot or dash means 2 Q. Then It says, so there's — and then
3 theword "in"? My wifa took Gragg In school 3 there's an A with a drcle -- 400 million of
4 ealled shorthend. She can prababiy argue that 4 equity. The bullding and — In the building, and
5 withyou, . 5 DT will get A with a circle 300 to 350 miillon,
6 Q. Okay. Let’s fust Ignore that word for & Duoes thot appear approximately correct
7  the moment. 7 astowhatyou understeod In 20057
8 A Okay, 8 A, Yeah, well, X don't ~ I guess he's
g Q- Estimates 118 sales, Oknay? 9 taking the 770 of toty] debt and backing cut -~
10 A. Projected sales. 10 backing out - backing It out from a bililon ona
11 @ Wasthat epproximately what you and the |1t and coming up with a net number. It's about
12 Trump Organization were projecting would Besold | 12 {ght .
13 atcChicagein 20057 13 Q Doesthis refrash your racollection
1“4 A, No,notln 2005 Thajob hadn't even 14 thatyou told him thatfn ~
15 been constructed yet. That's over time, 15 A, Sounds reasanable, yeah,
16 Q. Excusema. My mistakeln the question, 16 Q. ~InApril of 20057
17 In 2005 were you profocting thet the 17 MR. RESSLER: Objection to the form of
18 salesuitimately in Chlcagowouldbe $1.4blllion, (18  the question,
19 aporoxdmately? 19 A, Uh-huh.
20 A, That's correct. Asa — can I expand 20 Q. Yes?
21 onthat? pi A Yes,
2 Q. Sure. . 2 Q. Let'sgoto the nextane, 40 Wall
23 Ao Asamattor of fact, we had sold, out 23 Street,
24 ofthe box, so to speak, $550 milllon of units in 24 A. Okay,
25  arelatively short period of tme, 25 Q. They have baen offered 350, and it's
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1 Welsselberg » Confldential 1 Weisselberg - Confidential

2 cutoll. It says, DT bought 1 milifon, and 34 2 A. Itdoesn't say thathere, Itsays

3  million Inimprovements equals 35 milion, andthe | 3 leverage, Idon'tknow what that means,

4 building has 145 miltfon In leverage. 4 Q. Youdon't know what the word “levarage®
S MR, RESSLER: Line. S means?

6 Q. Lineleverage. 6 A. HNotinthlsvein,

7 MR, RESSLER: Thank you. 7 Q. Youdon'tknow that sometimes debtis

8 Q. Isthataccurate, that Me, Trump had 8 refetved to as leverage?

9 been offered, In 2005, $350 milllon? 9 MR. RESSLER: Objeddon to tha form of
10 A Xrecall atetter coming in, which we 10 the guestion.
11  immedlately ignored becauso we felt it was worth | 11 A Leverage--itcanbo—itcanba
12 somowhers in excess of $400 miilon atthatpolnt, | 12  termed that. ButX don'trecall the number 145
13 and we didn't accept that o’ﬂer. 12 amd the word "leverage” meaning the same thing.
14 Q. Do you think you told Mr. O'Brian that? 14 Thedebtwas 150. I don't believe itwas 145, 1
15 A. 1don'trecall the dats tho offer came 15 think itwas 151, actually. That would have been
16  inwith 350 on it. I don'trecall the date, 16 the debt 145 Isnota debt numbor. So whenyou
17 Q. It'spossible you told him that? 17 =ay 145 and He itinto the word “loverage,” 1
18 A. Possibility. Ijustdon'trecall 18 don'tgetthatsamea--T don't get that same
19 Q. The next part says that Mr. Trump 19 condusion.
20 purchagad it for a million dollars, 40 Wall; is 20 Q. Okay. Allright. Let's keep golng,
21 thatcorrect? 21 A. Sure.
22 A Yes, thal's comrect, 2 Q. So A withadrde $180 milllon and
i} Q. And that there was $34 milllon mada in 23  then the dash debt on buitding, Okay?
24 Improvements. Wasthat accurate? 24 A, Walt, now I'm really confused, What
25 A. At the time, uh-huh. 25 does that say, go at 1807

243 . 245

1 Welssalbarg - Confidontal 1 Weisselbarg - Confidontial

2 Q. And the imo belng in 20052 2 Q.- Itsays A with a cirela?

3 A, Yeah, We'va dona some things since 3 A. That means at, go at 180,

4 that time, but for the farge part, yes. 4 Q. Right. Debt on bullding. Agrees that

s Q. And then R taliks about the bullding 5 city assesses at $90 million.

6 has $145 milllen in leverage, which Iassume means | 6 Do you sse that?

7 dsbt Isthatapproximately correct? 7 A, Iseslit. [ don't know whatit means,

8 A, Idon'tknow what that means, Idon't 8 Q. Doesthe 180 appear to ba the sum of

9 know. 9  tho 145 million and the 35 million dollars that's
10 Q. How much was the debt cutstanding at 10 mentioned In the prior paragraph?

11 tha time, approxdmately? 11 MR. RESSLER: Objection to the form of

12 A. ‘Tha debt--we rofinanced the building 12 the question.

13 2 number of times, three or four times, It way 13 Q. You can answer.

14 65, and then It went to 125, awd thon twent ta 14 A. Doesthe 180~ .

15 151, and now IU's at 160, SoIdon't knowatwhat | 15 Q. Appear to be tho sum of the 145 miilion
16 polnts In Yme sach of those happened. So'munot | 16 In lavarage that's mentoned and the $35 milllon
17 sure of the numbaer at any ona givan tme. Butwe 17 inimprovement that's mentioned in the prior

18  started out with 65 mililon that went to X think 18 paragraph.

19 125 that want to 151 that went to 260. I just L} MR. RESSLER: Objection to the form of
20 don't recali tha dates of when thoso things 20 the question.
2L happaned. 21 A. Icouldassume that he's adding thoss
2 Q. Do you believe you told Mr, O'Brien 22 numbers togother,

23 that ttwas approximately 145 mililon atthatime? | 23 MR, RESSLER: I'm sorry for

24 A. Thadebl? 24 interrupting, but you shouldn't assume because
Pl Q. Thedebt 25 these of course aren't your kittings or
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1 Weisselberg ~ Confidentfal 1 Welsselberg ~ Confldentia)
"2 wntings. ) 2 Q. Do you recall telllng Mr, G'8rien that

3 A, Yeah, X don't know what he had inmind | 3 you thatght that the bullding would safl for

4  with these numbers, 4 approximately 410 milllon?

s MR. RESSLER: So don't assume, 5 A Idon‘tiecallthat, Tmay have, but X

b THE WITNESS: Okay. 6 don'trecalt, I cortalnly don't recall the

7 MR, RESSLER: Whoever wrote these will ? perceatages that are here, 88 to 90 parcant. 1

8 explain as he or sha sees fit. I don'twant 8 don'trecali that, Ialco don't recall Bonald

9 youtoasumeanyﬂ‘ﬁngabouthesejotﬁngs; S could nat. Aretfiese Ms, O"Rrlen's thoughts?

10 all right? 10 Thoy're not my thoughty, what ho coutd noton n
11 THE WITNESS:  The one thing in here 1 H sle,

12 dor't agree with Is the city assessed at 90, 12 Could certalnly get 155, T don't know

13 Ynever even heard that number, T dorit know 13 where that cama from. Itwasn't my thoughts. I'm
i4 it it's an accurate aumber. Without having a 14 motabroker. Ikave no kios what the market at
15 real estate tax bill in front of me, could 1 15 that ime would have given us. We estimated 410,
16 fust say off the top of my head, yes, that's 16 aswming thet's comact. But I nover would have
17 what the assecsment is?  ° ‘ 17 sald 155 to hien I T had 410 i my Mancial

i8 We have all these properties, We have 18 statoemont, :

19 100 tax bills that eome In. How would I know 19 So whore these thoughts came from couks
20 ﬂleammmtforwwwsueetatameeﬁng 20 onfrblhhownuﬂnkhaofwbmhlwuwﬂﬁng
21 when [ brought nothing in there with me? 21 h'snotes, I don't kmow whon ko wrots these

2 Q. Youdon'trecall that? Isthat what 22 notes, He may hava had other notes and he took
23 you're saylng? 23 those rotos and then wont home and sat and thought
24 A, Ydon'trecall it because it's 24 aboutit and wrota fils —~
25 absolutely not true. . 25 Q. Thoonlyquastion I'm azking you —~

247 249

1 Weissolberg - Confldential 1 Waelssaibarg - Confidentiat

2 . Okay. Lat'slookatthe next 2 MR, RESSLER: I'm sony, are you

3 paragraph. s B8 to 90 parcent leasad, 3 fniched?

4 Was that accurate at the Uma? 4 A.  Wrotse hiz book,

5 A, Oh,in ‘052 Idon't recall whattha S Q. X'm only asidng If you recall saying

6 percentage of cccupancy was at that ime. 1 6. this to’Mr. O'Brien that day,

7 wouldn't— by the way, agaln, I walked Into that 7 A. No.

B meeting with no notes, and Iwouldn'tknowtfat | 8 Q  Okay. Let's go on to the nextone,

9 percontage In my head, 5 West Sido Yacds,
10 Q. Youden'trecall sesing that? 10 A, Sure,
1 A. I'mnotalsssing agent forthat 1% Q. Agaln, I'lread It and youtallme if
12 bullding, sb I wouldn't recall whether it's 75 or 12 atany point you disagres with my reading.
13 95 I'wouldn't know that, 13 A Okay,
14 Can Lask you a question? 14 Q. Six partnerships that own portions of
15 Q.+ No, you don't, actually, because Iqet 15 thesite. Saven buildings ars up and five
16 toaskths questfons, Thank you, Hr. Welsselberg. | 16 occuplod. There will bo 16 - there's an
17 A, Ckay. Iwent to the wrong school, 17 abbreviation for bulldings, and then thoro's that
18 Q. Then it says, Donald putnat 200 plus M 18 dash with the dot, totar,
19 milllon on sale would canservatively gat 19 Is that accuratey
20 approximataty 155 miltton dash on sale, apen 20 MR, RESSLER: Is your reading accurate?
21 quote, thinks the bullding would sel for 410 21 Q. Ismy reading accurate?
22 thllllon, dose paren. 22 A Yourreading saccurats,
23 De yau recall saying this to 23 @ Isthatan accurate statoment about the
24 Mr. O'Brian? 24 West Sido Yards?
25 A. No. a5 A. XIdon'tracaliif it was five
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1 Weiscelberg - Confidential i Weisselberg - Confidentlal
2 partnerships or six. It's elther five or six 2 construction costs would go down the road,
3 partnerships. 3 So I don‘t know where the 840 mitllon
9 Q. Do you recall whethesr you said that to 4 of costs would have come front. I don't know.
5 Mr.O'Brien an April 215t? s Q. Doestho $3 billion In sales, Isthata
6 A, ldon'trecaM that, 6 number that you're famlliar with?
? Q. Thenltsays, Donald will net L3 7 A Idon'tremember. I don'trecall what
& billlon when the profect Is completed, Do you 8 the sales profection would have been for that
9 recall saying that to Mr. O'Brien? 9 property.
10 A, That— that sounds like something I 10 Q. Llet's go to the next entry. Tasked
11 would say, Whon tha 16 bulldings wera complated, | 11 tmo frame? He doesn't know and will getback to
12 over that time period that it would take ta do 12 mo. Arethey discounting the cash flow and what
13 that, wa could end up with $1.3 biition of 13 israte, Arathey -~ what rate ase they using.
14 proceeds. 14 Doesn't know, Wil get back to me.
15 Q. It goes onfor about a page describing 15 Do you recall this?
16 the West Side Yards, 16 A Hotreally, but T will glve my answer
17 A. Olay, 17 thatIgave to you before about dlccounting,
118 Q. Threamiiion square fest of condo 13 bocouse you asked that question eariler about
19 propesty will generats approx -~ A with a drde 19 discounting things. And typlcalty whatI always
20 $3 billion, the dash with the porlod cash off of 20 belleve in doing is saying values - Inflation,
21 developmant costs of 840 milllon, Het thera s 21 and real estate values for the most part will rise
22 2.2 billllon, 22 genenally, In New York. Twouldn't say that about
23 Is that something you told Mr. 0'8rien 23 Kansas or someplace In tho midwest, butin New
24 on Aprl 21st? 29 York generally speaking. And Inflation —
25 A, Itdoesn'tlook sight. Mathematioally 25 Inflation and rea) estate valuss will goup
251 2e3
1 Waelsselberg - Confidentfal 1 Walsselberg - Confidential
2 itdeetn't soam right. Idon'tthink Twould say 2 slmultanaously with the diseounting rate going the
3 that, the reason why, becausa I don't kaow what 3 otherway,
4  the canstruction costs are to bulld thesa 4 So typlenlly I don't discount, L don't
S bulldings. . . 5 add forinfistion, I fust noutrallze It and leave
6 I might kiiow about projectad sales, but 6 itintoday's dollars,
7 Iwouldn't know what tha coastruction costs would | 7 Q. Doyouremenmber this discustlon with
8 be to build the remalning, what [s i, nlne 8 Hr. 0'Brien about that?
9 buildings loft to go? There were seven bulldings? 9 A T honastty don't.
10 Thero ware five — thers ware 11 buildings feft to 10 Q. Isitpossible you had that —
11 bulld. Iwouldn'tknow the construction costs to 11 4R, RESSLER: Obfection to the form of
12 bulld a bullding i my life depended on It 12 the question,
13 Sa I can't tell you what $240 milllon 13 Q. Ysltpossible you had that discussion?
14 means. Yo bulld 11 bulldings for a cost of $840 14 HR.RESSLER: Objection to the form of
15 mililon doesn't make any sanse, 15 the quection,
16 Q. Would anyona in the Trump Organlzation 16 A. Anythlng is possible, but I won't say
17 have had that Information at the ima? 17 for sure L didn't have that conversation, Idon't
18 A. Idon'tknow. Probably not. Since 18 recall having it, but Jt's possitile.
19 we're & 30 percent partner, our Hong Kong 19 Q. Thenext entry says, will sell 1.6
20 parinors, they were tha ones that did all the 20 bllllon, the dash with tha perlod, rentals over a
21 costing analysis of that projoct as to what the 21 ten-yearparod ata cost of 448 million, S0 a
22 oost would ba to bulld the building, 22 netthere of 1.2 billlon.
23 Espedally when you're dealing with 11 23 Do those numbers look tike what you
24 buildings, they don't all get bullt today; they 24 told Mr. O'Brien that day?
25 gatbullt overtime, And who's to say what 25 MR, RESSLER: Objection to the form of
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244 1A
1 Weisselberg - Confidential 1 Weiszelberg « Confldential
2 the question. 2 wili derive $1.2 biltion,
3 A, Hi'sarental building, you're not 3 Soit’s not a sale, because it actuatly
4 selting anything; you're renting. So to say that 4 saysit Hght these, see?
5 we'llsell 1.6 bilkon In rentals, you're making 5 Q Isthatwhatyou think you told
6 anassumption we're going to take thosa entira - 6 Mr'O'Brien?
7 building as a rentzl building and sell the entira 7 A. Which makessense, Ovara ten-year
8  bailding. That was never contemplated. 8 period, we can derive $L.5 bififon in reatal
9 50 Idon't know what that means, I 9 income from those 11 bulidings or whatever number
10 don't know what that moans. 10 bulldings it fs, .
11 Q. Youdon'trecall thar? 11 Q. Thentha nextentry: Commercixt space
12 A HNo. Ydont recall what it menns, You 12 Is 1.8 miltion square feet, and the net on that
13 don't— unless you'ra going to selt a rentsl 13 will be $650 mitlon, Over what period of timaz
14 buliding, then all yous do is recelve rent. You 14 Doesn't know. Willgetbackto me,
15 write a chock out cvery month, That'sit, 15 D you recall telling Mr, 0'Brien that
16 Q- Itwas never contemplated that — I'm 16 the commercial space witf be approximately 1.8
17 sowry, did it ever occur that the ganaral 17 mltllon square feet and the net on that will be
18 partnership that owned — the limited partnershlp | 18 spproximately $650 miNiony
1¢  that owned the Wast Side Yards sold these 19 A, Ydon'trecalf that, Tv's possibla,
20  buildings whofesala? 20 butljust don't rocntl it,
21 A, Tha limlited puctnership? You mean - 2t Q. Do you recall whethar those were
22 that'sus, 22 accurate numbers at tha time?
23 Q. No, tha limited partnership that owned 23 A Atons point it doos sound accurate,
24 the West Sida Yards In which Mr. Frump was ono of {24 Q. DI Mr, OBsien ask ¥OU over what
25 thellmited partness, Isn't it true that at some 25 poriod of time mtmmmudummldmmeop
355 =57
1 Walsselberp - Confidential 1 Walssolbarg - Confidentia)
2 pointln May or Juna of 2005 that limited 2 line?
3 partnarship sold the West SidaYards wholasale? 3 A If hadid, X woukin't haye besn abils to
4 A, Itmm‘tal!mltedparhorshlp that 4 ghtehlnnﬂmamwal-,bmuuxdoa'tknuwum
5 sold the property. You Hean ~ you call — okay. 5_ answerto that
6 Wa'ralimited partners, the (tmited pattnarship. & Q- Dld you toll him you would gat back to
7 Youh, and that's why thera's » lawsuit, 7 him? :
8 Q. So that actusliy occurred? -] A, Iwu!dhmnow:vofgttﬂngbld:h
9 A.  No. Itoccurred — it didn't oocur 3 bim. 1don't know the answer, Imean, how -t
10 when wa had this meating, 10 wo're negotiating and thera was » possibliity at
i1 Q. Right . 11 Columbla University was cortatiyslating — did you
12 A, Ididn't know abouta safe then, unfess 12 gotothat xchool?
13 Ywas Houdinl, I wouldn't have known about a sals | 13 Q Yes, Inctually ¢id,
14 In 05 that would hava taken place tater on. 4 A You're smiling,
15 Q. You don't know whare 0'8rlan got thase 15 There was some contemplation at ona
16 aumbers? 16 polnt-- wa met with M7, Lemer, who owned »
17 MR- RESSLER: Objection to the form of 17 cradit cand company; X forgot which one e s,
18 the queston. 16 Q. MBNA
19 A Twould say that ft's a possibllity wa 19 A Olay. Whowas— they were
20 did an analysis to say over a Certain ime period 20 contemplating putting the business schoot and some
2t wa could deriva — it actuatly says that, tan-year 21 atherschools in the that faciiity, Itdldnt
2 period. See, thero'sa contradiction. We will 22 coma to fruition, Sa for me to know what time
23 sefl 1.6« no,overa ten-year parlod, we will 23 period a commerdal development would take place,
24 takeIn $1.6 bitllon of rantal incoma, not sales, 24 Iwouldn't know that,
25 ata cost of X dollars, which Yau see there, which 25 Q. The fast entyy says, total wet Is 4
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A

1 Waisselberg - Confidential 1 Welsselberg - Confidential
2 billlon, and DT gete 30 percent of that, 2 disagreement that you were having with
3 A 12, 3 Mr. O'Brien, whether a fimited partnerwas an
4 Q. 1sthat what you told Mr. 0'Brien? 4 owner?
5 A, Themathematics worke 5§ A Hedidn'tgetit. Hejustdidnot
6 Q. Isthat yourrecollection? 6 undarstand the concépt. The fact we didn't have
? A, ITit's 1.2 and that's how we doarived 7 certain rights ag a limit partner but wa had
& It then it's probably what I told him, yes, 8 certain restrictions did not Hecessarily mean that
9 Q. Let'slook atthe naxt page, DT has 2 when a bullding was sold we wouldn't get 30
10 200 milllon, We hava the line with the dot on 10 percentofit
11 top, debton the site and solls to New World for 11 Q. Washe denying that you were a 30
12 85 milllon, open paren, Chasa selis because they 12 percent imited partier?
13 had mortgage and becama owner when DT defaulted, | 13 A. Cormrect,
1“4 Does that appear to be what It says? 14 Q. Mo, no, was he denying whether you werg
15 A, Tha Chinese came along that bought the 15 &30 percent limited partmar?
16 property fram Chasa Mankattan Bank for 485 16 MR. RESSLER: Objection, acked and
17 millllon. 17 answered,
18 Q. Thatwasaccurate? 18 Q. Wache deny ~
19 A, Thatwas accurate. 19 MR. RESSLER: He fust sald corredt,
20 Q. DId you tel Mr. 0'Brien that that day? 20 Q. Letmeaskita different way, You
2t A. Tdon'trecall, I's certalnly In 21 contrasted awnership with balng a Amited partnier,
22 publicdocuments. It may have come from me, 22 Did Mr. O'Brisn deny that Mr. Trump was a 30
23 Q. Then it says, DTisa partner on the 23 percent imited partner bn the property?
24 site and gets portion of net on all sates, 24 MR RESSLER: Objection to the form of
25 Thare’san arrow. Then it says, but he is not 25 the quection.
239 261
1 Welsselberg - Confidential 1 Weisselbarg - Confidential
2 general partner, And bon - well, [et mo Just 2 Q. Youczn answer,
3 askyouaboutthat 3 A Hedidn't undorstand that we wepe a
4 Do you recall that part of the 4 {imited partner with a 30 percent right to
5 discussion? 5 profits. That's what tha documents wers onthe
3 A. No, buthe's alimited pastner, so § tableto prove to him we wors, He Just didn"t get
7 that'san accurate statement. 7 theconceptof what T was talldng about,
8 Q. Anaccurate statement? 8 Q. Whatdid he undarstand was Mr. Trump's
9 A It'sanaccurabe - two words: It'san 9 intorest? ’
10 accurate stotement that he's a limited pattnerand | 10 A, Hedidn't know what it was, He-- he
11 notagoneral partner, 11 didn’t —~ ha didn't undarstand the concept of
12 Q. I justthought you sald “Inaccurate™ " 12 limited parinership and ownership being one and
13 and I'wanbted ta make stre the record s dear, 13 the same.
14 A, Thatsokay, 14 Q. Hounderstood Emited partnership as
15 Q. Thenltsays, Is he 2n owner? “Ho gets 1S differant than ownership?
16 profits Justlike other owners” Butishean 16 MR, RESSLER: Objection to tha Torm of
17 awner? "He is a partner.” 17 the question,
18 Is that an Interchange you had with 10 A, I'mnotsure He understood what a
19 #Mr. O'Brien that day? 19 limited partner really was,
20 . A Itsoundslike something a continuation 20 Q. Why do you say that?
21 of an ongolig conversation about ownership, It |21 A, Basod upon the answers and the comments
2 you're an ongolng partner, youwlll recelve a 22 hawas making about ownership, Whywould s
23 p'ercenhqa of the profits at the end of the day. 23 flimited partner not b an ownery If he understood
24 Thenwhatdo youthinkyouare i notan owner? |24 whata Eimited partner was, he wauld never aven
25 Q. Was thatthe debats or was that the 25 raleg the issue,
65 (Pages 258 to 261
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2 WOEX  aGE 2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: My name is Brendt
4 LEIGH MICHELLE LOKEY 3 Fisher of Nattonwide Video Productions, Inc.
s m W'Amc“m?ﬁ"‘"‘" s 4 representing Docrer & Goldberg, Inc., located in
6 Court Reporter’s Cestificato 242 5 Roscland, New Jersey. The date today Is September 7th,
S i UL — 6 2007, and the time is approximately 7:41. The
s EXHBITS | 7 deposition Is being held at the office of Strasburger &
OEGIET  DESCRTTION PAGE 8 Price located at 600 Congress, Stsite 1609, Austin.
1 Swementof fiuncial 61 9 Texas, 78701, 'Ihccapﬁonofﬂﬁsw;eisbmuldTnnnp
2 Croition wnth cerification to 10 versus Timothy O'Brien, et al. in the Superior Court of

| 11 New Jersey, Law Division, Civil Part, Camden County,

12 Case No, CAM-L-545-05, The name of the witness {s

13 Michelle Lokey. Atthis time the ftomeys will

14 1denuify themselves and the parties they reprecent,

15 after which our coust reporter Staci Williams, Doemner &

16 Goldberg, will swear in the witness and we can proceed.

17 MR. CERESNEY: Andrew Cerecney and Andrew
18 Levine of Debevoise & Plimpton, LLP, in.New York,

19 represeating the Defendants Timothy O'Brien, Time Wamer
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t ¢ Okay. How do you know whether of not those
2 were searehivd then?
3 A, lwastold that they were,
4 Q. Bywho?
5 A. ByAllenand Jae,
6 Q. Allen Weisselberg?
7 A, Yes
8 Q. Okay. Now. let's talk for — tum to
9 Mr. O'Brien.
10 A. Mm-hmm,
11 Q. When did you first hear of Tim O'Bricn?
12 Al 1think I first heard of him from Mr. Trump.
13 Q. Okay, When was that?
14 A. Idon remember. @ mear, he — [ know he was
15 working with him maybe before I came to the company. He
16 was showing htim around and giving him material for the
17 book,
18 Q. Atsome point prior to April 2ist, though,
19 Mr. Trump mentioned Mr. O'Brien to you?
20 A. May have been mentioned when I was in the room
21 that he was writing a book and that Mr. Trump was
22 cooperating in that effort.
23 . Okaey. Do you renierber anything else about
24 Mr. Trump ~- anything else that Mr. Trump said about
25 Mr. O'Brien?

“

i and be sure that it was properly marked and ready for
2 Mr., O'Brien's visit.
3 Q. Didhetell you what to pull?
4 A. Allen Weisselberg probably told me more what to
5 pull, 1 mean, the two of them did, but he — 1 mean; §
6 knew what 1 was supposed to pull was the assets that we
7 owned, and I was to tab our percentage ownership or how
8 Mr. Trump owned portions of that property or all of the
9 property and the deeds,

10 Q. Okay. So documents showing ownership?

11 A. Mm-hmm, yes.

12 Q. And deeds?

13 A, Yes. .

14 Q. Qkay. Anything else you were told to pull?

15 A. No.

16 Q. Oksy. Now --and this was & conversation that

17 would have included Mr. Trump and Mr, Weisselberg?

i8 A, Probably. Ithink they decided to do it and it

19 was relatively quick. [ had maybe two or three days to

20 pull everything together.

21 Q. Ckay, so let me just make sure I understand,

22 So April 21st, a few days before that --

2 A, Yes.

24 Q. —you have one or more conversations — Fm

25 not trying to put words in your mouth, I just want to

43
I A. Not prior to mecting him, no.
2 Q. Soprior to mecting Mr. O'Bricn on April 21st,
3 the only thing you recall about what Mr. Trump safd was
4 that he was writing a book on Mr, Trump and that
5 Mr. Trump was cooperating?
6 A. Well, no, when I niet with him, there 'were
7 conversations prior to that about what I needed todo to
'8 get ready for.that meeting, but with respect to him
9 personally, all 1 knew is that he had gone to Mar-A-Lago
10 on the plane, I think, and that ke was writing a book,
I Q. Let's talk about you mentioned the conversation
12 that you had ~ or conversations. How many
13 conversations did you have with Mr, Tnuimp about
14 preparing for the meeting?
15 A, ldon'tremember.
16 Q. Was it Mr. Trump who first told you you'd be
17 meeting with Mr. O'Brien?
18  A. Idon't remember, it could have been Allen
19 Weisselberg,
20 Q. What doyou recall in terms of your
21 conversations first with Mr. Trump about the April 21st
22 meeting?
23 A, Just that this was an unprecedented look at his
24 assets and it was the frst time we had done something
25 like this and to be sure that [ had everything in order

45
1 make sure T've got it straight. One or more
2 conversations with Mr. Trump and My, Weisselberg?
3 A. Yes
4 Q. Inthat conversation they sait yow're going
5 to— they are going to give Mr, OBrien access to
6 documents, unprecedented access to documenis?
7 A. We, the company, are going to do that, |
8 didn't know at the time that I would be meeting with
9 Mr, OBrien.
10 Q. Okay. Soyou
1 A. JustIwassimply to pather everything
12 topether, .
13 Q. Andin terms of what you were 1o gather, you
14 were told to gather documents showing ownership
15 including deeds?
16 A. Yes :
17 Q. Did Mr. Trump or Mr. Weisselberg explain the
18 purpose of the meeting with Mr. — I'm sorry, let me
19 strike that. Did they explain the purpose of providing
20 these documents to Mr. O’Brien? °
21 A, Toshow ownership of assets,
22 Q. ‘Whatelse do you recall sbout conversations
23 with Mr. Trump or Mr. Weisselberg prior to April 21st
24 about collecting documents?
25 A. Idon'tremember anything other than getting —~

12 (Pages 42 to 45)
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1 but not —~ I don'i know that I remember talking to Mark
2 about that,
3 Q. Okay. Either before or after the meeting? -
4 A, Wehad lunch after the meeting, but  don't
5 recall that being part of the conversation,
6 Q. Okay. Cther thanMr. Alexander, do you recall
7 any other conversations with anyone outside the Tramp
8 organization prior to the April 21st meeting about
9 Mr, O'Brien?
10 A. No.
11 Q. Now, just taiking about the matesials you've
12 collected, yon mentioned this list of assets that you
13 used to pull documents for. Did you preserve that Jist?
14 A. No.
15 Q. Okay. Thatdoesn't exist anymorc?
16 A. No.
17 Q. Now, howmuch time did you spend collecting the
18 documents that you showed to Mr. O'Brien on April 21st?
19 A. Ithink probably somewhere around 30-plus
20 hours.
21 Q. Why did it take so long?
22 A. Becauscthe binders, some of them wese old,
23 some of them had been filed away, some of the deeds
24 weren't with the deal binders. Itjust took time and it
25 took time to go through all the documents and find the

17

52
1 Q. And what was your understanding then of the
2 purpace of the meeting? Just to explore the holdings?
3 A, Thepurpose of the meeting as my understanding
4 was it was strictly to show assets owned by Mr. Trump.
5 Q. Notliabilities?
6 A. Tassumed there would be a secondary meeting
7 for all of that with the appropriate people.
8 Q Andyouwuunotthcappmpnatcpamn?
9 A. T'wasnotthe correct person,
10 Q: Onc of the things you said carlier was that
11 when you collected the documents, yot didn't know you'd
12 be at the meeting?
13 A, Mmimm. .

14 Q. ‘When were you told you were going to go to the

15 meeting?

16 A. Probablythat day.
Q. April21st?

18 A, April2ist

19 Q. Inthemoming?
20 A. Probably.

21 Q. That's your best recollection?

22 A. Idontremember if they may have told me the

23 night before or that moming. Since Ihad pulled and

24 tzbbed everything, I seemed Jike the most logical person
25 to bie able to explain it, but Allen came to the mesting

|15 Q. Didanyone tell you that one of the purposes of

51
'1 deeds in the documients and find the ownership and be
2 very clear that I was tabbing everything comeetly,
3 Q. Whken you pulled these documents — let me ask a
4 different question. Have you ever personally prepared a
5 net worth statement for anyonc?
6 A. No.
7 Q. Areyou fapiliarwith the way that such a net
8 worth statement would be prepared?
9 A No.
10 Q. Okay, Haveyouever engaged in the valuation
11 of an assct?
12 A. Ne.
13 Q. Doyouhave any expertize in valuing an asset?
14 A. No.

16 Mr. O'Brien's visit was to understand the valuation of
17 the assets?

18 A. No.

19 Q. Did anyone tell you that one of the purposes of
20 Mr. O'Brien's visit was to understand the liabilities?
21 A. No.

22 Q. Didanyonc tell you that Mr, O'Brien was lr_vmg
23 to understand Mr. Trump's net worth?

24 A." No, not for this mezting, not for the meeting
25on April 21st.

1 as well to help since he's been there for all of the

2 acquisitions.

3 Q. Clay. So—andwho told you you'd be

4 attending?

5 A, Allen.

6 Q. Welselberg?

7 A Yes. .

8 Q. Andwhatdidhé say exacily?

9 A. Hesaid, "Tneed you to come to the meeting so
10 that you can show him what you've tabbed, and I can
11 explain if there's any additional information he needs.”
12 Q. Whatifanything did Mr. Tromp tell you prior
13 to the meeting about whether you should provide any

-14-other documents that Mr. O'Brien might request?

15 A. Hedidn't tel! me anything about that,

16 Q. Atthemeeting did Mr, O'Brien request other
17 documents as weli?

18 A. Notfomme,

19 Q. Sohe dxdn‘taskfornetwoﬂhstatancnlsor
20 audited financial statements or —

21 A. Hemay have asked that of Allen but not of me.
22 Q. Okay. Okay, 50 Iet me come back to that when
23 we discuss the structure of the meeting.

24 A Okay.

-|25 Q. Youthink you spent about 30 hours collecting

14 (Pages 50 to 53)
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1 but not — I don't know that I remember talking to Mark
2 about that.
3 Q. Okay. Either beforcor after the meeting?
4 A. Wehad lunch after the meeting, but I don't
5 recall that being part of the conversation.
6 Q. Okay. Other than Mr. Alexander, do you recall
7 any other conversations with anyone outside the Trump
8 organization prior to the April 21st mecting about
9 Mr, O'Brien?
10 A. No.
11 Q: Now,just talking about the matesials you've
12 collected, you mentioned this list of assets that you
13 used to pull documents for. Did you preserve that list?
14 A. No.
15 Q. Okay. Thatdoesn't exist anymore?
16 A. No,
17 Q. Now, howmuch time did you spead collecting the
18 documents that you showed to Mr. O'Brien on April 21st?
19  A. Ithink probibly somewhese around 30-plus
20 hours:
21 Q. Why did it take so long?
22 A. Because the binders, some of them were old,
23 some of them had been filed away, some of the deeds
24 weren't with the deat binders. It just took time and it
25 took time to go through al the documeits and find the

: 52
1, Q. Andwhat was your understanding then of the
2 purpose of the meeting? Just to explore thie holdings?
3 A. Thepwpose of the mecting ns my understanding
4 was it was strictly to show assets owned by Mr. Trump.
5 Q. Notliabilities? ’
6 A. assumed there would be a secondary meeting
7 for all of that with the appropriate people.
£ 'Q. Andyou were not the appropriatc person?
9 - A, Twasnpotthecomectperson. |
10 Q. Oncofthethmgsyousmd carlier was that
11 when you collected the documeats, you didn't know you'd
12beat the mcung?
13 A, Morlmm.
14 Q. Whenwercyou toldyou were going to go to the
15 meeting?
16 Probably that day.
17 April 21st7
18 April 21st,
19 In the moming?
20 Probably.
21 That's your best recollection?
22 1 don't remember if they raay have told me the
23 night before or that moming. Since Thad pulled and
24 tabbed everyihing, I seemed like the most logical person
25 10 be able to cxplain it, but Allen came to the mecting

ropororl

"1 deeds in the documents and find the ownership and be
2 very clear that I was tabbing everything comrectly.

3 Q. Whenyou pulled these documments- - letmeaska
4 differcnt question. Have you ever personslly prepared a

T 5 net worth statement for anyone?

6 A. No.

7 Q. Areyouﬁmuharmthtbewaythatsuchana
8 worth stateinent would be prepared?

9 A. No. |
10 Q. Okay. Haveyouever engagedin the valuation
11 of an asset?
12 A. No
13 Q. Doyoubaveanycx;muscmva]umganasu?
14 A No.
15 Q. Didanyone telf you that one of the purposes of

17 the assets?

13 A. Ne.

19 Q. Didanyonstell you that onc of the purposes of
20 Mr. OBrlen's visit was to understand the liabilities?
21 A. No.

22 Q. Didanyone tell you that Mr. O'Bricn was. trying

- { 23 to understand Mr. Trump's nict worth?

24 _ A. No,not for this meeting, not for the meeting
25 on April 21st.

51|,

16 Mr. O'Brien's visit was to understand the valuation of -
*{ 17 documents as weli?

1 as well to help since he's been there for all of the

2 acquisitions.

3 Q. Ckay. So—andwhotold you you’d be

4 attending?

5 A, Allen.

6 Q. Weissclberp?

7 A Yes..

$ Q. Andwhatdid hesay exactly?

g A Hcsmd,“lneedyoutooomctothcmeetmgso
10 that you can show him what you've tabbed, and I can
11 explain if there’s any additional information he needs™
12 Q. Whatifanything did Mr. Trump tell you prior
13 to the meeting about whether you shonld provide any
14 other documents that Mr. O'Brien might request?

15 A. Hedidn'ticll me anything about that.
16 Q. Atthemecting did Mr. O'Brien request other

18 A. Netfromme.

19 Q. Sohe didn'task for net worth statements or
20 audited financial statements of ~

21 A. Hemayhave asked that of Allen but not of me.
22 Q. Okay. Okay, so let me come back to that when
23w=diswsstbcstrucum=ofﬁxcmceﬁng.

24 A, Okay.

25 Q. YoudunkyouspcntaboutBDhourscol]ecung
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1

2 APPEARANCES:

3

4 BROWMN & CONNERY LLP

5 Attorneys for Plalntiff

6 360 Haddon Avenue

7 Westmant, New Jersey 08108

8 BY: WILLIAM M. TAMBUSSE, ESQ.

9 WILLIAM F. COOK, ESQ.

10 -and -~

i1 KASOWITZ, BI_ENSON, TORRES & FRIEDMAN LLP
12 1633 Broadway

13 New York, New York 16018-6799
14 ° BY; MARIA GORECKL, ESQ.

15

16 DEBREVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP
17 Attorneys for Defendants

1

2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Good moming, We
3 are on-the record, This is the deposition of

4 GenyRosmb!umtakenmmecaseofDmald.}.
5 “Trump versus Timothy-O'Brien, et al,, filed in

6 the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law

7 Divislon: Camden County, Docket Number

8 CAM-L-545-06. )

9 - Today's date is November 13th, 2007.
10  The time on the videotape record is 10:08 a.m.
11 This deposition is being held at 150 East 42nd
12 Street, New York, New York.
13 My name is J.0, Martinez on beha!f of
14 Veritext

15 Vi everyone please introduce
16  themselves and state whom they reprecent.

17 M. MANISERO: Thomas Manlsero, Wilson
18 | Elser. Irepresent \Welser and the witness.

19 MR. BURNS: Martin Burns of Wiison

20 Elser, also representing Welser and the

21 witness,

2 MR, CERESNEY: Andrew Ceresney from

23 Debevolsa & Plimpton LLP representing the

24  defendants: Timothy O'Brien, Time Warner Book
25 Group, and Warner Books. With me today is

12 ALSC PRESENT:
13 1.D. MARTINEZ, Videographer

18 919 Third Avenue
19 New York, New York 10022
20 BY: ANDREW J, CERESNEY, ESQ.
21 ANDREW M, LEVINE, ESQ.
2 MARY JO WHITE, £5Q.
23 JULIE S. SUH, £5Q.
24
25
3
1
2 APPEARANCES (continued):
3 .
4 WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ
s EDELMAN & DICKER L1P
6 Attorneys for Welser and Witness
7 3 Gannett Drive
8 White Platns, New York 10604-3407
9 BY: THOMAS R. MANISERO, ESQ.
10 MARTEN J. BURNS, ESQ.
11

Rosenblum - Confidential
Mary Jo White, Andrew Levine, and Julle Suh
from the Debevoise firm.
MR, TAMBUSSI: Wiillam Tambuss! from
Brown & Connery representing Donald Frump.
MS, GORECKI: Matla Goreckl from
Kasowitz, Benson, representing Donald Trump.
MR, RQSENBLUM: I'm somy, Fm Gerald
Rosenblum.
10 GERALD J. ROSENBLUM,
11 called a5 3 witness, having been duly swom
12 by the notary publlc, was examined and
13 testifled as follows:
14 EXAMINATION BY

GoNOWL D WN

14
15 15 MR. CERESNEY:
16 16 Q. Good moming, Mr. Rosenblum,
17 17 A Good moming.
18 18 Q. Letme introduce myself on the record.
19 19 I'm Andrew Ceresney from Debevoise 8. Plimpton. We
20 20 represent the defendants in this matter, Tl be
21 21 asking you some questions today and tomorrow
22 22 regarding the fawsult that Mr, Trump has brought
23 23 agalnst my cllents,
24 24 First of all, are you represented by
25 25 counsel today?
2
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1 Rosenblum - Confidentiat 1 Rosenblum - Confidenttal
2 read and literally read, not worked upon, perhaps, 2 had changed, Certain assels were acquired;
3 ornot — but it should be read and thought about 3 certaln assets were constructed, But that
4 and considered from the standpoint of exclusion of [ 4 methodology essentially stayed the some,
5 emors or omissions or anything that might come to | 5 So it was my effost to continue that
6 the mind of a person who's familiar with the 6 methodology, because, you know, something evolved
7 industry and Mr, Trump's activitles, 7 over time, it's generally pretty good, we thought,
8 So I always thought it was a good Idea 8 or I certainly thought. So [ dig have hands on in
9 1read that statement and think aboutit. And 9 tenms of the oompilation process, and I thatght
10 many years I assisted in the compilation or did 10 that worked pretty effectively,
13 the compilation. So — because, again, I thought 11 Q Youreferenced o methodology, What's
12 1t should be dona by somebody with a background {12 the methodology?
13 and understanding, 13 A Inquiry and receiving tnformation from
14 Q. Andyou had that background and 14 the dlient that's relevant and germane, and
15 understanding? 15 reading that Information or placing it in kind of
16 A IthinkIdid, 16 a worksheet format that pesents that — helps you
17 Q. Whenyousay you brought background and| 17 to maove that information forward so that you can
18 understanding to thosa compilations, what in 18 produce a relevant finandal Statement, that being
19 particular were you thinking of? What kind of 19 one that has meaning to the readar,
20 background? 20 So the effort was to take information,
21 A, The statement and the methodology and 21 receive Infarmation, and literally -~ I always usa
22 the preparation of the statement had evolved over |22 my hands -- complie It into something that moves
23 many years, We bagan issuing a compllation on 23 It forward to the polnt where it has relevance to
24 behalf of Mr. Trump I think somewhere around 24 the reader rather than Just belng information,
25 198171982, 25 data,
23 5
1 Rosenblum - Confidentia! 1 Rosenblum - Confidential
2 Andg the actual process was literally 2 So thatis the effort, That's the
3 evolved, I belleve, by myself working with Donald 3 methodology, '
4 Trump in the very early years to deriva an 4 Q. It sounds like the methodology you're
5 accurate presentation or what wa felt was an 5 speaking ofisa methodology for compilling the
6 accurate presentation. . 6 actual finandal statements; is that correct?
7 The methodalogy really didn't change. 7 A, Yes,
8 And questions would ba asked, and Information 8 Q. Howabout g methodology for -- did you
9 would be set down-on paper, Its not the same 9 havesa methodology for assessing the values that]
10 as —~ the compllation of a personal financial 16 you were given by Mr. Trump?
11 statement requires a lot of things which are nat 11 A No. Inthe compllation process, it Is
12 simply books and reconds, 12 not the role of the accountant to assess the
13 There are estimates of anrent value 13 values, Thetuleis to aocept those values and
14 Involved, which is generally accepted as an 14 mave them forward, |
15 aconunting principle with regard to financial 15 Certainly within the process or the
16 statements, compiled financial statements of 16 method we attempt and it is the role of the |
17 Individuals invoive current value, which makes 17 accountant to be jarred by anything that may be
18 them very unusual. Most other statements you look | 18 inaccurate or may be weird or out of context with
19 at reflect historic value and also reflact the 19 the way it was done In prior years or with regard
20 cost — the cost of the varlous assets you see, 20 to prior properties or current properties, other
21 But personal finandal statements, 21 properties,
122 generally accepted accounting principles, state 22 50 we accept the data prepared by the
23 you're supposed to use current estimated values, 23 dient. It's not that we are assessing. It's not
24 Soin deriving those estimates, we had . 124 thatwe'e accepting appraisals or not accepting
25 a methodology In place, It had evolved, Things 25 appraisals or negotiating aboutit. Itsa
7
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2 process of acceptance, but helping the cllent to 2 that? Was there anything —~ any substantive
3 be consistent and sensible about what they are 3 reason behind it?
4 presenting, or at least asking questions that lead 4 And I might transcribe that into a work
S you to feet yourseif as an accountant that it 5 paper {format. And the reason for thatis that
6 looks reasonable,.you knaw, the client's 6 next year, unless I have transcribed it this year,
7 methodology or whatever the dlent used appearsto{ 7 I'm not going to be able to tell the dlient what
8 belogical. Logi, I think, is really. 8 they did last year, )
9 Q. togical, not reasonable? 9 And the client, fike most — I'm .
10  A. Logical, perhaps, Reasonable — you 10 speaking of all cllents. They fike to be '
11 know, who knows what's reasonable in the world of | 11 consistent. They like to be logical, They like
12 present values, espedially in New York, No, it's 12 to present things in a reasonable meanner. And
13 more logical than it Is reasonable, I would have 13 they appreciate —~ I befleve they appredate being
14 to say. 14 advised as'to how we approach — how they approach :
15 Q. Let me ask you a few questions just 15 the matter in the prior year, :
16 followlng up on that. 16 Q. [Idon't want to mischaracterize what . @
17 So when you compiled a compilation, do 17 you're saying, so just telt me if this s correct. '
18 you express any opinion atall ~ 18 Do I hear you saying you that you would
19 A, No. 19 essentially ensure that the valuations - or at
20 Q. Holdon, ketme finish. Do you 20 least ask questions of the client to make sure the
21 express any opinfon at all regarding the values 21 valuations are done on a consistent basis from
22 that are in the compllation? 22 yearto year? )
rx) A. No, not- notatall. 134569, a 23 A, Imight, unless the dient felt, *
24 compllation Is specifically a disdalmer of 24 listen, there's this whole new set of information .
25 opinlon. 25 coming down and, you know, the way we used to do
27 .0 ‘
1 Rosenblum ~ Confidential 1 Rosenblum - Confidentiat i
2 Q. Sothe values that are provided in that 2 itis no longer appropriate, let's do it this way. :
3 compilation are really the dient’s values, not 3 And I'd say okay. ¢
4 your own; correct? 4 Q. You would agree to that if they said )
5 A, Correct. 5 that? .
6 Q. And you express no opinfon on the 6 A.  If the client sald that, that they
7 reasonableness of those values; correct? 7 would like to do itin a different manner, and If
8 A Corect 8 the cllent wishes to express that in one of the
9 Q. Now, with regard to your review of 9 footnotes to the statement, say, you know — not
10 those values, I think you said they have to be 10 necessanily because it's not comparative, not ]
11 logical - I'm sory, with regard to your reading 11 necessarily we used to do it this way; now we're
12 of those values. 12 doing it that way.
13 A. No, Fmsony, the value per se does 13 But perhiaps this value was developed in
14 nothave ta be logicatl, ) 14 the following manner. And the foomotes to the
15 Q. Okay. 15 statement generally explain that, how it was
i6 A From my standpoint, because, agaln, I'm | 16 derived. And as long as they are presenting it .
17 really not -~ I wouldn't have any way of knowing | 17 reasanably and sensibly, logically, it's fine with . ®
18 if the value was fogical. But if there wasa 18 me. It's thelr statement.
19 method used — for example, if therewasa method 19 Q. You use the terms “reasonably,”
20 used to desive a number in a prior statement for a {20 “sensibly,” and "logically.”
21 particutar asset, I would assist the dient by 21 A T'msony, Ishould — yeah, okay. I'm
22 saying, Listen, last year we showed a cestain 22 sormry.
23 number, and this year we'd ke toshawamuch |23 Q. I'mtrying to understand what you mean
24 different number. You know, is there some — - 24 by - it seems ke you're not really saying you
25 something — some way in which you're indicating | 25 assess the reasonableness of the value, ®
8
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Q. Falr enough.

A. Iwouldsymemngewasbetwemmybe
400 or 500 thousand dolfars up to what might have
been a maximum of a milllon,

Q. Which year was a million? Was that
2005 or 20067

A. Yes, It's been consistent. Yes, I .
belleve it would be 2006, afthough In 2006 I'm not
10 even certain I was the billing partner In 2006, at
11 the end of 2006. I may very well not have been
12 have been the billing partner at the end of 2006,
13 but F do think it was somewhere In that range,

14 Q. Inthe millon dollar range?

15 A, Somewhere [n that range, yes,

16 Q. And its grown over time, 1t sounds
17 1lke?

18 A, Ithas, ashave our services, you

18 know —

20 Q. Sure.

21 A. - a5 hashis asset pool and the things
22 we do for him.

23 Q. Understood, So his net worth has —
24 A, It's not predicated on his net wotth,
235 Q. I'msony, tothe extent his assets

OWONGDU L W N -

52
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will not bill stralght on tme, but we will use
that time as a guide to tell us how much ~ what
Is an appropriate Involce,

Q. IsMr. Trump one of Welser's top ten
dients in terms of revenue?

A.  I'would think so,

Q. Ishe the top cllent in terms of
revenue?
10 A Iwould notthink 50, no. I'mnotat
11 all certaln of the range of our dients,
12 Q. Butyou think ha's top ten?
13 A, I'would think he's top ten,
14 Q. How about top five?
15 A Ireally don't know.

WLONAW S WN -

16 Q. Okay,

17 MR, MANISERO: It's a firm that does
18 $100 milllon a year plus,

19 THE WITNESS: Yes,

20 MR. TAMBUSST: Understood. But you

21 still think - falr enough,

22 Q. Has he been, when he's been on your
23 account, your biggest client?

24 A Ch,yes,

25 Q. Do the fees that Mr. Trump pays your

133

1 Roszenblum - Confidential
2 increase and the work you do for him Increase, the
3 fees have Increasad?
4 A. When you say "asset,” the number of
S assets and the ftems with which we're Involved and
6 the processes with which wa're lnvolved and
7 perhaps other elements that call for Increased
8 Involvement that have nothing to do with the
9 assets at all, that have to do with matters that
16 come up,
1 As his complexity has Increased, as the
12 complexity of his activitles have increased, his
13 fees very well Increased,
14 Q. Doyoubill him on a fixed rate for
15 your services or by the hour?
16 A Wekeepirack of hours. We negotiate
17 atthe beginning of a period 3 fee with respact to
18 many of the properties, let's say, or the
19 particular activitles. We will have a fixed fee
20 with regard to those activitles, which Is agreed
21 upon that year, before the year begins. And then
22 we will have what we call spedals,
3 Things happen during the year where the
24 Intensity of aur activittes Is Increased, and we

53

Rosenbium - Confidential
firm Impact efther your compensation or
Mr. Bender's compensation?

A, No.

Q. Dothey have any impact at all?

A. They have never had any Impact on my
compensation. I rezlly - my compensation has
been derived by formula since 1979, And that

9 formuta does ot involve Mr. Trump or the activity
10 with regard to his acoount.

DNOUNDWN

Ji1 Q. Itdoesn'tInvolve the revenue that he
12 derives?

13 A, HNo,itdoesnot,
4 Q HasMn Trump referved other cllents to

15 you over tima?

16 A, No.

17 Q. No?

18 Let me just show you what we'll mark as
19 Defendants' Exhibit B — -

20 MR. TAMBUSSE: Maybe this Is an

21 appropriate ime to put on the record thera Is
22 aconfidentiality order in place In this case

23 and certaln documents that would be shown to
24 ﬂiemmesandusedlnmemumeofmls

125 depoa'ﬂonmaybecovetedbymat

212-267-6868

VERITEXT/NEW YORK REPORTING COMPANY

14

516-608-2400

3775a



Ao e
LI P N Y Y

LTRSS N P I N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

110

Rosenbium - Confldential

Q. By the way, would a finandial statement
prepared without these departures hava resulted In
a reduction of Mr. Trump's net worth? Let me put
that another way, because I see you're havirig
trouble, :

A. No.

Q. Okay. Doall of these GAAP exceptions
restlt in a higher net worth than would othérwise
be the case if the exceptions were - if the
financial statements were prepared without the
exceptions? .

A, Well, in‘answer ta your first question,
the fact that -~

(Discussion off the record.)
MR, MANISERQ: Go ahead.

A, The fact that generally accepted
acoounting principles require that a personal
finandal statement ncfude a provision for
current Incorma taxes as well as estimated income
taxes on the differences between the estimated
current values of assets and the estimated current
values of liabliftles, yes, you know, if that
were - {f that Information were avallable and
were prevented - presented, the net worth would

113 Q. Mr. Bender — Mr. Rosenblum - I'm

Rosenbium - Confidential
worth, GAAP net worth?
A.  GAAP net worth would be lower.
Q. -Would be lower?
‘MR, CERESNEY: Why don't we change the
tape,
THE VIDEQGRAPHER: Gelng off the record
12:42, End of Tape 2.
(Recess taken from 12:42 to 12:49.)
10 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're returning to
11 the record 12:49 p.m., beginning of Tape
12 Number 3.

QNN L WN e

14 loaking at the word Bender,

‘15 A.  You're presdent.

16 Q. Thats right. Looking ahead.

17 MR, MANISERO: Well, that went quickly.
18 A.  I'mhappy.

19 Q. Letme ask you a few other questions
20 prefiminarily befora we go into the various

21 different properties, which we'll do after funch,
22 Ipromise, Let me ask you to tum to the

23 liabifity section of the statement of finandal

24 conditfon, 1 note that there are a numbes of

25 liabliiles here that add up to $720,600,000. How

1z

DN DU S LN

11
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be fower than It is expressed In this finandal
statement.

Q. How about with regard to the exception
In the third paragraph of the first page that we
talked about with regard to nonfarfeltable, fixed,
and determinable and not requiring future :
services, If that GAAP exception were not present
and If the finandal statements were prepared In
accordance with GAAP and not with this
Mr. Trump's net worth, I take it, would In fact be
{ower In these financial statements?

A. The stated net worth In the statement,
the number presented In the statement, might ba
lower. Whether the reader, who, afterall, isa
knowledgeable reader and a reader — in other
wonrds, the reader may say, well, GAAP Is not

,{ 10 Mr. Trump's liabilitles at that point in time, and

113
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2 did you satisfy yourself that you were aware of
3 3l labllities of Mr. Trump or his related

4 entities?

5 A, ThatIwasaware of them? I asked the
6 dient to provide me with a list of liabilitles as

7 they existed at June 30th, 2005, The dient

8 presented me with a list, In essence, T'm not

9 certaln to this day that I was aware of all of

11 Isought no corroboration.

12 However, to the edent I did know of 2
13 llability or might know of a liabllity or perhaps
14 should have known of a llabliity, I certalnly

15 would have suggested to the client that they

16 modify thelr list, and the dient would have done
17 so, I'm quite confident.

18 appropriate, The reader might very well say GAAP [18 Q.  But you didn't commoborate that list?
19 isnotappropriate, Iwanttoknowwhathewit |19 A, Idid not corroborate that list, but
20 be deriving from those things. 20 there is nothing on that list, to the best of my
21 | Sothereader may state to themseives 21 knowledge and bellef, that was wrong or omitted.
22 that his true net worth, whatever that Is, 22 Q. Butas you say, you don't know to this
23 platonically true net worth, is actually higher 23 day whether this Is a complete list or not?
24 than the number presented. 24 A, o, I do not know whether it’s a
25 Q. TI'mnotasking about plutonic net 25 complete fist.
29
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212-267-6868 516-608-2400

3776a

o Rl ks o T

PROCIPN RN



114

Rosenblum - Confidential

Q. Locking to the basis of presentation,
which is the next page of the finandial
statements, Note 1 ~ and I want to direct your
attention here to first the second paragraph about
valuation methods. It says here: Such valuation
methods Indude but are not limited to the use of
appraisals, capltalization of anticipated
eamings, recent sales and offers, and estimates
10 of current values as determined by M. Trump in
11 conjunction with his associates and outside .
12 professionals. Considerable judgment is necessary
13 to determine market data and develop the related-
14 estimates of cument value.
15 Accordingly, the estimates presented
16 herein are not necessarily indicative of the
17 amounts that could be realized ypon the
1B disposition of the assets or payment of related
19 fabilitles, The use of different market
20 assumptions and/or estimation methodologles may
21 have a material effect on the estimated current
22 value of these amounts,
23 Is it falr to say that this essentlally
24 Indicates that there is judgment involved in
125 deriving thece valuations?

SN LN S WM -
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Q. And do you know spedfically who those
outside professionals might be that contributed to
the varlous valuations.in this?
A, They could have been — I really don't

Q. 1understand,

A. You're dealing with people I don't deal
with.
10 Q. Iunderstand, I'm just asking for your
11 recollection.
12 A. MNo,Idonot.
i3 Q. Falrenough.
14 By the way, in this list of different
15 methods of valuation, is one of the acceptable
16 methods listed here the price at which Mr. Trump
17 has been offering properties for sale? Is thatan
18 accepted valuation method?
19 A, Iwould say that would depend on the
20 amount of ~ are you saying accepted pursuant to
21 GAAP?
22 Q. Yes. I'msaying GAAP because these
23 _are ~ In other words — well, let me ask —
24 A, Wewould take an exception,
25 Q. Would that fall within the exception

DONOWnmA WN =

know. You're going to 2005, which is a while ago.

115
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A. Asa reader I would say that,

Q. And that the valuations that are in
this finandal satement are Mr. Trump's judgment
about what these assets are valued at?

A. In conjunction with his assoclates,
yes.

Q. Now, you mention here outside
professionals, in some Instances outside
10 professionals, Do you know which outside
11 professionals those are?
12 A, Although I may not know in its
13 entirety, I can give you an example,
14 Q. Letmeaskyou this ~ give me the
15 example and then tell me of any others you're
16 aware of.
17 A Anexample might be if Mr. Trump was
18 seeking to derive the value for this purpose or
19 his assistants or assodates were seeking to
20 derive the value of the apartment unit on the
21 .twentieth floor of a certzn building in the left
22 comer, southem comner or whatever. He might
23 verywell call a salesperson wha s not In his
24 employ and say, What do you think the value of
25 that apartment might ba?

VCONOUDWNE

117
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for fixed — not fixed —
A. And determinable?
Q. And determinable?
A. That might —~ the amount at which he is
6 offering might fall, if it is not fixed, the
7 amount for which he's offering Is daeterminable,
8 In an Instance like that, I think it might be
9 contingent upon the amount of interest that has
10 been manlfested by others In his offer. So he
11 might employ that.
i2 In other words, he might be very dase
13 o a deafin his own mind-set, and ke might say
14 that I'm really close enough on thils deal to
15 utifize my offering price because, although it
16 hasn't been accepted as yet, and therefore it's
17 not a contract and not determinable and not
18 legally enforceable, it seems to be a numbes which
19 I think was well derived and I'm golng to say that
20 that [s that the estimated current value, not
21 pursuant to GAAP but pursuant to perhaps
22 methadology that the reader would find acceptable.
23 That might be used.
24 Q. How about an offer price where there's
25 no demonstration of Interast, Is that something

[T - N N
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2 Doesn't that-indicate that according to 2 its cast, which is not its value and acknowledged
3 generally accepted accounting principles that 3 notto be s vatue; and another set of GAAPR would
4 these finandial statements should not reflect the 4 say, no, you must hive present it at the estimated
5 wvalue of Mr. Trump's worldwide reputation? S eamed value,
G A. T would say that's probably true, 6 So [ would say that there might be a
7 because it doesn't —~ I wolild have to research the | 7 conflict in GAAP, and certzinly there's a fot of
B paint, But, for example, GAAP may, in the 8 research, which I don't have available,
9 instance of brand names — and I'm far from being | 9 Q. Atthe time you prepared these, which
10 an expert in this — GAAP may provide that we 10 GAAP did you follow? The one that said put it on
11 express the cost of obtalning that brand, we 11 the finandal statements or the GAAP that said
12 express the dient's cost of obtalning that brand, 12 don't?
13 but not the value. 13 A Obvicusly we pursued the GAAP that --
14 So pursuant th GAAP, we might not be 14 or the client pursued the GAAP that sald do not
15 reflecting the valule or GAAP would not affow us or § 15 putit on the statements, I does not appearon
16 pemnit the reflection of a value but might reflect | 16 the statements,
17 the admission of a cost, which for GAAP purposes 117 Q. At tha time It was your understanding
18 would be the value, but it would not be the 18 that GAAP, as applifed to these finandal
19 estimated current value, 19 statements, should not reflect the value of Donald
20 Sa it's not quite dear. 20 Teurmp's worldwide reputation in thesa finandal
21 Q. Letmeaskyou this: You prepared this |21 statements; is that commect?
22 compilation; comect? 2 A, Comect.
23 A. Compiled. 23 MR, CERESNEY: I think we can take
24 Q. You complled the compilation. 249  lunch now. :
25 And the compilation indicates pursuant 25 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Golng off the record
123 125
1 Rosenblum - Confldential 1 Rosenblum - Confidential
2 to generally accepted accounting principles they 2 1:06 p.m.
3 do not reflect the value of his warldwide 3 {Time noted: 1:06 p.m.)
4 reputation. . 4
5 Sitting here today and reflecting back 5
6 on your understanding at the time you prepared 6
7 these, what was your understanding about whether | 7
8 Mr. Trump's waridwide reputation could be Included | 8
9 In these finandal statements under GAAP? 9
10 A, Under GAAPY 10
11 Q. Under GAAP, 11
12 A. I'would say that the polnt —~ the 12
13 reflection of any such value Is so-contingent on 13
14 future services, on ill-defined — on nondefined 14
15 or nonexistent contractual refationships to be 15
16 derived in the future or to evolve In the future 16
17 or simifar such matters as probably to preclude 17
-] 18 them under GAAP, as we say there, or asthe client | 18
19 says there. 19
20 Then agaln, GAAP would also require us 20
21 to show such item as an asset and to show itat 21
22 its estimated current value. 22
23 So there Is a pogsibility that GAAP 23
24 _might confiict In this Instance, that one set of 24
25 GAAP say don'tinclude it at all, ot value it at 25
. 32
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150 152
1 Rosenblum - Confidential 4 Rozenblum - Canfidential
2 Vardl, when doing 1998, no change 1999 or 2000, 2 valuation for 1998 that was induded on the .
3 Increase by 10 percent from 2000 to 2001,2001t0 | 3 statement of financial condition that year?
42002, and 5 percent 2002 to 2003, In 2004 hekd at | 4 A, Probably. And ¥ we look to the
5 PY - which I assume means prior year, 5 analogous work paper for the year 1998, it might
6 A, Prior year. & say that, and I haven't.
7 qQ — per AW -- which L assume means Allen | 7 Q. You sald you met Mr, Vardi —
8 Weisselberg - 8 A.  Onoccasion,
9 A Yes. 9 Q@ - onoccasion,
10 Q. ~~ 2003 held at PY prior year per JM — 10 Have you aver done any work with him?
11 wh!dllassumerr\eansjefchchney-— 11 A Idon'tbeleve so, I an'tthink of
12 A, Yes, 12 an Instancewhemweworkedonapapertogcmu.
13 Q. --comparable to sale of GM building at 13 We may have sought Information - he has done work
14 $1320 per square foot, approximately 260,000 14 for Mr. Trump In the past, He has approtsed
15 square feet in this property. 15 certaln properties owned by Mr. Trump for purposes
16 Do you see that? 16 of obtalning - Mr. Trump's obtalning of financial
17 A Yes. 17 backing roravmqueorﬂnandngfofavmm
1B Q. Does'thatarticulate the methodology 18 S0 Avi Vard! has warked with My, Trump,
19 for achleving the 349,400,000 valuation that's 18 and I'm sure I've spoke with Avi Vardi on matters
20 Included on the statement of financial condition 20 aver the years, 1 met him with regard to a
21 for Trump Tower? 21 different dient, or 1 conversed with him about
22 A, Ithink that does, 22 matters concerning a different client, with a
23 Q. Whatdoesit mean: Avi Vardl, when 23 client that had engaged Mr. Vard),
24 dolng 1998, no change 1599 or 20007 What does | 24 But I wouldn't say we worked together,
25 that mean? 25 Tve obtzined Information from him and counsed
151 153
1 Rosenblum - Confidential 1 Rozenblum - Confldential
2 A AviVaordils an appraiser, I forget 2 from him with reqard to property that he's
3 what company he's with or what firm he's with. 1 3 familiar with, ButI don't recall ever working
4 knaw him. Tve met him on occasion, The client 4 with him for these purposes.
5 knows him. M&lemmmeaumehhenapparenuy 5 Q. Do you know the nature of his
6 e were doing the 19 — well, we were compliing 6 ip with Mr. Trump?
7 melssﬂﬁmndalshhenmmatqurd!hada 7 A He s an appralcer, an authorized —
8 conversation with cur client. 8ymﬂmmwakmmwammmmgmmhupmw&ﬁ
9 And the dient was asking Avi Vardl not 9 Mr.Trumpwﬂj]appm!mls,lnotinattcrs,not
10 r‘oranappmlsal,perse,mttogooutanddoan 10 thls.
11 appraisal, but to give the client, [n this cce 11. Q. Did healo work with Mr. Trump's
12 NmWelmelbe:g,advfceon.mhm,hmvyou 12  Fred?
13 would go about valulng this thing or what the 13 A Not to my recollection. I belleve ha
14 approximate vajue of this thing ks or, you know, 14 might be too young to have done it. -
15 general advice, not — not an appralsal bt 15 Q. Howabouthlsfm'merpa.rmer,rmin
16 gme‘raladvloeonhowtogoabomdomgltor i6 Steinbery, is that a name you know? :
17 actually saying, well, In ny quess, not 17 A IWsaname that solnds
18 professlonally, but in my guess it's worth X 18 familiar, but I don't know that I know him.
19 dollars. 19 Q. Doyouknow If anyone from the Tump
20 That Is what Is referred to by Avi 20 organization consulted with Mr. Vard! after 1998
21 Vardi, It's refenring to a conversation had at 21 reganding the valuation of Trump Tower?
22 the time the 1998 statement was prepared, 22 A Idonothmv,but-—ldonot!mowone
3 Q. Andwas that conversation with Avl 23 way or the gther,
24 VaydiIn which he provided the advice that you 24 Q. Dostfﬂsworkpaperreﬂactmatmem
25 Just described the basls for the offidal © 25 wasanycocmﬂnﬂoanmMr.Vardl,mtennsof
39
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DAVID DILLON, AUGUST 13, 2008

Page 1
SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW IERSEY

Page 3
PRESENT: (Continued)

i i
2 CAMDEN COUNTY 2 DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON, LLP,
3 - 3 (919 Third Avenue,
-4 DONALD I, TRUMP, ) 4 New York, New York 10022,
5 Plaintiff, ) 5 212-909-6069), by:
6 vs ) No. L-545-06 6 MR. ANDREW M., LEVINE,
7 ‘MMOTHY OBRIEN, TIME } 1 appeared on behalf of the Defendants;
8 WARNER BOOK GROUP, INC,, ) g
9 and WARNER BOOK,INC,, ) 9 O'BRIEN AND O'BRIEN,
10 Defendants, ) 10 (1249 Waukegan Road,
11 i Glenview, [llinois 60025,
i2 The videotaped deposition of 12 847-729-8191), by:
13 DAVID DILLON, called for examination, taken before  : 13 MR, MICHAEL O'BRIEN,
14 KATIE K. ELLIOTT, a Notary Public within and for the | 14 appeared on behalf of the Deponent.
15 Cuunty of Cook, State of Iilinois, and a Certificd ]
16 Shorthand Reporier of said state, at Suite 4000, 6 ALSOPRESENT:
17 Ten South Wacker Drive, Chicago, liinois, on the 17 Mr. Joseph Cirillo, Videographer, Esquire
13 §3th day of August, A.D. 2008, at 10:05 a.m. .18  Deposition Services.
19 : 19
20 20
21 :21
{122 22
23 +23 REPORTED BY: KATIE K. ELLIOTT, CSR, RPR,
24 24 CSR CERTIFICATE NO. 84-4537.
Pape 21 Page d
! PRESENT: - 1 THEVIDEQGRAPHER: We're going on the video
2 BROWN & CONNERY, LLP, l 2 record at 10:05 am. My name is Joseph Ciritlo, 1
3 {360 Haddon Avenue, . 3 amihbe legal video photographer in association with
4  Westmont, New Jersey 08108, ! 4 Bsquire Deposition Services. Our address is 11—
5  856-854-8900), by: ‘5 cxcuse me —311 West Monroe Street, Chicago,
6 MR, WILLIAM M. TAMBYJSSI, ; 6 Wlinois. The contt reposter today is Katic
7 -and- {7 Elliott, also of Esquire Deposition Services.
$  KASOWITZ BENSON, TORRES & FRIEDMAN, LLP, i 8 Heze begins the videotaped deposition of
9 {1633 Broadway Avenue, ; 9. David Dillon taking place at Reed Smith,
10 New York, New York 10019-6799, ! 10 Ten South Wacker Drive, 40th Floar, Chicago,
I 212-506-1700), by: 11 Nlinois. Today's date is August 13, 2008. This
12 MS. MARIA GORECKIT, 12 deposition is being taken in the matter of
13 - -and- . 13 Donald J. Trump, Plaintiff, versus Timothy O'Brien,
14  ANCEL, GLINK, DIAMOND, BUSH, {4 Time Wamer Book Group, Inc.,, and Wamer
15 DiCTANNI & KRAFTHEFER, P.C., *15 Books, Inc., in the Superfor Court of New Jersey,
16 {140 South Dearbom Street, Sixth Floor, ' 16 Camden County, Case No. L-545-06.
17 Chicago, Tlinois 60603, '17 Counsel, would you please identify
18 312-207-1000), by: : 18 yourselves for the record.
19 MR. THOMAS G. DiCTANNL, .19 MR. TAMBUSSE Williasn M. Tambussi of the firm
20 appeared on behalf of the Plointiff; ", 20 of Brown & Connery for the Plaintiff Donald Trump.
21 : ;21 MR.DiCIANNEL Thomas DiCianni, also defending
2 2 the Plaintiff,
23 23  MS. GORECKI: Maria Gorecki from Kasowitz,
24 " 24 Benson, Torves & Friedman for Plaintiff Donald

1 (Pages i to4)
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DAVID DILLON, AUGUST 13. 2008

Page 81° Page 3

H A. There's no set number necessarity, but 1 A No.

2 1 Ican't—Ecouldn't even tell you how many $2 Q. Werc you present - well, you make a
3 people were involved with that scheme. I'm not 3 telerence now to Bill Clinton. Are you referving to
4 sure. 4 President Clinton?”

3 Q Isthatthe only scheme you're talking . 3 A, The former President Clinton.

6 about when you say that many a dishonest dirtbag in it 6 Q. Pormerpresident?

7 corporate America has been soundly stapled byhis : 7 A Y.

3 columns and comments? 8 Q. Whatis that reference ahout?

9 A, That's the only one that I'm aware of 9 A, Hewasata party with — where Bill
10 that resutted in people going to jail for what they i 10 Clinton und Martha Stewart were, But I'm muking
11 hud done, 11 that up that that happeped. T'm — P'm just irying
12 Q. How about other people in corporate - 12 tobe funny. ~
13 America who had been soundly stapled by 13 Q. Well, the next pant say that, Soon he
14 Mr. O'Brien’s columns and comments? What are you'} 14 will discuss his new baok hout Trump with Larry
15 referring to there? . 15 King while The Donuld remains in a fetal posilivn in
6 A, The money laundering scheme is the - 16 his bathroom unable to speak or keep fuod down as
17 example where — I think that was the most tranmatic i 17 Timexpluins the real business aptitude of the
18 example of some of his writing resulting in some i I8 wizard behind the curtain,

19 action being taken for some dishonesty. P19 Did you write those words?
20 Q. Yournext -~ your next sentence says - ‘20 A Yes.
21 you do recall writing all this, right? i21 Q. InJune of 2005, what did you know sbout
22 A Ido. i22 the book that Timothy O'Brien was writing about
23 Q. Hehas visited with Bilt Gates, Warren :23 Donald Trump that would make - keep The Donald in a
24 Buffet, and everyone else below them of Jesser : 24 fetal position in his bathroom unable to speak or
Pape 82 i Page 84
1 significance and refused 1o believe the Emperor ever lr 1 keep food down?

2 had any clothes on when he did not. t 2 A. Iwasbeing sarcastic and trying to be

3 Are you refering to something specific { 3 funny for my frienda.

4 about Bill Gates and Warren Buffet when you make the | 4 . Q, Well, you then say that Mr. O'Brien's

5 references to the Emperor never having any clothes is going to e — explain the real business aptitude of

6 on? i 6 the wizard behind the curtain, Where did you get

7 A. This was some sarcasm referring to my i 7 those words from?

8 impression that I don't think Tim is necessarily {8 A Thoseare my words, .

9 fearful of asking hard questions to accomplished | 9 Q DidMr.OBrieneverindicats to you that
1¢ men. $ 10 he believed that Mr. Trump was a wizard behind the
It Q. Next sentence is, He berated Yack Welch 111 curtain?

12 to his face, asked Bill Clinton to hurry up passing 112 A No.

i3 the salt when Martha Stewart was done withitata i13 Q. At— atoraround this time in Jore of

14 private dinner party with them, and braved the i 14 2005, is it still your testimony that youhad no

15 dangerous rigers of a fisherman's life out at sea. i 15 discussions with Mr. O'Brien about the substance or
6 How do you know that Tim O'Brien berated i 16 nature of the book?

17 Fack Welch to his (ace? "17 A, When was the book published?

I8  A. This was sarcasm and exagperation. He {18 Q October2005.

19 bumped into Jack Welch at some sort of a panel thar 5 19 A. Okay. I'mnot certain when I reccived my
20 he was on, and -- and they had some sort of a — a ; 20 copy of the book now, but I believe I received it
21 polite disagreement, but I exaggerated in this. I'm 121 before it was on the shelves,

22 just trying to get a laugh out of my friends. i22 Q. You believe you received it some four

23 Q. Wereyou ptesent when Mr. O'Brien met .23 months prior to that it would be on the shelves?
24 with Mr, Welch? i24 A, Possibly. Idon't recall, but possibly.

Wy

21 (Pages 81 to 84)
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that a lawsuit was filed?

DAVID DILLON, AUGUST (3. 2008
Pape 117 Page 119
1 Q. What was Tim O'Bricn’s plan? ] A, Yes.
2 A, Theoverall plan was to have the 2 Q. When did you leam that?
3 awareness of the book result in increased sales. 3 A, [lcun'trecall exactly when.
T4 Q WhatwasMr. O'Brien'splantoinerease 4 Q. How did you leurn that 2 lawsuit was
5 the awareness of the book? 5 filed?
6 A. ['mtelling you about my plun that [ 6 A Ibelieve Tim told me.
7 discussed with Tim, but Tim's plan— 7 Q. Didhe tell you that in an ¢-mail ora -
8 Q [I'mnotasking you that question, sic. [ 8 alelephone cal1? How did that work?
9 hate to interrupt you, but - and F know you havea 9 A. It must have been one of the two.
10 loyalty to your longest tenured friend. Butinthis 10 Q. Okay. What did he tell you about the
i1 c-mail you make reference to Tim's stntegy, and 11 lawsuit?
12 within 10, 15 words, you make reference to 12 A, Just that a suil had been filed.
13 Mr. O'Brien’s plan. 13 Q. Didyou telt him at that time that it was
14 AllT want to know is what was 14 fights out?
£5 Mr. OO'Brien's plan that you wrote about. I5 A. [@don'tthinkI did.
16  A. Greater awareness would be helpful, 16 Q. Didyou tell him at that time it's game
{7 Q. Andihat would be checkmate, You wrote ' 17 over?
18 those words, right? I8 A. No. Idon'tbelieve I did.
19 A, Itcould be, yes. f wrote those vords, 19 Q. Did Mr, O'Brien tell you about the — the
20 Q. You'rsnot going to tel me what 20 nature of the lawsuit?
21 Mr. O'Brien's strategy or plan was, are you? 21 A. In general terms, just that Mr. Trump
22 A, [told you as much as [ know about it, 22 took issue with some information in the book.
23 Q. Youmake reference to Mr. O'Bren's 23 ° Q. Didhe tell you anything more specific
24 strategy us being perfect in this e-muil, doyou 24 than that?
Page 118 Page 120
I not? [ A. Just that he took issue with maybe some
2 A. Yes 2 of his financial information and how it was
3 Q. Andyon'renot going to tell me— ' 3 presented in the book, and that was of concem to
4 MR. LEVINE: Objection, form. 4 him. ,
5 BY MR TAMBUSSE 5 Q. Goingback to T-38 at the very top, in
6 Q. — no matter how many times I ask you 6 response to your e-mail regarding strategy where you
7 what his strategy was that was perfect, are you? 7 mention Mr. O'Brien's perfect plan and
8 A, Ithinkthe concept of greater awareness * 8 M. O'Bsien -- I'm sorry — perfect strategy and
Y driving sales is — is Marketing 101, and I think - 9 Mr. O'Brien's plan that will turn Donald Trump's
10 that's a perfect plan. 10 lights out instantly, Mr. O'Brien sends — Mr. Tim
Il Q. Andthe plan that you refer to that will 11 O'Brien sends you a response, does he not?
12 tum Donald Trump's lights out instantly, you'renot 12 A, Yes.
I3 going to tell me what that plan was, either, are 13 Q. Hesays, In all seriousness, please don't
14 yon? 14 send any more e-muils to mi¢ that contain language
Is A ljustdid 15 like this. It's very, very unwise legally.
16 Q. You finish this e-mail and say, At ease. 16 Do you see that?
17 Smoke 'em if you got ‘em. 17 A. Yes.
13 What do you inean by that? 18 Q. Did you have any discussions with
19 A, [It's just me trying to be funny as if [ 19 Mr. O'Brien by what he meant by that - those two
20 was a -~ some sort of a commanter teiling his troops 20 sentences?
21 that they could be dismissed. Just one of — 21 A. Tlapologizedtohim. I was gettinga
22 another example of me being obnoxious, 22 little out of hand with my -- with my attempt at -
23 Q. Did there come a time when you leamed 23 athumor.
24 24 Q. Whatdid Mr. O'Brien say to you in

30 (Pages 117 10 120)
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Patrick J. OBrien E March 27, 2008
Washington, DC
Page 1
1 SUPERIOR COURT OF MEW JERSEY ]:
2 CAMDEN COUNTY I;
e ‘ ;
4  DONALD J. TRUMP, ; |§
5 Plaintiff, : )
6 V. :
7  TIMOTHY O'BRIEN, TIME WARNER  : No. L-545-06
8  BOOK GROUP INC., AND WARNER :
9  BOOKS INC., :
10 Defendants. :
i e alat LR X
12 Washington, D.C.
13 Thursday, March 27, 2008
14 Videotaped deposition of PATRICK J. O'BRIEN, a
15 witness herein, called for examination by counsel for
16 Plaintiff in the above-entitled matter, pursuant to notice, i
17 the witness being duly sworn by DENNIS A. DINKEL, a Notary u
18 Public in and for the District of Columbia, taken at the i
19 offices of DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP, 555 13th Street, N.W., f
20 Washington, D.C, at 9:57 a.m., Thursday, March 27, 2008, and é
21 the proceedings ‘being taken down by Stenotype by DENNIS A. ;
22  DINKEL, FAPR, CRR, and transcribed under his direction. ;
J
¥
Alderson Reporting Company
1-800-FOR-DEPO
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Patrick J. O'Brien

March 27, 2008
Washington, DC
Page 2 Page 4
1 APPEARANCES: 1 CONTENTS
2 On behalf of the Plaintiff: 2 WITNESS . PAGE
3 WILLIAM M, TAMBUSSI, ESQ. 3 PATRICKJ. OBRIEN
4 WILLIAM F, COOK, ESQ. 4
5 Brown & Connery, LLP S EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF 6
6 360 Haddon Avenue 6
7 Westmont, NY 08108 7 EXHIBITS
8 Phone: 212-854-8900 8 TRUMPEXHIBITNO. DESCRIPTION PAGE
9 and K 9 45 TOB-EF 5046108047 37
10 MARIA 'GORECKL, ESQ. 10 46  Three-page documnent, The New York 37
11 Kasowitz, Benson, Torres & Friedman LLP | 11 Post, November 4, 2005
12 1633 Broadway 12
13 New York, NY 10019 13
14 Phone: 212-506-1700 4
15 and 15
16 RICHARD KARPINSKI, ESQ. 16
17 Shapiro, Lifschitz and Schram, P.C. 17
18 1742 N Street, N.W, 18
19 Washington, DC 20036 19
20 Phone: 202-639-1500 20
21 21
22 22
Page 3 Page 5
1 APPEARANCES - continued: 1 PROCEEDINGS
2 2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Good morning. This
3 On behalf of the Defendant: 3 begins tape number 1 in the videotaped deposition of
4 * 4 Patrick O'Brien on Thursday, March 27, 2008 in the
5 ANDREW M. LEVINE, ESQ. S matter of Donald J, Tmmp, plaintiff, versus Timothy
6 Debevoise & Plimpton LLP 6 O'Bricn, Time Wamer Book Group Inc., and Warner
7 619 Third Avenue 7 Books Inc,, defendants.
8 New York, NY 10022 8 This case was filed in the Superior Court
9 Phone: 212-909-6069 3 of New Jessey, law division, civil pant, Camden
10 10 Connty, docket number £.-545-06.
11 Also Present: 11 This deposition is vaking place at
12 NICHOLAS GUZMAN, Videographer { 12 555 13th Street, Nosthwest, Washington, D.C. 20005.
13 13 My pame is Nicholas Guzman. 1l be the
14 14 legal vidzo specialist on behalf of Alderson
15 15 Reporting. ‘The certified court reporter today is :
16 16 Dennis Dinkel, also on behalf of Alderson Reposting, |
17 17 located at 1111 14th Street, Northwest, Washington, 'j
18 18 D.C, 20005. . :
19 19 At this time, I ask counsel please \
20 20 introduce themselves for the record. y
21 21 MR. TAMBUSSI: William Tarbussi, William }
22 22 Cook of Brown & Comnery LLP., Maria Gorecki of h‘
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Patrick J, O'Beien

Murch 27, 2008

3785a

Washington, DC
e o RALRENR ) L
1 Kusowitz, Benson, for plaintitf Donuld Taump, 1 tomy atiention.
by MR. KARPINSKI: Richard Kurpinski, 2 Q. Okay. Soyou know you all your answers |
i Shapiro. Lipschitz & Schram for plaintiff, Donald 3 have to be verbal, of cetern, et cetera? :
1 Tump. 4 A. Correct. yos.
s VIR, LEVINE: Anlrew Levine from the linn 3 €. Have you ever been deposed before?
n Debeviuse & Plimpton for the defendants Timothy o A. Thavenot
¢ (FBrien, Time Wamer Book Group Inc., and Wamner 7 Q. Okay. This is your first time. Welcome
# Mk Inc, 3 1w the experience.
4 THE VIDEQGRAPHER: For the reconl, would 9 3ir, where do you practice law?
10 the court reponer plesse sivear in the witness? 10 A.  Primarily out of the Washington office,
11 Wherewpon, 11 Washington area, although I represent clicnts in
12 PATRICK J. OBRIEN, L2 Detrait, Philadelphia, and Chicago,
13 business sddress ut 5101 River Road, Bethesda, 13 Q. Okay. And whatis the name of your law 1
Ui Marylund 20818, was cxlled o2 1 witness by eounsel 14 firm? " ;
1S for Plaintiff, und having been duly swom by the 15 A. O'Brien & O'Btien PC. . i
16 Notary Public, was examined and testified as follows: 16 Q. Isthere another living O'Brien who is the |
L)} EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFR 17 other O'Brien in that? {
18 MR TAMBUSSI: Thank you, 18 A. That's my late father, who was an attorney |
19 BY MR TAMBUSSI: 13 in Chicago. .
20 Q. Good moming, Mr. O'Bricn, My nume is 20 Q. Okay. And where does your firm have |-
=1 Bill Tumbussi, [ represent the pluintiff, Dongld 21 uffices? .
32 Trump, s you just heard. We're here to tuke — 22 A.  In Bethesda, Maryland. 5101 River Road, f
Page 7 rage ¥ f
1 today to take your deposition. 1 suite 614, and Ehave relationship with a taw firm )
2 [ understand, sir, that you're an 2 inChicago, where I have offices on Wacker Drive. I
3 nuomcy;isth;ncom? 3 . Q. Doyou have any brothers that are also N
4 A. That's comect, 4 engaged in the practice of law?
S Q. Are you familiar with the deposition ] A, Yes, Ido. My older brother, Michnel,
6 process? 6 is - practices in Glenview, fllinols, Also O'Brien
7 A. Unfortunately, yes, 7 and O'Brien, |
8 Q. Okay, What area of law do you practice? | 3 Q. Do you have any affiliation with your
9 A, Primadly tax, 5  brother Michacl's law firmn? :
10 Q. Okay. Areyou familiar with the pracice 110 A. No. I may have been listed as of counse}
11 of law in the field of litigation? 1 fromtime totime. But--
12 A, Yes, lam, 12 Q. But there are two sepanate law firms, your
13 Q Areyouaiax litigator? 13 brother's Iaw firm and your law firm?
4 A. Ihavedonetax litigation. 'm currendy 14 A. Right. AsTundesstand it, my brother’s
15 doing x ligation. 15 law fima i incorporated in flinois. Mine is
16 Q Oky. 16 incorporated in Maryland.
17 A.  And Fhave taken and defended depositions. |17 Q. I'm going to remind yon of one ]
13 Q. Would you like me to go through all the +$ instruction. Even thoagh you may assume to know what}s
|18 tedious instructions regarding adepositionthatare )} 19 oy question may be, please wait for me (o finich my
20 rypically given to a witness? . 20 question
31 A IfIdosomething in.violation of those 21 A Excuseme.
32 instructions, I trust you'll bring themimmediately |22 Q. Noproblern. Itis more for the court
3 tPages 6 zo Q)
Alderson Reporting Company
1-800-FOR-DEFO
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Murch 27, 2008

Washington, DC

Sage L) dfage i)
i seporter's interest in getting a comect record und L litigtivg, whene he was a puny.
< vurinterest in him getting 3 correct record, ‘Thank ] Q. Okay. With regand to this inatter, without .
7 you 3 giving me the substance of any dvice thar you gave
4 Okay. 4 him as an attomey, could you tell me approximutely |
4 Are.you represented by counse! here today? 3 when you provided him with sore lepal mivice, him
6 A Tamnot ) 6 being Timothy O'Bricn?
7 Q. Tetmeask you this: Just very brietly, H A, Around the time Mr. "Crump filed or
8 can you just tel] me what college you went to and 3 threatened to file a fawsuit against my brother, we
% what law schuo! you went to? 9 hud conversations where he asked my advice.
10 A, Georgetown University, undergrad, Le Q. letmewy torefine that a littde bit
11 CGeorgetown Law. 1 graduated from Law schoolin 1976 11 more. Do you recall providing your brother with
12 amd reccived an LEM in txation in 1986. L2 legal advioe before a lawsyit was setwally filet by :
13 Q. Anyother formal education beyond law =3 Mr, Trump?
L4 schooland the LEM? 14 A, ‘Thereason why I hesitate to say yes orno :
15 A No 15 is [ think there was some meation in the press - ond i
16 Q. Haveyou continuously been in the practice 16 if memory serves, 1 think Mr. Trump said he was going fi
17 of law since admission to the bar following 17 t(osuehim. i
18 praduation from law school? 13 Q. Okay. :
19 A, Yeslhave, 19 A. Orhe wasthinking of suing him or '
20 Q. Rather than do this painstakingly, I want 20 something to that effect, and I recafl a telephone 1
21 totry tojust get cight to the point. Timothy 21 conversation around that time, .
22 L, ('Brien, is that your brother? 22 Q. Did you have more than onc conversatior, .
Puge 12 rage 13 ;
i A, Heis 1 telephone conversation or otherwise with your brother g
2 Q. Do you know what your brother does for a 2 Timothy O'Brien with regard to Mr. Trump's lawsuit? [§
3 living? . 3 A, If1did, ! don't recall,
4 A, He'sajounmlist curmently, he's the 4 Q. Soaswesithere today, the best of your
5 editor of the Sunday business section of the New York § & recollection is that you had a conversation with your
6 Times. He also writes books and other materinlsona | 6 brother with regard to either a threatened or
7 freelance basis, 7 actually filed lawsuit?
8 Q. Qkay. Do you in any capacity represent 8 A, Could have been mare than one, but in any
9  your brother? 9 eveant, it was — the som of it all was very brief, .
10 A. No. Idonot 10 Q. Okay. And that conversation that you
11 Q. Have you represented your brother with 11 recall, that occurred by telephons, comect? .
12 repgand to any mattérs in the past? 12 AL Yes
13 A, Yes, lhave 13 Q. Did you hove an occasion ever (o tead the
14 Q. Haveyourepresented your brother in any 14 book written by your brother Timothy O'Brien about
15 matters in the past shat resulted in any public 15 Donald Trump?
16 filings, be they complaints oranswers, anything that {16 A, When it came our, I picked it up and I
17 would be in a court of record? 17 flipped through it. I ncver read it completely,
18 A, Letme give you a complete answer, 18 Q. Okay, Did you ever have any discussions
19 Q Sue 15 with your brother Timothy O'Bricn regarding any
z A, [have provided hira with some limited 20 rescarch that ke did for the book prior to either you
Z1 lugal advice with respect to this matter. QOtherthan 21 leaming that Mr. Trump was intending to file a
%2 that, I canthink of none where there has been - 22 laewsuit, or had filed a Jawsuit?

4 tPages 20 to -3}
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Saqe L e in
1 A Lrecall 2 coaversation we had while the L with Timothy (¥Brien alter he returned from Flodda
w buok was heing researched and drfied where he told | with Mr, Trump, did you have iy furher dizeussions
3 miethat e hud spent sime time with Mr, Try mp in 3 with him priof 1o the Trump lawsuit regarding the
4 Florida, 1 Trump book? !
5 Q. Okay. When did you first feam that your 5 A Notthat [ recall.
v brother, Timuthy O'Brien, was plaming todoabook | & Q. Did your beewher Timothy O'Bricn ask you,
7 ubout Donadd Tremp? 7 forexample, as 1 ax attomey, for any advice into
A A Cenainly before it was published by 3 how to interpret cenain tilings with regard (o
9 exactly when, { can't tell you, 9 Mr. Tromp, in particular with tepand to his net
to Q. Ukay. Do you recall whether or nex your 19 wonh?
11 Immcrim!ic:nedloyaulhathohzdalrewybegun il A, No,
12 research un a book for Donald Trump? 12 Q. Did he ever ask you for any wivice in .
13 A Yes. Asa mutter of fact, he told me he 13 interpmingnnyot‘thcdocumcmsdmmuldbe i
14 had inerviewed Donald Trump and he had spent some | 14 selated 1o Mr. Trump's net worth? i
15 time with him. J15 A N
16  Q Okay. And that was the trip 1o Florida? 1 Q. Do you reead] having ony other :
17 A Yes, [ believe so. 17 conversations with your brother reganding the book
18 Q. Okay. 18 Trump Nation after he came back from Florida and
19 A AndIthink the conversation ocoumed 13 before the Iawsuit about the book? \
20 afteche got back. 20 A About the substance of the book?
21 Q. Okay, Whatdid your brother tell you 21 Q. Let's start with the substance of the
22 about his trip to Florida with Donald Trump? 22 boak .
Page 15 fage 17|t
3 A. He had spent a substantial amount of time 1 A, No, X
2 with Mr, Trump, and that ke liked him, he thoughthe | 2 Q. Did you have any conversations with your ¢
3 wascharming, - T3 bmthetwithregaxdtoanyodma:pcctofllwbook A
4 Q. Did he tell you anything about M. Trump's | 4 berween that period of ime as 10 when he came back
5 networth? S  from Florida and told you that he found Mr. Trumap to |-
6 A. No. 6  be, Ibelicve you said somewhat engaging? )
ki Q. Didhe tell you anything about Mr, Tromp's | 7 A. Chaming,
8 holdings? 8 Q. Chaming,
9 A. No. 9 A.  Charmipg, He said he liked Mr, Trump,
10 Q. Didhe have any discussion with youat 10 Q. Andthe time that you leamed that a
11 thattime with regard to Mr. Trump's asscts? L1 lawsuit was either threatened or s0ins to be filed
12 A. No, . 12 A ‘Ihconlyoonvcmatimlmum\ﬁlh
12 Q. Didheeverhaveany discussion with you 113 respectto Tim's schiedule, talk shows, tours, book
14 atthat time after he returned from Flodida about 14 pmnmions.tbcmrkuh;;ofﬂwbookasoppmedto
=5 Mr. Trump's taxes, for example? 15 the substance of the baok,
1e A, No. : 16  Q Oxy. So with regard 1o the book, is
17 Q Didhetelt you what if anything he 17 it ~am I clear that you liad two conversations that
13 Ihtcndcdlodowithrcgnrdmﬁmhcrrcscamhnsto 18 youmllsininghmmdaywithyombmmcrvdth
i3 DonuIdTmmpinfunherprepamﬁonforwﬁﬁngthc 19 regard to the book? Oue after he came back from
20 book? Z3 Florida? Andmc!aterwithregmﬂtomarkcdngof
2 A. No, : 21 the book?
2 qQ Othcnban(hatdiscussiomhatyouhad 22 AL Atleast those two. There could have been
5 iPages 14 =g 7
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that's not you?

- Patrick J. O'Brien March 27, 2008
Washington, DC
Page 62 Page 64

1 A, Well, Ms, Gorecki provided song fyrics 1 Q. Did you cver leam from any source of any -

2 that contain that quotation. At the time I had no 2 of the thoughts that David Dillon had with regard to

3 idea whatitis. ' 3 the marketing of the book? ;

4 Q. Didyou haveany discussion with your 4 A. Could yourcpeat that, please? ;

5 brother Michae] about this e-mail? 5 Q. Could you read it back, please? i

6§ A No. Mo, 6 THE REPORTER: "Question: Did youever |

7 Q. Did you have any discussion with your 7 leam from any source any of the thoughts that David

8 brother Michael about the Trump Nation book written 8 Dillon had with regard to the marketing of the book?”

9 by your brother Timothy O'Brien? 9 THE WITNESS: Idon't recall, i
i0 A. Not that I recall, 10 BY MR. TAMBUSSI: !
11 Q. Did you ever have any discussions with 11- Q. Didyouever come to leam that David
12 David Dillon with regard to the book Trump Nation 12 Dillon had a strategy for the marketing of the book
13 written " - ) 13 that he communicated to Tim O'Brien?

14 A, NotthatIrecnil 14 A, David Dillon does construction work on
15 Q. Didyou everhave any discussions with 15 residential homes, and he's a bit of a clown, If) {
16 Michael White regarding the book Tramp Natfon written § 16 ever came across anything Bavid Dillon said with
17 by your brother Timothy O'Brien? 17 respect to maceting the book, I would have regarded
18 A, NotthatIrecall, 18 itasajoke, :
19 Q. Otherthan this e-mail thread, did you 19 Q. Let me show you what's been marked
20 ever have any other o-mails that you recall with your 20 previously as T-38 for identification.
21 brother Michael reganding Timothy O'Brien's book 21 Let’s take 2 moment and read that
22 about Donald Tromp? 22 document.
Page 63 Page 65

1 A. ‘'There may have been. Idon't recall any 1 (Panse.)

2 specifically. 2 BY MR TAMBUSSE

3 Q. Didyouever have any discussions with  |.3 Q. Mr O'Brien, Mr, Patrick O'Brien, have you

4 your brother Michael about marketing efforts tobe | 4  finished reading that e-mail? h

5 taken with regard to the book Tromp Nation? 5 A lhave i

6 A. Idon'trecall any. If there were any, it 6 Q. Doyou recall ever seeing that e-mail i

7 was completely facetions. We're-both attomeys, 7 before today?

8 Q. So does that mean everything you say is 8 A, [think that pasts of it were quoted in H

9 facetous? . ' @ your subpocna.

10 A. No. Jtmeans we're both attomeys. Ifwe |10 Q. My question to you is did you ever see :
11 discussed marketing, it would have probably beer |11 that e-mail before today? :
12 facetious because we're not marketers. 12 A Yes X
13 Q. Okay. Do you have arecollection of 13 Q. Okay. Whendidyou see it before today? )
14 discussing marketing of the book with your brother {14 A, Atleastin your subpoena. '
15" Michael? 15 Q Anywherselse? N
16 A. No,Idonot. 16 A, NotthatIrecall. I'mlooking to seeif ;
17 Q. Do youhave any recollection of discussing |27 Twascopied onit, Fdon't think I was. X
18 marketing of the book with David Dillon? 18 Q. Irdocsnotsppear — I represent to ,
18 A, No,Idonot, 19 you - that you were copied on it unless there wasa i
20 Q. Didyou have any discussion regarding 20 -blind copy sent, because it was from David Dillon o :
21 marketing of the book with Mictizel White? 21 wb@newyorktimes.com, 10b3000@comeastnet. T assume E

s

A. No.Idonot,
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March 27, 2008
Washington, DC
Page 66 Page 68 }
1 A, No. That's not me. 1 A. Right .
2 Q. Michacl@cbandob.com, whichis yourbrother| 2 Q. And'then it starts a new sentence. "This
3 Michael, comrect? 3 isawmxdwcmedtoannihilatcmccwnynotjust
4 A. [lassume so, yeah, 4 imitnte him." Do you see that?
5 Q. And michactwhite @countrywide.com? 5 A, Yes.
6 A, Yes, 6 Q. Okay. Was there any discussion that you
7 Q. Soit would appear to me that you were not 7 were party 1o with cither your brother Michael
8 copicd on that e-mail? 8  OBricn, your brother Timothy O'Brien, David Dillon, i
9 A, Itwould appear to me that I was not 9 am!’!ormmaclwhiteinwhichdﬁsbookmmk:dng I
10 copled, 1¢ campaign of Trump Nation was a war? ;‘
11 Q. Okay. The e-muail is dated November 3, 11 A. Not that I recall, H
12 2005, 12 Q. Theenemy that's being refered to, does IE
13 Do you have any recollection of sesing it 13 that refer to Donald Trump? |
14 before today other than the refercnce to it in the 14 A, Ihavenoidea.
15 subpoena? is Q. The next sentence says, "I say talk radio
16 A, NotthatI recall. 16 today can lead to more talk television tomomow; and
17 Q. Youscothat Mr. Dillon makes certain 17 let's hope for Donald to file a lawsuit so we can
18 remarks in there referring to “soldfers foc the 18 really blow the cover off sales.” !
19 cause™? 19 Do you see that? H
20 A, Yes. Andhealsosays "call me nuts,” 20 A Yes,ldo. ;
21 whichIwould, . 21 Q. Had there been any diseussions that you
22 Q. Okay, You would not take seriovsly 22 were parent 10 in or about November of 2005 whereby
Page 67 Page 69
1 anything Michael Dillon said? 1 there was an attempt to provoke Donald Trump into
2 A. No. Butifhe does get a Fervari out of 2 filing a lawsuit?
3 thisdeal, Yd like to drive it 3 A. According to this, this is David Dillon's
4 Q. Olkay. Thatis being soméwhat flip 4 position. And David Dillon's — oaly David Dillon's
5 yourself? ) 5 position, .
6 A, That's whatthe e-mail says, 6 Q. Irefer you to the next sentence where it
7 Q. Uh-buh. And he says atthe end, "smoke 7 says, "Tim's strategy is perfect if that happens.”
2 ‘emifyagot'em.* Do you know what that refersto? | 8 Tim would be your brother Tim, correct?
9 A.  Yes, that would refer to cigarettes, S A. Idon‘tknow. Itcouldbe.
10 Q. Doyouinow why he put thatin this 10 Q. Uh-huh. Js there any other Tim referred !
11 ¢-mail? 11 toanywhere in that e-mail?
12 - A, My speculation would be thatirs a 12 A. Thereare other Tims in the world.
13 reference to soldiers and World War I moviesand |13 Q. Isthere any other Tim referred to "
14 John Wayne, 14 anywhere else in that e-mAil? i
15 Q. Thelast paragraph on the first page of 15 A Tmlooking to see if Tim is reforred to .
16 T-38 starts with, "call me nuts. Do you sec that? 16 elsewhere in this. No. He is.
17 A Yes. 17 . Soyourquestion is whather or not there's
18 Q. Buritsays, "I want to concentrate on 18 another Tim referred to in the e-mail?
19 efforts to move 100,000 books not just 100.". 19 Q. Correct.
20 Do you see that? 20 A, No. Thereis not, to the best of my
2l A Following, "call me nuts,” 21 knowledge,
32 Q. Right 22 Q. Doyouknow of any other Tim that wrote a ,_1
O T L E T ey "—‘mmm e T R T T S
2 8—{Pagyes—Gb—ea—G03
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Washington, DC
rage 70 Page 72
1 book about Danald Trump? 1 because you've had o discussions as to whetheror” |1
2 A, Notspecifically, no. But there could 2 not Dave Dillon was party to a plan or strtegy of ]
3 havebeen 3 Tim O'Brien, comect? Il
4 Q. Do you know of any other Tim that went on 4 A, P'mvirually morally certain that he was
5 the rdio in or about November 2005 to tatk about 5 not. ' {
6 Donald Trump and a book written about Donald Trump, | 6 Q. Pure supposition on your part without ﬁ
7 other than Timothy O'Brien? T factual basis, comect? H
'8 A Idon'trecall. There weren lotof 8 A. Bused on years and years of extensive |
9 people in the mellia talking about Donald Trump about | 9 experience with David Dillon, knowing David Dillon
10 thattime, Ihave noidea whethertheirnomeswere [ 10 since he was & child and knowing David Dillon
11 Timornot 11 virtually his entire life, Yes.
12 Q. Youagreo with me, do you not, when it 12 Q. Thatit's & pure supposition, correct?
13 siys Tim's strategy, it's refeming (o a strategy of 13 A, No. Yes, Ifsfactually based.
14 aperson named Tim and not David Dillon? 14 Q. You had no discussions with David Dillon
15  A. Tdida't write the e-mail, To thebestof 15 with regard to this e-miail, correct?
16 my knowledge, Thaven'tscenitbeforc today. Yours |16 — A. NotthatIrecall,,
17 asking metospeculate. Fm not going to do that, 17 Q. Youhad no discussions with David Dilloa
18 Q. Okay. Let'slookat the next sentence. 18 asto whether or not your brother Timothy
19 Tt states, “if Donald gets mitled in the nationsl 19 communicated 2 plan or strategy to him, commect?

20 news by this, he will look guilty, If he does 20 A. TI'mvimally certain be did not.

21 opothing nnd if he sues, it's game over.” 21 Q Well, when you say virtually, that means

22 It continues, “Tim has a plan that will 22 you're not completely certain, correct?

fage 71 . Page 73

1 wrn hislights out instantly. It's checkmate.™ i A, I'm 99.99995 percent ste he didn't,

2, Do you know what Tim's plan was that's 2 Q. Okay. And on what do you base that

3 being réferred to there? -3 conclusion, sir?

4 "A. Tdon'tlmow that Tim kad aplan. Idon't 4 A.  Tim does not discuss things like that,

5 lmow what David Dillon is talking about, ¥ assums 5 Q. With you, comrect?

& that'sajoke, 6 A.  With people in general, And if you let me

7 Q. What wonld lead you to believe that that's 7 finish —

B ajoka? 8 Q. Take yourtime. We have all day.

9 A. IkmowPavid Dillon. 5°° A, Eecenainly woold not discuss it with

10 Q. How well do you keow David Ditlon? 10 David Dillon; and when — and if yon get to meet

11 A. Tveknown him for years. 11 David Dillon, you will understand why he would not.
12 Q When's the last time you spoke to him 12 Q. Butyoudontlnow fora fact, as we sit -
13 abont this lawsnit involving your brother Timothy? 13 here, that he had no conversations with David Dillon? [f
14 A TIveneverdiscussed it with him, 14 A Idon'tknow fora fact that Fm not going :
15 Q. How many times have youeverdiscussedthe |15 to be struck by lightming. -
16 marketing of the book Trump Nation with David Dillon? | 16 Q. T want you to answer my question. :
17 A, Iveneverdiscussed it with him, 17 A [justdid. i
18 Q. Howmany timesbavo youdiscussedthebook |18 Q. No, yol did not. B
19 itself Trump Nation with David Dillon? 19 You don't know for a fact that your
20 A. Idon'trecall ever discossing it with 20 brother Timothy did not have any conversations with i
21 David Dilloa, 21 David Dillon with regard to a plan or strategy to 4
22 Q. Soyouhavenoidea as we sit here today 22 market the book Trump Nation, correct? s
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MICHABL OBRIEN, AUGUST 14, 'toR

Page | Pave 4
| SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW 1IERSEY [ PRESENT: (Continued)
1 CAMDEN COUNTY 2 DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON, 1.1.P,
£ 3 (919 Third Avenne,
1 DONALD LTRUMP, } H New York, New York 10022,
5 _ DPlaimif, ) 5 22-9m-6069), by:
O s ) No.1.-545-06 6 MR, ANDREW M. LEVINE,
T TIMOTTY OBRIEN, TIME ) 7 appeared on behadf of the Defendants;
83 WARNER BOOK GROUP, INC., ) 3 .
1 und WARNER BOOK, INCY., ) 9 ALSO PRESENT:
) Defenbints, ) 10 Mr. Joseph Ciritlo, Videogapher, Esquire
1 ) T Deposition Services, .
12 The vitleotaped deposition of 2
13 MICHAIL O'BRIEN, culled for examination, taken i3
14 before KATIE K. ELLIOTT, 4 Notary Public withinal 14
15 for the County of Couk, State of Winos, and a 15
16 Certificd Shonhand Reporter of said state, at 6
17 Suite JON), Ten South Wacker Drive, Chieago, 17
{8 Winois, on the 13th day of August, A.D. 2008, at 18
19 150 pm. 19
20 20
21 2
n 22
23 23 REPORTED BY: KATIBK, ELLIOTT, CSR, RPR,
Xl 24 CSR CERTIFICATE NO. 84-4537.
Page 2! Poge 4
1 PRESENT: | THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're guing on the recurd
2 BROWN & CONNERY, LLP, 2 with Tape No. | at 1:50 p.m. My nume is Joseph
3 (360 Haddon Avenue, 3 Cirillo, I'm the legal vides photographer in
4 Westmont, New Jersey 08108, 4 association with Esquire Deposition Services. Our
S H56-H53-8900), hy: 5 address is 311 West Monroe Strect, Chicago,
6 MR, WILLIAM M. TAMBUSSI, 6 (llinois. The court reporter today is
7 and- | 7 Katie Efliott, also of Esquire Deposition Services.
8 KASOWITZ BENSON, TORRES & FRIEDMAN, LLP, i 8 Here begins the videotaped deposition of
Y {1633 Broadway Avenue, 9 Michac! O'Brien taking place at Reed Smith,
10 New York, New York 10019-6799, 1) Tea South Wacker Drivé, 40th floar, Chicago,
t 212-506-1700), by: 1§ Mlnofs. Today's date is August 13,2008, This
12 MS. MARIA GORECK], 12 deposition is being taken in the matter of
13 -k 13 Donald I, Trump, Plaintiff, versus Timothy {'Brien,
14 ANCEL, GLINK. DIAMOND, BUSH, 4 Time Warner 8aok Group, Inc., und Wamer Books,
15 DiCIANNI& KRAFTHEFER, P.C, I5 lInc., in the Superior Court of New Jersey,
16 (140 South Dearbom Stecet, Sixth Floor, 16 Camden County, Case No. L-545-06,
I7  Chicago, lllincis 60603, 17 Counsel, would you identify yourselves
18 312:207-1000), by: 18 for the record, please,
19 MR.THOMAS G, DiCLANNI, 19 MR, TAMBUSSL: William M, Tambussi,
20 appeared on behalf of the Plainiiff; 20 Brown & Connery, for Plaintiff Donald Trump,
21 21 MR. DiCIANNE: Thomas DiCianni, Ancel Glink,
2 22 ulso for the Plaintiff,
px) 23 MS.GORECKI: Marja Gorecki, Kasowitz, Benson,
% 24

Torres & Friedman, for Plaintiff Donald Tramp, I

I (Pages | to 4)

ESQUIRE DEPOSITION SERVICES - CHICAGO
22.782.8087 800.708.8087 FAX: 312.704.4950

3791a
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Payge 5 Pape 7
l MR. LEVINE: Antrew Laevine from I ihe deposiion of ane of your hrothers, Patrick.
2 Ixhevoise & Plimpton, 1.LP. on behalf of the 2 who's analomey, and he refemed 1o yowasitreal |
i Defendants: Fimothy L. O'Brien, Time Wamer Book 3 estate and estate atlomney. s that enaticcly
b Giroup, Inc.. and Wamer Books. tne. 4 correct or somewhat correer?
3 THE VIDEOQOGRAPHER: Will the count repoder 5 AL | doalitte bit of both of thase areas,
O please swear the witness, 6 Q. Okay.
i (WHEREUPON. the witness was duly 7 A, Probably 15 pereent is wills and trust,
¥ WO, ) § 10 percent real estate, and 75 pereent would be
9 MICISAEL (YBRIEN, Y trnsuctional.
10 calied a5 u witness herein, having been finst duly i Q. Okay. Sowhen you say transactional, are
1 swom, was examined and testified as follows: (1 you talking about huying and selling of
12 EXAMINATION - 12 corporations?
13 BY MR. TAMBUSSI: 13 A There is some merger and acy —
L Qo Good aftemoon, Mr, O'Brien. We're here 14 acquisition activity. Primarily, [ do vendor
15 todday to take your deposition in the matter of Trump 15 contracts, customer contracts. With some of these
16 versus ()'Brien, your brother, and others. 16 corporations, I handle all their employce matters,
17 You were here this moming, were you not, 17 plants and cquipment purchases, cxpansions. Some of
I8 for the deposition of David Ditlon? ) I8 themare (arpets veeasivnally, but that's the hasis
1% A Yes, [was. 19 of my practice.
0 Q. Andyou, sir, are a member of the bar, 20 Q. Okay. For how long have you been
21 also? 21 practicing law?
22 A Yes, Iam, 22 A years.
23 Q. Would you like me to give you the 23 Q. Andfrom what law school did you
214 instructions ~- 24 graduate?
Page 61 Page 8
I A, Fdonot need them. Thank you, 1 A. DePaul, ]
2 Q. Okay. Fairenough. 2 Q. Have youcver testified in 2 deposition
3 What I'd like ¢o do is really getright 3 before?
4 10 the ~ the heart of your deposition, but I do 4+ Ar No, Ihave not.
5 have to ask you some background questions. 3 Q. Have youever testified in a trial or a
6 Mr. O'Brien, you're a practicing 6 hearing?
7 ditorney? 7 A Yes,Ihave.
8 A. Yes, Iam. 8 Q. Andcould you—on how many occasions?
9 Q. And where do you practice? . 9 A 400
10 A, In Illinois, Michigan, and Florida. 10 Q 4007
i} Q Anddoyoubelongtoafirmorareyona 11 A, Yes, I'was a — L ran a halfway house
12 solo practitioner? 12 for convicted felons, and I was called in or all the
13 A. [Ihave my-own firm, O'Brien and O'Brien. 13 probation or parole revocations as well as the final
[4 There are three lawyers and two support staff here - 14 adjudications.
15 in Hlinois, one support staff member in Michigan. 15 Q. Okay. Otherthanin Your capacity of --
16 Q. Okay. And what is your area of practice? 16 of running a halfway house for convicted felons,
17 A. Primarily transactional revolving around 17 have you ever testified at a heating or trial
18 closely held corporations. Most of my practice 18 before?
19 is - deals with closely held businesses, 19 A, Incrminal court.
20 Q. Okay. Does your practice involve in any 20 Q. Okay, Other— other than in the
2l way, shape, or form real estate? - 21 capacity dealing with -
|22 . A. Yes. Probably about 10 percent of my 22 A, No. No,I have not.
23 practice is real estate, 23 Q. Okay. Now, have you ever been a party to
24 Q. Okay. lask you thatbecanseI—-Ttook 24 alawsui itnesy o
2(Pages 510 8)
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Page 37

Q. Okay. Did you olfer aury apinions atwut
the idea of handing out e-miils or Miers - I'n
sorry == (liers or pamphlets?

A, Lwas not going 1o join inon it. | was
asked to - | wasn't going to scll my labor that
cheaply.

Q. Fairenough. Okay. ‘

Other thun the Donald dofl of some sort
nd the distribution of pamphiets or iers, did you
become aware of any other ideas that your brother
Timothy had with regard to the promotion of the

Page tw

MRUTAMBUSSI: 1anul,

MR, LEVINE: That was not in the testimony.

MR TAMBUSSIE: Okay. 1ir cnctigh,

BY MR, TAMBUSSI:

Q. Did you understand - Jid yuu have an
understanding st that time back in - in Jate 2005
a8 to what David Dillon was referring 1o in terms of
awar and annthilution of the cnemy?

AL Yes, [did.

Q. And what was your understanding?

A David was attempting to — David talks in

12 book? 12 military terms frequently, Most of his life is
13 A ldidnot 13 about weaponry, military. He's a— he's n — he's
4 Q. Didyour hrother ‘Timothy ever articulate 14 2n aficionado of handguns. So [ —-so I ok it to
15 to you any plans that he had for the promotionof 15 mean that he was guing to assist Tim to blow the
16 1the book? 16 sales of this book through the roof in some kind of
17 A. Beyond the doll, no. 17 General Patton tashion,
18 Q. Okay. Beyond the doll, did yourbrother 18 Q. David Dillor was not in the military, was
i9 Timothy ever articulate to you any strategies that . 19 he?
20 he had for promotior of the hoak? 20 A. No. Notin--notin reality.
21 A. e did not, 2t Q. He was just playing —
12 Q. Okay. Did your brother ‘Fimothy ever 12 A, Hethinksheis. Yeah, he's pretty sure
33 articulate to you, cither verbally or by c-mail, uny 23 he was in another life,
24 thoughts that he had as to ways to heighten 24 Q. Did you ever have any discussions with
Page 381 Page 40
1 awareness of the book other than the dofl? I your brother Timothy with regard 1o provoking Donald
2 A. Hedid not. 2 Trump into filing a lawsuit?
3 Q Didyoucome toleam at any lime of your 3 A, Edidno
4 brother Timothy's thoughts and plans to heighten + Q. Did you cver come to leamn that part of
5 awareness of the book other than the doll? 3 your broiher Timothy's plan to heighten awareness of
6§ A, Ididnot 6 the bouk was to provoke Donald Trump into filing a
7 Q. Youwere here for David Dillon's 7 lawsuit?
8 deposition, comect? 8 A, Ididnot
9 A That'scomect 9 Q. Didyouecverhave any discussions, asids
19 Q. You'reaparty to, either wittingly or 10 from your representation of Mr. Dillon, with
11 unwittingly, some of the e-mails that David Dillon 11 Mr. Dillon regarding the plan to provoke Mr. Trump
12 sent? 12 into filing a lawsuit?
13 A, That's cotrect, I3 MR.LEVINE: Objection to form. Whether there
14 Q. Atanytime when David Dillon was sending 14 was any plan? .
15 these e — e-mails out., did you offer any of your 15  MR.TAMBUSSIK: Yeah.
16 opinions, as a brother, to your brother Timothy 16 BY THE WITNESS:
17 O'Brien with regard to David Dillon's e-mails? 17 A. Wedid not discuss whether there was 2
18 A, Ididnot ) 18 plan to provoke him.
19 Q. Now, you were here when Dayid Dillon 19 BY MR, TAMBUSSE;
20 referred to this being a war and the encmy havingto 20 Q. Okay. Now, once the lawsuit was filed -
21 be annihilated? 21 and this is 2 yes or no question — did you provide
22 A Yus, I was, 22 your brother Timothy with any legal advice regarding
23 MR.LEVINE: Objection to form. Just to be 23 the lawsuit?
24 clear, that was in an e-mail, ) 2 A No.

10 (Pages 37 to 40)
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Page 45 Pagre §7
i A e did aot, 1 WTC,
2 3. Didbeever tell you — did your brother 2 ) Yes
t Tanothy ever tefl you'what he thought Donald Trump 3 A, [ don't know what he's tatking about,
1 was wonth? 4 Q. Okay. But you respond, Cocked and locked
S A e did not. 5 and ready to cock with a whole mess of
6 Q. Letmeshow you a couple e-mails, if 6 cxclamation — exclamation points, comect?
7 may. 7 A, Right
% MR, TAMBUSSI: “This is the next one. 8 Q. s thata military termora handgun
9 {WHEREUPON, discussion was had off 9 term?
10 the record.) 10 A, 1ts actually a rock and roll term,
il {WHEREUPON, a centain document was H Q. Okay, All right. And what do you mean
12 miwked Deposition Exhibit No. T-63 12 by that?
13 for identification, us of 8-13-08.) 13 A, We're rolling, Just his comment is the
Lt BY MR. TAMBUSSI: 14 book ends or starts or whatever, and [ sy we're all
15 Q. Mr (OBrien, just before — [ just want - 15 ready to go.
16t identify this document for the record. ‘The 16 Q. Bythe way, I [ wish I'd knew that
17 document marked T-63 before you, which has — has 17 Mr. Dillon wats a handgun aficienado before | took
18 Bates stamp fast four digits 7922 and 7933, is a 18 his deposition, That's just an aside.
19 series of e-mails or 4 thread of e-mails on 19 A. ‘Thank goodness you didn't discover that,
20 May 19, 2005. 20 Actually might have ruined any credibility he has,
21 It you could just take :t moment to read 21 Q. Okay. Let me go back.
22 those c-mails, I just want to ask you a couple 22 Now, previously, we marked at this
23 questions. 23 deposition as T-61 for identification an e-mail that
M A Pvercadit 24 actually ends — an e-mait thread that ends with you
" Paged6: Page 48
1 Q. Okay. Now, Mr, O'Bricn, the Jast c-mail , 1 or November 1, 2005.
2 uppears to be an e-mail from you, Michael O'Brien, 2 Could you just take a moment and read
3 [rom Michael ot OB and OB dot com? 3 that. Iknow that you probably read it earfier this
4 A. That's comect, 1 morming.
S Q. Tsthat from you? 5 A I'mready.
& A, That's from me. 6  Q Let'sjust go through. Is it fair to say
7 Q. Okay. The subject is the final word, and 7 that the very top e-muil text, is that written by
8 it appears that the c-mail right before the one that 8 you?
Y you sent, the last e-mail, is from Tim O'Brien (o 9 A, That's correct.
110 Pat O'Brien and Mike O'Brien that says, This is how 10 Q. [tsaid — it reads, I just read all
i1 abook ends or starts or whatever. H M4 reviews. Tim, except for the Trump suck ass, you
12 Do you know what he's referring to there? 12 appear to have nailed this.
13 A, [believe he's referrinig 16 Rick Wolf's I3 {s that — did I read that correctly?
4 comments about I'm printing it and getting it into 14 A, That's correct. )
{5 productivn, 15 . Q Are— you're saying Trump suck ass,
16 Q. Well, the previqus e-mails seem to refer 16 Who's the Trump suck ass you're weferring to?
I7 toa version of — of the book, Did YOu — were you I7 A, Oncofthe i4 reviewers.
18 provided in May of 2005 with some sort of preview of 18 Q. Oh, okay. And I take it that by
19 the book? . 19 referring to one of the 14 reviewers as a Trump suck
20 A No. 20 ass that's not a flattering tean?
21 Q. Doyou recall reading unything with 21 A, T¢s 180 degrees away from flattering,
22 pegand to a version? 22 Q. Okay. Youdidn'tlike that person's
23 A. No. You- you're refening to, Tim, 23 review?

34 doces this version have the restored Trump commenton 24 A, T didn't like itwhatsouver

12 (Pages 45 to 48)
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Donald J. Trump et. al.

License Agreements
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1. Trump Parc Stamford / Stamford Connecticut
o License Agreement between Donald J, Tramp & 33 Broad Street
Associates I, LLC dated as of May 12, 2006,
e Management Agreement dated as of May 12, 2006
2. Trump Marks LLC
3. Trump Ocean Club International Hotel and Tower / Panama

» License Apreement between Donald J. Tromp & K Group Developers
Inc. dated as of March 16, 2006.

o Trump Entertainment Resorts approval of Panama license
4, ‘Tromp International Hotel & Tower / Hawail .

e License Agreement between Donald J. Trump & Frongate Azrep BW
LLC dated as of February 7, 2006.

« Lender Comfort Letter
5. Jersey City MetroHomes [Trump Plaza Jersey City]

¢ License Agreement between Donald J. Tromp & Metro Homes, LLC
dated as of July 20, 2005 with East & West Estoppels

» DJT $2M Investment Side Letter dated as of January 3, 2006

6. License Agreement between Donald J. Tramp & TRG Holiday, LLC dated as of
Jamoary 19, 2006, [Trump Hellywood, Florida]

7. ‘Trump Tower Philadelphia / Penn Street

_ e License Agreement with Addendum (dated 5/1/06) between Donald J.
Trump & VTE Philadelphia, LP, dated as of October 14, 2005

8. License Agreement between Donald . Trump & Nakheel (Dubai) dated
as of September 28, 2005.

9. Trump International Hotel & Tower / New Orleans

e License Agreement between Donald J. Trump & Poydras (New
Orleans) dated as of August 19, 2005

10. Trump Hotel & Tower Bayrock #2, Ft. Lauderdale, Florida dated as of June 30,
2004, Trump International Hotel & Tower Fi. Lauderdale License

Agreement,
11. Trump Tower at City Center’

e License Agreement between Donald J. Trump & LC White Plains
Residential I LLC dated as of May _ , 2004.

+ Management Agreement dated as of December 1, 2004
12. Trump Parc Stam{ord / Stamford Connecticut

CONFIDENT!AL TRO00036288
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's License Agreement between Donald J. Trump & 33 Broad Street
Associates }, LLC dated as of May 12, 2006,

e Management Agreement dated as of May 12, 2006

13, License Agreement betwoen Donald J. Trurup & New Roc Parcel 1A dated as
of April 21, 2005. [Tramp Plaza New Rochelle]

14. Residences at Trump Park / Yorktown, New York

» License Agreement between Trump Marks LLC & Yorktown Realty
Associates, LLC dated as of Angust 11, 2006 with Letter Amendment
dated as of September 13, 2006

* Side Letter between Trump Marks LLC & Yorktown Realty
Associates, LLC dated as of August 11, 2006 re; social and golf
memberships . .

15. Trump Icon Palm Beach / Palm Beach, Florida

* License Agreement between License Agreement between Trump

Marks LLC & TRG North Flagler Venture, LTD. dated as of August
21, 2006

16. Canouan Island Development-Agreement between Trump Entities & Canouan

Resorts Development LTD & Related Entities dated as of November 17, 2003.
Trump ¥sland Vilias

* Memo re: highlights of the Sales & Marketing Agreement
* Sales & Marketing Agreement
» Trademark License Agreement

17. License Agreement between Donald J. Tromp & Dezerbrand Florida, LL.C

dated as of June 16, 2004, Trump Towers —Trump Tower 1 —-Trump Tower
2 = Trump Tower 3

18. License Agreement between Donald T, Trump & Michael Dezer & Neomi
Dezertzov, (Sunny Isles, Florids) dated as of December 2,2001.
Trump Grande Miamf

19. Trump Phoenix Development LLC, Donald 3. Trump & Camelback
Development Partners, LLC dated as of J anuary 19, 2004,
Trump Ynternational Hotel & Residences Phoenix

* License Agreement
* Development & Services Agreement
s  Exclusivity & Licensee Designation Agreement

20. Trump Hotel & Tower Bayrock #1, Ft, Landerdale, Florida dated as of October
2003, Tyump Las Olas Beach Resoxt

* Development & Services Agreement

,"ME&EMM&E&_
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e License.Agreement .
¢ Termination Right Side Letter

21, License & Service Agreement between Trump Organization & Trump Realty
Brazil datesias of June 25, 2003. Villa Trump

22. License Agreement between Donald J. Trump & Simdag/Robel LLC dated as of
October 27, 2004, Trump Tower Tampa . @

s  Guaranty
23. License Agreement between Danald J. Trump & Midland Development Inc.,
2025397 Ontario Limited, 2025399 Ontario Limited, 2025401 Ontario Limited,
Haddar Development Corp. and 1456253 Ontario Inc. dated as of OQctlober 2,
2003, Trump International Hotel & Tower Torento @

e License Agreement | i

* Development & Services Agreement ]

s Covenant & Agreement ~

24. License Agreement between Tromp Marks LLC and Crescent Heights P
‘Diamond, LLC dated as of May 23, 2006. Trump Tower Tel Aviv :

25. License Agreement between Trunp Marks LLC, as Licensor and 1240 West j
Peachiree L.P., as Licensee for Atlanta, Georgia Licensed Mark dated as of :
August 2, 2006: Trump Towers ®

26. License Agreement between Trump Marks LLC and Yesil Insaat Gayrimenkul '
Yatiim Hizmetleri TIC.A.A. dated as of October 5, 2006 Istanbul, Turkey

s Side Letter —confinming execution of the License Agreement; and

» Side Letter —re: Licensee Corporate Resolution (copy). ®
e
.
3798a
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Westlaw ' NewsRoom
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12/2/08 Sydney Morning Herald 19
2008 WLNR 22999876

Sydney Morning Herald, The
Copyright 2008 ABIX

December 2, 2008

Leighton hit by mothballed tower

Miriam Steffens

Work on a high-rise building in Dubai for Us entrepreneur Donald Trump has been
put on hold due to the global financial crigis. The project involves Dubai-baged
Nakheel and Al Habtoor, as well as the latter's mustralian rartner, Leighton Hold-
ings. Leighton says its profit will not be affected by the loss of its share of

work on the 2.9 billien dirxham ($A1.2bn) tower, which was equivalent to some 650
million dirham

~=== INDEX REFERENCES =----

REGION: ({United Arab Emirates {1Uae6s) ; Arab States (1AR46); Middle East (1M123};
Gulf States (1GU47); Dubai (1pu43))

Language: EN

OTHER INDEXING: (NAKHEEL) (Al Habtoor; Donald Trump; Leighton)
COMPANY TERMS: LETGHTON HOLDINGS LIMI’I:ED ASX LEI

TICKER SYMBOL: LEI

Word Count: 84
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END OF DOCUMENT
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November 4, 2008 Tucsday
. CITY-D Edition

SECTION: BUSINESS; P-com Biz; Pg. CO1
LENGTH: 657 words

HEADLINE: Trump postpones Philadelphia development

BYLINE: By Suzettc Parmley; Inquirer Staff Writer

BODY:

Developer Donald J. Trump has postponed construction of his $300 million Trump Tower Philadelphia project be-
cause of tightening market conditions.

The 45-story, 263-unit tower is proposed for Penn Street near the foot of Spring Garden Street, Construction had
been previously delayed because Trump needed riparian rights - or underwater development rights - from the city.

Now the credit crisis and crumbling economy are further stalling the project, where units were to start at $700,000,

“With the corrent market conditions as they are, we have decided to continue construction in a more favorable envi-
ronment,” said Trump's daughter, Ivanka Trump, who is exccutive vice president of development and acquisitions for
The Trump Organization in New York, which handles Trump's real estate ventures,

‘Trump had originally projected Trump Tower Philadelphia to be completed by the middle of this year, He spent
more than a year acquiring permits and building rights from the city. Then the real estate market tanked.

This follows Trump's building problems in other major cities where he has similar luxury condo hotel towers going
up, including Chicago, Miami and Las Vegas,

The credit crisis has affected the availability of financing for such projects, and buyers have become much more
cautious.

Ivanka Trump declined to say when construction would proceed on the Philadelphia project, but she said yesterday:
"We are committed to this project, want to build the best one possible, and will continue construction when the market
allows us to do s0.”

In Center City, Trump is competing against a slew of other high-end residential projeets, including 1706 Riltea-
house, where 31 units start at $4 mitlion.

Real estate broker and developer Allan Domb, the so-called "Condo King of Philadelphia,” said Trump's waterfront
location was rot a slam dunk. . - .

“I've always thought a Trump Tower property should be located in and around Rittenhouse Square,” he said yester-
day.

“The waterfront area has still not.developed the amenities that luxury condo dwellers seek, such as the ability to
walk to restaurants, supermarkets, coffee shops," Domb said. "That tocation is not a walkable location unless you're a
marathoner.”

3800a
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Trump postpones Philadelphia development The Philadelphia Inquirer November 4, 2008 Tuesday

According to the Center City District, projected new housing units scheduled for construction this year in eight zip
codes between the Schuylkill and Delaware Rivers and from Girard Avenue to Tasker Streat was 1,933 units, Of that,
330 units are rentals, and the rest - 1,603 units - are condos and single-family homes.

Since Trump first announced his Philadelphia project in January 2006 that was to include landsezped gardens and a
high-end spa, Ivanka Trump said it had received “a substantial response intemationally.” She said yesterday in a state-

ment that "a significant number of reservations for units had been taken,” but she declined to say how many of the 263
units had been sold.

Figures show that sales of upscale residential units jn Center City have slowed compared with 2 year ago.

According to the Prudential Fox & Roach HomExpert Report, 94 homes priced $500,000 or more sold in the sec-
ond quarter of this year, compared with 105 homes in the secand quarter of 2007, For the first nine months of this year,
275 homes priced $500,000 or more sold, compared with 299 homes in the same period of 2007,

Steve Storti, senior vice president of marketing for Prudential Fox & Roach Inc., said there were a number of fac-
tors for the decrease.,

He said in the previous cycle, from 2003 to 2006, potential Center City condo buyers felt obliged to find a new
home before selling an existing home in the suburbs, because they assumed the suburban house would selt quickly.

"What's happening now is you don't want to own two homes for a prolonged period of time," Sterti said. "1t's a stall
on the marketplace that didn't exist a couple of years ago.”

Contact staff writer Suzette Parmley at 215-854-2594 or sparmley@phillynews.com.
GRAPHIC: Photograph by: Feed Loader
LOAD-DATE: November 4, 2008
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lampahay.L8m Know it now.

Tampa tower loses Trump

By JAMES THORNER
Published May 30, 2007

‘Trump Tower Tampa has lost its biggest asset: the Trump name itself.

New York tycoon Donald Trump has terminated his contract with SimDag, the Tampa development leam behind the
proposed $300-million condo tower long touted as west Florida's tallest and most luxurious.

Trump's defection could be fatal to a project launched with fanfare in February 2005 but pelted with construction liens
and lawsuits as the housing market soured.

Trump-branded towers are under construction or already builtin cities ranging from Chicago and New York to Miami
and Las Vegas, but in the end Tampa apparently didn't have the right stuff.

"We could continua without Trump, but | don't know if we'd even want to, " said Eric Fordin of the Related Group, a
Miamt.developer SimDag enlisted this year to try to save the project.

In 2 lawsuit filed Friday in federal court, Trump sounded fike a man whose pafience was spenl.
Trump accused SI&D&Q of defaulting on eight months of iicensing fees worth $1.03-million.

Aside from the monthly installments, the contract entilled Trump to 50 percent of the profits on the sale of 180 condos
worth batween $700, 000 and $6.2-million,

SimDay also failed to provide "bona fide purchase contracts™ for 70 percent of the condos, a requiremen? the company
was obllged to meet by April 27,

Trump's licensing agreement with SimDag left planning, marketing, construction and financing in SimBDag's hands. But
the lawsult alleges the Tampa partners didn't fulfill their end of the bargaln. :

"SimDag failed and refused to comply with those obligations and responsibllities, ™ Trump's Tawsuit sald in seeking
damages, interest and attomeys fees from the former partner,

Neither SimDag nor its spokesman David Hooks could be reached for comment,
SimDag principal Frank Dagostino dreamed up the 52-story luxury tower in"2004 and brought Trump aboard in October
of that year. At the ritzy roliout in February 2005, Trump whirled into town with his then-fiancee and bragged about

selling out the project.

Investors scooped up many unils, but StmDag failed 1o hook financing, Banks shied from pouring hundreds of millions
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of dollars into a Tampa Bay area housing market stagnant with thousands of unsold condos.

Tampa officials looked to the tower, one of several new condo high-tises, to help revitalize its ceniral business district.

But the proposal never shook criticlsm that jts fancy penthouses and gold-timmed Tiving' may have suited Miami and
New York but clashed with Tampa's middlebrow image.

Though the tower is now Trump-less, interest remains In the 1-acre site at 111 S Ashley Drive on the Hillsborough

River.

The Related Group has lalked about going it alone on a scaled down version of Trump Tower. Last year, Trump
himself discussed acquiring the land and assels.

But any second round would likely oceur absent SimDag, which owes millions of dollars to Trump, former conlraclors

. and depositors, Critics of the project speculate that SimDag will seek protection from creditors through bankruptcy.

"Maybe we come in and bring Trump back, * sald Fordin, whose company has built Trump condos in and around
Miami. “No one knows the other guys. People know Trump.”

James Thomer can be reached al {homen@sptimes.com or 813 226-3313.

© 2007 « All Rights Reserved » St Petersburg Times
490 First Avenue South - St. Petersburg, FL 33701 » 727-893-8 1
Contact the Times | Privacy. Palicy | Standard of Accuracy | Terms, Conditions & Copyright
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April 22, 2009 Wednesday 9:19 PM GMT
SECTION: STATE AND REGIONAL
LENGTH: 133 words
HEADLINE: Developer: Condo development on hold in N.O.
DATELINE: NEW ORLEANS

BODY:

One of the developers of the $60 million, 136-unil Tracage condominium development proposed for New Orleans'
Warchouse District said the project is on hold satil the economy improves,

But Rob Tatum said developers still intend to move the project forward.

In November 2006, a concrete warehouse was knocked down to élear way for the development, The Tracage site, at
the intersection of John Churchill Chase and Annunciation streets, remains fenced off.

_ Tracage is not the first New Orleans project sidelined by the national economic slump. In February, a lawyer for
developers of a proposed Poydras Strect high-rise fnvelving real estate mogul Donald Trump said the project is also on
hold pending the economic recovery.

Information from: New Orléans CityBusiness, hitp/fwww.neworleanscitybusiness.com
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AUSTEN FLICK IRKS THOSE WITH JANE ADDICTION

8Y LLOYD GROVE WITH HUDSON MORGAN

Thursday. Novemnber 10lh 2005, 7:00AM

There's a spot of bother brewing between fledgling Brit direclor Joe Wright - whose movie version of "Pride and
Prejudice” opens tomorrow - and members of the Jane Austen Soclety of North America.,

I'm told that in a National Public Radio report, also scheduled for tomorrow, diehard fans of the 1813 novel volce a
litany of complaints about Wiight's mushy, scuped-up version - the latest In a fong line - of the precise and elegant
Austen.

Wright responds with an impolite suggestion.

“They can go Jump Tn a lake,” Wright, I'm told, advises NPR L.A. comrespondent Kim Masters for her piece on
“Moming Edition.”

Wright sniffs that he's not interested in "quibblers,” adding that he didn’t make the film for them, *| made it for myself,
really,” he reportedly reveals. .

Tha trouble started a couple of months ago when University of Colorado English Prof, Joan Klinge! Ray, president of
the Jane Auslen Sociely, slagged off the movie in an interview with the U.K's Telegraph, citicizing everything from
Matthew MacFadyen as the male lead, Mr. Darcy, to the movie's in-your-face sexual imagery,

*The Darcy In the film does nof have the quality of atiractiveness thal Colin Firth has,” Ray asserted, referving to the
star of the acclalmed 1895 miniseries,

She added; “The film is full of sexual imagery, which Is tolally Inappropriate to Austen's novel. In one scene, a wild
boar, which 1 assume Is supposed to represent Darcy, wobbles through a farm with its sexual equipment on show.”

After her interview ran, Ray reveals, Focus Features threalened to cancel-a screening of the film In Mitwaukee for
{he Austen Soclety’s annual convention.

The screening was held, though, and while some Austen aficionados liked the movie, others complained about
*lame" diafogue and Keira Knighlley’s posture.

I hear that 2 Focus Features flack aclually iried to forbld Masters from quoting Ray because the professoris no
longer president of the society. .

Wrong. Ray's term ends next month,
DONALD DECLARES TRUMPNATION' ENEMY TERR!TdRY

Donald Trump Isn't happy simpiy to insult New York Times reporter Timothy O'Brien, claiming he *wriles like n
Infantile® (Trump's term).

The Donald is trying to yank O'Brien's julcy new exposé, "TrumpNation,” off bookstore shelves,

Teumnp att;:mey Mare Kasowitz has just senl O'Brien's publisher a letier demanding not only a total recall of
*TrumpNation™ but a public correction and apclogy.

“This book ... contains out-and-out defamalory falsehoods concerming Mr, Trump, his business and his family,”
Kasowitz wrote to Wamer Books. "We demand ... that Wamer Immediately cease and desist further publishing and
dissemlnating this book."

Yesteedn

en - he's one of the
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nation's leading business investigative joumalists, and we firmly believe in Tim's research for this book.”

Meanwhile, fired "Apprentice”™ Jennifer Wallen yesterday lent her support to Mark (Markus) Gamrison's allegations in
this column of lricky ediling on the show, a charge that Trump denied, She added that Trump is a male chauvinist
the boardroom, .

“l-was in there for two hours, fighting for my life, and Donald says out of nawhere, 'l bet you'd make a good wife,'
Wallen, an Arizona real estate broker, told Lowdown in an exclusive interview. *l would say there's ... some sexual
discrimination going on there.”

Trump's longtime lieutenant, Norma Foerderer, bristled at Wallen's claims, but Trump didn't respond by deadline,

A rep for Mark Bumett Productions claimed Wallen was fired for "how lackluster her event- planning was.” Lowdown

hears that the producers might look into whether Garrison and Wallen have violated their nondisclosure agreements.

BRIEFING

COMING-OUT PARTY: Recovering anorexic and NYU dropoul Mary-Kale Olsen is finally dishing to the glossles
after rehab and a long silence. Lowdown hears that the 19-year-old trunelle Olsen twin will grace the January cover
of W Magazine and share her insights on fashion and film in an accompanying interview. Acclaimed photographer
David Sims shot MK on Monday night af Milk Studios for the spread. Olsen’s PR rep, Michael Pagnotta, explained:
"Ashley did a solo cover for Harper's Bazaar last summer, and this was an opporiunity for Mary-Kate lo do her own.
She's feeling great and wanted to do something beautifu). It was her decision.” :

ALAS AND ALACK FOR FLACK: It looks like OK! magazine publicist Marisa Schneer needs to be sent to
Lowdown's Flack Reeducation Camp. On Monday, Schneer swore that OKI didn't tone down a snarky cover story
about Kevin Federline after Britney Spears’ lawyers threw a fil. Then Schneer insisted that the mag hadn't replaced
a polling question, “Should Britney forgive Kevin?" with "Should Britney and Kevin get a nanny?* Schneer E-mailed
this column: *Poll about a nanny is completely untrue,” Sure enough, the aricle just hit newsstands and the poll
question is: "Should Britney & Kevin get a nanny?” (Fifty-one percenl say yesl) Yesterday, Schneer spun: "lt was a
misunderstanding. We simply convey what [s conveyed lo us. The question you sent me Monday was directly
forwarded to [editor] Sarah fvens. The exacl response | received was the following: “... Poll about a nanny is
madness! *

Can this maniage be saved?
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REED SMITH LLP

Forned in the State of Delaware -
Princeton Forrestal Village

136 Main Strect

Suite 250

Princeton, New Jersey 08540
{6019) 987-0050

DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP
919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022

(212) 909-6000

Attorneys for Defendants

DONALD J. TRUMP,
Plaintiff,

V.

TIMOTHY L. O’BRIEN, TIME WARNER

BOOK GROUP INC., and WARNER
BOOKS INC..

Defendants, -

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION: CAMDEN COUNTY

DOCKET NO. CAM-L-545-06
Chvil Action

ORDER

THIS MATTER having come before tie Court on December 7, 2007 in connection with
plaintilT's Motion for Commissions, plaintiff's Motion ;o Compel Discovery, and defendants®
Cross-Motion in Aid ol Litigant’s Rights and 10 Compel Discovery; William M. Tambussi, Esq.
and William F. Cook, Esq. of Brown & Connery, LLP, and Mark P. Redsler, Esq. and Maria
Goreeki, Esq. of Kasowitz, Benson, Torres & Friedman LLP appearing for plaintifT Donald 1.
Trump: and Mark S. Melodia, Esq. of Reed Smith LLP, and Andrew J. Ceresncy. Esq. and
Andrew M. Levine. Bsq. of Debevaise & Plimpion LLP appearing for defendants Timothy L.

O'Brien. Time Warner Book Group Ine., and Wamer Books Inc.; and the Court having

considered the arguments and submissions of counscl: and for other good cause shown.
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IT IS on this %day of (

December 7, 2007, ORDERED 2&/follows:

‘ 2008, for the reasons set forth on the record on

L. Plaintiff’s Motion for Commissions is GRANTED.

2. Commissions shall issue out of and under the seal of this Court anthorizing the
issuance of subpoenas for the dcpositio;ls of Arthur Ochs Sulzberger, Jr., William Keller, and

Lawrence Ingrassia.

3. Plaintiff"s Motion to Compel Discovery is MOOTED by the agreement of the

. parties.

4, Under the below terms agreed apon by counsel and ordered by the Court, O*Brien

shall submit his current home computer and his immediately prior homo computer (referred to as

the Second and Third Computers) to an independent forensic coniputer analyst:

a The expert will be chosen by defendants, subject 1o plaintiff's review of
the expert’s qualiﬁc‘a!ions and rates, and paid for by plaintiff. The name of the expert
will be stibmined 10 the Court on or before January 30, 2008,

b, The court will appoint the expert to carry t;ul his or her duties as an officer
of the Count.

c. The expcr; will create o “mimor image” of the hard drive of each computer,
and scarch for files that contain cerain designated scarch terms, agreed to by both
plaintifi™s and defendants” counsel, designed to focate ¢lectronic documents, emails, or
other “documenits,” as that term is defined in Plaintilf™s First Request for Production of
Documents, that are responsive (o PlaintifT's First Request for Production of Documents,

The expert will provide any soch files wo defendants* counsel.
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d. To the extent possible, the expert will also provide to defendants® counsel
any available informarion showing when any “deleted” file was deleted and any available
information sbout the delefion and contents of any deleted file that cannot be recavered.

c. Defendams’ counsel wiull review these files for privilege and
responsivencss to plaintiff’s discovery requests, and will supplement defendants?
responses {o plaintifl*s discovery requests, if and as appropriate or required, by March 14,
2008.

i The expert will sign the confidentiality order in the case and rettin the
“mirvor image” copies of the hard drives and a copy of all files provided to defendants®
counsel until the end of this litigation. At the end of this litigation, the expert will destroy
these records and confinm such destruction 10 the satisfaction of defendants,

g. The export will not disclose the contents of uny files or documents to
plaintitt; plaimiff°s counsel, or any other persons. Beeause the expert will be an officer
of the Court, disclosure of a communication to the cxpert shall not be deemed a waiver of
the attomey-client privilege or any other privilege,

h. The expert may designate assistants. to help in the project. Bach
designated assistant shall sign the confideatial ity order and shall be subject 10 all
provisions applicable to the expert.

i All communications between the expert and plaintiff™s counse) will take
place either in the presence of defendants® counse] or through writien and electronic
communication with a copy fo defendants® counsel.

J On ar before March 14, 2008, the expent shall file a report with the court

setting forth the scope of the work performed and describing in goneral terms {but
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without disclosing the contents) the volume and types of records provided to defendants®

counsael.

L% Defendants’ Cross-Motion in Aid of Litigant’s Rights and to Compel Discavery is

GRANTED in part and DENIED in part,

6. On or before January 7, 2008, plaintifT must respond fully to cach subpart ol

Interrogatory No. 20 from defendants® First Sel of° Interrogatories.

7. On or before Junuary 7, 2008, plaintiff must respond fully to each subpart of
Imlerrogatory Nos. 1,3.4, 5, 6,7, 8, 11, 12, 14, and 15 from defendants® Sceond Set of

Interrogatories,

8. On or before January 7, 2008, plaintifi must respond fully to, and provide relevant
documents {whether in electronic or hard copy form) in conncction with, each subpart of
Interrogalory No. 9 from defendants® Sceond Set of Interrogatories, which the Court bas limiled
to written offers or wrillen proposals — maintained within plaintilfs organization ar of which

plaintiff otherwise has a record ~ to livense the Trump name for any purpose.

9. Plainiiff’s supplemental Interrogatory responses pursuant to this Order must: (a}
provide }:omplctc answers corresponding to all subparts of the interrogatories; (b) identify and
attach all documents {whether in electronic or hard copy form) relevant thereto; and (¢) indicate

if plaintiff has no information in his possession, custody, or control that is responsive to any

subpart. TRUE COPY

4 . .
/)//2541: Q Kﬁmj
J . ) Aol
ﬁonorﬁbic ﬁlschacl J. Kassel, 1.S.C,

4.

[} Opposed

[X] Unopposed
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* * * C ONVFIDENTTIM AL * * «
SUPERIOR CCURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION: CAMDEN COUNTY

DONALD J. TRUMP,
Plaintif€f,
vs.
TIMOTHY L, O'BRIEN, TIME

WARNER BOOK GROUP INC.,
and WARNER BOOKS INC.,

Defendantas.

Novembexr 29, 2007
10:01 a.m.

New York.

No. CAM-L-%545-06

Deposition of DONALD BENDER, held at
the offices of Debevoise & Plimpton, 919
Third Avenue, New York, New York, before
Laurie A, Collins, a Registered Professional
Reporter and Notary Public of the State of

VERITEXT/NEW YORK REPORTING COMPANY
212-267-6868

516-603-2400
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1 1
2 APPEARANCES: 2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're now going on
3 3 the record at approximately 10:01 a.m. This
4 BROWN & CONNERY LLP 4 Is the videotaped deposition of Donald Bender
S Attorneys for Plalntiff 5 taken In the Superior Coutt of New Jersey, the
6 360 Haddon Avenue 6 Camden County Division, CAM-L-545-086.
7 Westmont, New Jersey 08108 7 The deposition Is being held taday,
8 BY: WILLIAM M, TAMBUSST, ESQ. 8 November 29th, 2007, at the offices of
9 WILLIAM F. COOK, ESQ. 9 Debevoise & Plimpton, 919 Third Avenue, New
10 -and - 10 York, New York,
11 BENSON, TORRES & FRIEDMAN LLP| 11 I'm Kevin Gallagher, the videographer.
12 1633 Broadway 12 The court reporter is Labrie Colllns. We're
13 New York, New York 10019-6799 13 both from the Independent firn of Veritext
14 BY; MARIA GORECKI, £5Q. 14 Court Reporting. Wil counse! now identify
15 15 themselves for the record,
16  DEBEVOISE & PLRMPTON LLP 16 MR. CERESNEY: Andrew Ceresney, Andrew
17  Attomeys for Defendants 17  levine, and Julle Suh from Debevolse &
18 919 Third-Avenue 18 Plimpton, representing the defendants, Timothy
19 New York, New York 10022 19 O'Brien, Time Wamer Book Group, and Wamer
20 BY: ANDREW J, CERESNEY, ESQ. 20 Books, °
21 ANDREW M. LEVINE, £5Q. 21 MR. MANISERQ: Thomas Manisero of
22 JUUIE S. SUH, ESQ. 22 Wilson Elser representing Weiser and the
23 23 witness, Mr, Bander,
24 24 MR. TAMBUSSI: Willlam Tambussi and
25 25  Willlam Cook from Brown Connery and Matia
3 5
1 . i Bender - Confidential
2 APPEARANCES (continued); 2 Gorecki from Kasowitz, Benson representing
3 3 Donald Trump.
4 WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ 4 DONALD BENDER,
5 EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 5 called as a witness, having been duly sworn
6 Attomeys for Welser and Witness 6 by the notary public, was examined and
7 3 Gannett Drive 7 testified as follows:
8 White Plains, New York 10604-3407 8 EXAMINATION BY
9 BY: THOMAS R, MANISERO, ESQ. 9 MR, CERESNEY:
10 10 Q. Good momning, Mr. Bender,
11 ALSO PRESENT: 11 A, Good moming,
12 KEVIN GALLAGHER, Videographer 12 Q. Letmeintroduce myself on the record,
13 13 I'm Andrew Ceresney from Debevolse & Pilmpton. 1
14 14 represent the defendants In this matter. I'll be
15 15 asking you some questions today In connection with
16 16 a lawsuit that Mr, Trump has brought agalnst my
17 17 dients. Okay?
18 18 Are you represented by counsel today?
19 19 A. Yes, Iam,
20 20 . Q. IsthatMr. Mantsero?
21 21 A, Yes ltis
22 22 Q. Your testimony today is under oath, as
23 23 you see, and is belng taken down by the
24 24 stenographer and videographer. And it may be read
25 25 or played at trial or used for other purposes In
. 2
. VERITEXT/NEW YORK REPORTING COMPANY
212-267-6868 516-608-2400
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Bender - Confidentia)

A.  Thave never figured It out, but 1
would say it's In excess of 80 percent,

Q. And what percentage of ~ Is he one of
Welser's top ten dients in terms of fees?

A.  I'm not privileged to Welser’s billing
schedule,

Q. Do the fees that Mr. Trump pays your
firm impact your Individual compensation?

A, Thave no knowledge how my Individual
compensation Is computed.

MR. MANISERO: You're not alone,

Q. Does the fim, In determining your
individual compensation, take into account the
amount of fees that you generate from your
dients?

LOHDNOU S WN -

55
1 Bender - Confidential
2 A, Yes.
3 Q. Afterit's negotlated?
4 A Yes.
5 Q. Isit typkally negotiated down?
6 A. No. It'sa—it's —~ the base fee s
7 already dons, andwasetup—wesetupa fae for

Q. And typically Mr, Trump pays the fult
12 amount of that fee that you've agreed upon?
13 A Yes,

14 Q. Who s paying Welser's counse! fees in
15 connection with this litigation?

16 A, Whois paying Welser's councel foes?

17 A Youwould have to ask the executive 17 Velser Is paying Welser's counsel fees,
18 committes, I have no Idea how my compensationis| 18 Q, IsMr, Trump paying Welser's counsel
19 computed, 19 fees in connection with this litigation?
20 Q. Youhave noidea — 20 A Excuseme? Saythat again?
2t A, Noidea. |2 (Unintelligible conversation Interupted
22 Q. Holdon. You have no idea whether the 22 by the reporter.)
23 amount of fees that you personally generate from 23 Q. IsMr. Trump relmbursing Welcer for its
24 diients of yours have anything to do with your 24 counsel fees In connection with tis liigation?
25 compensation level? 25 A There have been a number of bills
55 s7
1 Bender - Confidential 1 Bender - Confidential
2 A. T have no idea how fees are 2 generated to Mr. Trump. Two or three have been
3 compensated, - 3 paid. Twoor—afeware outstanding stifl,
4 Q. tetme ask you this: When youbecame | 4 Q. Did you bill Mr, Trump for your efforts
S the Trump ~ the partnerin charge of the Trump 5 in collecting materials for production I this
6 account, did your compensation Increase? 6 litigation?
7 A, Not significantdy. 7 A.  Yes, wedd,
8 Q. HasMr. Trump referred other dients to 8 Q. Didyou bill Mr. Trump for your fees in
9 you? 9 representation in connection with the depositions?
10 A Heasked me to speak to one or two 10 A Feesmm—youmeanmyathomeys'
11 people over the years for a few minutes, but we've ] 11 fees?
12 never — I never received any business from 12 Q. Mr. Manisero's fees, Are you going to
13 Mr. Trump. 13 bt ¥4r. Trump for those?
14 Q. Hasheeverthreatened you with 14 A. Iplanon biling Mr. Teump for thece,
15 litigation? 15 Q. Areyou being compensated for your ime
16 A. No. 16 in testifying today by Mr, Trump?
17 Q. How about Welser? 17 A Iplan on billing Mr, Trump for it.
18 A, No, not to my knowledge, 18 Q. And how much time dig you spend In
19 Q. Has he ever refused to pay your 19 preparation for today’s testimony?
20 outstanding bills? 20 A Imetwith Mr. Manisero for an hour or
21 A, We-ourfees are negotiated once a 21 hour an and a half this week, and one of his
22 year, Mr. Trump does not get involved with the 22 assodiates came to my office and met with me and
23 billing. 23 Mr. Rosenblum for an hour and a half or two hours
24 Q. Does he pay the full amount of your 24 a couple weeks ago, just generat ttems, not any
25 bill at the end of the year? 25 spedfic—~
15
VERITEXT/NEW YORK REPORTING COMPANY
212-267-6868 516-608-2400
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Daily Deal{The Deal
April 6, 2005 Wednesday
SECTION: BANKRUPTCY; Corporate Restructuring
LENGTH: 600 words
HEADLINE: Trump wins plan confirmation
BYLINE: by Erik Moser
HIGHLIGHT: '

After months of wrangling, the equity holders' committee signs on, agreeing fo a
settlement that includes a $17.5 million cash payout.

BODY:

Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts inc. on Tuesday, April 5, hit the jackpot with its
bankruptcy case, winning confirmation of its prenegotiated reorganization plan
after making key settlements with objecting parties.

THCR has only been in bankruptcy court since Nov. 21 and is fooking to exit by
May 1.

Buring its nearly four months in U.S, Bankruptcy Court for the District of New
Jersey in Camden, THCR faced almost constant battles with its official committee
of equity holders, which had been appointed by Judge Judith Wizmur in
December. :

THCR had planned on full recoveries for alt creditors except the equity holders,
who were scheduled to receive pennies on the dollar. However, the stockholder
group insisted there was more money avallable.

After multiple objections and efforts to slow down the quickly progressing case,
on March 28 the debtor agreed to a settlement with the equity committee. Under
this agreement, THCR will distribute $17.5 million and a percentage of new
warrants to the committee, which represents about 20,000 shareholders,

The group will also share in the proceeds from the sale of THCR's World's Fair
parcel, a 2.4-acre lot in Atlantic City which is scheduled to be put up for 363
auction within two months of the plan’s effective date.

But according to Robert Klyman, lead debtor counsel at Latham & Watkins LLPin
Los Angeles, from the debtor's perspective, the proceeds from the sale and the
warrants were already being distributed to its creditors and thus don't represent

new value being found.

"The only thing that company is providing is the $17.5 million in cash," said

3814
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Klyman, “But compared to paying for the fees of all the lawyers and committees
for a long, drawn-out confirmation, $17.5 mitlion is a deal for everyone,”

Soon after the stockholder settiement was reached, THCR brofcered a deal with
DLJ Merchant Banking Partners LPto withdraw its objection to the plan. THCR witl

be reserving at least $10 million of unused cash from its exit loan to settie claims
issues with DLJ.

In January, DLJ filed a $25 million claim against THCR in relation to feos it
believes it's owed from failed financing negotiations prior to THCR's filing.

Not surprisingly, Donald J, Trump is turning out to be the biggest winner In the
bankruptey case. In fact, the equity committee called earlier reorganization plans
"sweetheart" deals for Trump considering the returns he was set to receijve,

in the last version of the plan, there are more than three pages dedicated to
explaining the investment agreement between Trump and THCR.

Under this proposal, Trump will invest about $55 million in new cash and $16.4
million for priority notes and also gets a trademark license valued at $124 million.

This is for THCR being able to use Trump's name and likeness, free of royaity
costs,

There Js also a service agreement that keeps Trump THCR's chalrman and
requires him to appear at six promotional events a year, This duty was judged to
be worth $6 million under the latest revised plan, because it parmits the
reorganized debtor to be associated with the Trump persona,

In return, Trump receives about a 30% interest in THCR, as well as a $2 million

annual salary, (with undisclosed bonuses) and a 25% stake in the Miss Universe
pageant,

Securad and unsecured creditors will receive full recovery on their claims and the

reorganization will reportedly save the company $98 million a year.from
restructuring its debt.

Marke A, Broude and John W. Weiss also represent the debtor at Latham &
Watkins in New York, )

Charles A. Stanziale and Jeffrey T. Testa were local counsel at Schwartz, Tobia &
Stanziale,

"

Trump's casino company to emerge from
bankruptcy May 12

3815a
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DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP 919 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Tel 212509 606D
Fax 2129096836
www.debevolse.com

May 25, 2007 .

BY HAND AND EMAIL

Maria Gorecki, Esq.

Kasowitz, Benson, Torres & Friedman LLP
1633 Broadway

New.York, NY 10019

Donald J. Trump v, Timothy L. O’Brien, ef al.
Dear Maria:

Pursuant to the requests of Mr. Trump, Mr. Weisselberg, and Ms. Scarbrough, the
Court’s May 10, 2007 Order, and the subsequent clarifications of the Order, defendants
are producing the notes and audio recordings of Mr. O’Brien’s conversations with Mr.
Trump, Mr. Weisselberg, and Ms. Scarbrough. Specifically, please find enclosed a disc
that contains the relevant images, load files, and OCR of the requested interview notes
(TOB-PD-00004297 to TOB-PD-00004379; TOB-EF-00007765 to TOB-EF-00007894),
and a second disc that contains the requested andio recordings (TOB-M-0003 to TOB-M-
0044). Today’s production also includes the notes and audio recordings of Mr. O’Brien’s
interviews of other persons, where Mr. Trump was present and participated.

We are also enclosing a production log that: (1) relates documents in today’s,
production to entries on defendants’ privilege log dated October 17, 2006; (2) details
redactions to the interview notes; and (3) indicates the lopged audio recordings not
produced today (because they arc beyond the scope of the Court’s Order).

Please contact me to discuss or if you have any guestions.

Very truly yours,

Ao

Andrew M. Levine
Enclosores

cc:.  Mark P. Ressler, Esq. (by email without attachments)
William M. Tambussi, Esq. (by email without attachments)
Mark S. Melodia, Esq. (by cmail without attachments)
James F. Dial, Esq. (by email without attachments)

P ocaan

New York » Washington, D.C, « London  Pasit » Frnkfurr » Moscow ¢ Hong Kong ¢ Shanghai
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Trump: Bigger than Coke or Pepsi?

Thanks to his real estate prowess and hit reality show, America‘s most watched billionaire says his
brand "has become the best brand”

Whether it's the guest list for his January wedding, or news on Dec. 13 that the U.S, bankrupley walchdog objects fo the
financlal package meant to resfructure his casino operations, Donald Trump just can't stay out of the news. Not that
America's brash billionalre has ever shied from the spotlighl: The second season of his hit show The Apprentice s nearing
its finale, with two players left to go.

* Clozo Window

BusinassWeek Senior Writer Diane Brady recently met with Trump to discuss the state of his business and his brand,
“Trump is becoming a very blg licensing operation,” he says. How blg? More than a dozen deals are under diccussion and
many more — Including Trump caskets — were rejected oul of hand., Here are edited excerpts from the conversation:

Q: What do you think makes people ook to you as a corporate icon?
A: Cerlainly, the tremendous success that I've had with real estale in Manhattan would have started that, znd the great
success of The Apprentice also had a lot 1o do with it. For the finale last year, we had 41.5 million people watching,

Mark Cuban tried a show and it fafled, Richard Branson tried a show and it falled quickly and mizerably. Yet The Apprentice
Is beating virtually everything, Somehow, there's been a chord hit. Something that | do — undelined -- seems to get people to
want to watch. .

Q; Why can't you define it?

A: [ don't want ta get overly crazy aboul defining il because people will say, "Oh, he's so arragaal. Isn't he a temible human
being?” I'm not a terrible human being,

I think | know why they watch me and don't watch other entrepreneurs. | seem to have an instinct for doing things. The thing
I do the best Is | buitd the best. Quiside the Industry, ! get credit for being the best promoter when, in fact, I'm the best
builder, The jobs are so good and the propertles are so successful that people Just say that I'm a great promoter,

Q: How important Is the brand, though? Some have suggested that simply slapping the name Trumg on a property
gives it an automatic premium.

Az IW's a 25% premlum. I recently did a partnership with Generat Eleclric (GE ), and when GE was choosing who their partner
should be, they did a study that showed not only would you sell out for more money per square foot but, more imperantly to
them, you vould sell out much faster with the name Trump. The brand has become the best brand.... I think it's a blgger
brand now than Pepsi Cola (PEP ) or Coca-Cola (KO )

Q: Really? That would be Impressive.
A: 1 really think it's a bigger brand.... I'm doing a tremendous suit collection, called the Danald J. Trump Signature collection,

that's selling incredibly well, And we're dealing wilh Estee Lauder on a men's fragrance. It's sefling off the shelves. Trump is
becoming a very big licensing operation, .

Q: Do you think you're inspirational to Americans In a way that other billionalres are not?
A: s hard for me to say yes. | went to the Wharton School of Finance and did well there. I'm an intelligent quy. If 1 answer_
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yes, | sound terrible. I'm stpposed {o take a different kind of approach and say, *Well, | just work hard.

Obviously, there's something going on, You have 41.5 million people walching The Apprentice where another show goes off

the air.... We're having fun with this whole thing, Then in the end, you kick the bucket, nobody gives a damn, and that's the
end of it.

Q: Your personal life is in the press as much as your professional life. Do you feel any pressure to act differently as
you become more of a celebrity brand? Martha Stewart obviously discovered how personal actions can affect 2
brand.

A: Belng a major celebiity is a huge disadvantage, becatse you become such a target. Just ask Martha about thal, Given
what Martha did, had she not been Martha, nobody would have even tooked at it, You have a microscope on you all the
fime.

It's an advantage in that 1 sell more suils than anybody else. | sell more apariments than anybody else. | get advantages
even In deals. People want to sell to me because of the name.... But if you go out to dinner and spill a dink, It's on the front
page of a newspaper the next day,

Q: You were just on the front page of The New York Post, with that free ring for your fiancéo, Melania.
A: Pecple give me wedding rings. | have every major diamond group throwing diamonds in my face, "Please take our
dlameonds. Please! Here's a million dollarst” And 1f | take i1, 'm on the froni page of the Post.

Q: That's a personal peril, though. What about professional perils, stich as the alttention to your casino operations
declaring bankruptey?

A: The casinos represent less than 19 of my net worth, O.K,? What I'm dolng Is simply shedding $400 millfon of debt. I'm
doing something that, frankly, if someone else did it, it wouldn't even be a story.

I'm going to create a great casino company. It should be a positive story, but ¥'s a negative story. We've restructured. We've
agread with everybody. When you have too many successes, everybody looks for a chink in the ammor.

Q: Are you afraid of fallure?

' Az | hate failure, and I'll do whatever | can to avold it. | don't like to lose. | don't like using the word "afraid™.... One thing about
bad times is that you leamn a lot about yourself. {'ve seen people that | thought were really strong who had bad times and
folded Tike an umbrella, And I've seen people who I didn't think were paricularly strong and, in bad times, they stood up like
an iron wall. You never know about paople until you see them in bad times.

My company is bigger and stronger than it has ever been.... The one thing I'm really most proud of is that I've really provided
a lot of jobs for people. Not only have | provided great products bul I've provided a lot of income {or a lot of famities.

Q: Do you think The Apprentice has helped to Improve the imrage of Corporate America? It has been a tough few
years.

A; When Mark Bumett and | concelved of The Apprentice, nobody thought a show that's largely based on business would
ever have huge ratings. It might have a place on CNBC but that‘s it. Not only did it get great ratings but it became the No. 1
{new] show of the season.

That was a great boost to business. { also think we {each ethics in a cerlain way on the show. | think it's a great tribute o
business that The Apprentice Is such a success ... In Australia, i's the [top-rated] show. People everywhere are inlerested in
this stuff,
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AJAX ENTERPRISES, et al., Plaintiffs, v. DECLAN FAY, ct al., Defendants,

Civil No. 044539 (NLH)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

! 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38515

May 15, 2007, Decided
May 15, 2007, Filed

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: Summary judgment
granled, in part, summary judgmem denied, in part by,
Maotion granted by, Claim dismissed by, Request granted,
Request denied by Afax Envers. v. Fay, 2007 U.S. Dist.
LEXTS 65027 (D.NJ., Aug. 31, 2007)

PRIOR HISTORY: 4jax Enters. v. Fay, 2007 U.S, Dist,
LEXTS 16627 (D.N.J., Mar. 7, 2007)

COUNSEL: [*1) For AJAX ENTERPRISES, AJAX
ENTERPRISES, INC., AJEX ENTERPRISES, INC.,
UJEX ENTERPRISES, INC., Q TOWN, INC,, TIAX
INVESTMENT CORP. Plaintiffs: ANDREW L.
INDECK, LEAD - ATTORNEY, SCARINCI &
HOLLENBECK, LLC, LYNDHURST, NJ,

For DECLAN FAY, Defendant: CHRISTOPHER
PHILIP LEISE, WHITE & WILLIAMS, LLP, CHERRY
HILL, NJ.

For INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE AGENCY, Defendant,
ThirdParty Plaintiff, Cross Defendant: EVELYN
CADORIN FARKAS, FARKAS & DONOHUE, LLC,
FAIRFIELD, NJ.

For INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE AGENCY, Cross
Claimant, Cross Defendant, ThirdParty Plaintft: DAVID
C. DONOHUE, LEAD ATTORNEY, ‘- EVELYN
CADORIN FARKAS, FARKAS & DONOHUE, LLC,
FAIRFIELD, NJ.

For DECLAN FAY, Cross Defendant:CHRISTOPHER
PHILIP LBISE, LEAD ATTORNEY, WHITE &
WILLIAMS, LLP, CHERRY HILL, NI,

For DECLAN FAY, RISK MANAGEMENT

TNSURANCE NETWORK AGENCY, Cross Claimants:
CHRISTOPHER PHILIP LEISE, LEAD ATTORNEY,
WHITE & WILLIAMS, LLP, CHERRY HILL, NJ.

For DECLAN FAY, ThirdPagy Plintiff, Cross
Claimant: CHRISTOPHER PHILIP LEISE, LEAD
ATTORNEY, CHRISTOPHER PHILIP LEISE, WHITE
& WILLIAMS, LLP, CHERRY HILL, NI

JUDGES: Joel Schueider, United States Magistrate
Judge.

OPINION BY: Joel Schneider

OPINION

OPINION AND QRDER

This [*2] matter is before the Court on plaintiffs'
Aptl 2, 2007 informal letter tequest to amend their
answers to interrogatories and Rule 26 disclosures to
assert a new damage claim. Defendants object to the
amendment, The Court heard ol argument on May 7,
2007, After considering the written and oral arpuments of
the partics, it is hereby Ordered that plaintiffs' requested
amendment is DENIED.

Background

The factual background of this matter was
summatized in this Court's March 7, 2007 Opinion and
Order pranting Plaintiff's: Motion for Leave to File an
Amended Complaint [Doc. No. 43). See djax Enfers. v.
Fay, C.A. No. 044539 (NLH), 2007 U.S. Dist, LEXIS
16627, 2007 WL 766335 (D.N.J. 2007). By way of bricf
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summary, Ajax Enterprises ("Ajox") is a Professional
Employer Organization ("PEO"). A PEO is » company
that provides integrated business services to its clients. A
PEO delivers these services by “establishing and
maintaining an employment relationship with clients'
employees by contractually assuming  substantind
cmployer rights, responsibilities, and risks” See
Complaint at P4, Doc. No. 1. Ajax brought negligence
claims against defendants Declan Fay and Industrial
Insurance Agency [*3] alleging that by failing to place
Ajax, with an existing and viable worker's compensation
insurance carier, defendants breached their duty as
insurance brokers. Ajax secks relmbursement of the
finder's fee and all premiums paid in the amount of §
192,340.94, a declaration that defendants are oblipated to
assume the defense and indemnification of all claims,
including currently unknown claims that would have
been covered, and a determination that it is & “suceessfusl
claimant” enfitling it to payment of atlomey's fees
incurred in bringiog this action. 4jax Enters., supra 2007
U.S. Dist. LEXTS 16627, [I¥L] at *1.

As to the procedural history of this case, the original
Complaint was filed on September 20, 2004, [Doe. No.
1]. On February 9, 2006, Ajax filed its first Motion for
Summary Judgment, Defendants filed their Cross Motion
for Summary Judgment on March 14, 2006, On
December 7, 2006, the Honorable Noel L. Hillman,
U.S.D.J, entered an Order denying the parties' Motions.
Afier Ajox's Motion was denied it filed a Motion to
Amend its Complaint on January 17, 2007 [Dac, No. 38).
The original plaintiff in this matter was Ajax Enterprises.
With leave of court, plaintiffc filed thejr Amended
Complaint [*4] on March 14, 2007, adding as named
plaintiffs Ajax Entetprises, Inc. {"Ajax"), Ujex
Enterprises, Inc. ("Ujex"), Q-Town, Inc. {"Q-Town") end
Tjax Invest. Corp, ("Tjax™). When this Court granted
Ajax's Motion to Amend on March 7, 2007 its Opinion
and Order cautioned, "although the Court grants plaintiffs
leave to amend, the new partics are barred from asserting
a damage claim differcnt than the claim Ajax Enterpriscs
has been asserting to date.” Ajax Enters,, Supra 2007 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 16627, {WL] af *3. This Court further wrate,
"{tlhc amendment s not intended to permit the new
partics to asseit new damage claims.” Jd, (cmphasis in
original), On April 9 and 20, 2007, defendants filed new
Motions for Summary Judgment. [Doc, Nos. 54, 56).
Plaintiffs’ filed a Cross Motion for Summary Judgment as
to liability on Apzil 26, 2007, [Dec. No. 56]. These
Motions have not been decided, All fact ang expert

discovery in the case is complete. The Final Pretrial
Conference is scheduled on July 13, 2007,

The issue presently before the Court is plaintiffy
request to amend their answers to interrogatories and
Rule 26 disclosures to include a new damage claim. On
January 22, 2007, Ajax notified defendants [*5) for the
fivst time that it was claiming that T& L Transportation,
Inc. “discontinued its business relationship with the
Phintiffs because of the lapse in insurance...” See
Plaintiffs' April 2, 2007 Letter Bricf at 2, Doc. No. 48, 1
Defendants argue that plaintiffs' amendment is late and
prejudicial. [Doc. No. 60,

i During oral argument on May 7, 2007,

" plaintiffs' counsel informed the parties‘that the
new damage claim is asserted on behalf of Ujex
and Q-Town.

Ajox admits that the first time it nolificd defendants
of the T&L damage claim was on January 22, 2007 when
it listed the claim in 2 damage summary letter it sent the
Court.. Prior to that date the T&L claim was never
identified in Ajax's Rule 26 disclosures and answers to
interogatories. 2 Plaintiffs allege the first time they
leamed T&L did not renew its business with them
because of their insurance problems was on January 7,
2007 at the deposition of T&L's Vice President, Leslie R.
Bredell, which was teken in o rclated stare court
litigation. [*6] In May 2005, T&L-filed a state court
Complaint agajnst Ajax, Ujex, Q-Town, and others, and
alleged it suffered damages because of the plaintiffs'
faiture to procure proper insurance,

2 The Court assumes, but is nat cerlain, that
Ujex, Q-Town and Tjax never served separate
Rule 26 disclosures,

Discussion

Pursuant to Fed, R. Civ. P, 26(e)(1) and (2), a party
is under a duty to supplement its Rule 26 disclosurcs and
answers to interrogatories if the answers served in the
case are incomplete, Courts have used a four (4) part test
1o determine whether a party breached jts duty w0 amend
under Rule 26(e) 1 (1) whether there was a prior esponse;
(2) whether the response became materially incorrect or
incomplete; (3) whether the party kaew that the response
was incomplete; and (4) whether the corect information

. was otherwise made known to the other party through the

discovery process or in wriling, Pfzer, Inc, v. Teva
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Pharms. US4, Inc., CA. 04-754 (JCL), 2006 U.S, Dis{.
LEXIS 74611, 2006 WL 2938723, *3 (D.N.J. 2008}. [*7)
Pursuant Fed, R. Civ. P, 37(c}(]), a party who without
substantial justification fails to amend a prior response to
discovery as required by Rule 26(e)(2) 13 not, unless such
failure is harmless, permitted to use as evidenco at irial
any information not disclosed, "Rule 37 is written in
mandatory terms, and is desigoned to provide a strong
inducement for disclosure of Rule 26(a) material”
Newman v. GHS Osteopathic, Inc., Parkview Hosp. Div,,
60 F.3d 153, 156 (3d Cir. 1995)(quotations and citations
omitted). In Pfizer, Inc., supra 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXTS
74611, JWL] at *4, the Court looked at the following
factors to determine if withheld evidence should be
excluded: (1) the importance of the information withheld;
{2) the prejudice or surprise to the party against when the
evidence is offered; (3) the likelihood of disruption at
trial; (4) the possibility of curing the prejudice; (5) the
explanation for the faiture to disclose, and; (6) the
presence of bad faith or willfulness in not disclosing the
cvidence, The burden of csteblishing substantial
justification and barmlessness is on the party that failed
to make the required disclosure. [*8] M. Eagles Tool
Warchouse, Inc. v. Fisher Tooling Co., C.4. 97-1568
(JAG), 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23636, 2007 WL 979854,
*12 (D.N.J. 2007) {citing Yeif by Molly, Ltd, v, Deckers
Qutdoor Corp., 259 F.3d 1101, 1107 (9th Cir. 2001)).

This Court will deny plaintifis' request to amend
their damage claim because it is late and the defendants
will be substantially prejudiced by the amendment,
Furthermore, the requested amendment is not harmless
and there is no substantial justificetfon for plaintiffs'
delay in raising the T&L damage claim. Although Mr.
Bredell was not deposed wmtil January 7, 2007, plaintiffs
knew or should heve known long before this date that a
plausible reason for why T&L did not renew ifs contract
was because of problems plaintiffs bad placing their
insurance. This should have put plaintiffs an notice to
inquire of T&L why T&L did not renew its contract, In
turn this would have alerted Ujex and Q-Town of their
damage clam against defendants related to the T&L
contract. Wevertheless, plaintiffs sdmitted at oral
argument they did no investigation in this case regarding
whether they could assert the non-rencwal of the T&L
business as an element of their damage [*9] claim.
Plaintiffs also provided no good cxplanation for why they
never ook Mr. Bredell's deposition in this case. Another
reason why plaintiffs should have been aware of the T&L
damage clnim fong before January 22, 2007 was because

T&L sucd plaintiffs in a separate state court action in
May, 2005 based on actions plaintiffs’ claim was the fault
of thc defendants in this case. Morcover, in October
2005, plintiffs filed a third-party complaint in T&L's
state court action relating to the non-renewal of T&L's
business. It is plain, therefore, that plaintiffs knew or
should have known at Icast es early as May 2005, that a
possible explaation for why T&L did pot renew its
contract was because of defendants’ actions. Plaintiffs’
proposed amendment comes afier the end of fact and
expert discovery, after the filing of two rounds of
summary judgment motions, and on the cve of the Final
Pretrial Conference, Plaintiffs' request to assert a new
damage claim is unquestionably late,

More importantly, not only is plaintiffs' new damage
claim late, but the defendants will be substantiatly
prejudiced if plaintiffs' proposed amendment is granted.
At this stage of the case all fact discovery is complete
[*10] and expert reports have been exchanged, As set
forth in Declan Fay's May 4, 2007 letter brief [Doc. No.
60], if plaintiffs' amendment is pranted it will inevitably
open the door to another round of substantial fact and
expert discovery and depositions, and will likely
neeessitate the need for a new round of expert reports.
Many of the depositions that must be taken to address
plaintiffs’ new claim are of witnesses who were already
deposed. Defendants should not be compelled to incur
substantial unnecessary transaction costs becpuse
plaintiffs now want to assert a new damage claim more
then Z 172 years afier their complaint was filed, and
virtually on the eve of the Finat Pretrial Conference. This
is cspecially true since plaintiffs knew or should have
known about the T&L damage claim at least as early as
May 2005,

When this Court granted Ajax Enterprises leave to
amend their complaint on May 7, 2007, the Court’

specifically noted that it would not permit plaintiffs to

assert new damage claims. The reason was obvious—an

amendmient at this late stage of the litipation would
incvitably delay trial and substantially prejudice
defendants, Despite this Court's admonition, plaintiffs are
[*11] now stiempting to accomplish what this Court
specifically prohibited in its March 7, 2007 Opinion. The
Court granted Plaintifis' Motion to Amend to add new
plaintiffs with the clear and unmistakable proviso that it
would not permit the new plaintiffs to assert new damape
claims that had not previously been reised by Ajox
Enterprises.
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It is also noteworthy that plaintiffs acknowledge that
when they filed their Motion to Amend their Complaint
on January 17, 2007 [Dec. No. 38] they were aware of
the T&L damage claim. Nevertheless, plaintiffs Motion
did not mention that one of the reasons they wanted to
add Ujex end Q-Town as named plaintiffs was so that
they could assert the new T&L damage claim: In fact,
Plaintiffs' Brief in support of their Motion to Amend
represented that if the Motion was granted it would not
tesult in any additional discovery., Plaintifi' Motion
atgued that the new plaintiffs should be added to the case
to seck reimbursement of the same finder's fee and
premiums that Ajax Enterprices had been requesting.
Specifically, Plaintifls’ Briof stated:

As part its claim, the proposed Plaintiffs
seck reimbursement of the same findes's
fee and all premiums paid, [*12] The
Defendants were long ago provided with
capics alf of the subject checks and wire
transfers of the proposed Plaintiffs. There
are no further documenis responsive to
any of ihe discovery requests that would
differ for any of the proposed  new
Plaingiffs.... Accordingly, the proposed

Page 4

amendment will no! cause the need io
extend discovery in this matter,

See Brief at 5, Doc, No. 38-3 (emphasis supplied). This
Court will not permit plaintiffs to amend their damage
clim afler phintiffs represented in their Motion o
Amend that if new parties were zdded to the case no new
damage claims would be asserted. IF plaintiffs had
revealed in their Motion that they wanted to ascert a new
damage claim on behalf of Ujex and Q-Town, it is likely
the Court's ruling on Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend would
have been different, .

Accordingly, for all the foregoing reasons, it is
herchy

ORDERED this 15th day of May, 2007, that
plointiffs' request to amend {1s answers to interrogatories
and Rule 26 disclosures to assert a new damage claim
relating to the non-renewal of T&L's business is
DENIED.

sf Joel Schneider

United States Magistrate Judge
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OPINION BY: RICHARD M. BERMAN

OPINION

DECISION AND ORDER
L Inl:’roduction

On or about August 2, 2005, Kevin E. Bams,
Barbara R Bums, and Rence DeFina (collectively,
"Plaintifs") filed a pro se amended complaint
("Amended Complaint") alleging, amang other things,

that Bank of America, its affiliates, subsidiaries, and
agents, including Bank of America Morigage
{collectively, “Bank of America” or "Defendants™)
violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 75 US.C. § 1631,
1 seq. ("FCRA"), the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act,
15 US.C. § 1692, ef seq. ("FDCPA"), the Truth in
Lending Act, 15 U.S.C, § 1604, of seq. ("TILA™), and
various provisions of Minnesota state Jaw. ! Plaintitfs’
allepations relate to (i) inaccurate credit information
about” Plaintiffs that allegedly was reported to various
credit bureaus by Bank of America beginning on
November 1, 2001, and [*2] (if) the December 5, 2002
{foreclosure) sale of Plhintiffs' mortgaged property in
Dakota County, Minnesota ("Minncsota Property”). (See
Am. Compl., undated, filed Aug. 2, 2005, at 8-21.) 2

1 Although Plaintiffs are proceeding pro se, the
Court believes Batbara Bums to be an attormney.
{See Order, dated June 28, 2006 (*June 28, 2006
Order™), at 1 n. 1); see also Larsen v. JBC Legal
Group, P.C., 533 F. Supp. 2d 290, 295 n.2
(E.D.N.Y. 2003). At orel argument on November
19, 2008, Barbara Bums declined to respond
when asked by the Court whether she is an
sttorney. (See Hearing Tr., dated Nov. 19, 2008
("Nov. 19, 2008 Hearing Tr."), a1 9.)

Renee DeFina, Barbara Bums's mother, is
deceased and is no longer a parly to this action,
See Burns v. Bank of America, No. 03 Civ. 1683,
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2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40037, 2007 WL 1589437,
at * 10 n.9 (S.D.N.Y, June 4, 2007). Kevin Burns
is Barbara Bums's cx-husband. See Burns w.
Ungerman, No. 03 Civ. 17802, 2004 WL 848272,
at *1 (Minn. Dist, Ct. Jan, 16, 2004).

2 Phintiffs contend that this case represents the
cantiniuation of Bank of America v, Burns, Q1 Civ.
1339 (D. Minn, filed July 24, 2001) ("Minnczota
Action”), which appears to have been filed by
Bank of America in the slate courts (*3] of
Minnesota and, thereafier, removed to the United
States District Court for the District of Minnesota
on or about July 24, 2001, According to Plaintiffs,
that case was then "transferred” to the Sovthemn
District of New York on or about June 21, 2006,
(See PL Cross-Mot. at 6 n.3; Am, Compl. at2n,1;
see also Nov. 19, 2008 Hearing Tr. at 16-18, 26.)
The Minnesota Action sppears to have been
dismissed without prejudice by United States
District Judge David S, Doty for lack of
Jurisdiction on or about Junc 21, 2002, (See Order
in 01 Civ. 1339, dated June 21, 2002, at 1; see
also Hearing Tr. in 01 Civ. 1339, dated June 21,
2002, at 6.) On or about March 11, 2003,
Plaintiffs brought this action against Bank of
America in the Southemn District of New York,

Plaintiffs filed the Amended Complaint following
the December 14, 2005 decision of the United States
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit which vacated
this Court's December 18, 20603 Order dismissing
Plaintiffs' eriginal complaint, dated-March 11, 2003, See
Burns v. Bank of America, 115 Fed, Appx. 105 (2d Cir,
2004) ("The district court propetly  pranted (he
[D)efendants' motion to dismiss the complaint for
substantially the reasons [*4] it articulated in its order,
but we think it prudent to allow the plaintiffs an
opportunily to amend their complaint.”} (citations
owitted); see alse Burns v. Bank of dmerica, No. 03 Civ,
1685, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXJS 22799, 2003 WL 22990065
(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 18, 2003).

On or ebout June 28, 2006, this Court issued &n order
granting in part Bank of America's motion to dismiss the
Amended Complaint. The June 28, 2006 Order denied
Bank’ of America's motion with respect to Plaintiffs'
cleims wnder FCRA § 1681s-2(b), the FDCPA, the
Minnesota Consumer Fraud Act {"MCFA™, and
Minnesota trespass, conversion, and slander Jaw. (See

June 28, 2006 Order at 6, 28,) At that time, the Court also

denied Plaintiffs' motfon for summary judgment on their
claims that "Bank of America had no legal rights apainst
the property and its *forcclosure' of the « - . morngage
[was] fllegal and void," because, among other things, (i)
"a proposed determination of the partics' legal (real
property) interest in the mortgaged property and the
legality of the 2002 forcclosure® were “issues not found
in the Amended Complaint," and (i) "Minmnesora Statute
§ 542,02 governs Minnesota Real Property claims and
mandates that Plaintiffs' cloims must be liigated f*5] in
Dakota County, Mimnesota. (/d. at 26 (intemal
quotations and citations omittedy,)

On or about April 24, 2008, Bank of America moved
for summary judgment on Plaintiffs' remaining claims
pursuant to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure ("Fed. R, Civ. P.") arguing, among other
things, that: (1) Plaintiffs’ FCRA and MCFA clnims
should be dismissed because Plaintiffs have "fail[ed] w0
provide any evidencs of . . . alleged damages”™; (2)
"[ulnder FCRA § 1681In(z), this Court should award Bank
of America its attomey’s fees incurred in responding to
Plaintiffs' . . . harassing and knowingly unsubstantiated
FCRA allcgations"; (3) Plaintiffs have no claim under the
FDCPA because "Bank of America was a creditor and
not a debt collector with respect to [P]laintiffe’ loan"™; (4)
Plaintiffs' Minnesota state law trespass, conversion, and
slander of title claims fail because Bank of America had
the right "as a matter of contract and a5 a maticr of law"
lo enter and take possession of the Minnesola Property to
prevent waste and to commence a foreclosure action; and
(5) Plaintiffs "should be precluded pursuant (o [Fed, R,
Civ. P.J 37 from offering any evidence not previously
disclosed in [*6] discovery.” (Bank of America's Mot
for Summ J., dated Apr, 24, 2008 ("BOA Mot."), at 7, 12,
28; see also id, at20-21))

On or sbout Junc 4, 2008, Fhaintiffs filed an
oppesition to Bank of America's motion and “renewed"
motion for summary judgment on all of Plaintiffs'
(remaining) federal and state law clajms, (See Dls.
Renewed Mot. for Summ, J., undated, filed Jure 4, 2008
("Pls. Cross-Mot.").) 3 Plaintiffs also moved pursuant to
Fed R Civ. P, 11 and 37 for sanctions “as just
compensation for costs . . . incurred by Plaintiffs in
responding to the duplicative, voluminous pleadings and
‘certifications' filed by defense counsel, an unsuccessfinl
legal paosition asserted on appeal, and two unsuccessful
motions to dismiss™; and pursuant to Fed, R, Civ. P, 560
"o enable the [deposition of Minnesols attomey
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Lawrence Wilford (Wilford)) to be taken (Pls.
Cross-Mot. at 12, 20.) 4

3 Plaintiffs' Rule 56.1 Statement, dated June 3,
2008, and Rule 56,1 Counterstatemeat, dated July
14, 2008, do not citc "to admissible evidence of
record supporting each . . . fact," Giannullo v.
City of New York, 322 F.3d 139, 140 (2d Cir.
2003), although it appears clearly from Plaintiffs'
bricfing papers [*7] that Plaintiffs have been
notified of (and understand) their obligations
under Fed R Civ. P. 56 and Local Civil Rule
J6.1, (See. eg., Pls. Rulc 56.1 Statement, dated
June 3, 2008 ("Pls. 56.1"); PIs. Rule 56.1
Counterstatement, dated July 14, 2008 {"Pls, 56.1
Counterstatement™); Not. to Pre Se Opposing
Summ. J,, dated Apr. 24, 2008.) In any event, "the
record [has been] reviewed independently” by the
Court to avoid prejudice to any party, Holiz v
Rockefeller & Co., Inc., 258 F.3d 62, 74 (2d Cir.
2001). .

4 At oral argument on November 19, 2008,
Plaintiffs offered as exhibits Plaintiffs' Statement
of Undisputed Facts Pursuant to Rule 56.1 of the
Civil Rules of the Southern District of New York,
dated June 3, 2008 ("Court Exhibit A"), and
Plaintiffs' Compliance with Order Repgarding Teial
Memorandum and Disclosures, dated March 14,
2008 ("Court Exhibit B"). {See Nov. 19, 2008
Hearing Tr. at 7-14; see also Lir. from Steven S.
Rand to Hon, Richard M. Benman, dated Nov. 19,
2008; Ltr. from Barbama R, Bums and Kevin E,
Bums to Hon. Richard M. Berman, dated Nov.
21,2008.)

On or about Junc 19, 2008, Bank of Amcrica filed a
reply, arpuing, among other things, that Phaintiffs "have
sought this [*8] rclief [i.e., sanctions] previously in
discovery motions before {United States] Magistrate
Judge James C. Francis IV, and their applications have
been semmarily denied.” (Bank of Americz's Reply in
Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J., dated June 19, 2008 ("BOA
Reply™, at 8.) On or about July 14, 2008, Pleintiffs filed
a sur-reply ("Pls. Sur-Reply™). As noted, oral argument
was held on November 19, 2008.

For the following reasons, Bank of Americas

motion for summary judgment is granted in part aud -

denicd in pact, and Platntilfs' motion for summary
judgment is dented,

Page 3

1. Background

On October 28, 1988, Kevin and Barbara Bums "as
husband and wife . . . executed a promissory note . , .
cvidencing a $ 111,000.00 mortgage loan . . . made by
Ameristar Financial Corporation (Ameristar’) to Mr, and
Ms. Bums." (Bank of Amesica Rule 56.1 Statement,
dated Apr. 24, 2008 ("BOA 56.1™, P L.} The promissory
note "was secured by a morigage dated October 28, 1988
(Monrtgape'} forming a lien on [the Minnesota Property].”
(BOA 56.1 P 2.) "On November 30, 1988, Ameristar
caused tho Morigage to be duly filed with the office of
the Registrar of Titles of Dakofa County, Minnesota”
(BOA 56.1 P 4.) "On Fecbruary [*9] 15, 1990, Ameristar
assigned the Mortgage to [Bank of America's predecessor
in interest] Goldome Realty Credit Corporation.” (BOA
56.1 P 4) On or about Decentber 1, 1999, Bank of
America obtained the Mostgage "by way of merger and a
series of name changes.” (BOA Mot. at 25; see alsa BOA
56.1 PP 4-9, Decel. of Jacqueline M. Tobolski, dated Apr.
22, 2008 ("Tobolski Decl."), PP 49 & Exs. B, C; Decl.
of Lawrence A, Wilford, dated Ape. 18, 2008 ("Wilford
Decl™), Ex. I (attached Cenlificate of Title to Minnesota

Property).)

Bank of America asserts that "[o]n July 5, 20602, the
[Mortgage] was in default, and it remained in default {in
the emount of approximately $ 99,994.51] through the
date of the foreclosure sale” on December 5, 2002, (BOA
56.1 P 21; sce also Wilford Decl.,'Ex, H,) "On September
6, 2002, Bank of America ordered an initial property
inspection from First American [Field Services (First
Amcrican®] in connection with the [Minnecsota Propertyl®
and "First American subcontracted with Fisher Pratt, nc.
('Fisher Pratt’y," (BOA 56.1 PP 18, 19; see also Decl. of
Michael W, Smith, dated Apr. 18, 2008 ("Smith Decl."},
PP 4, 5,) Fisher Pratt inspected andfor secured the
Minnesota Property {*10] on or about Scptember &,
2002, Seplember 23, 2002, October 17, 2002, November
17, 2002, and December 17, 2002, and indicated that the
property was vacant on those oceasions, (See BOA 56.1
PP 20, 23, 25, 34; see also Smith Decl, PP 7,9, 12, 13,
14, 16; Tobolski Decl,, Ex, L; Wilford Dect,, Ex. F.)

"On September 12, 2002, Bank of America referred
the (Mortgage] to outside counsel, ie., the faw firm of
Leonard, O'Brien, Wilford, Spencer and Gale, Ltd,
(Leonard, O'Brien'), to commence non-judicial
foreclosure proceedings. (BOA 56.1 P 21; see also
Toboloski Decl. P 2L.) “On October 1, 2002, Leonard,
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O'Bricn sent notices to the Bums at the [Minnesota
Property address] notifying them of their default, Bank of
America’s commencement of foreclosure proceedings
against them and the Bums's right to reinstate the
morigago.” (BOA 56.1 P 29; see also Wilford Decl. b 7
& Ex. A.) "The Dakota County Tribune published [a]
notice of non-judicial foreclosure sale [of the Minnesota
Property] from October 10, 2002 to November 14, 2002,
and the notice indicated that the sale date was scheduled
for December 5, 2002, (BOA S6.1 P 32; see also
Wilford Deel. P 10 & Ex. D.)

"On December 5, 2002, third-party [*11] Welis
Fargo Bank Minnesots, N.A. purchased the [Minaesota
Property].” (BOA 56.1 P 21; see also Wilford Decl. P i3
& Bx. G.) "The [P]laintiffs did not exercise their Tights of
redemption conceming the [Minnesota) Propenty during
the statutory six (6) month redemption period listed in the
Sheriffs Certificate of Sale” (BOA 56.1 P 39) In or
about June 2003, "R.A. Ungerman Construction, Inc,
[R.A. Ungerman'] obtained title . . . by redeeming” the
Minnesota Property. (BOA 561 P 40.) On or about
December 24, 2003, following a duly noticed evidentiary
hearing, “the Dakota County Minnesota District Court
issucd an Order in which it held, infer alia, that a new
certificate of title [to the Minnesota Property] should be
issued to [R.A. Ungerman] and that the foreclosure and
Sheriff sale conducted [by Bank of America Mortgage]
was proper in every material respect.” (BOA 56.1 P 41;
see also Wilford Decl. P 16 & Ex. 1 {fn re Petition of RA.
Ungerman Construction, Inc., No. 03 Civ. 5789 {Minn,
Dist, Ct. Dec, 24, 2003) ("In re R.A. Ungerman™).) Bank
of America asserts that Plaintiifs failed properly to appeal
the Minnesotn District Court's December 24, 2003 Order.,
(See BOA 56.1 P 42; see also [*12] Nov. 19, 2008
Hearing Tv, at 5.)

Batbara Burns hos disputed a Bank of America
Mortgage trade line on her Trans Union credit report on
or about October 26, 2001 (veferring to "repossession™
and in or sbowt December 2001 (referving 1o
"foreclosure"). (See Decl, of Eileen Little, dated Apr. 18,
2008 (“Little Decl."), P 7 & Exs, B, D; see also Tobolsk
Decl. P A7) "{Oln October 30, 200t, Trans Union
notified Bank of America of [Barbara Burns's] dispute.”
(Little Decl. P 10; see also Tobolski Decl, P 47.) "[A]Rer
speaking with Bank of America, on or sbout Jamuary 11,

2002, [Trans Union] updated [Barbara Bums's] credit .

report . . . and changed [the Bank of America trade line]
to ‘paid or paying as agreed™ (Little Decl. P 10; see also

Tobolski Decl. P 47,) "For the period May 2001 throuph
January 11, 2002, Trans Union received no hard inquiries
from any mortgage lenders in comncction with an

application for a loan by [Barbara] Bumns.” (BOA 56.1 P
56; see also Little Decl, P 10.)

Plaintiffs allege that “[bjctween the dates of January
1, 2002 and Junc 30, 2002, [they] applied for and were
approved for a mortgsge refinance loan with Chase
Mortgage [Chase']™ and *[o]n or sbout April 30, [*13)
2002 . . . Chase rescinded the approved mortgage
refinance based upon derogatory trade lines reported by
[Bonk of Ametica] Mortgage.” (PLs. 56.1 P 16.)

In or about May 2002, Kevin Bums disputed the
Bank of America trade line.on his cradit repoit o CSC
Credit Services ("CSC") an affiliste of Equifax
Informalion Serviees, LLC ("Equifax"), (See Decl. of
Janice Fogleman, dated Apr. 22, 2008 {"Fogleman
Deol™), P 11; see also BOA Rule 56.1 Counterstatement,
dated June 19, 2008 ("BOA Counterstatement™), P 14.)
"CSC and/or Bquifax 'froze' the Bank of America trade
line, and [Kevin Burns's) credit file from July throuph
November 2002 continued to indicate during thosc
months that the [Mortgage) was cument.” (BOA 56t P
52; see also Fogleman Deel, P 12.)

Plaintiffs allege that “[o]n or about October 1, 2002,
the Plaintiffs obtained an approved refinance offer from
Upland Mortgage ["Uptand'] and scheduled a clozing for
November 16, 2002 (Pls. 56.1 P 23.) Plaintiffs further
allege that "Upland contacted Bank of America and
[Bank of America] Martgage for payoff znd other
information necessary to close the loan refinance a total
of thirteen times between October 1, 2002 sand Dacember
30, 2002° [*14] and *Bank of America and [Bank of
America] Mortgage rofused to provide the requested
information, thercby proventing the Upland loan from
being closed” (Id, P 24.) Plaintifis allege that *but for
[Bank of America's] false and damaging certifications as
fumishers of consumer credit information, the Plaintiffs
would have successfully ‘dumped’ {Bank of America] and
created a new relationship with either Chase or Upland
on terms far more favorable.” (Pls. Cross-Mot. at 21)

11, Legal Standard

Suinmary judgment may not be granted uniess "the
pleadings, the discovery and disclosure materials on file,
and any affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to
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judgment as a matter of law.* Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); see
Maguire v. Citicorp Retail Servs,, Inc., 147 F.3d 232, 236
(2d Cir. 1998). “If the moving party meets its initial
burden of showing a lack of 2 materinl issue of fact, the
burden shifts to the nonmoving party to come forward
with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue
for trial.” Jonas v. Int'l Airline Emplayees F.C.U., No, 03
Civ. 3374, 2006 US. Dist. LEXIS 34150, 2006 WL
1409721, at *2 (S.DNY. May 19, 2006) (intemnal
quotations and citation [*15] omitied); see also Celotex
Corp. v. Catreti, 477 U.S. 317, 323, 106 §. Cr. 2548, 91
L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986). "[A]ll reasanable inferences must
be drawn against the [moving] party,® and summary
judgment may not be granted “if the evidence is such that
a reasonable jury could retum a vendict for the
nonmoving party.” Morales v. Quintel Entm't, Inc., 249
F.3d 115, 121 (2d Cir. 2001).

The same standard applies where, as here, the parties
file cross-motions for summary judgment. fd. "[Elach
party's motion must be examined on its own merits, and
in each casc afl réasonable inferences must be diawn
against the party whose motion is under consideration.”
Id.

When the party opposing summary judgment is pro
se, the Court smust read that party's popers liberally and
interpret them "to raise the strongest arguments that they
suggest." McPherson v, Coombe, 174 F.3d 276, 280 (2d
Cir, 1999} (intemnal quotation and citation omitted); see
also Jonas, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34150, 2006 WL
1409721, at *2. "By the same token, however, a pro se
party's bald assertion, completely unsupported by
evidence, is not sufficient to overcome a motion for
summmy judgment® Thompson v. Tracy, No. 00 Civ.
8360, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4228, 2008 WL 190449, at
*5 (SD.N.Y. Jan. 17, 2008) [*16] (intemal quotations
omitted). ' .

TV. Analysis
(1) FCRA and MCFA Claims

Bank of America argues, among other things, that
Plaintiffs "could not have suffered any injuty to their
credit" based upon Bank of America’s actions because
“felven assuming, arguendol,] that Bank of America had
misteported fBarbara] Bums's credit to Trans Union'in
October through December of 2001 (which Bank of

America denices), during that limited threc-month period, -

Trans Union received no hard inquiries .from any

mortgage lenders in connection with an application for a
loan for [Barbara] Burns™; and "aithough [Kevin Burns]
apparently did complain {about his credit report] to CSC
in May 2002 . . . [his] credit reponts were not negative or
adverse at that time.” (BOA Mot. at 10, 11-12; see also

. id. a1 21 (Plaintiffs' "MCFA claim must fail . . . for the

same reasons that [Pllaintiffs' [FCRA] claim fails™).)

Plaintiffs counter, among other things, that Bank of
America “did in fact certify and othenwise falsify
derogatory consumer credit trade lines conceming the
Plaintiffs at various times in 2001 and 2002" and “but for
[Bank of America's] false and damaging cerifications as
fumnishers of consumer credit information, [*17] the
Plaintiffs would have successfully ‘dumped’ {Bank of
America) and created a new relationship with either
Chase or Upland on terms far more favorable.” (Pls.
Cross-Mat. at 21.) ’

Section 1681s-2(b) of the FCRA "imposes a duty on
fumishers of information to investigate disputed
information after receiving notice of a dispute concerning
the completencss or accuracy of information from a
{consumer reporting apency] pursuant to 15 USC. §
1681i(a)(2)." Jonas, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXTS 34150, 2006
WL 1409721, at *6. "Liability under the FCRA attaches
for both negligent violations, which require a showing of
actual damages, see 15 US.C. § 16810, and willful
violations, for which statutory and punitive damages are
available, see 15 US.C. § 1681n." Rosenberg v. Cavalry
Invs.," LLC, No. 03 Civ, 1087, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
22788, 2005 WL 2490353, at *2 (D. Conn. Sept. 30,
2005). Plaintiffs bear the burden of demonstrating "the
existence of a materizal factual dispute as to the existence
of damnges.” Spector v. Experian Info. Servs., 321 F.
Supp. 2d 348, 356 (D. Conn. 2004), see also Caltabiano
v. BSB Bank & Trust Co, 387 F. Supp. 2d 135, i41
(E.D.N.Y. 2005).

‘There is no showing that Bank of America either
failed to investigate Plaintiffs' disputed information
(*18] or that Bank of America’s investigations were
unreasonable 25 a matter of law. See Amendoeira v.
Monogram Credit Card Bank of Georgia, No. 05 Civ.
4588, 2007 ULS. Dist. LEXIS 58630, 2007 WL 2325080,
at *1 (ED.N.Y. Aug. 7, 2007} ("courts have required a
‘reasonable investigation® to determine whether disputed

* information can be verificd" under FCRA § 16815-2(8))

{citation omitted).

Damages
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But, even assuming, arguendo, that Bank of America
violated § 168/s-2(5), summary judgment in favor of
Bank of America would still be-appropriate because "no
reasonable factfinder could find that [Plaintifs are]
entitled to damopes under the FCRA," Trikas v,
Unlversal Card Servs. Corp,, 351 F, Supp. 2d 37,43
(ED.N.Y. 2005); see also Casella v, Equifax Credit Info,
Servs, 56 F.3d 469, 473 (2d Cir. 1995), 25 explained
below,

"To obtain an award of actual damsges under the
[FCRA], [Plaintifis] must present evidence of a causal
telation between the violation of the statute and the loss
of credit, or some other hamm." Whiting v,
Harley-Davidson Fin. Servs, 534 F. Supp. 24 823,
833-34 (N.D, Jll. 2008 (intemnl quotations and citation
omilled); see also Casella, 56 F.3d at 473, Plaintiffs have
"not presented sufficient evidence {*19] of damages to
survive summary judgment.” Trikas, 351 F, Supp. 2d at
45. Plaintiffs fail "to present [any] affirmative cvidence
that [they were] in fact denied a loan application . , .
because of the alleged incorrect information contained in
[theit] credit repont]sh.” Evans v, Credir Bureau, 904 F,
Supp. 123, 126 (WD.N.Y. 1995); see also Collins v.
Experlan Credit Reporting Serv., 494 F. Supp, 2d 127,
135-36 (D. Conn. 2007); Spector, 321 F. Supp. 2d. at
356. And, Plaintilly' deposition testimony that they
applied for and were deaied loans by Chase and Upland
based vpon the alleged fnaccurate information in their
credit roports is  unsubstantiated, spéculative, and
conclusory, and "insufficient to avoid summary judgment
on an issue as to which [Plaintiffs) bear [] the vitimate
burden of proof.™ ¥ Lee v. ITT Std., 268 F. Supp, 2d 315,
354 (W.D.N.Y, 2002); see also Caltabiano, 387 F. Supp.
2d at 142 ("To demonstrate an actual injury, a plaintiff
geacrally cannot stand on his subjective testimony alone,
but must set forth other cvidence that such an injury
oceurred."); Collins, 494 F. Supp. 2d at 135-36.

5  Borbam Bums stated (in speculative and
conclusory terms) at her doposition, [*20] among
cther things, that "[c]ertain employees of Bank of
America Monigage  falsified certain - credit
reporting trade lines resuiting in a declination of
the [Chase] loan™ "[tlhere  were  credit
defamations that resulted in the inability of the
Phintiffs to obtin credit when the Plaintiffs
should have been able to obtain it"; and "Bank of
Amcrica made numerous misrepresentations as to
the Plaintiffs' creditworthiness and took steps to

actively thwart and obstruct eq spproved
refinance with Upland . . ., thereby preventing a
real estate closing scheduled for [November 16,
2002)." (Dep. of Barbara R, Bums, dated Ang. 30,
2007 ("B. Bums Dep.™), at 28, 52, 56-57: see also
Certification of Barbara R Bums, undated and
unswomm {"B. Burns Certification™), P 6.}

Kevin Bums stated (in speculative and
conclusory terms) at his deposition, among other
things, that *T believe I was tumed down for a
cotple of credit cards 1 applied for and I'd have to
check my records for anything else™; and
Plaintiffs had a problem obtaining epproval from
Chase for their refinance application because “we
had derogatory trade lines on our credit eports
from Bank of America." {(Dep. of Kevin E. Bums,
dated Aug. [*21] 29, 2007 ("K. Bums Dep,"), at
98, 117.)

Evidence put forth by Bank of America irdicates
that, in response to Barbara Bums's October 26, 2001 and
December 2001 complaints, Trans Union conzulted with
Bank of America and, on or zbout January 11, 2002,
"changed [the Morgage trade line] to ‘paid or paying as
agreed,™ ie., months before the alleged Chase and
Upland denials. 6 (Little Decl. P 12); see afso Cadet v,
Equifax Credit Servs., No. 05 Civ. 4343, 2008 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 3983, 2008 WL 189873, a1 *6 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 18,
2008} (eredit denials did not ocour between "the date
Trans 'Union was notificd of the inaccuracy . . . and the
date they comrected their records™). And, for the petiod
May 2001 through JYanuary 11, 2002, Trans Union
seceived no hard inquiries from any morigage lenders in
connection with an application for a loan for [Barbar]
Bums." (Little Decl. P 14); see also Johnson v, Equifere,
Inc., 510 F, Supp. 2d 638, 647 (S.D. Ala. 2007} {plaintiff
"proffered no evidence that . , . Regions [Bank] relied on
a Trans Union report to deny hera loan®).

6 The record also indicates that on or sbout June
26, 2002 (i.c., prior to the alleged Upland denial
in November 2002), "Bank of America forwardad
a Universal [*22] Data Form (UDF})" to Trzns
Union, Experian, and CSC, instructing them to
"remove all derogatory information from [Barbara
Bums's Bank of America] rade line.” (Tobolski
Decl. P4t & Ex, N.)

Plaintiffs have "filed to show that the disputed
finformation} cavsed the [alleged] eredit denial " by
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Upland. Reed v. Experian Info. Solutions, Inc, 321 F.
Supp. 2d 1109, 1115 (D. Minn. 2004); see also
(Fopleman Decl, P 12 (Kevin Bums's credit report
"continued to indicate during [the five month petiod from
July 2002 through November 2002] that . . . the loan was
"I-1* or in good standing™).)

Plaintiffs failed to allege any emotional distress
damages in their Amended Complaint. But, even
assuming, arguendo, that they had done so, the only
support for such a claim is Barbarz Bums’s unsupported
and conclusory deposition testimony that "{tjhere was
public humilistion within the community where Bank of
Americz was holding itsclf up as the owner of the
[Minnesots Property] and the Plaintiffs as the
trespassers. (B. Bums Dep, at 52); see also Mele v.
Davidson & Assoes., Inc, 02 Civ. 0450, 2004 WL
2285111, at *6 (W.DNY. Oct. 7, 2004) ("It is
well-established that a party cannot move for summary
{*23] judgment on an issue that was not raised in the
pleadings.”). Plaintiffs "must produce more then
conelusory atlegations regarding stress and frustration to
recover for emotional diswess under the FCRA* Mulina
v. Experian Credit Info. Solutions, 02 Cly, 5561, 2005
U.S. Dist. LEXTS 45258, 2005 WL 5525336, at 6 (N.D.
Il Jan. 19, 2005); see afso Denius v. Dunlap, 330 F.3d
919, 930 (7th Cir. 2003} (plaintifl's "bare allcgations that
he was ‘embarrassed’ and "humiliated* were insufficient to
Justify sending the issue to.the jury™).

Nor does the record "support & finding of willfulness
.. . and, on a mofion for summary judgment, [Plaintifis]
cannot 1ely on conclusory allepations.” Trikas, 351 F.
Supp. 2d at 44 (intemal quotations and citation omitted);
see also Casella, 56 F.3d at 476; Specior, 321 F. Supp.
2d at 348 ("[T]o survive summary judgment on a willful
‘non-compliance claim, a plaintiff must sei forth
affirmative evidence demonstrating conscious disregard
or deliberate and purposefitl actions.”). Plaintifs set forth
no cvidence' that Bank of America’s investigations
pursuant fo FCRA § J68Is-2(h) “involved williul
mistepresentations or, concealments.” Pinner v. Schmidl,
805 F.2d 1258, 1263 (Sth Cir. 1987); [*24] see also
Spector, 321 F, Supp. 2d at-357-58. To the contrary, as
noted, the record shows that Bank of America responded

to Barbara Bums's October and December 2001 disputes’

by "instructfing] Trans Unfon to . . . change [the
Mortgage trade linc] to ‘paid or paying as sgreed™ on or
sbout January 11, 2002, (Toboloski Decl. P 47); see also
Garrelt v, Trans Unlon, L.L.C., No. 04 Clv. 00582, 2006

U.S. Dist. LEXTS 73395, 2006 WL 2850499, at *12 (3.D.
Ohio Sept. 29, 2006) (even "[flailure to adequatcly
re-investigate or promptly correct or delete information
after niotice does not canstitute wiltfulness,"); Casella, 56
F.3dat 476.

The record also indicates that, for example, on June
26, 2002, Bank of America "reported to the [consumer
reporting agencies] that the [Morngage] was ‘curmrent’
and/or paid or paying as agreed' even though [P]laintiffs
were or recently had been in default.” (Toboloski Decl. P
40; see also id. P 41 & BEx, N) Bank of America's
“course of conduct docs not support the kind of conscious
disregard or deliberate and purposcful actions necessary
to make out a claim for willful noncompliance under the
FCRA.Y Casella, 56 F.3d at 476 (internal quotations and
citation omitted).

Bank of America is also catitled [*25] to summary
judgment on Plointifs' MCFA claim. "To show a
violation of the {MCFA], Plaintiffs must demonstrate two
clements: {i] there must be an  intentional
mistcpresentation relating to the sale of merchandise, and
{ii} the misrepresentation must have caused damage to the
plaintifft." Hopkins v. Trans Union, LL.C.. No. 03 Civ.
5433, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16414, 200¢ WL 1854191,

at *6 (D. Minn. Aug. 19, 2004) (mtcmal quotations and
citation omitled). Even' assuming, argwendo, “that
Plaintiffs can prove an intentional misrepresentation [by
Bank of America prior to December 15, 2001 ], Plaintiffs
have hot demonstrated how they have been barmed by
the mistepresentation,” as described above, Id,; (see also
June 28, 2006 Order at 15-16 (Plaintiffs' "MCFA cliims
based on [Bank of America's] aclivities that occurred
after Noverber 15, 2001 are . , . preempted" by the

* FCRA))7

7  And, "[t]o bring a cause of action under [tho
MFCA, Minn. Star, § 325F.69,) . . . [Plaintiffs]
must satisfy the requirements of the Private
Attomey General Statute, Minn. Stat. § 8.31(3)a,"
which requires that PlainGiffs “show that {their]
cause [J of action benefitfs]) the public.” Davis v,
U.S. Bancorp, No. 02 Civ. 505, 2003 U.S. Dist,
LEXIS 12930, 2003 WL, 21730102 at *4 (D. Minn.
July 23, 2003) [*26] . Becauso "the damages that
[Phaintiffs] request [] are for personal beaefit only,
[Plaintiffs] cannot meet this requirement, and
ftheir MCFA] claim [] must be dismissed.” {d.;
see also Antioch Co. v. Scrapbook Borders, Inc.,
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291 F, Supp. 2d 980, 1003-04 (D, Minn, 2003);
(Am. Compl. at 14.)

(2) Attorney's Fees

Bank of America argues thot it is enfitfed to
attomey's fees and disbursements under FCRA §
1681n{c) because, among other things, * [P]iaintiffs have
always known that they could not have been denied any
credit or suffered any damages as a result of [Bank of
America's] alleged errors” and Plaintiffes FCRA
allegations are "pinposefully misleading, harassing and
Jmowingly unsubstantiated.” (BOA Mot. at 28.) Plaintiffs
counter, among other things, that Bank of America’s
application for attomey's fees and disbursements "shoutd
be denfed as moot” because "Plaintiffs have established
that [Bank .of America's] unlawful foreclosure defense
fails and that [Plaintiffs] are entitled to summary
judgment.” (Pls. Sur-Reply at 10,)

FCRA § 168In{c) "provides for an award of fees
associated with responding to an unsuccessful pleading or
motion that was filed 'in bad [*27) faith or for pwposes
of harassment.™ Edpe v. Profil Claims Bureau, Inc,, 64 F.
Supp. 2d 115, 119 (E.D.N.Y, 1999) {quoting 15 U.5.C. §
168Infc}). Bank of America must show that Plaintiffs
"commenced and continued the litigation in bad fiith o
for purposes of harassment.” Id.

The Court has reviewed the record and submissions
of the parlies and declines to award attorneys fees to
cither side in this case. See Edpe, 64 F, Supp. 2d at 119,
While Defendant srgucs that Plaintiffs filed theic FCRA
claim "in bad faith or for the purposes of hamssment” as
part of a “"decades long cmsade to frestrate the
enforcement of Bank of America’s [Mortgage]," (BOA
Mot at 27-28 (intcmal quotations and citations omitted)),
Bank of America has not put forth sufficient evidence to
catablish that Plaintiffs' FCRA claim was filed in bad
faith or for the purposes of harassment. See Rogers v.
Johnson-Norman, 514 F. Supp. 2d 50, 52.53 (D. D.C.
2007); Stff v. Wilshire Credit Corp., No. 05 Civ. 462,
2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26356, 2005 WL 2886025, at *2
(D, Ariz. Nov. 1, 2005). % And, while Plaintiffs’ claims for
summary judgment are unsupportable, because Plaintiffs
are preceeding pro se, they “would not be entitled (o
recover attomeys [*28] fees even if [they] were
successful on {their] . . . FCRA claims.” Menton v.
Experian Corp., No. 02 Civ, 4687, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXTS
3325, 2003 W1 941388, ar *3 n.7 (S.D.NY. Mar. 6,
2003),

8 (Compare BOA Mot. at 27-28 with Junc 28,
2006 Order at i-2 n.1 ("Plaintiffs appear to have
initiated other litigation involving real property in
Dakots County, Minnesota and, on occasion, to
bave been criticized for litigation practices,")); see
also, e.g., Burns v. State of Minn., 61 F.3d 908, at
*1 [published in foll-text format at /995 U.S, App,
LEXIS 19172] (8th Cir. 1995); Matter of Burns,
342 NW.2d 389, 390 (Mim, 1996); Bums v.
Ungerman, No, 04 Civ. 290, 2005 Minn. App.
LEXIS 209, 2005 WL 468304 (Minn. Ct. App.
Mar. 1, 2005); Burns v. Ungerman, No, 03 Civ.
17802, 2004 WL 848272 (Minn. Dist. Ct. Jan. 16,
2004); Burns v. RA. Ungerman Constr, Co., No.
03 Civ. 11603, 2003 WL 23335193, at *2 {Minn,
Dist, Ct, July 1, 2003); /it re Barbara Burns, No.
94 Civ. 19334, 1997 WL 33643279, at *13
(Minn. Dist, Ct. Apr. 2, 1997); Burns v. R.A.
Ungerman Consir. Co., No. 94 Civ. 13558, 1995
WL 17079249, at *1-4 (Minn. Dist. Ct. June 15,
1995).

(3) FDCPA Claims

Bank of Amecrica argues that neither Bank of
America nor Bank of America Mortgage is liable under
the FDCPA because, among other things, Plaintiffs "wero
well aware {*29] that Bank of America was their creditor
and that Bank of America was collecting its own debis™:
"Bank of America has fully and consistently disclosed jts
relationship with [Bank of America] Mortgape® in its
comrespondence to Plaintiffs; Plaintiffs “made varions
moenthly payments by check drawn to the order of Bank
of America, not [Bank of America] Morigage™; Bank of
Ammncrica “cannot be held vicariously liable for the actions
of Leonard, Q'Brien, i.e,, the law firm it hired to foreclose
the [Pllaintiffs' defaulted (Mortpape]™; and “debt
collection was not the main finction of [Bonk of
America] Mortgage and it only collected debts for Bank
of America as a servicer.” (BOA Mot. at 14, 15, 17, 20.)

Plaintiffs counter that Bank of America is lizble
under the FDCPA because, among other things,
"Plaintiffs have no business relationship with Bank of
America that invalves the [Minnesola Property]*s “the
issue of whether the Plaintiffs were misled by the name
'[Bank of America] Mortgage' is an issue of fact for the
Jjury™; and "Bank of America is lable for unlawiul ects
committed by [Lawrence, O'Brien] at Bank of America's
direction wnder well-cstablished and time-honored legal
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doctrines of respondeat {*30] superior . . . and ostensible
agency.” (Pls. Cross-Mat. at 24, 25.)

Bank of America

*The [FDCPA] is quite clear that it is directed at
independent debt collectors and not creditors altempting
to collect on their own debis." Beck v. Allimice Frnding
Co., 113 F. Supp. 2d 274, 275 {D. Conn. 2000); see also
Maguire v. Citicorp Retail Servs,, Inc., 147 F.3d:232, 235
(2d Cir. 1998). 9 The record shows that Bank of America
"sought to collect its own [§ 111,000.00] debt from
[PHaintif™ relating to the Minnesota Property; Bank of
America "is in the business of, among other things,
financing mortgages for home buyers”; and its "principal
business is not debt collection.” (Tobolski Decl. PP 11,
12; see also id., Exs. B, C.) Bank of America is not liable
under the FDCPA because it "is clearly not a 'debt
collector’; rather, it is the very party to whom the debt is
due." Macdermid v. Discover Fin. Servs., 488 F.3d 721,
735 (6th Cir. 2007); see also Somin v. Total Cmty. Mgmt.
Corp., 494 F, Supp. 2d 153, 160 (E.D.N.Y. 2007).

9 “Under I5 US.C. § 1692a(4), n ‘ereditor’ is

defined as 'any person who offers or extends
credit creating a debt or to whom a debt is owed,
but such term does.nat include any [*31] person
fo the extent that he receives an assignment or
transfer of a debt in defanlt solely for the purpose
of facilitating collection of such debt for
another."® Masudi v, Ford Motor Credit Co., 07
Civ. 1082, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 59074, 2008
WL 2944643, at *3 (ED.NY. July 31, 2008)
(quoting I5 U.S.C. § 1692a(4)).

Nor is Bank of America a creditor under the FDCPA
*merely because [it] utilized a corporate affiliate [Le.,
Bank of America Morigage] to collect its debis.”
Harrison v. NBD Inc., 990 F. Supp. 179, 134 (ED.N.Y.
1998); see also Maguire, 147 F.3d ar 235 ("[A] creditor
becomes subject to the FDCPA, if the creditor 'in the
process of collecting his own debts, uses any name other
than his own which would indicate that a third person is
collecting or attempting to collect such debts.”) (quoting
15 U.S.C. § 1692(a)(6)). The record "dispelfs] any notion
that [Bank of America Mortgage] might be a distinct
third-party collection apency. Buron v. GIE Serv.

Corp.. No. 96 Civ. 383, 1996 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 16971, -

1996 WL 943904, at *! (W.D. Mich. Oct. 15, 1996).
YEven the least sophisticated consumer . . . would be able
to determine from cutsory review of the comespondence”

from Bank of America Mortgage to Plaintiffs "that [Bank
of America [*32] Mortgage] is . . . related to {Bank of
America).” 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXTS 16971, {FWL] at *2; see
also Maguire, 147 F.3d at 236; (Tobolski Decl. P 14 &
Ex. D (cotrespondence prominently displayed both Bank
of America's corporate logo and the legend: "Bank of
America Morigage #s a division of Bank of America,
N.A).) The “relatedness of the two entities would [ako]
be apparent from the similarity of the creditor’s {Bank of
America) and its affifiate’s [Bank of America Mortgage]
name.” Maguire, 147 F.3d at 236 (citing Young v. Lehigh
Corp., No. 80 Civ. 4376, 1989 U.S. Dist, LEXIS 11573,
1939 WL 117960, ar *22 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 28, 1989)).
Plaintiffs do not even appear to allege that they "suifered
confusion as to the relationship between [Bank of
America] and [Bank of America Monigagel" Franceschi
v. Mautner-Glick Corp.., 22 F. Supp. 2d 250, 255
(S.D.N.Y. 1998); see also Button, 1996 U.S, Disi. LEXIS
16971, 1996 WL 943904, at *3; (Pls. Cross-Mot. at 22;
Am. Compl, at 8-12; Tobolski Decl. P I5 & Ex. E)

And, “a creditor that iz not itself a debt collector is
not vicariously linble for the actions of a debt collector it
has engaged to collect its debts,” Doherty v, Citibank
(South Dakota) N.A., 375 F. Supp. 2d 158, 162 (E.D.N.Y.
2005). There is no evidence that Bank of America [*33]
*used [Leonard, OBrien’s] name to collect its debts,

“pretended to be [Leonard, O'Brien] or used an alias to

that effect, or that [Bank of America] controlied almost
every aspect of Leonard, OBrien's] debt collection
practice, rendering [Leonard, O'Brien Bank of America’s]
alter ego.” Mazzei v. Money Store, 349 F, Supp. 2d 651,
661 (SD.N.Y. 2004); ses also Fouche' v. Shapiro &
Massey LL.P., 575 F. Supp. 2d 776, 2003 WL 3285742,
at *5 (3.D, Miss. 2008); (Wilford Decl. P 4.)

Bank of America Morigage

“{A] corporate affiliate is excluded from the
[FDCPA%] coverage so flong as it satisfies two
conditions: [i] the affiliate collects debis only for entities
with which it is affiliated or related; and [ji] the principal
business of the affilinte is not debl collection.” Aubert v,
Am. Gen. Fin., Inc., 137 F.3d 976, 978 (7th Cir. 1998);
see also Backuswalcort v. Common Ground Cmiy.
HDFC, Inc,, 104 F. Supp. 24 363, 366 (S.D.N.Y. 2000).
The record demonstrates that, "[t}o the extent that [Bank
of America) Montgage engaged in debt collection, it did
so solely for Bank of America and was, in fact, a
corporate affiliate of Bank of America”; and Bank of
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America Mortpage's "principal business [*34] was not
debit collection.” (Tobolski Decl. P 13.) Bank of America
Mortgage thus "meets {the] requirements of [the

~ corporate affiliate] exemption.™ Backuswaleoty, 104 F,

Supp. 2d at 366; see also Byes v. Edison Bros. Stores,
Inc., No. 94 Civ. 3100, 1995 U.S. Dist, LEXTS 3587, 1995
WL 244441, a1 *2 (E.D, La. Apr. 26, 1995).

(4) Minnesota State ng Claims of Conversion,
Trespass, and Slander of Title 10

10 This Court previously held that "fe]ven if
Plaintiffs had asserted diversity Jurisdiction, this
retion would appear more properly to have been
filed and prosecuted in Minnesota Burns, 2003
U.S. Dist. LEXTS 22799, 2003 WL 22990065, ar
*3, vacated on other grounds, 115 Fed, Appx. 105
(2d Cir. 2004}; (vee also Nov, 19, 2008 Hearing
Tr. at 6-7, 20-21.) And, although Minnesota likely
remains an appropriate vonue for Plaintiffs'
conversion, trespass, and slander of title claims,
the Cowrt has addressed the merits of these claims
in the interests of judicial efiiciency and at the
parties' request,

Bank of America arpues, among other things, that
Plaintiffs should be collaterally estopped from refitigating
the validity of Bank of America's foreclosure of the
Minnesota Property because "it hns already  been
Judicially determined by a final order of the [*35]
Dakota County Minnesota District Court [in In re R.A,
Ungerman] that fthe] foreclosure was proper.” (BOA
Mot. at 25.) Plaintiffs counter, among other things, that
collateral ecstoppel dots not apply becsuse Bank of
Amcrica is ciling "a proceeding involving different
claims by different partics than the claims and partics to
this case.” (Pls. Cross-Mot. at 28))

Under the Full Faith and Credit Aet, 28 US.C §
1738, "federal courts must give state court Jjudgments the
same preclusive effect they wonld be given by other
courts in the state from which the Jjudgment emerged.”
Postma v, First Fed. Savings & Loan of Stoux City, No,
93 Civ. 4058, 1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20633, 1995 WL
807082, at *11 (N.D. fowa Mar. 28, 1995), aff'd, 74 F.3d
160 (Sth Cir. 1996), "Collateral estoppel is available
where! (1] the issues are identical to those jn a prior
adjudication; [ii] there was 2 final judgment on the
merits; [iif] the estopped party was a party or in privity
with a party in the previous action; and (iv] the estopped
party was given a full and fair opportunity to be heard on

the adjudicated issues.” Lyon Fir. Servs., e, v, Waddill,
625 N.W.2d 155, 158-59 (Minn. Ct. App. 2001). 1

11 "Unpublished cases from [the Court of
Appeals [*36] of Minnesota] are not precedential
but may be persuasive State v. Awad, No. 05
Civ. 2306, 2007 Minn. App, Unpub. LEXIS 1131,
2007 WL 4170822, at *3 (Minn. Ct, App. Nov, 27,
2007) (citing Minn. Stat. § 4804.08(3)(c) (2006)).

Plaintiffs' Minnesota state law conversion, trespass,
and slander of title claims elearly appear to involve issues
previously adjudicated by the Minnesota District Court in
In re RA, Ungerman, Le., whether there iz a *recorded
assignment . . . that establishes [Bank of America) as
assignee [] of the [Morigage] or which authorizes [(Bank
of America] to foreclose the [Mortgage}" and/or whether
Bank of America satisfied Statutory “pre-requisites” to "a
lawful foreclosure action” against the Minnesota
Property, 12 (Pls. Cross-Mot. at 27); see also Holasek v,
First Nat. Bank of Rochester, 378 N.W.2d4 519, 522
{Minn, 1979); In re Sina, No, 06 Civ., 200, 2006 Minn.
App. Unpub. LEXIS 1094, 2006 WL 2729544, ar *3
(Minn. Ct. App. Sept. 26, 2006); Boerboom v, Travelers
Ins. Co,, No. 92 Civ. 2456, 1993 Minn, App. LEXTS 525,
1993 WL 152300, at *1 (Minn. Ct. App. May 11, 1993).

12 Tt nppears that the same fssues underlying
Plaintiffs' conversion claim alse form the basis of
Phintifs' trespass and slander of title ¢laims, (See

* Pls. Cross-Mot. ai 8, 9, 13, 1S, 26-27; Pls. [*37]
Sur-Reply 5.8.)

Collateral cstoppel applies against the Plaintiff here,
That is, in In re R.A. Ungerman, the Minnesota District
Court determined that the “foreclosure and Sheriff sale by
[Bank of America} Mortgage . . . was proper in every
material respect” and the Court there ordered the issuance
of a new Certificate of Title to the Minnesota Property in
favor of R.A. Ungerman. 13 (Wilford Decl, Ex. I at 7);
see In re Sina, 2006 Minn. App, Unpub. LEXIS 1094,
2006 WL 2729544, at *3; see also Burns v, Chubb Ins.
Cos., No. 04 Civ, 1284, 2007 WL 1484480, at *1 (L.
Super. Ct. App. Div. May 23, 2007). The Minnesota
District Cowt's decisions constitutes a final Jjudgment on
the merits. (See id, at 1); see also McFWhinney v. Gare,
183 Minn. 141, 235 N.W. 676, 677-78 (Minn, 1931). And,
Plaintiffs were parties to the procecdings in In re R.A,
Ungerman and had a foll and faje opportunity to contest
the validity of the foreclosure before the Minnesota
District Court, (See Wilford Decl., Ex. 1at 1, 4-6.) As the

FELTT

3833a




m——

Page 1}

2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98335, *37

Minnesota District Court made clear, Plaintiffs were
served with two orders to show cause; Barbara Bums had
"purposciully been avoiding service™ but had "actual
knowledge of the pendency of this matter™; and Kevin
Butns appeared in [*38] court at the December 24, 2003
hearing fo contest personal jurisdiction. (fd. at 5-6); see
also Postma, 1895 U.S. Dist, LEXTS 20633, 1995 WL
807082, at *13.

13 The Minnesota District Court explicitly

considered the Roport of the Examiner of Titles .

and the Cettificate of Title (o the Minnesota
Propenty, (see Wilford Decl., Ex. 1 at 1-3), and
determined that Bank of America possessed a
valid and enforceable mortgage interest in
cencluding that the foreclosure wWas proper, See it
re Kress Rd, Partnership, 134 B.R. 301, 309
{Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1991); In re Sina, 2006 Minn.
App. Unpub. LEXIS 1094, 2006 WL 2729544, at
2 ("A party claiming to be the assignee of a
mortgage must have a lepgal assipnment thereof,
duly recorded, before he can forecloss it by
advertiscment.") (intemal quotations and citation
omitted); see also In re Metro Siding, Inc., 624
N.W.2d 303, 308 (Minn. C1. App. Apr. 3, 2001).

Even assuming, arguendo, that collateral cstoppel
did not apply to the issues underlying Plaintiffs’
conversion, trespass, and slander of title claims, Plaintiffs
have "not proffered any competent evidence which would
create a genuine fssue of material fact” to prevail on these
claims, Dixon v. Deutsche Bank Nat, Trust Co,, No. 06
Civ. 2858, 2008 US. Dist, LEXIS 67289, 2008 WL
4151835, at *5 (D. Minn, Sept. 3, 2008).

Conversion

Conversion [*39] “is defined as an act of willful
interfercnce with personal property, done without lawful
Justification by which any person entitled thereto is
deprived of use and possession," DL, Inc. v Russ, 566
N.W.2d 60, 71 (Minn, 1997) (intemal quotations and
citation amitted).

Plaintiffs' conversion claim fails as a matter of law,
see AIIR Constr., Inc, v, Dixan, No. 06 Civ, 1554, 2007
Minn, App. Unpub, LEXIS 880, 2007 W1, 2417083, ar *3
(Minn, Ct. App. Aug, 28, 2007), becanss, among other
things, the record indicates that "[eln July 5, 2002, the

[Mortgage] was in default, and it remained in default fin -

the amount of approximately $ 99,994.51] through the

date of the foreclosure sale™ on December 5, 2002, (BOA
56.1 P 21; see also Wilford Decl,, Ex. H.) As a result of
Plaintiffs' default (and their foilire timely to cure the
default), the terms of the Morigage authorized Bank of
America to accelerate the remaining payments and
"invoke the power of sale and any other remedies
permitted by applicable law." (Tobolski Decl, Ex. A P
19; see also id. P 20 (right of possession upon
acceleration). There is no evidence indicating that the
foreclosure and Sherifl's sale by Bank of America failed
to comply with Minnesota law. Quite the [*40)] contrary.
(See Wilford Decl, PP 6-14; see afso Wilford Decl,, Ex. 1
at 3-4); Dixon, 2008 U.S. Dist, LEXIS 672589, 2008 WL
4151835, at *4-5 {defendants "submitted evidence that
Dixon dofaulted on the Montgage, that the Mortgags was
recorded, and that there has been no action [at iaw] to
recover the debt from Dixon®), 14

14 Plaintiffs cite to an vondated deposition of
Sharon K. Hills, who Phintiffs claim is an
“atorney for the City of Apple Valloy,

_Minnesota," presumably for the proposition that

" the Minnesota Property was "owned and in the
possession of the Plaintiffs at all legally relevant
times." (Pls. Cross-Mot. at 26, see also Id. at 8
n.6, 18-19, 27.) The deposition does not appear to
have been conducted -in this case. (See B. Bums
Centification P 9; see also Order, dated Jan, 22,
2008 (Francis, M.J.), at 1; Order, dated Feb. 15,

(2008 (Francis, MJ), at 2 ("The discovery
deadlirie was extended to January 31, 2008 solely
for purpose of taking fMs. Hills's] deposition.
Howcver, [PHaintiffs chose to depose her in a
different case and failed to subpocna her for
deposition in this case.™).

Trespass

"Trespass encompasses any unlawful interfercnce
with one’s person, property, or rights, and requires only -
two essential [*41] elements: [i] a rightfu! pessession in
the plaintiff and [ji] unfawful entry upon such possession
by the defendant.” Special Force Ministries v. WCCO
Television, 584 N.W.2d 789, 792-93 (Minn. Ct. App.
1998).

The record does not support a finding that Bank of
America trespassed upon the Minnesota Property. See
Thompson v. First State Bank of Fertile, 709 N.W.2d 307,
312 (Minn, Ct. App. 2006). Minnesota law provides that
"[i]f premises described in a movigage . . . are vacant or
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unoccupied, the holder of the morigage .. . or the holder's
agents and contractors may . . . enter upon the premises to
protect the premises from waste.” Minn. Star. § 582,031
(2008). The record shows that “[a]t all material times,
Fisher Pratt performed services 1o prevent waste to [the
Minnesota Property]” and that, s noted above, see supra
P. 6, the Minncsota Property was vacant each time Fisher
Pratt entered upon premises between Scptember and
December 2002, {Smith Decl. PP 17, see also Id, PP 7-16
& Exs. A-B; Tobolski Decl., Ex, L: Wilford Decl,, Ex.
F.); Thompson, 709 N.W.2d at 312; AHR Constr., 2007
Minn, App., Unpub, LEXIS 880, 2007 WL 2417083, at
*1-2. 15 Onee Planiffs' defaulted on the Mortgage in
July 2002, (sec BOA 56,1 P 21), Bank [*42] of America
was authorized under the Mortgage to “do 2nd pay for
whatever [was) necessary to protect the value of the
[Minnesota] Property and [Bank of America's] tights in
the [Minnesota) Property. (Tobolski Decl, Bx, AP 7);
see also State Bank of Loretto v, Dixon, 214 Minn. 39,
45, 7 N.W.2d 351 (Minn. 1943); Thompson, 709 N.W.2d4
at 312 ("if the sccured party has a privilege fo enter
another's Tand to take possession of collateral after
default, the entry is not a trespass™),

15 Plaintiffs allege that in or about October
2004, Bank of America damaged the Minnesola
Property by, among other things, "dismantl[ing)
the . . . water softencr and otherwiss damagfing)
the Burns's personal property.” (Am. Compl, at
15.) Phaintiffs offer no documentary evidenco to

. support these contentions or that Bank of America
exceeded its authority to protect the Minnesota
Property from waste, see AHR Constr,, 2007
Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 880, 2007 WL, 241 7083
at *3; see also Williams v. The Thomson Corp.,
No. 00 Civ. 2256, 2003 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 4481,
2003 WL 1571559, at %15 (D, Minn, Mar. 21,
2003},  Ang, Plaintiff'  sclf-serving  and
unsubstantiated  deposition testimony  is
insufficicnt to oreate a {rinble issuc of fact as to
the existence and amount of any alleged damages,
(See, [*43] &g, K. Bums Dep. at. 36-38; B,
Burms Dcp. at 41-43,45); see also Central M.,
Inc. v. Brei, 492 F.3d 876, 883 (Mth Cir, 2007)
("Sclf-serving deposition testimony is'not enough
to defeat & motion for summary judgment."),

Slander of Title

"The elements requived for a slander of title claim

are: [i] [tlhat there was a false statement concerning the
real property owned by the plaintiff; [ii) {t}hat the falca
statement was published to others; [iii] [t}hat the falze
statereent was published maliciously; [iv] [tihat the
publication of the false statement concerning title to the
property caused the plaintiff pecuniary loss in the form of
special damages, Paidar v, Hughes, 615 N.W.2q 275,
279-80 (Minn. 2000); see also In re Nielsen, No. 96 Civ,
47257, 1998 Bankr. LEXIS 816, 1993 WL 386384, ar *4
(Bankr, D. Minn. July 9, 1998) ("in a shander of title case,
a finding of malice requires that the disparaging
statements be made without a good faith belief in their
tmth"),

Bank of America's November 14, 2002 publication
(in connection with the foreclosure proceedings) that it
held the Mortgage 2s "successor in interest to Goldome
Realty Credit Corporation” was not a false statement,
(See Wilford Degl., Ex. D; see also [*44) BOA 56.1 PP
4-5; Tobolski Decl, PP 4-9 & Exs. B, C; Wiiford Decl.,
Ex. 1 (attached Cerdlificate of Title to Minnesota
Property).): see also Burgmeler v. Blur, No. 02 Chv, 743,
2003 Minn. App. LEXIS 12, 2003 3L 42178, at *2 (Minn.
Ct. App. Jan, 7, 2003) ("Because [the quitclaim deed] is
not false, there can be no publication of a false
statement."). Plaintiffs fail to produce specific, admissible
cvidence to show that a genuine issuc of material fact
exists regarding any bad faith on the part of Bank of
Amcrica, See Davidson v. DeVoe, No. 90 Civ. 2228, 1991
Minn. App. LEXIS 199, 1991 WL 26056, ot *2 (Minn, Ct.
App. Mar. 5, 1991); see also Palatine Nat, Bank v. Olson,
No. 95 Civ, 924, 1995 Minn, App. LEXIS 1456, 1995 WL,
697520, at *2 (Minn, CI. App. Nov. 28, 1995); Wemner v,
Ploske, No, 90 Civ. 89, 1990 Minn. App, LEXTS 885,
1990 WL 128290, at *4 (Minn. Ct, App. Sept. 11, 1990)
(if "defendant files 5 . . . lien 0 on a picce of property in
good faith, belisving that he has rights to the property,
then there is no malice, and thus no stander of title™),

And, Plaintiffs fail to show that the alleged false’
publication by Bank of America caused them pecuniary
loss in the form of special damages. See Burgmeier, 2003
Minn, App. LEXIS 12, 2003 WL 42178, ar %2, For
example, there is no admissible evidence that the
Minnesota  [*45) Property would have been sold by
Plaintiffs to any specific individual or entity but for Bank
of America's allogedly false publication. See Flaasken v.
Hacfele, No. 96 Civ. 1370, 1997 Minn, App. LEXIS 348,
1997 WL 132973, ar *2 (Mimn, C1, App. Mar. 25, 1997),
And, pro se Plaintiffs would not be entjtled fo aftorney's
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fecs. See White v. Armonirout, 29 F.3d 357, 361-62 (8th
Cir. 1994).

(5) Bank of America's Fed R Civ. P, 37
Application

Bank of America argues, among other things, that
“fdJuring their respective depositions, [P)laintiffs agreed
to produce [certain] documents, which they claim existed,
but they never did” and Plaintiffs "should be precluded . .
. from offering any evidence not previously disclosed in
discovery.” (BOA Mol at 7.) Plaintiffs counter, among
other things, that "most of the allegedly ‘withheld
evidence' . . . consists of materials accessible to [Bank of
Amcrica] from third partics . . . or in [Bank of America's]
own possession," (Pls, Cross-Mot. at 19.)

In light of the Court's ruling on the parties'
cross-motions for summary judgment, the Court denies as
moot Bank of America's spplication, See Trustees of
Teamsters Union Local 142 Pension Trust Fund v. JGM,
No. 06 Civ. 38, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9687, 2007 WL
489226, at *6 (N.D. Ind. Feb, 8, 2007)."

Plaintiffs' [¥46) Fed. R, Civ. P, IT and 37 Applications

Plaintiffs arguc that sanctions are warranted against
Bank of America under Fed R Civ. P, 1! and 37
because, among other things, Bank of America took "an
unsuccessful legal position on . . . appeal™ filed "two
unsuccessful motions to dismiss™ reflecting "knowing,
purposcfully misleading Defendant statements and
actions"; and "withheld copies of . . . subpoenaed Chase
documents from the Plaintiffs in an attempt to thwart
supplemental . . . discovery." (Pl Cross-Mot. at 18, 30.)
16 Bank of America counters, among other things, that
Plaintiffs “improperly seck [Fed. R Civ, P. I and 37]
sanctions against Bank of America end its counscl
through [PHaintif’ cross-motion [for semmary
judgment] rather than by separate motion on proper
twenty-one days’ notice” and Bark of America's mdtion
for summary judgment "is grounded in fact and
warranted by existing law." (BOA Reply at 8 & n.10)

.16 To the extent thit Plaintiffs are refeming to
the appeal of this Courl's suling on December 18,
2003, see Burns, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22799,
2003 WL 22990065, Plaintiffs "mischaracterize
the Sccond Circnit’s ruling in this case, [Burns.
{15 Fed. Appx. 105], as having rejected [Bank of
America's] [*47] motion to dismiss and its

substantive arguments on the merits.” Burns, 2007
US. Dist, LEXIS 40037, 2007 W1 IS89437, at
*10 n.9. In fact, the Court of Appeals accepted
Bonk of America's arguments, but in light of the
Plaintiffs' pro se status, deemed it prudent to
allow tho Plaintiffs an opportenity to amend their
complaint, See Id; (see also Nov. 19, 2008
Hearing Tr. at 18-19)

Even assuming, arguendo, that Plaintiffs' motion for
Fed, R. Civ. P. 1 sanctions had complied with applicable
procedure {which it docs not), "sanctions should be
imposed with coution” and the Court sees no basis for
them here, U.S. Media Corp. v. Edde Entm* Corp., No.
94 Civ. 4849, 1998 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 10985, 1998 WL
401532, at %28 n43 (S.D.N.Y. July 17, 1998) (internal
quotations and citations omitted), A review of the record
demonstrates that Bank of America did not violate Fed,
R, Civ. P, 11, Wilson v. Sulway Sandwiches Shops, Inc.,
823 F. Supp, 194, 200 (S.D.N.Y. 1993), nor does "the
behavior of [Bank of America's] atiomeys wamant the
iraposition of sanctions." Bolden v. Morgan Stanley &
Co., Inc., 765 F. Supp. 830, 834 (S.D.N.Y. 1991),

Plaintiffs present no evidence tp support the
conclusion that Bank of America failed to produce
documents in discovery. See [*48] Barnes v. City of
Chicago, No. 98 Civ. 5590, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17214,
2000 WL 1745180, at *! (N.D, lit. Nov. 27, 2000). 17

* 17 Plaintiffs' unsubstantiated allegations that
Bank of America withheld discovery have been
addressed in several carlier discovery orders, (See,
e.g., Order, dated Mar, 27, 2008 (Berman, L);
Order, dated Feb, 21, 2008 (Berman, 1.); Order,
dated December 14, 2007 (Francis, MJ.); see also
Hearing Tr., dated Apr. 3, 2008, at 5, 7-8.)

Plaintifls' Fed, R. Civ. P. 56(f) Application

Plaintiffs argue, among other things, that they
“cannot present facts essential to justify [ther] opposition
on the basis that [Bank of America has) refused to
participate  in authorized, court-ordered discovery,
including, but not limited to, deposition and
cross-cxamination of , . , Wilford"; and Bank of America
has "gane 6 almost comical fengths to prevent Wilford
from being placed under oath and preventing damaging
admissions by Wilford that Bank of America and [Bank
of America] Morigage were not of record and not
empowered to foreclose a mortgage an the [Minnesota

!
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Property]." (Pls. Cross-Mat. at 11-12; Pls. Sur-Reply at 8
n.14,) .

Plaintifs' Fed, R. Civ. P. 56()) application is denied
on procedural grounds because [*49] the parties’
summmary judgment motions were filed after the January
31, 2008 discovery deadline. See Little v. City of New
York, 487 F. Supp. 2d 426, 436 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) ("Rule
J6(f) applications are for suinmary judgment motions
made before discovery has concluded") {emphasis in
original), And, Plaintiffs did not submit appropriate Rule
36()} affidavits in support of their discovery claim, See
AAl Recoverics, Inc. v. Pijuan, 13 F, Supp, 2d 448, 452
(S.D.N.Y. 1998). "1t is well settled in this Circuit that a
motion for further discovery under Rule S6(f} may not be
granted unless the moving party submits an sffidavit
satisfactorily explaining [i) the nature of the uncompleted
discovery; [ii] how the facts sought are reasonably
expected to create o genuine issue of material fact; [iii]
what efforts the affiant has made to obtain those fasts;
and [iv] why those efforts were unsuccessful.” Bussey v.
Phillips, 419 F. Supp. 2d 569, 591 (S.D.N.Y. 2006); see
also Sundsvallsbanken v. Fondmetal, Inc,, 624 F, Supp.
81, 814 (SD.N.Y. 1985) ("Rule J6(f) is not a shield
apainzt all summary judmment motions”).

The materials which Plaintiffs have submitted are
insufficient. That is, Kevin Bums statcs- [*50] in his
affidavil, dated June 2, 2008, that he served 2 subpoena to
depose Wilford "at [Wilford's] offices at Woodbury,
Minnesota on June 21, 2007 and on at least two occasions
thereafier," and that Wilford objected "that he was not
subject o the jurisdiction of the New York federal court”
and "made a number of {other] technical objections to the
subpocna,” (AfF, & Certification of Kovin E. Bums, dated
June 2, 2008 ("K. Bums AfE"), PP 27, 30) Bubara
Bums states In her affidavit (undated and unsworm) that
she “personally discussed various objections [by Wilford]
to the validity of the. . . subpoena® with the state court in
Washington County, Minnesota and was “told by the
Court Adminisirator and her Chief Deputy on two
separale occasions between the dates of June 27, 2007
and August 30, 2007" that the subpocna "was valid and
'should be obeyed.™ (B. Bums Certification P 5.) Bu,
Phintiffs' affidavits do not, among other deficiencies,
satisfy their *burden of showing how the [Wilford)
deposition . . . would produce matsrial evidence which
would be potentiafly favorable to them." Contemporary
Mission, Inc. v, New York Times Co., 665 F. Supp, 248.
269 (S.D.N.Y. 1987).

Pape 14

In any event, [*S1] since at least June 2006,
Phaintiffs have had ample "opportunity to seek the
testimony . . . of [Wilford] prior to the [fanuary 31, 2008)
close of discovery™ and 10 calist Magistrate Judge Francis
in such an effort, Williams v. Bank Leumi Trust Co. of
New York, Neo. 96 Civ. 6695, 2000 U.S. Dist, LEXTS
4102, 2000 WL 343807, a1 *5 {S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2000);
see diso Litle, 487 F. Supp, 2d at 435-36, 1t appears that
Plaintiffs may have served Wilford with a defective
subpoena, ostensibly *issued by the Clerk of the Southern
District of New York on Qctober 20, 2006." Burns, 2007
US. Dist. LEXIS 40037, 2007 WL 1589437, at %7,
Wilford objected that “the subpoena was not propescly
issucd from the district court for the district where the
deposition was 1o take place, in this case Minnesota; that
the subpoena provided insufficicnt nolice, as it was
received on November 20 and set a deposition date only
four days later (and for the day after Thanksgiving); and
that the [PJlaintiffs failed to provide witness fees.” 74, On
or about November 21, 2006, Plaintiffs "issued” a second
subpocna purporting ™o issue from the District Court for
the District of Minnesota,* setting "the same deposition
time and place,” and “signed not by the Cletk of the court
[*52] but by [PHaintiff Barbara R. Bums.” 74, {emphasis
added), And, in fact, Magistrate Judge Francis
detormined that *both of the subpocnas issued by the
[P)luintiffs were invatid.* 2007 LLS. Dist. LEXTS 40037,
[WL] at *8; (see also Order, dated Joly 18, 2007
(Berman, J), ot 89; Order, dated August 2, 2007
(Francis, M.J.), at 2; Order, dated Feb, 21, 2008 (Betman,
1), at 5-6.)

Amendntent

This Decision and Order is final, See Arsam Assocs.,
Ine. v. Cola Petroleum, Lid, 760 F.2d 442, 446 (2d Cir,
1983); Vaughn v. Consumer Home Mortg. Co., Inc., No.
Ol Civ. 7937, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 54267, 2006 WL
2239324, at *14-15 (EDN.Y. Aug. 4, 2006). Phintifls
presented no argument in their papers to suppost further
leave to amend —~ and no such leave is granted. See
DiPace v. Goord, 308 F. Supp, 2d 274, 289 (SD.NY.
2004}, Following the December 14, 2004 decision of the
United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit,
Plaintiffs were provided with the opportunity to file en
amended complaint, which they did on or about August
2, 2005 — well beforc each side sought summnry
Judgment. See Burns, 115 Fed. Appx, 105; see also Han
Jie Yang v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 01 Civ.
3933, 2002 U.S. Dist, LEXIS 20223, 2002 WL 31399119,
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at *2 (E.D,N.Y. Oct. 24, 2002). Finally, perinitling [*53]
further amendment would be prejudicial to Bank of
Amgrica given the fact that discovery has already been
completed and Bank of America and Plaintiffs have filed

their respective motions for summary judgment See
Ansam Assocs., 760 F.2d at 446.

V. Conclusion and Order

-For the foregoing reasons, Bank of America's motion
for summary judgment fi# 182] is granted as to all of
Plaintiffs' Federal and Minnesota state law claims, and
denied as to Bank of America's application for attomey's
fees under FCRA § 1681n(c) and Bank of America’s Fed,

R. Civ. P. 37 application, Plintiff cross-motion for
summary judgment [# 186] is denied in its entirety,

The Clerk of Court is respectfully requested to close
this case,

Dated; New York, New York
December 4, 2008

{5/ RVB

RICHARD M. BERMAN, U.S.D.J.
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CIPARICK, J.:

In this appeal, we must determine whether the sum-
mary judgment record contains clear and convincing
evidence that defendant published a false and de-
famatory statement concerning the revocation of
plaintiff's medical Jicense with “actual malice,” as
defined in New York Times Co, v, Sullivan (376 U.s,
254 [1964] ), Because it does not, we affirm the Ap-
pellate Division's grant of summary Jjudgment 1o de-
fendant.

i

On December 7, 2003, page 24 of the New York

Posts Sunday editfon carried a short, eight-

pasagraph, “rewrite” of a 98-paragraph article taken
from the Los Angeles Times's wire service. The
Times article, cntitled “Harsh Reality of ‘Osbournes’
No Laughing Matter,” described the rock-singer John
“Ozzy” Qsbourne's allegations that his former physi-
cian, plaintiff David A. Kipper, had overprescribed
various medications to him during the time that Os-
bourne starred in a television reality series. ™ In
addition, the Times article accurately stated that the
Califomia Medical Board had “moved to revoke”
plaintiffs license duc to his alleged gross negligence
in the treatment of other patients, But the Post article,
which appeared under the inaccurate headline
“Ozzy's Rx doc’s license pulled,” contained an eror.

Papge 1

Despite clearly indicating that it was based upon

“Los Angeles Times reports,” the sixth paragraph of
the Post rewrite incorrectly stated that “the state
medical board revoked Kipper's license,”

FNI, Because Supreme Court dismissed
clrims brought on behalf of Dr. Kippers
professional corporation, all references to
“plaintifi” herein are to Kipper in his indi-
vidual capacity.

The circumstances surrounding the Post's erroneous
statement are not entirely clear. The record reveals
that, sometime during the evening of December 6, a
Post editor assigned the task of rewriting the wire
service story to a then-part-time reporter, Lyle Hasani
Gittens. According to Gittens, the Post re-write was
slated to appear in the second edition of the paper, the
usual deadline for which was “around 2:06 to 9:00
o'clock.” Gittens swore in an affidavit and testificd at
his deposition that ke did not recall writing and did
not think he wrote that plaintiff's license was re-
voked, a statement that defendant concedes was both
false and defamatory. He speculated that the error
might have occurred during the editing process.

Afler Gittens prepared the re-write on a personal
computer, he transmitted it to an electronic “basket”
where it was reviewed by an editor. Gittens was
aware that editors sometimes altered the text of arti-
cles and, as typical of such editing, he cited stylistic
changes to an article's lead, or first, paragraph, But he
denied having any knowledge that Post editors delib-
erately changed the facts of stories.

The record sheds no light on the actual editing of
Gittens's rewrite. The editor responsible for it, Todd
Veneza testified that he would “never deliberately™
falsify information pertaining to a doctor’s licensure,
but he could not offer any specific details pertaining
to his review of the December 7 re-write. Moreover,
the record does not contain the original draft that Git-
tens submitted to Venczia,

FN2, At his deposition, Gittens stated that
the originat draft might have been “purged”
from one of the Post's electronic file directo-
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ries,

An affidavit submitted by the Posl's Metropolitan
Editor, Jesse Angelo, docs, however, set forth the

,path that & rewrite generally travels after editorial

review. At that point, it is sent to the copy desk for
addjtional checking of grammar, puhctuation and
accuracy as well as any veduction in text necessary to
fit the paper's layout requircments. The copy desk is
also responsible for preparing headlines before the
article is processed by the production department for
page-setting and transmission to the printer. How
these steps were accomplished prior to publication of
the “Ozzy"” rewrite is not revealed by tha record.

Apparently, the sole source material for Gittens's
rewrite was the Los Angeles Times wire service
story. Gittens testified that he “did not recali” making
any independent effort to verify the status of plain-
tiffs license prior to publication of the Post article,
Additionally, Gittens remarked that Post editors
would “[njot necessarily” engage in additional fact-
checking after an arficle's submission unless. “some-
thing very conspicuous ... leap[t] out at them.” Ac-
cepting the substance of a wire service story was not
unusual, according to Angelo. He averred that the
Post occasionally reprints stories disseminated on

.reputable wire services, such as that of the Los Ange-

les Times, verbatim and that additional research re-
garding the factual accuracy of such stories is not
generally undertaken. With respect to the Los Ange-
les Times wire service dispatch relevant here, Angelo
stated that “this is not the kind of story that [the Post]
would have expected a reporter to do additional re-
search fon].”

Nonetheless, Angelo explained that a reporter per-

forming a rewrite may make “minor editorial -

changes,” including “more interesting word selec-
tion,” before publication in the Post. During his
deposition, Gittens provided additional details about
the rewriting process, stating that it essentially en-
tailed shoriening the length of a wire service dispatch
and changing its “lead™ paragraph “to make it more
Post-like,” by which he meant “less boring than the
Los Angeles Times" or “[a] better read.” The lead
paragraph in the fewrite of which plaintiff complains,
however, comectly stated that plaintiff was “under
investigation for over-prescribing drugs.”

On January 30, 2004~nearly two months after it was

published-counse! for plaintiff wrote to the Post as-
serting that the December 7 re-write was false and
defamatory and “published with reckless disregard
for the ruth.” The letter demanded a retraction within
14 days. The Post complied, publishing a “Correc-
tion,” on page 26 of its February 9 edition, which
stated that the state medical board had “moved to
revoke [plaintiff's} license, although no action has as
yet been taken.” Plaintiff then commenced this fibel
suit on November 23, 2004, almost a year after the
Post rewrite was first published and more than nine
months after publication of the requested retraction.

Following discovery, defendant moved for summary
judgment. As relevant here, Supreme Cowt denied
the motion, reasoning that defendant bore the burden
of demonswrating that its misstatement regarding the
status of plaintifi's license was not published with
actual maljce as defined by New York Times-i.e., with
knowledge of falsnty or a reckless disregard for the
truth. ™ A unanimous Appeliate Division reversed,
granting defendant summary judgment and dismiss-
ing the complaint (see 47 AD3d 597, 598 f1st Dept
2008) ). We granted leave to appeal and now affirm.

FN3. The actual malice standard applies
here because, as Supreme Court held, plin-
{iff is “bnquestionably a public figure" due
to the extensive media coverage of his de-
toxification practice, his more than 100 tele--
vision appearances as a medical expert, and
his roles as a doctor in several films (see
James v. Gonnelt Co., 40 N.Y .2d 415, 422

[1976] ).

1L

As set forth in New York Times Co, v. Sullivan (376
1J.S. 254 [1964] ) and its progeny, the U.S. Constitu-
tion's First Amendment bars a public figure from
recovering damages in a libel action unless clear and
convincing evidence proves that a false and defama-
tory statement was published with * ‘actual malice®~
that is, with knowledge that it was false or with reck-
less disregard of whether it was false or not” {id._at
270-280, 285-286; Masson v. New Yorker Magazire,
Inc, 501 U.S, 496, 511 {1991}:; Harre-Hanks Com-
munications,_Inc. v Connaughton, 491 U.8. 657, 666-

667 {19891; Bose Corp, v Consumers Union of U.S,,
e, 466 U.S. 485, 511 [1984] ). The clear and con-

vincing evidence standard is applicable to a frial
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cowt’s assessment of a libel defendant’s motion for

summary judgment (see Anderson v, Liberty Lobby,
Inc., 477 U.S, 242, 252, [1986]; see also Freeman v.

Johnston, 84 N.Y.2d 52, 57 (19941 ). In such a pos-
ture, the question is “whether the evidence in the re-
cord could support a reasonable jury finding either
that the plaintiff has shown actuat malice by clear and
convincing evidence or that the plaintiff has not” {

Anderson, 477 U8, at 255-256),

Thus, a libet defendant's burden in support of sum-
mary judgment is not, as Supreme Court reasoned, to
prove as a matter of law that it did not publish with
actuat malice, but to point to deficiencies in the re-
cord that will prevent plaintiff from proving that fact
by clear and convincing evidence (¢ff Roche 1.

Hearst Corp., 53 N.Y.2d 767, 769 [1981]; Millus v,
Newsday, fne., 89 N.Y.2d 840, 843 [1996]). On ap-

peal, our task is to undertake an independent review
fo determine whether the record evidence is capable
of demonstrating sctual malice with “convincing
clarity” (see Freeman, 84 N.Y.2d at 56-57), We turn
then to plaintifi's argument that the record contains
evidence sufficient for a reasonable jury to find that
the Post published the erroncous statements regarding
his license with reckless disregard for the truth,

Although incapable of “one infallible definition ...,
reckless conduct is not measured by whether a rea-
sonably prudent [person] would have published, or
would have investigated before publishing™ (see St

mant v. Thompson, 350 U.S. 727, 730-731 {19681 ).
Instead, to cross the constitutional threshold of actual
malice, there must be “clear and convincing evidence
that the author in fact entertained serious doubts as to
the truth of his publication or acted with a high de-
gree of awarencss of .. probable falsity (see
Masson, 501 U.S. at 510 [intemnal citations and quo-
tations emitted} ). "™ The inquiry is thus a subjective
one, focusing upon the state of mind of the publisher
of the allepedly libelous statements at the time of
publication (see Bose Corp, 466 U.S. at 511 n 30;
Horte-Hanks, 49)_U.S, at 689). ™ This decidedly
high standard of culpability has been set because “it
is essential that the First Amendment protect some
erroneous publications as well as true ones” (see St
dmant, 390 U.S. at 732), The actual malice standard
recognizes that falschoods relating to public figures
are “inevitable in free debate” and that publishers
must have sufficient “breathing space” (see Hustlor
Mag Corp, v. Falwell_485 U,S. 46, 52 [1988] ) so

that the First Amendment's commitment to “the prin-
ciple that debate on public issues should be uninhibi-
ted, robust, and wide-open” will be realized {sce’
Sullivar, 376 U.8. at 270),

FN4. The sort of actual malice required un-
der New York Times“should not be confused
with the concept of malice as an evit jntent *
or a motive arising from spite or il will®
(see Masson, 501 11.S. at 510-511). While
such motivations are not irrelevant to the ac-
tual malice inquiry (see 2 Smolla and Nim-
mer On Freedom of Speech § 23:3, 23.17
[2008] [hereinafier Smolla & Nimmer] ),
there is no cvidence in this record that de-
fendant was motivated by an intent to injure
plaintiff,

FN5. The dissent does not quarrel with this
point (see dissenting opn, at 5), Nor could it
(see 2 Smolla & Nimmer at § 23:3, 23-15
[noting that the U.S. Supreme Court has
“repeatedly cmphasized the subjective na-
ture of the actual malice standard”] ). Rec-
ognizing the rule that the actual malice in-
quiry necessarily entails consideration of a
defendant's subjective mental state, does not,
however, inevitably place the outcome of a
libol case within a defendant's “unjlateral
control™ (see dissenting opn, at 5 finternal
quotation omitted] ). That result would only
obtain if'a libel defendant's snere assertion of
good faith publication, despite clear and
convincing circumstantial evidence of actual
malice, would suffice to permit summary
Judgment. As the dissent comectly points
out, this Count has never sanctioned such a

tigid rule (see Prozeralik v Capital Cities
Communications, {ne., 82 N.Y.2d 466, 478

[19931 ). And we do not do so here. Instead,
we acknowledge that “mere protestations of
good faith by a defendant do not prectude
establishing actual malice through other in-
ferential or circumstantial proof” (see
Smolla & Nimmer at § 23:3, 23-18). But we
conclude that the facts and circumstances
adduced by plaintiff’ in this case could not
clearly and convincingly prove actual malice
to the satisfaction of a reasonable jury.

We agree with the Appellate Division that the present
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record lacks the clear and convincing evidence neces-
sary for a jury to conclude that defendant’s inaccurate
statements were published with actual malice. As an
initial matter, plaintiff's relianceé upon the Post's fail-
ure to employ fact-checkers, to atiempt to verify the

statas of his Hcense prior to publication, or to identify -

those individuals responsible for the false headline
and statement is misplaced. Put simply, such proof of
“Im]ere negligence does not suffice” to establish ac-
tal malice by clear and convincing evidence (see
Masson, 501 U.S. at 510). Conceivably, in an cx-
treme case, a failure to investigate conld be so gross
as to prove a willful avoidance of knowledge (cf
Harte-Hanks,_491 U.S. at 690-693), but this is aot
that case,

We are concemed here with whether there is “con-
crete” or “affirmative evidence” (see Anderson, 477
U.S. at 256, 257) in the record that would allow a
jury to conclude with “convincing clarity” (see

Freeman,_ 84 N.Y.2d_at 56) whether the Post's em-

_ ployees actually entertained serious doubts about the

truth of the rewrite's inaccurate headline and sentence
or that they published those statements with a high
depree of awareness of their falsity. Plaintiff argues
that a jury applying the New York Times actual mal-
ice standard could find in his favor because the re-
cord establishes that a Post editor fabricated the facts
concerning plaintiff's licensure to make Gittens's re-
write “more sensational[ J* and thereby generate in-
creased sales, Other than the fact that the rewrite con-
tains two erroneous statements, however, there is no
evidence that Gittens, his editor Venezia, or anyone
¢lse at the Post seriously doubted the truth of the
complained-of statements or was highly aware that
they were incorrect prior to publication. Evidence of
falsity does not equate with proof of actual malice
(see Mahoney v. Adirondack Publ._Co., 73 N.Y.2d

31,3240 {19871 ).

Given this lack of concrete proof, plaintiff relies
heavily upon Gittens's testimony that the lead para-
graph of a wire service article was usually edited to
make it “more Post-like.” But the full context of Git-
tens's testimony along with his affidavit, Angelo's
affidavit, and Venezia's testimony, demonstrate that
this shori-hand phrase referred to stylistic alterations

* and not (o the fabrication of facts, A writer can make

an article a “better read” and ¢ngage in “more inter-
esting word selection” without sacrificing factual
integrity. Clearly, the First Amendment offers no

shield to “calculated falschoods” (see Herfe-Hanks
491 U.S. at 687 n 34.quoting Garrison v. Louisiana,

379 13,8, 64, 75 11964%; Cantrell v. Forest City Publ.

Co., 419 U.S. 245, 253 19741 ), but at no point does
this record even supgest that the Post set out to
falscly defame plaintiff in this instance, or other indi-
viduals regularly, to increase its sales. ¢ Moreover,
plaintiffs heavy reliance on the “more Post-like”
testimony is flawed since Gittens's deposition indj-
cates that he was using that jargon to refer to changes
made to a rewrite's lead paragraph. Here, however,
plaintiff does not contend that that paragraph is inac-
curate.

FN6. In this connection, the U.S. Supreme
Court has conciuded that a defendant’s profit
motive in publishing allegediy false and de-
famatory material does not “suffice to prove
actual malice” (see Harfe-Hanks, 491 U.S,
at 667).

We recognize the danger of awarding summary
judgment solely upon the defendant's professions of
good faith in publishing libelous material (see St
Amant,_390 11.8, at 731-732). But the U.S. Supreme
Court has instructed that a plaintiff must be held to
the burden of adducing clear and convincing evi-
dence of actual malice at the surhmary judgment
‘stage so long as there has been a “full opportunity to
conduct discovery” (see dnderson, 477 U.S, at 257).
Here, there was such an opportunity. But this public
figure plaintiff has come forward with nothing more
than a mere hope that a jury would discredit the Post
employees” ftestimony, This is insufficient (see
Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256-257,quoting Bose Corp..
466 U.S. at 512 [“discredited testimony is not nor-

mally considered a sufficient basis” for defeating 2.

proper summary judgment motion] [internal quota-
tion and alteration omitted] ). As we stated in Trails
West, Inc. v, Wolff (32 N.Y.2d 207 [1973] ). [t is™“‘not
cnough” for a libel plaintiff resisting a motion for
summary judgment to rely upon “suspicion, surmise,
and accusation” {see jd._at 221 [internal quotation
omitted] ).

Rather, as in Prozeralik v Capital Citles Conniunita-
fions, Inc, (82 N.Y.2d 466 {19931 ). a plaintiff seek-
ing jury resolution must point to facts and circum-
stances that could prove actaal malice under the New
York Times standard, In that case, there was evidence
that a television and radio broadcaster’s news em-
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ployees had surmised that plaintiff was a victim of a
beating and abduction possibly orchestrated by mem-
bers of organized crime solely because he, like
“countless™ other individuals, was a restavranteur in
the Niagara région (see i at 475-476). This assump-
tion was sheer “rootless speculation,” lacking any
“basis or source whatsoever™ (id.). Although the de-
fendant claimed to have verified the plaintiff's iden-
tity as the victim with a spokesperson for the Federal
Burcau of Investigation prior to issuing broadcasts
relaying that information to the public, the FBI's
spokesperson denied having made any such confir-
mation (fd). Furthermore, the broadcasts occumed
during a period when the defendant's stations were
engaged in a ratings competition for advertising
revenues and afler a rival television station had al-
ready announced the name of the actual victim the
night before the defendant's newscasts (id). And al-
though the defendant did broadcast a retraction after
being made aware of its emror, the retraction claimed
that the FBI had previously confirmed the plaintiffs
slatus as the victim even after the FBI spokesperson
cxpressly told the broadcaster’s news director that this
had not occurred (7). In light of these facts and ciy-
cumstances, we concluded that “[wihile falsity. alone
and negligence alone would not be sufficient to sus-
tain plaintiff's burden, there is enough in this case to
submit the issue of actual malice to a jury for factual
resolution”(id. at 476).

The same camnot be said here, ‘First, the possible
revocation of defendant's license was accurately men-
tioned in a lengthy Los Angeles Times wire service
article. Thus, plainiff's license coniroversy was not
thrust into the public eye merely on defendant's
whim. Sccond, there is no evidence that defendant's
employees intentionally or recklessly fabricated the
relevant false statements. Although the actual status
of plaintiff's license could be verified through an ac-
curate reading of the Times article, this potentiality
does not negate the possibility that Gittens or his edi-
tors, all working under a deadline, simply misper-
ceived the correct statément in the Times article or
draft rewrite (¢ff Mahopey, 71 N.Y.2d at 40). Cer-
tainly, there is no evidence that any Post employee
deliberatoly avoided consulting the Tinies article so
as to publish a moro sensational, albejt concocted,
story with an untamnished mental state {cf. Harte-
Hanks, 491 U.S. at 690-693 [along with other cir-
cumstantial evidence, newspapers failure (o inter-
view key witness or to listen to available tape re-
cordings that would verify or refute account of news-
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paper's source constituted an actionable “purposoful
%oidance of the truth™] [internal citation omitled] ).

FN7. According to the dissent, the Post's ac-
tions in this case are *“more egregious” than
those at issue in Prozeralik because there,
although an accurate report was broadeast
before defendant's erroncous one, a reporter
disputed the FBI spokesperson's claim that
the plaintiffs identity had not been con-
firmed before the defendant's inaccurate re-
port was aired (see dissenting opn, at 7). But
“a highly and significantly discrete feature”
identified by this Court in refusing to djs-
miss for Iack of the requisite proof of actual
malice was that “plaintiff's name was ini-
tially injected randomly by defendant’s own
employees merely because he happened to
be a Niagara restauranteur” (see Prozeralik
82 N.¥.2d at 477). Moreover, the FBJ] em-
ployee's testimony, “categorical [ly]” deny-
ing the purported confirmation, provided
“{d]irect evidence” that would permit a Jjury
to infer that the defendant ¢ ‘knew or sus-
pected” ™ that its statement was false (see id,
at 477-478), There is simply no indication in
Prozeralik that the presence of an accurate
news report, contradicting defendant's,
would have been enough to permit jury seso-
lution of the actual malice question. It was
simply one factor that served to corroborate
other record evidence that supported an in-
ference of actual malice (see id).

Here, plaintiff's license controversy was a
matter of public knowledge prior to publi-
cation of the Post rewrite. And there is not
even circumstantial; let alone “direct,”
evidence which could clearly and con-
vincingly establish that defendant's inac-
curale rewrite was published with actual
malice. The relevant evidence is simply
that the Los Angeles Times article was .
comect, that-for some uncxplained reason-
defendant’s re-write -was not, and that de-
fendant usually makes certain stylistic ed-
its in the course of preparing a rewritten
wire service story for publication in its
newspaper. This is not enough,
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Third, fo the extent that plaintiff contends that the
Post's editors were motivated to “spice up" articles
with invented facts in order to increase the newspa-
per's paid circulation, the December 7 rewrite would
be a particularly poor vehicle for advancing that goal.
The rewrite was inconspicuously placed on page 24
of the defendant's publication, where it appeared
dwarfed in size by an adjecent, large-scale adver-
tisement for home funishings and was positioned
above a blotter-style column entitled “Weird But
true.” In this context, it is highly unlikely that any
member of the purchasing public would have chosen
to buy the Post based on the complained-of rewrite.
Even within the rewrite itself, the sentence relevant to
plaintiff's licensure did not appear in the lead para-
graph but was buried in the article's sixth of eight
paragraphs, In fact, the lead paragraph comectly
stated that plaintiff was “under investigation.” Fi-
nally, unlike in Prozeralik, when plaintifi's counsel
confronted the Post with the inaccuracy of its head-
line and sentence, the paper issued a full retraction
within plaintiff’s requested timeframe. e

FNB8. Unlike the retraction in Prozeralik, the
Post's “Comrection,” which was locatéd in a
portion of the paper similar to that where the
December 7 rewrite was placed, does not
purport ta be based on the Post's “independ-
ent investigation” (compare dissenting apn,
at 2 with Prozeralik -82 N.Y.2d at 470).
Rather, it accurately states that the Post sub-
sequently. learned of its error after attributing
an erronedus reporl to the Los Angeles
Times.

In sum, a reasonable jury confronted with these facts
and circumstances could not find with convincing

Clarity that defendant’s erroneous statements were

published with actual malice. Rather, the record be-
speaks non-actionable mistake or negligence, ™
Thus, a grant of summary judgment in defendant's
favor was, appropriate.

FN9. Contrary to the dissent’s asscrtion, we
.do not “conclude] ] that the emoncous
statements must have been published as a
result of mere mistake or negligence” (see
‘dissenting opn, at 8). Our holding is limited
to what the record reveals, It was plaintiff's
burden to demonstrate that a reasonable jury
assessing this evidence could find actual
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malice by clear and convincing evidence, He
has failed to do so.

The dissent would “infer] ]* actual malice
from the Post's access to the accurate Los
Angeles Times article, its inability to ex-
plain how its error occurred, and from the
affidavit of a “journalism expert,” opining
that “no rational journalist could have™
made the same mistake that the Post did
(see id. at 7-8 & n *), At most, this consti-
tutes evidence of the discrete libel element
of falsity, which is uncontested here, and
of a failure to adhere to some objectively
reasonable standard of reporting, which,
standing alone, does not constitute clear
and convincing evidence of actual malice.

Accordingly, the order of the Appellate Division
should be affirmed, with costs,

Kipper v NYi’ Holdings Co., Inc, d/bfa The New
York Post

No. 54
PIGOTT, J.(dissenting):

I respectfully dissent. The undisputed facts are rela-
tively simple: The New York Post took a factually-
accurate Los Angeles Times article, which stated that
the California Medical Board had “moved to revoke™
plaintiff's license, and rewrote the article to falsely
state, in the headline and in the body of the article,
that plaintiff's license had been “pulled” and “re-
voked”. In my view, these facts raise, at the very
least, a question of fact as to whether the Post acted
with “actual malice™.

L

On December 7, 2003, the LA Times tan a 98-
paragraph story entitled:

“HARSH REALITY OF ‘OSEQURNES' NO
LAUGHING MATTER”

The article stated that, “The state medical board last
week moved to revoke Kipper's license, accusing him
of gross negligence in his treatment of other pa- -
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tients™,

The Post obtained the LA Times story from the wire
service and cdited it from 98 paragraphs to cight.
Apparently not satisfied with the headline, the Post
changed it to falsely read:

“OZZY'S RX DOC'S LICENSE PULLED"

and reported: “Last week, the state medical board
revoked Kipper's license, accusing him of £1055 neg-
ligence In his treatment of other patients, according to
the Los Angeles Times" (emphasis supplied),

Plaintiff's attomeys wrote to the Post and advised it
that the article stating that plaintiff's medical license
had been revoked was “false and defamatory” and
“published with reckless disregard for the truth.” The
letter demanded that the Post publish “a clear and
unequivocal retraction of the ... falsehoods” in a
manner, size and placement comparable to those of
the defamatory article.”

The Post subsequently printed a correction on page
26. The comection was in incredibly small print, situ-
ated among mostly ads, and stated as follows:

CORRECTION

On Dec. 7, 2003, The Post reported that, according to
The Los Angeles Times, Dr, David Kipper, Ozzy
Osbourne’s doctor, had his license revoked by the

. Colifomia Medical Board. The Post has since
learned that the board is still investigating Kipper's
alleged practice of overpreseribing drugs to celeb-
rity patients and has moved to revoke his license,
although no action has as yet been taken,

A fair reading of this “correction” is that the LA

Times had made a mistake and further investigation -

by the Post had ferreted out the truth, a fact the Post
is pointing out in an obscure part of its newspaper,

Supreme Court held that the Post's motion for sum-
mary

judgment should be denied because it “has not pre-
sented evidence that proves, as a matter of law, that
the false statements in the Aticle were published in
good faith, the result of an inadvertent misreading or

Page 7

miscopying that would be considered an excusable
mistake.” In making this determination, Supreme.
Court pointed to- the deposition testimony of Post
reporter Lyle Hasani Gittens that the Post's editors
sometimes changed articles submitted by reporters
and that, when editing wire service articles, the Post
reporters routinely shortened them and changed the
lead paragraph “to make it more Post-like,” that is,
“less boring than the Los Angeles Times". The Ap-
pellate Division reversed and dismissed the com-
plaint.,

1L

In support of its contention that the record fils to
contain evidence establishing actua) malice with
“convincing clarity,” the Post relies on remarkably
foggy testimony of the very people from whom the
falsity originated, its own employees. Gittens, the
reporter who edited the LA Times story for publica-
tion in the Post, testified that, because it came from
the wire service, the LA Times article had likely al-
ready been fact-checked, Rather than exonerate the
Pest, this testimony underscores the significance of
its conduct in printing false information, since defen-
dant admits that the LA Times article was factually
accurate before the Post edited it, Notwithstanding
this fact, Gittens claims that he does not know how
the false statement about plaintiffs license having
been revoked found its way into the article, nor does
he recall editing the story to include that information,
Todd Venezia, a reporter charged with editing Git-
tens's version of the story, testified that he occasion-
ally edits the stories of other reporters but that he
does not recall the specifics of the article at issue
here.

The majority takes the position that based on the
aforementioned testimony, there is a “lack of con-
crete proof” as to whether the Post “seriously
doubted the truth of the complained-of statements or
was highly aware that they were incorrect prior to
publication™ (maj op at 10-11). But the issue is not
whether the Post doubted the truth or was aware of an
incotrect statement here; it is conceded that the Post
created the statements that, as the majority notes, are
false and defamatory. A defendant should not be al-
fowed to point to alleged deficiencies in the record
that are the preduct of its employces' claimed inabil-
ity to recall the circumstances surrounding the editing
of the article and be awarded summary judgment.
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The majority correctly observes, “[t]he circumstances
surrounding the Post’s erroncous statement are not

) entxrely clear” (maj op at 2). But it is that Jack of clar-

ity upon which the majonty relies in concluding that

“the record is devoid of any evidence that would per-

mit a jury to find that the Post published the article
with actual malice. [n my view, the fact that defen-
dant took a factually-accurate article and edited it to
reflect something completely untrue constitutes suffi-
cient evidence from which a jury could infer that de-
fencdant * ‘in fact entertained serjous doubts as to the
trath of [its] publication’ { St_dmanr v. Thomson, 390
U.S, 727, 73} [1968] ) or acted with a “high degree of
awareness of ... probable falsity’ ( Garrison v, Lou-
istang, 379 U.S. 64, 74 [1964] " ( Masson v, New
Yorker Magazine, Inc,, 501 11.S. 496, 510119917,

‘The majority asserts that an inquiry into such matters
is a subjective one that requires this Court to focus on
the state of mind of the author at the time of the pub-
lication (maj op at 8-9). But this Cowmt has held that
to “conclude that no prima facie case was even pre-
sented [against a defendant] because its employees
might have held an untarnished subjective state of
mind” is not compelled by federal or state jurispru-
dence, and has cautioned that such an “approach and
analysis ... would erect a logically impossible test
which, by its practical application of goveming
precedents, would inevitably result in no defamation
case ever qualifying for jury resolution” (-Prozeraltk
v _Capital_Cities -Communications, Inc. (82 N.Y.2d
466, 478 119931 ), Essentially, the majority's opinion
does what this Court sought to prohibit in Prozeralik:
it places the disposition of defamation cases “into the
unilaterat control of defendant] J"¢id.).

In my view, our Cowrt'’s decision in Prozeralik com-
pels the denial of the Post's motion for summary
judgment, There, the defendant's news and radio casts
identified the plaintiff-a public figure-as the victim of
an abduction, and reported that the FBI was investi-

gating whether said abduction was the result of the

plaintiff having owed money to a criminal enterprise.
There was a dispute, however, between the FBI and
the defendant’s reporter as to whether the FBI con-
firmed the plaintiff as the victim. Just hours afler
defendant last ran the inaccurate story, it was con-
firmed that the plaintiff was not the victim of the ab-
duction, and the plaintiff subseqguently filed a defa-
mation suit against the defendant, eventually obiain-
ing a favorable verdict.

This Court refused to grant the defendant's motion ta -
dismiss the plaintiff's case, holding that the plaintiff
met his “evidentiary burden of establishing actual
malice sufficient to allow the jury ... to find that de-
fendant acted with a high degree of awareness of
‘probable falsity” or entertained ‘serfous doubts' es to
the truth of the broadcasts,”™ stating that the plaintiff’
“adduced cogent, direct evidence from which a jury

-coutld have fnferred that defendant knew or suspected

that the [plaintiff] was not the victim” ( Prozeralik,
82 N.Y.2d at 475 Temphasis supplied] [internal cita-
tions omitted] ). Such evidence included proof that a
competing news station ran a story the previous eve’
ning identifying someone other than the plaintiff as
the victim, speculation by the defendant’s employees
that the plaintiff was in fact the victim, and the dis-
agreement between the FBI and the defendant's re-
porter as to whether the FBI told the reporter that he
could “ “go with [the plaintiffs] name” if the FBI did
not calf the reporter back (id at 475-476).

Here, as in Prozeralik, another media outlet reported
a factually-accurate account of events the day before
the false information was published by the Post. In
my view, the conduct of the Post in this case is more
egregious than the conduct of the defendant in
Prozeralik because there is no dispute between the
Post and the LA Times conceming the accuracy of
the original article. Unlike the disagrecment between
the FBI and the repovier in Prozeralik, it is undis-
puted that plaintiff's license had not been revoked,
and the Post concedes that those parts of the story
concerning the revocation were in fact false, More-
over, it can be inferved from ‘the mere fact that the
substance of the LA Times aricle was changed-
without explonation-to erroncously reflect that plain-
tiff's license had been revoked that the Post enter-
tained scrions doubls as to the truthfulness of the
article. Unlike the reporters in Prozeralik who specu-
lated that the plaintiff was the victim, the Post knew
or should have known from the body of the LA Times
article that plaintiff's license had not been revoked.

As the majority states, more than “fmjere negligence
is required to prove actual malice” ( Masson, 501
U.S. at 510). Whether defendant acted with mere
negligence or actual malice, under the circumstances
of this case, should be submitted to a jury, because an
Inference can be drawn from the facts in the record,
with convincing clarity, that the Post acted with ac-
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tual matice in publishing the article (i.c., it either
knew that it was false or acted with reckless disregard
of whether it was false or not). ™ Rather than allow-
ing a jury to make that determination, however, the
majority relies on the inability of the Post's employ-
ees to recall exactly how the false publication made it
to print; and then concludes that the erroneous state-
ments must have been published as a resuit of mere
mistake or negligence (maj op at 15), In my view,
this is error and deprives plaintiff of an opportunity o .
have a jury cvaluate the credibility of the Post's em-
ployees, Thercfore, I would reverse the order of the
Appellate Division and reinstate plaintiff's complaint,

FNL. It is important to note that plaintiff did
not stand mute in the face of defendant's
motion for summary judgment; but submit-
ted, among other things, the affidavit of a
Jjoumnalism expert who averred that no ra-
tional joumalist could have confused the
meaning of the LA Times article with the
meaning of the Post article and the only in-
ference that could be drawn from that al-
leged mix-up (and the defamatory headline)
was that the action was intentional.

LA A RN RN EFEERFRFEE N

Order affirmed, with costs. Opinion by Judge Ci-
parick. Chief Judge Lippman and Judges Graffeo,
Read, Smith and Jones concur. Judge Pigott dissents
and votes to reverse in an opinion,

N.Y,,2009.

Kipper v. NYP Holdings Co., Inc,

— N.E2d —, 2009 WL 1148653 (N.Y.), 2009 N.Y.
Slip Op, 03407

END OF DOCUMENT
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United States District Court, Distriot of Columbia.
LIBERTY LOBBY, INC,, ct al., Plaintiffs,
v.
Jack ANDERSON, ct al., Defendants.
Civ.A. No. 81-2240.

May 1, 1991,

Mark Lane, John L. McGann, Washington, D.C.,
for plaintiffs.

Michael D. Sullivan, Ross, Dixon & Masback,

‘Washington, D.C., for defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

AUBREY E. ROBINSON, Jr,, Chief Judge.

1 Plaintiff Liberty Lobby, Inc. (“Liberty Lobby™)
is a not for profit corporation and a solf-described
“citizens lobby” cngaged in the cspousal of causcs.
Plaintiff Willis Carto is its founder, treasurer and
principal lobbyist. Plaintiffs charge that defendants
Jack Anderson and The Invesiigator magazing pub-
lished defamatory portrayals of Cario and Liberty
Lobby as neo-nazi, fascist, anti-semitic and racist,
The portraysts form the basis for plaintiffs, com-
plaint,

In 1983 the District Court held that plaintifis failed
to cstablish actusl malice end cntered summary
judgment in favor defendants, Liberry Lobby. Inc.
v, Anderson, 562 F.Supp. 201, 203 (D.D.C.1983).
On appeal the Circuit Court found, upon de nove
review, that there were malterial issues involving
the state of mind of the defendants and in particular
that the district court had erred in granting sum-
mary judgment with regard to 9 of 30 allegations of
libel, The Court of Appeals reversed as to the nine
allegations and remanded to the district court.
Liberty Lobby, Inc. v. Anderson. 746 F.2d 1563,
1577.rev'd an other grounds, 417 U.S. 242 (1986).

On appeal. to the Supreme Court, certiorari was

granted FN1 on the “guestion whether the clear-

and-convincing-evidence requitement must be con-
sidered by a court ruling on a motion for summary
judgment under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure in a case to which New York Times
applies.™  Andersen v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.. 471
U.S. 242, 244 (1986},

The Supreme Court reverscd the Court of Appeals
because it failed to apply the comect standard-
“whether the evidence presented is such that a yeas-
onable jury might find that actual malice has been
shown with convincing clarity.” Id, at 257.

In so doing, the Court held that the materiafity of
any fact should be determined, by the substantive
law of the case. Jd. at 248. The Court stated that
the test for deciding 2 motion for summary judg-
.ment is the same as that for a directed verdict mo-
tion, id. at 252, i.c., there is no issue for irial, unless
there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-
tmoving party for a jury to return 2 verdict for that
party. fd. The Court also said that “the mere cxist-
ence of a scintilla of evidence in support of
plaintiff's position will be insufficient; there must
be evidence upon which the jury could reasonably
find for the plaintiff.” Id.

Significantly, the Court added that in this case it
was not enovugh for plaintiffs to contend that issues
concerning “state of mind” were presented. Id at
256. Nor was it enough 1o impeach the credibility

of movants' evidenoe without making a demonstra- -

tion by credible and substantial -evidence that

plaintiffs would be able to meet the burden of proof

at trial, id. at 256-57; “[i]nstead, Plaintiff must
present affirmative evidence in order to defeat a
properly supported motion for summary judgment.
This is trac even where the evidence is likely to be
within the possession of the defendant, as long as
plaintiff has had a full opportunity (o conduct dis-
covery.” [Id. at 257. Finally, the Supreme Court
held that where the non-moving party must meet a
higher than usual burden of proof during the trial
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stage, he must meet the same burden in resisting the
summary judgment motion. I, The Court cautioned
that a trial on affidavit was not justified and that
summary judgment should be pranted with circum-
spection. Id, at 255.

I, The Cause of Action

*2 In order for a public official or a public figure
plaintiff 1o establish liability for defomation in 2
matter of public concem, he must prove the follow-
ing clements: (1) that the ailegedly defamato}y
statement was published by the defendast to a third
party; (2) that the statement has a defamatory
meaning which was altributed to it by the recipient;
(3) that the statement was false; (4) that the state-
ment was made with the actusl malice, f.c. “with
knowledge that it was false or with reckless disreg-
ard of whether it was falsc or not.” New York
Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 280 (1964).

A, Publication

It i undisputed that the allegedly defamatory state-
ments were published by the defendants. The two
articles giving rise to this lawsuit were published in
the October 1981 issue of The Investigator
magazine by defendant Investigator Publishing
Company. Defendant Jack Anderson was publisher
of the magazine, Defendant Bill E. Adking was the
president and Chief Executive officer of Tnvestigat-
or Publishing Company. The two articles, “Yockey:
Profile of an Amcrican Hiler” and “The Private
World of Willis Carto,” were authored by Charles
Bermant and edited by Jack Anderson. The articles
were introduced by o section signed by “The Edit-
o15": “Did Mein Kampf Spawn Yockey's Imperiuns,
a Book Revived by Canto's Liberty Lobby? The two
articles “recount the history of Carlo and Liberty
Lobby and convey statements expressed by many
organizations and individuals describing Carto and
Liberly Lobby's views. Without a doubt plaintifts
are refesred to as.neo-nazi, faseist, anti-semitic and
vacist.™  Liberly Lobby, Ine. v. Anderson, 562

F.Supp. 201, 205 {D.D.C.1983).

B. Defamatory Meaning

*The question of whether or not the meaniog of a
particular communication is defamatory is one for
the Court....” W. Prosser, W. Keeton, D, Dobbs, R.
Keeten, & D. Owen, Prosser and Keeton on Torts §
111, at 774 (5th ed.).

In Washington Post v, Chaloner, 250 U.5. 290
{1919), the Supreme Court delineated the respons-
ibititics of the judge and the jury in a defamalion
action;

A publication claimed to be defamatory must bo
read and construed in the sense in which the readers
to whom it is addressed would ordinarily under-
stand it.... When thus read, if its meaning is so un-
ambiguous as to reasonably bear but one interpreta-
fion, il is for the judge to say whether that significa- -
tion is defamatory or not. If, upon the other hand, it
is capable of two meanings, one of which would be
libelous and actionable and the other not, it is for
the jury to say, under all' the circumstances sur-
rounding its publication, including extraneous facts
admissable in evidence, which of the two meanings
would be attributed or by whom it may be read.

Id. at 293 (quoling Conmerelal Publishing Co. v,
Smith, 149 F. 704, 706-07 (6th Cir.1907)),

The defendants argue that the nine allepations,
taken together, are not actionable, either because
their defamatory implicntions are not actionable,
i.e., a plaintiff cannot state a ¢laim based on an al-
leged inaccuracy of some detail in the defamatory
allegation if-the “derogatory implication of the dis-
patch statement is undisputedly comect,” Ta-
voulareas v. Pirs, 817 F.2d 762, 788
{D.C.Cir,1987) (en banc ), cert. denled56
U.S.L.W, 3247 (Oct, 6, 1987 (citations omitted),
or allernatively, under the rational that “--- even
those [statements] that might be found to have been
published with actual melice — should not be ac-
tionable if they merety imply the same view and
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they are simply an outgrowth of and subsidiary to
those claims upon which it has been held there can
be no recovery.” Herbert v. Larado, 781 F.2d 298,
311 {2d Cir.), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1182 (1986).

*3 The defendant’s argument fails for two reasons,
First, in this case the nonactionable allegations

have not been determined to be “undisputedly cor-
rect” as was the case in Tavoulareas, 817 F.2d at
488. second, our Circuit has recognized that the in-
quiry as to the individual allegations “cannot be
conducted in gross, It is the individual allegedly li-
belous statement (taken in its proper context),
rather than the accuracy of the publication as a
whole, which is on trdal. A falsechood published
with actual malice is no less actionable for being

surrounded by an amay of well documented and

carefully rescarched allegations, The accompanying
truth cannot climinate the libel, and is indeed the
most effective means of increasing its harm by in-
creasing its credibility.”” Libersy Lobby, 746 F.2d
at 1574,

Viewed in this light it is clcar that none of the ninc
allegations at issue can be said to be subgidiary to
claims “upon which it has been held there can be no
recovery.” Herbert v. Lando, 181-F.2d 298, 312
(2d Cir.1986). Nor can they be said to merely “give
rise to defamatory inferences that are only support-
ive of inferences that are not actionable.™ Zd.

C. Falsity

Tn Old Dominion Branch No. 496, National Associ-
ation of Lelter Curriers, AFL-CIQ v. Austin, 418
1.S. 264 (1974), the Supreme Court held that “a
public official.[is] allowed the civil [defamation]
remedy only if he establishes that the uticrance was
false  Id at 284, The Court also held that
L1{blefore the test of recklessness or knowing fals-
ity can be met, there must be a false statement of
fact™ Jd. The Suprems Court's recent desision in
Philadelphia Newspapers, Inc. v. Hepps. 475 U.S.
767 (1986), held that the Constitution requires the

. burden of proof on the issue of truth or falsity to be

placed on the plaintiff in a defamation action where
the speech involves an issue of public concern. 7d.
at 776-77. The plaintiffs allege, and the defendants
do not deny, that seven of the nine allegations,
statements which had been presented as absolute
fact, were false, The two other acts of defamation
consisted of drawings that depicted Mr. Carto spy-
ing on his employees, wearing 2 mustache in the
style of Adolf Hitler, and raising his arm in a Nazi-
fike safute. These drawings were utilized to provide
support for the false anecdotal material and were
entirely fictional.

D. Actual Malice

New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 US. 254
(1964), and its progeny establish that a public offi-
cial or public figurc sping for libel must bear the
burden of showing that the defendants acted with
“actual malice.” Id. at 279-80. Actual malice is
defined as publishing a statement “with knowledge
that it was false or with reckless disregard of
whether it was false ornot.” Id. at 726, The stand-
ard for actual malice is subjective: “There must be
sufficient evidence to permit the conclusion that the
defendant in fact entertained serious doubts as to
the wuth of his publications.” St Amant v,
Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 731 (1968). The Court
must look to the defendants' own actions or state-
ments, the dubjous nature of his sources, the inher-
ent improbability of the story or other circumstan-
tia) cvidence to determine whether the defendant
entertained 2 “high degree of awareness-of ... prob-
able falsity.™ Geriz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S,
323, 332 (1974) (quoting St. Amant v. Thompsun,
390 U.S. 727, 731 (1968) and Garrison v. Louisi-
ana, 379 U.S. 64, 74 (1964)); see also Liberty
Lobby, Inc. v. Dow Jones & Co., Inc., 838 F.2d
1287, 1293 (D.C.Cir.1988),

*4 In St. Amant the Court also held that in order to
support a libel judgment there must be clear and
convincing evidence of reckless disregard. 390
U.S. at 731. Reckless disregard is not measured by
a reasonably prudent person standard but rather the

rmm i v .
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plaintifl’ must demonstrate that the defendant him-
self “in foct entertained sericus doubts as to the
truth of his publication.” Jd,

II. DISCUSSION

The issue to be decided by this Court is whether the
evidence in the record could support a reasonable
jury finding that the plaintiffs have shown actual
malice by “clear and convincing evidence.” An-
derson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S, 242 (1986).

The clear-and-convincing standard has  been
defined as “that measure or degree of proof which
will produce in the mind of the trier of facts 2 firm
belief or conviction =5 to allegations sought to be
cstablished.™ Hobson v. Eaton, 399 F.2d 781, 734
(6th Cir.1968). “It is intermediate, being more than
& mero preponderance, but not to the extent of such
cerlninty as is required beyond a reasonable doubt
as in crminal cases. It does not mean clear-
and-unequivocal. 7d,

In St. Amant, the Supreme Court offered examples
of the kind of proof that might suffice to show reck-~
less disregard in a publication and support a finding
of actual matice. The Court cited 2s examples evid-
ence cstablishing that the story was either
“fabricated”, “so inherently improbable that caly a
reckless man would have put (it] in circulation,” or
“based wholly on an unverified anonymous tele-
phone call” or some other source that the defendant
had “obvious reasons to doubt.” 390 U.S, at 732,
In that case the defendant's failure to investigate
was deemed insufficient to support 2 finding of ac-
tual malice where the plaintiff had failed to show
that there cxisted “a low community assessment of
[the souree's] trustworthiness or unsatisfactory ex-
perience with him by St Amant,” 74, at 733.

The sffidavit of Charles Bermant, an investigative
reporter employed by defendant Jack Anderson and
author of the articles .at issue, indicates that one
Robett Eringer is the sole source for five of the nine
allegations. The five allepations include:

13, the statement that Carto “conducts his business
by way of conference calls from a public tele-
phone,” which arguably suggests criminality;

14. the claim that in 1968 a Carto front organization
“used a direct mail blitz to support G. Gardon
Liddy’s Congressional campzign in New York™
(since Liddy was later convicted of a felony in con-
nection with political activities, the allegation could
be considered defamatory);

*17. the illustration showing Carto sceretly ob-

serving prospective employccs through a one-way
mitror;

23, the one-way mirvor allegation, in text;

21. the claim that a lead story in an issue of The
Spotlight was a total hoax,

Applying the incorrect preponderance standard, the
Court.of Appeals found that “Bermant made these
allegations with a disregard for their truth or falsity
that constituted actual malice.”” Libersy Lobhy, Ine.
v, Anderson, 746 F2d 1563, 1578.rev'd, 477 US.
242 (1986). The Courl distinguished Bermant's
dealings with Eringer from his dealings with
sourees for the nonactionable allegations on the fol-
lowing basis: Fitst, the fact that “there is only Beg-
mant’s word for the fact that Eringer ever said any-
thing that supports those statements.” /d, at 1578.
Second, Bermant's failure to investigate or inquire
how Eringer came to know these details of Cario's
operation, Third, Anderson's admission that he did
not carc whether Bringer was reliable. Finally, the
Court’s conclusion that Eringer's absence from the
country made him unavailable for deposing. Jd. at
1579,

*5 The Court likened the above factors to the
“hypothetical ecase of actual malice that the Su-
preme Court described in St Amant:  *“a story
‘based wholly on the unverified anonymous fele-
phone call.® ® JId. (citing St. Amant, 290 U.S. at
732). Bermant asserts the defense of good faith reli-
ance on reputable sources (Eringer), which *if es-
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tablished, unguestionably climinates the necessary
element of actual malice.”  Liberty Lobby, 746
F.2d at 1574,

This Court's inquiry, in accordance with ihe Su-
preme Court’s holding, is “whether the evidence
presents a sufficient disagreement to require sub-
mission 10 a jury or whether it is so one-sided that
one party must prevail as a matter of law."  Ander
son v. Liberty Labby, 477 U.S. 242, 251-52 (1986).
This Court finds that there is insufficient support in
the record to sustain a reasonnble jury finding that
the plaintiffs have shown actual matice by clear and
couvincing evidence as to the allegations numbered
13, 14, 17,23 and 27.

The plaintiffs have failed to produce any evidence
that might impeach the truthfulness of Bormant's
deposed testimony. Thus, to find actual malice, the
Court must determine whether Bermant's reliance
on Bringer as a source presents “sufficient cvidence
to permit the conglusion that the defendant in fact
entertained serious doubts as to the truth of his pub-
lications™ and therefore acted with “reckless disreg-
ard™ St Amanr. 390 U.S. ot 731 (1986) (cmphasis
added).

The record shows that Eringer was not an
“anonymous” informant. Rather, Eringer was a
freelance writer who, in Bemmant's view, was a
“professional reporter” and an “impressive source.
“ Bringer was known to Bermant as the author of &

* book and an investigative article on Liberty Lobby

which had appeared in Mother Jones, a national
magazine. Transcript of Deposition of Charles Ber-
mant, Avg. 20, 1982, at 71-72.

Cansequently, in the absence of clear and convin-
cing evidence that would tend to show that Bermant
was on notice that there was “a low community as-
sessment of [Eringer's] trustworthiness or unsatis-
factory experience with him by [Bermant],” St
Amant, 390 U.S. at 733, there is no basis for a find-
ing of reckless disregard indicative of actual
malice.

Further, given that Bermant had independently cor-
roborated much of Eringer's key information on
Liberty Lobby through other sources including the
National Review and the Washington Post, Bermant
Dep. Tr. at 71-72, he can hardly be said to have had
“particular reasons to doubt [his] sources.” St
Amant, 390 .28 at 732; accord Tavoulareas v.
Piro, 817 F.2d 762, 790 (D.C.Cir.1987). Moreover,
reliance on a single source does not aloae indicate
actual maolice, particularly where that source has no
apparent motive for misleading the reporter. New
York Times v, Connor. 365 F.2d 567, 576 (5th
Cir.1966}.

Nor can the information on Liberty Lobby supplicd
by Eringer have seemed “so inherently improbable
[to Bermant] that only a reckless man would have
put [it] in[to] circulation.” St Amant, 390 U.S. at
232, Given what scurrilous allegations Bermant had
obtained from independent sources, the above
allegations, based on Eringer's article, could “not
have seemed unteasonable to one familiar with ...
prior publicized statements on the underlying con-
woversy.”  dAssaciated Press v, Walker, 388 1.8,
130. 159 (1967).

*6 Bermant's independent sources, for example,
confirmed that plaintiffs used illegal le detector
and voice stress tests on current and prospective
employees as a means of ensuring “loyalty and op-
erational sccurity.” Bermant Aff.App. at 25-26; see
Liberty Lobby, 146 F.2d at 1577, Allegations 17
and 23, reporting that Carto watched “progpective
employees through a two-way miror,” similarly
suggesting thnt Cario's absessjon with internal se-
curity led him to adopt intrusive measures to guard
against disloyalty, canriot have scemed 1o Bermant
as a “fabrication” or a story so “inherently improb-
able” as to demonstrote actual malice. See SI
Amant, 350 U.S. at 732,

‘The same is true of Allegations 13, 14 and 27. Ber-
mant obtained from alternative, reliablo sources in-
formation that Carto was planning to cstablish a
dictatorship in the United States, Liberty Lobby.
746 F.2d 1577; that he uses “front” organizations to
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advance his political goals, Bermant Aft.App. at 7;
and that he had in the past used “gimmicks™ and
“hoaxes™ in connection with his lobbying activities,
Bemmant Aff. App, at 18-25. In light of the confinn-
ative nature of this information, it cannol be said
that Allegations 13, 14, 23 and 27 represent evid-
ence of defendants’ extreme “departure from the
standards of investigation and reporting adhered to
by respousibie publishers. Curiis Publishing Co.
v. Burts, 388 U.S, 130, 155 (1967).

The Court of Appeals also found evidence of the
defendants’ “disregard for the truth” where Bermant
‘“never even looked the unknown Eringer in the cye

- until afier the story was published, but spoke to him

only ouce over the telephone.” Liberty Lobby, 746
F.2d at 1579. Bermant's testimony, however, shows
that he relied wpon Eringer’s written work and not
solely upon verbal communications. Whether the
two men ever met is enly of tangential relevance to
the issue of Bermant's good faith reliance on
Eringer's materials,

Finolly, the Court of Appeals cites Eringer'’s sup-

* posed unavailability for deposition as additional

evidence of his unreliability as a source, /4. In fact,
although Eringer was absent from tlmounhy, his
address was known to the plaintiffs and noth-
ing prevented them from taking his deposition, This
Court hns previously noted that “[iJn 1981 plaintiffs
hod ample opportunity to develop their case and de-
posc these individuals prior to the filing of disposit-
ive motions.,” Order Denying Further Discovery,
July 10, 1987, at 5.

With respect to Jack Anderson's admission that he’

did not care whether Eringer was reliable, since the
Court of Appeals had found carlier in its opinion
that *“Anderson was entitled to rely upon Bermant's
research unless he had reason fo doubt Bermant's
accuracy,” Liberty Lobby, 746 F.2d at 1575, it fol-
lows that his Jack of concern about Eringer's reliab-
ility is not evidence of reckless disregard. Nor can
“actual malice” be found where a publisher relied
on the investigative methods of his reporters and
had no reason to belicve that those methods were

Page 6

unsound. St Amant, 390 U.S. at 733. In Geriz v,
Robert Weleh, Inc,, 418 US, 323, 332 {1974), the
publisher's failure to investigats did not slone es-
tablish actval malice, Here, the plaintiffs have
fuiled to put forth any evidence showing that An-
detson had reason to doubt either Eringer's reliabil-

ity as a source or Bermant's dependability as a re-
porter,

*7 Allegation 11, the final allegation for which
Eringer was a source, asserts that “Liberty Lobby
occupies a building in Washington, D.C., owned by
the Govemment Educatipaal Foundation, *[t]he
chairman and owner of fwhich] is Willis Carto,
who bought the building with money contributed by
many of Liberty Lobby's members in response to an
urgent appeal’; and that Liberty Lobby pays the
Govemmetit Educational Foundation 56,000 per
month rent. The implication is that plaintiff Carto
derives personal profit from the excessive rent
charged to Liberty Lobby."  Libersy Lobby, 146
F.2d.at 1577.

Eringer's information supportin g this allcgation was
pariially corroborated in the Washington Post and
the Narional Review, which reported that the Gov-
cmment Educational Foundation (“GEF™) is
“Liberty Lobby's landlord” and the sole owner of
Liberty Lobby's building and that “Carto signed as
Chairman of GEF when it purchased the Liberty
Lobby building.” Bermant Aff.App. at 11-12, As
noted above, this Court finds that to the extent that
Eringer's information was inaccurate, Bermant's
good faith reliance upon it is not impugned. This
Court has found “woefully short and border]ing] on
the frivolous™ claims that actual malice was shown
by: (1) allegations of bias; (2} destruction of notes;
(3) limited investigation: and {4} claims that the
publisher should have demanded specific substanti-
ation because the author of the article could not
have been expected to do much fact checking fora
320 fee. Joseph v. Xerox Corp., 594 F.Supp. 330,
335 (D.D.C.1984).

Allegation 15 asserts that Carto “organized and pro-
moted the Joint Council for Repatriation” and that
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by “repatriation” Carto meant the “forced deporta-
tion of all blacks to Africa.” Liberty Lobby, 746
F.2d aL 1578. The Court of Appeals found that
“ft]he published sources relied upon by the defend-
ants support the asscriton that Carto created this or-
ganization and that its purpose was to “send[ ]
American blacks back to Aftica™ Jd The Court
reasoned that since no source explicitly established
that “forced deportation™ was the goal of the Joint
Council for Repatriation and since the defendants
were aware of at least one source which “asserted
that Carto (overily, at least) only sought ‘voluntary’
repatriation,” there was, under the preponderance
standard, sufficient evidence to send to the jury the
question “whether this allegation, if false, was
made with actual malice.” fd.

The defendants offer evidence of Bermant's good
faith reliance on a reputable source in the person of
William Cox, a Justice Department official, who
declared that the “Joint Council for Repatriation™
was “for the deportation of American blacks (o
Aftica™ Bermant Aff.App. at 10. The cox allega-
tion is cited in conjunction with an excerpt from a
report in the National Review that quoted Carto's
correspondence on the subject:

“The revolutionists have seen to it, Carto wrote the
racist author Earnest Sevier Cox in 1955, “that only
a few Americans are concerned about the inevitable
niggerification of America.” But Carto had a plan,
for a “flank attack.” He established, and promoted
secretly, the Joint Council for Repatriation-a send-
em-back-to-Africa movement with an added bene-
fit: of ... such a movement would bo the strongest
blow against the power of organized Jewry that can
be imagined.”

*8 Simonds, “The Strange Story of Willis Carto,”
National Review, Scpt. 10, 1971, at 979; Bermant
Aff.App. at 14, ’

This Court finds that Bermant's reliance upon the
above sources, coupled with what Bermant's invest-
igations had revealed to him about Carte's virulent
racism and MNazism, is evidence sufficient to rebut

plaintiff's evidence in support of 2 claim of actual
malice as to this allegation.

With regard to the evidence indicating that defend-
ants were aware of the Washingion Post article con-
tradicting the published allegation, this Court notes
that consistent with the definition of actual malice
in 8t. Amanit, courts have held that & plaintiff does
not create a jury issuc of actual malice by demon-
strating that a publisher misinterpreted his source
material, Time, Inc. v, Pape, 40t U.S. 279, 290
(1971); or by offering other evidence of
“reportorial negligence,* Pauling v. Globe-
Democrat Publishing Co., 362 F.2d 188, 198 (8ih
Cir.1966) (Blackmun, 1) (cited with approval in
Greenbelt Cacperative Publishing Association w.
Bresler, 398 US. 6, 9 (1970Y), cert. denied, 388
U.S, 909 (1967); Dacey v. Florida Bar, Ine,, 427
F.2d 1292 (5th Cir.1970),

This Court finds that defendants’ knowledge of the
existence of a contradictory source, withont more,
does not constitute clear and convincing evidence
of actual malice. Brown v. Herald Co., 698 F.2d
049, 951 {8th Cir.1983). Indeed, given that the
“send-em-back-to-Africa” language quoted above
arguably implies the use of force, it cannot be said
that. Bermant's interpretation of it was other than
one “possible rational interpretation [ ],” giving this
Conrt no basis for a finding of actual malice. Bose
Corporation v, Consmmers Union, 446 U.8. 485,
512-13 (1984) (quoting Time Inc. v, Pave, 401 US.

.279, 250 (1971)). In Bose, the Supreme Court held

that malice may not be inferred from inaccurate
language chosen to deseribe an cvent where the de-
scription is * ‘one of a number of possible rational
interpretations’ of an event *that bristled with ambi-
guitics,” * Id. Nor, for cxample, can malice be
shown where the quoted language does not contain
the exatt words used by the plaintiff, provided that
the fabricated quotations are cither “rational inter-
pretations™ of ambiguous remarks made by the pub-
lic figure, Dunn v. Garrnelt New York Newspapers,
Inc,, 833 F.2d 446, 452 (34 Cir.1987), or do not
“alter the substantive content™ of unambiguous re~

© 2008 Thomson Reuters/West, No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Warks.

3854a

b oaen Laenees



.

Not Reported in F.Supp.

Pepe 8

Not Reported in F.Supp., 1991 WL 186998 (D.D.C)), 19 Media L. Rep. 1011

{Cite 2s: 1991 WL 186998 (D.D.C.))

marks actually made by the public figure. Horch-
ner v. Castillo-Puche, 551 F.2d 910, 914 {2d Cir.),

cert, denied sub nom. Hotchner v, Doubleday &

Co, 434 U.S, 834 (1977).

Finally, this Court must consider whether the re-
cord supports a finding of actual malice by clear
and convincing evidence as to Allegation 10, “the
illustration suggesting that Carto emulated Hiller,
and Allegation 29, “that Carto joined in the singing
of “Hitler's “Horst Wessel Lied” * and delivered o
speech in an attempt to emulate Hitler' s style and
charisma.” Liberiy Lobby, 746 F.2d at 1578.

*3 The Court finds that the implication that Carto
emulates Hitler in appearance or action is defamat-
ory and that the record could support a reasonnble
Jury finding that the defendants published thesc al-
legations with actual malice.

The defendants do not deny that the illustration
identifics Carto, Nor do they produce any evidence
that Carto has ever sported facial hair or that he is
given to addressing audiences with a Nazi salute.
Their sole dofense argues that since “the plaintiff
did not prevail on the allegation that Carto greatly
admired Hitler and sought to succeed him, they can
scarcely prevail merely because the illustration
might bring home the link between Carto and Hitler
more vividly to the reader,” Defendants' Memor—
andum in Support of Renewed Grant of Summary
Judgment at 20.

The defendant’s argument is plainty without merit.
It is one thing to assert that someone admires & his-
torical figure-infamous though he may be. It is
quile another to accuse someone of emulating that
persoh in appearance or action. The latter allegation
not only suggests that Carto is a Nazi but also im-
plics, among other things, that he is deluded and
perhaps insane. These are implications that a reas-
onable jury might find to be defamatory and to have
been published with actual malice.

With regard to the description of Carto joining in

the singing of a Hitlerinn song and making a speech

cmulating Hitler, the Court of Appeals* conclusion
that the defendants were on notice as to the prab-
able falsity of this allegation is fully suppostcd by
the evidence and is unaffected by the new standard
to be applied.

These allegations were previously published in
True magazine and were co-authored by Joseph
Spear, an editor of The favestigator. The informa-
tion was taken from an article which had been the
subject of a prior lawsuit. While this may not be, in
and of itsclf, evidence indicative of actual malice, it
should nonetheless have given defendants pause
prior to publishing information based solely on that
article.

This Court finds that the defendants’ proffered evid-
ence corroborates the True article allegations that
Carto had been a guest of honor at & gathering at
which guests sang the “Horst Wessel Lied” and that
Carto thereafter delivered an anti-cemitic speech.
Bermont  Aff.App. at 36-37. Those sources,
however, do not corroborute the substance of the
present atlegations. Rather, these allegations are
“fabricalions”™ from an obviously doubtful source
and are clear examples of details that could demon-
strate actval malice. S1. Amanr, 390 U.S, at 732.

Thik Court concludes that Alfegations 19 and 29 are
defamafory and that the evidence in the record
could support a reasonable jury finding that the
plaintiffs have shown, by clear and convincing
evidence,that the statements were published actual
malice; this Courl further holds that the record fails
to support & finding that Allegations 11, 13, 14, 15,
17, 23, and 27 were published with actual malice
and therefore the defendants' Motion for Suremary
Judgment is granted as to thoce allegations only,

*10 An appropriste Order accompanics this
Memorendum opinion,

ENI. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 471
U.S. 1134 (1985).

FN2. This Court and the Court of Appeals
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have found nonactionable, infer alia, de-
fendant’s allegations that Carte is the
“leading anti-semitic in the country™,
Liberty Lobby, 746 F.2d at 1576; thathe is
a “Hitler fan", a “neo-fascist™, id,; that he
had a plan to “establish a dictatorship™ in
the United States, id at 1577; and that
“Liberty Lobby was infillrated by Nazis
who revere the memory of Hitler™ and whoe
constitute *a neo-nezi underground™ whose
members “control a publishing propaganda
network stretching to the far comers of
America,"id, at 1575,

FN3. Bermant Dep. Tr. at 73, 116; Affi-
davit of Charles Bermant p. 5, and Ap-
pendix [hereinafter Bermant Aff.App.]
(giving specific sources for each published
allegation complained of as libelous by de-
fendants),

FN4, Supplemental Answers to First Sct of
Plaintilfs' Interrogatories to Investigator
Publishing Company, July 19, 1982,

FNS5. The Court of Appeals hos recognized
that Bermant was entitled td rely on the Si-
monds article, Liberty Loblby, 746 F.2d at
1576.

D.D.C,1991,

Liberty Lobby, Inc. v. Anderson

Not Reposted in F.Supp, 1991 WL 186998
(D.D.C), 19 Media L. Rep, 1011 *

END OF DOCUMENT
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HOuly the Westlaw citation is cumrently avallable,

UNPUBLISHED OPINION. CHECK COURT
RULES BEFORE CITING.

Superior Court of New Jersey,
Appellate Division.
H, Alion NEFF, SRV Marine Engines, Inc,, and 1107
North West Central Avenue, Inc., Plaintiffs-
Appeliants,

V.
George COATES afk/a George J. Coates, Coates
Intemational, Ltd., Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs-
Respondents,
and
Well to Wire Energy, Inc., Defendant-Respondent,
and
Coates Enterprises, Ltd., Coates Precision Engineer-
ing, Ltd., Coates Automotive, Ltd., Coates Engine
Manufacturing, Ltd., Coates Technologies, Ltd,,
Coates Trusts, a Trust duly organized pursuant to the
laws of the State of New Jersey, Bemnadette Coates,
Yvanne Murphy, Sean Murphy, Michael Panabianco,
Dr., Richard Evans, Gregory M. Coates, Paul V.,
Sheridan, Gus Suckow, Paul Casagrande, Thomas
Taylor, William Cavanaugh, Henry R, Carter, Shi-
geru Wakabayashi, Shirley Naidel, John Nicholson,
Lawrence J. Schmertzer, Joseph Tomasek, Defen-
dants,

v,
Gary Sommer, Third-Party Defendant-Appellant,
Arpued April 8, 2008,
Decided May 9, 2008.

On appeal from the Superior Court of New Jersey,
Law Division, Ocean County, Docket to, L-977-04.

Peter A. Quda argued the cause for appellant H. Al-
ton Neff (Mr. Neff and Mr. Ouda, on the brief).

Donald E,_Taylor argued the cause for appellants
SRV Marine Engines, Inc., 1107 North West Central
Avenup, Inc. and Gary Sommer (Wilentz, Goldman
& Spitzer, P.A., attomeys; Mr. Taylor, on the brief),

William J. Wolf argued the cause for respondents
Coates International, Ltd. and George Coates (Bath-
gate, Wegener & Wolf, P.C ., attomneys; Mr. Wolf, on
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the brief).

John F. Gelson argued the cauce for respondent Well
to Wire Encrgy, Inc. (McLaughlin, Gelson, D'Apalito
& Stanffer, LLC, atiomeys; Mr. Gelson, of counsel;
Richard 3, Shaklee, on the bricf),

Before Judges SKILLMAN, YANNOTT! and
LeWINN,

PER CURIAM,

*1 Plaintiffs H. Alton Neff (Neff), SRV Marine En-
gines, Inc. (SRV), and 1107 Noith West Centra)
Avenue, Inc. (1107) appeal from an order entered on
February 13, 2007, and thereafter amended, which
dismissed their complaint and suppressed their an-
swers and defenses to the counterclaim filed by de-
fendants Coates Intemational, Ltd, (CIL) and Georpe
J. Coates (Coates). Third-party defendant Gary
Sommer appeals from the provisions of the February
13, 2007 order suppressing his answer and defenses
to CIL's and Coates' third-party complaint. Neff,
SRV, 1107 and Sommer also appeat from an order
entered on April 30, 2007, which denied their mo-
tions for veconsideration. We affirm in part, reverse
in part, and remand for firther procecdings,

L

This matter commenced on March 29, 2004, when
Neff filed a pro se complaint against CIL, Coates,
Well to Wire Energy, Inc. (Well to Wire), Joseph
Tomacck (Tomacek), and numerous other defen-
dants. The complaint later was amended to include
SRV and 1107 as plaintiffs. The claims set forth in
the complaint arose from contracts dated March 22,
2002, between 1107 and CIL, relating to the Coates
Spherical Rotary Valve (CSRV) combustion engine
that was invented by Coates and his family members.

According to the complaint, CIL agreed to sell and
1107 agreed to purchase, an exclusive license to mar-
ket the CSRYV technology to Ford Motor Company
for use by Ford in the manufacture and sale of ifs
automobiles throughout the world. CIL also agreed to
sell, and 1107 agreed to purchase, an exclusive li-
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cense to sell the CSRV technology for use in the
manufacture of certain marine craft. 1107 agreed to
pay CIL $25 million for each license. 1107 paid CIL
a total of $500,000 as down payments on the licenses
and transferred its rights in the agreements to SRV,
SRV subsequently “assigned all of those rights” to
Neff. '

Because CIL allegedly failed to tender the final li-
censes and related escrow aprecments, SRV de-
manded the return of the deposits, but CIL refused to
return the money. Plaintiffs alleged, among other
things, that 1107 entered the agrecments, and others
provided monies for the deposits made by 1107, in
reliance upon certain false and misleading statements
made by Coates and others concerning the CSRV
technology and ClL's agreements related thereto,

Based on these allegations, plaintiffs asserted various

causes of actions, specifically claims for consumer
frand in violation of the Consumer Frand Act (CFA),
NJIS A 56:8-1 t6-20; frand and misrepresentation;
negligent misrepresentation; negligence; breach of
contract; bréach of the implied covenant of good faith
and fair dealing; and legal malpractice. Plaintiffs
sought rescission of the agreements, cotapensatory
damages, treble damages pursuant to the CFA, puni-
tive damages, attorneys' fecs, costs of suit, and
“[s]uch other relief as may be just and proper.”

On December 27, 2004, Coates, CIL, Tomacsek, and
certain other defendants filed an answer in which
they generally denied plaintiffs® allegations, and as-
serted cross-claims for indemnification against all of
the other defendants. In addition, CIL and Coates
asserted counterclaims against Neff, SRV and 1107,
and third-party claims against Sommer for tortious
interference with current and prospective business
relationships, trade dispamgement, and defamation.

*2 The trial judge entered a case management order
on March 10, 2005, which estabiished a discovery
end date of December 30, 2005. The order required
the patties to serve additional interrogatories by
March 30, 2005, plaintiffs to answer interrogatories

and a demand for the production of documents by-

March 30, 2005, CIL to answer interrogatories by
April 15, 2005, and the completion of depositions of
the parties and fact witnesses by September 30, 2005.

. Therezafier, Coates, CIL, Tomacek, and cerfain other

Page2

defendants filed & motion for partial summary judp-
ment. The trial judge entered an order on March 17,
2005, which granted in part, and denied in part, the
relief sought, The order essentially provided that Neff
could pursue his contractual clafms against CIL and
Coates, and 1107 could pursue certain tort claims
against Well to Wire, CIL and Coates. Plaintiffs' le-
gal malpractice claim against Tomacek was dis-
missed with prejudice,

Allthough the March 17, 2005 order dismissed certain
claims asserted by SRV and 1107 without prejudice,
and allowed SRV and 1107 to file an amended com-
plaint with more specific atlegations, it appears that
they did not do so. Nevertheless, SRV remained in
the case because it had been named in CIL's and
Coates' counterclaim,

SRV and 1107 did not file an answer to the counter-
claim, and Sommer did not answer the third-party
complaint. Accordingly, default was entered against
them. Thereafter, SRV, 1107 and Sommer moved to
vacate the default, allow SRV and 1107 to file an
answer to the counterclaim, allow Sommer to answer
the third-party complaint, and permit Sommer to file
a counterclaim against Coates and CIL. Apparently,
the proposed answers and counterclaim were submit-
ted to the court with the motion papers.

On February 15, 2006, the trial judge heard argument
ont the motion. The judge granted the motion to va-
cate the default. The judge allowed SRV and 1107 to
file an answer to the counterclaim, and Sommer to
answer the third-party complaint. However, the judge
stated on the record that Sommer's counterclaim
apainst Coates and CIL did not “add anything” and
Sommer's motion for leave to file the counterclaim
would be denied, Despite the judge's statement that
Semmer would not be permitted to file his counter-
claim, the coust entered an order on February 27,
2006, which declared that the answer and the coun-
terclaim had been filed,

By letter dated March 21, 2006, William J. Wolf,
counsel for CIL and Coates, advised Angela White
Dalton, who was counsel for plaintiffs and Sommer
at the time, that the court's February 27, 2006 order
erroneously stated that Sommer's counterclaim was
filed. However, it appears that neither Ms. Dalton nor
Mr. Wolf brought the matter to the court's attention
or otherwise took any action to corvect the eror.
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‘The judge eatered another case management order on
June 16, 2005, which established a new discovery
schedule. The parties thercafter engaged in some dis-
covery. The parties exchanged answers to interroga-
tories, and plaintiffs produced certain documents, In
addition, Mr. Wolf endeavored to schedule deposi-
tions for Neff and Sommer; however, the depositions
were not scheduled.

*3 On February 16, 2006, the judge entered another
case management order, which established a new
discovery end date of September 30, 2006. The order
required plaintiffs to serve additional discovery re-

" quests by February 24, 2006, and included a schedule

for the depositions of Neff, Coates, Sommer and
other fact witness. The order additionally provided
that plaintiffs' expert could pick up at Coates's “estab-
lishment” a Ford Mustang with an engine, a “disas-
sembled V-8 engine,” and a V-6 engine “found in a
Mercedes-Benz vehicle” for examination and testing.
The order required plaintiffs to retumn the vehicles
and engines immediately “upon completion of the
testing.” The order also required the parties to pro-
duce their expert reports by specified dates, and man-
dated the completion of the experts' depositions by
August 31, 2006,

In response to this order, the parties engaged in addi-
tional discovery. Plaintiffs' expert picked up CIL's
automobiles and engines for inspection; however,
they were not returned to CIL as required by the or
der. Neff was deposed in March and April 2006 but
his deposition was not completed. Sommer and
Coates were not deposed. Depositions were sched-
uled for certain third-party witnesses but the deposi-
tions were cancelled and not rescheduled. Plaintiffs
did not produce their expert reports by April 15,
2006, and the experts' depositions were not com-
pleted within the time mandated by the court,

The judge entered an order on September 26, 2006,
which required phintiffs to produce cerfain docu-
ments and materials by October 4, 2006. The Judge
cntered another order on September 26, 2006, which
required plaintiffs to retum the Ford Mustang to CIL
by October 15, 2006. This order also provided that, in
the event plaintiffs wanted to test the Mercedes-Benz,
they were to advise defendants and the court by Oc-

tober 4, 2006 “whether or not [plainti{ls expert] is *

able to test the vehicle and what specific mechanical

Page 3

devices he needs to complete testing of the vehi-
cle."Thereafter, plaintiffs did not inform the cotmt or
defendants that they wanted to conduct further tests
of the Mercedes-Benz

The judge entered an order on September 29, 2006,
which required, among other things, that Neff be de-
posed by October 16, 2006 and Sommer be deposed
by October 31, 2006, Plaintiffs were ordered to return
the Mercedes-Benz to CIL within fifteen days. Plain-
tifls also were ordered to furnish their expert reports
by October 30, 2006, In addition, defendants were
required 1o provide their expert reports by December
15, 2006, and the depositions of all experts were to
be completed by January 15, 2007. The order desig-
nated February 15, 2007 as the new discovery end
date,

On October 31, 2006, Coates and CL moved pursuant
to Rule 4:23-2 to dismiss plaintiffs' complint and
suppress Sommer’s answer and defenses to the third-
party complaint with prejudice, In a certification
submitted in support of the motion, Mr. Wolf stated
that he had attempted to schedule depositions for
Neff and Sommer on various dates in October 2006
but counsel for Neff and Sommer did not respond,
and Neffand Sommer did not appear for their deposi-
tions. In addition, Mr. Wolf asserted that the court
had ordered plaintiffs to produce certain documents
by Oclober 4, 2004, and plaintiffs had oot done so.
Mr. Wolf also stated that CIL's automobiles and en-
gines had not-been returned by October 15, 2006, as
required by the court's order.

*4 The judge heard argument on the motion on Janu-
ary 19, 2007, and filed a letter opinfon dated Jonuary
22, 2007, in which he noted that Mr, Wolf's asser-
tions were uncontroverted. The judge stated that
plaintiffs and Sommer had not explained why they
did not comply with the court's orders. The judge
stated:

The Case Management Orders were specific In nature
and were intended to accommodate the needs of

. both the (pllaintififs] and the [djcfendant. More

importantly, the discovery Orders of February 16,
2006, September 26, 2006 and September 29, 2006
were prepared by the Court to emphasize to the at-
torneys the necessity of complying with discovery
orders. A comparison of the February 16, 2006
Case Management Order and the September 26 and

LTS P
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29, 2006 Case Management Orders reflect that
very little was accomplished in that period of time
and nothing was accomplished between September
29, 2006 and January 19, 2007, the date of oral ar-
guments,

The judge stated that an evidentiary hearing was re-
quired to determine the appropriate sanctions for the
discovery violations. The judge noted that it was nec-
essary to determine “the full extent of” the parties'
failure to comply with the court's.orders. The judge
stated that defendants had been prejudiced because
they had been required to incur legal fees to defend
the “substantial” claims assertcd against them. The
judge also stated that, although imposition of counsel
fees was an available remedy, without a hearing, he
could not determine whether such a remedy would
“ameiiorate” the prejudice to defendants,

The judge conducted the evidentiary hearing on Feb-

_ reary 5, 2007, Mr, Rihacek, who represented plain-
1iffs and Sommer in September and October 2006,

. testified at the hearing. Neff also testified. The judge
filed another letter opinion on February 13, 2007, in
which he stated the following:

Subsequent to the Court’s Case Management Or-
ders of September 26, 2006 and September 29,
2006, {pllaintiff's attomey, Mr. John T. Rihacek,
notified his client, and more particularly, Mr. H,
Alton Neff, of the requirements contained within
the Case Management Orders. He specifically ad-
vised Mr, Neff to retum the vehicles as per the
Court Order. Mr., Neff disregarded instructions not
only of the Court, but that of his own counsel,

On October 4, 2006, [Vr. Woll] notified the Plain-
tiff's counsel of available dates for the taking of the
deposition of Mr. Neff and Mr. Sommér. No re-
sponse was provided to Mr. Woll and no explana-
tion was given as to why the depositions had not
been completed, In fact, as of the date of the ple-
nary hearing, the Plaintiff has failed to abide by the
terms of the Orders, or provide an explanation that
justifies disregarding the Court's Orders. ¥ find that
the actions of the Plaintiff were, in fact, deliberate
and contumacious. .

The judge noted that dismissal with prejudice is the
most severe sanction that could be imposed for a dis-
covery violation but he concluded thaf no lesser sanc-
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tion would suffice. The judge wrote that the sanction
would properly penalize the parties who had “caused
the difficulty[,]” but also deter others “who might be
tempted” to violate court orders. The judge accord-
ingly entered an order dated February 13, 2007,
which granted the motion to dismiss plaintiffs' com-
plaint and suppress Sommer's answer and defenses to
the third-party complaint,

*5 On March 8, 2007, SRV and Somer filed 2 motion
for reconsideration. In a certification submitted in
support of the motion, Sommer said that his attomey
had never advised him that the court had entered the
case management orders in September 2006, Sommer
stated that he was not aware of the orders until Janu-
ary 2007, Neff also submitted a supplemental certifi-
cation, in which he stated that Sommer had not been
involved in the handling of the litigation, Neff as-
seried that he had not discussed “any aspects of the

Jitigation™ with Sommer.

On March 30, 2007, the judge heard argument on the
reconsideration motion and'placed his decision on the
record, The judee rejected Sommer's assertion that he
was unaware of the comt's September 2006 orders.
The judge stated:

- [Neff] and [Sommer] do have a relationship here,
{Neff] is, in fact, a principal in the plaintiff corpo-
ration.... I know he's a principal, There aren't a lot
of principals in that f[company]. He's a substantial
investor in that company, and { am convinced there
were communications between [Neff] and [Som-
mer] as to the status of the liligation, 1 can't for the
life of me believe that that never happened....
[TThere's nothing before me that would indicate
that [ should change my ruling...,

On April 30, 2007, the judge entered an order deny-
ing the motion for reconsideration, The judge also
filed an order dated April 30, 2007, which amended
the February 13, 2007 order to state that “the motion
to dismiss the complaint and suppress the answer and
defenses of fthe] Third-Party Defendant and the an-
swer and defenses 1o the counterclaim is hercby

granted.”

NefT filed a notice of appeal on June 12, 2007. SRV,
1107, and Sommer filed a natice of appeal on June
i4, 2007. We entered an order on August 13, 2007,

- consolidating the appeals,

v ni
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We first consider whether the orders entered on Feb-
tuary 13, 2007 and April 30, 2007 are final orders
that may be appealed pursuant to Rele 2:2-3(2)(1).
Under that rule, appeals may be taken to the Appel-
Tate Division “as of right” from a “final judgment” of
the trial court. Janicky v. Point Bay Fuel e, 396
Nt Super, 545, 549 (App.Div.2007).*To be a final
Jjudgment, an order gencrally must ‘dispose of all
c¢laims against all parties,” “ Jbid. (quoting SN,
Golden Estates, [ne. v, Cont! Cas Co, 317
N.JSuper. 82, 87 {App.Div,1698)).

As stated previously, the orders entered on February
13, 2007 and April 30, 2007 dismissed plaintifis’
complaint, suppressed plaintiffs’ answer and defenses
to the counterclaim, and suppressed Sommer's answer
and defenses to the third-party complaint, On May
11, 2007, the partics filed a stipulation of dismissal,
which states that the counterclaim and third-party
complaint are dismissed without prejudice “subject to
being reassested only™ if the order “dismissing [plain-
tiffs"] complaint and suppressing the answer and de-
fenses to the counterclaim andfor [the} third-party
complaint is reversed on appeal [.J* The partics ap-
parently assumed that this stipulation disposed of all
claims as to all parties in the action.

*6 However, Sommer’'s counterclaim against CIL and
Coates remained pending in the trial court. As noted
previously, the judge had entered an order on Febnu-
ary 27, 2006, which declared that Sommer's counter-
claim was “filed.” The judge had inadvertently
signed that order despite his statement on the record
on February 15, 2006 that he would net permit Som-
mer to file the counterclaim.

We are satisfied that although Sommer's counter-
claim was technically filed in this action, the pleading
was filed in ervor. Thus, the May 11, 2007 stipulation
of dismissal disposed of the claims that were pending
in the trial court,

The question remains, however, as to whether the
May 11, 2007 stipulation represents the sort of manu-

faclured finality criticized in Ruski v. City of

Bayonne, 356 N.fSuper. 166 {App.Diy,2002), In that

case, the trial comrt granted summary judgment to
two defendants, the City of Bayonne and the
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Bayonne Police Department. fd_at_167.Previously,
the cowt had grented summary judament to other
public entity defendants. fd_at 168, The court entered
a consent order dismissing without prejudice the one
remaining claim against a non-public-entity defen-

.dant, /bid, The consent order stated that the com-

plaint could be reinstated upon completion of “all
appeals of or involving the other defendants/co-
defendants 1o the within action previously
Joined."Tbid.

In Ruski, we stated that the consent order was “mani-
festly an improper maneuver to evade the rule against
interlocutory appeals in the absence of Jeave
granted.*16/d. We said:

A conditional dismissal in these terms creates only
the illusion of finality. The literal terms of thc con-
sent order would permit plaintiff, after failing on
the merits of this appeal, to refile the complaint
against the remaining defendant, This would con-
firm, after the fact, that the appeal was interlocu-
tory ail along. In the face of the condition con-
tained in the consent order, plaintiff's attempt to
couch this appeal as from a final order can only be
seen as an effort to circumvent the standards gove
erning appellate pracedure. Tt violates the spirit and
intent of the court sules, and it interferes with this
court's ability to manage its docket.

A trial court may be tempted to enter a dismissal
order of this type because it would dispose of a
case at least temporarily, but case disposition for
disposition's sake is not the goal of our system. A
tria] judge should not encourage or participate in
such tactics, After the fast summary judgment or-
der was entered, the remaining parties had a choice
of settling the issues between thei, obtaining a
dismissal with prejudice, or proceeding to trial,
They were not entitfed to craft a mechanism that
manipulated the provisions of the court rules gov-
eming cligibility 1o appeal to this court as of right.
See R 2:2-3,

{Id. at 168-69.]

Although there are some similarities between the

stipulation of dismissal filed in this case and the con«
sent order involved in Ruski, there is a difference.
The stipulation filed in this matter dismissed the
counterclaim and third-party complaint without
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prejudice and allows the re-filing of those pleadings
only if the order “dismissing the complaint and sop-
pressing the answer and defenses to the counterclaim
and/or the third-party complaint is reversed on ap-

peal [.]n‘

+7 In any event, even if we were to conclude that the
May i1, 2007 stipulation only created an illusion of
finality, we would grant leave to appeal munc pro
tunc pursuant to Rule 2:4-4(b)(2). The parties have
fully briefed the issues raised in these appeals and the
interest of justice warrants their resolution at this
time. R 2:24.

11

We next consider whether Sommer's and S8RV's ap-

. peals are moot. It is well-established that New Jersey

courts will not consider an action “when a contro-

versy no longer exists and the disputed issnes have’

become mool.” DeVesa v, Dorsey, 134 N.J, 420, 428
{1993) (citing Oxfeld v. N.J_State Bd. of Educ, 68
N.J_ 301, 303-04 {1975)). An issue is “technically
moot when the ofiginal issue presented has been re-

“solved[.]"Ibid

The trial court's March 17, 2005 order essentially
dismissed all of SRV's affirmative ¢laims, and therc-
after SRV remained in the case only because it had
been named in the counterclaim, The dismissal of the
counterclaim did not make SRV's appeal from the
suppression of ifs answer to that pleading moot be-
cause the counterclaim may be re-filed, depending on
the outcome of SRV's appeal. Similarly, the dismissal
of the third-party claim against Sommer did not ren-
der his appeal from the suppression of his answer to
that pleading moot. The third-party claim may be re-
filed if Sommer prevails on his appeal.

Indeed, the stipulation of dismissal filed in this matter
does not preclude SRV and Sommer from pursving
their appeals. The stipulation recognizes that the ap-
peals will go forward and provides that if the Febru-
ary 13, 2007 and Aprit 30, 2007 orders ave reversed,
CiL and Coates may reinstate their claims, Clearly,
the stipulation of dismissal did not resolve the con-
troversy between these parties regarding the suppres-
sion of SRV's and Sommer's pleadings. Therefore,
we conclude that Sommer’s and SRV's appeals are
not moot,
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- ) .

We turn to NefT's appeal from the order dismissing
his claims and suppressing his answer and defenses
to the counterclaim.

Rule 4:23-2(b) authorizes a trial court to impose
sanctions when “a party or an officer, director, or
managing or authorized agent of a party .., fails to
obey an order to provide or permit discovery[.]” The
nile provides that, in these circumstances, the judge
may ¢ntered such orders “as are just,” including:

(1) An order that the matters regarding which the
order was made or any other designated facts shall
be taken to be established for the purposes of the
action in accordance with the claim of the party ob-
{aining the order;

{2) An order refusing to allow the disobedient party
to support or oppost designated claims or defenses,
or prohibiting the introduction of designated mat-
ters in evidence;

{3) An order striking out pleadings or parts thereof]
or staying further proceedings until the order is
obeyed, or dismissing the action or proceeding or
any part theveof, or rendering a judgment by de-
fault against the disobedient party;

*3°(4) In licu of any of the foregoing orders or in
addition thereto, an order treating as a contempt of
court the failure to obey any ordets except an oxder
to submit to a physical or mental examination.

In lieu of any of the foregoing orders or in addition
thereto, the court shall require the party failing to
obey the order to pay the reasonable expenses, in-
cluding attomey’s fees, caused by the failure,
unless the court finds that the failure was substan-
tially justified or that other circumstances make an
award of expenses umjust.

The Supreme Court has stated that the “ultimate
sanction”, of; dismissal of a complaint with prejudice
should be imposed “only sparingly.” Zaccardi v,

Becker 88 NI 245, 253 (1982). The * ‘dismissal of

a party's cause of action, with prejudice, is drastic and

. is generally not to be invoked except in those cases in

which the order for discovery goes to the very foun-
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dation of the cause of action, or whether the refusal to

comply is deliberate and contumacious.” * dbwrax

Pharm., Inc. v, Elkins-Sinn,_inc, 139 N.J. 499, 514
(1995) (quoting Lang v, Morgan's Home Equip.
Corp. 6 N.J. 333, 339 (1951)), In addition, because *
*dismissal with prejudice is the ultimate sanction, it
will normally be ordered only when no lesser sanc-
tion will suffice to erase the prejudice suffered by the
non-delinquent party, or when the litigant rather than
the attorney was at fault,” “ /bid, (quoting Zaccards
supra, 88 N.J at 253).

The standard that applies to our review of an order
dismissing or suppressing pleadings for “discovery
misconduct is whether the trial court abused its dis-
cretion[.J*/d. at 517.We may not intervene “unless an
injustice appears to have been done."Jbid.

Moreover, we must defer to the trial court's findings
of fact and conclusions of law “ ‘unless we are con-
vinced that they are so manifestly unsupported by or
inconsistent with the competent, relevant and rea-
sonably credible evidence as to offend the interests of

Justice.” “ Rova Farms Resort, Inc. v_jnvestors {ns.
Co. of Am., 65 N.J_ 474, 484 (quoting Fagliarons v,

Twp._of No, Ber en,_ 18 NJSuper. 154 5
{App.Div.), cersif denied, 40 N.J 221 {1963)).

We are convinced that the trial judge did not abuse
his disceetion by ordering the dismissal with preju-
dlce of Neff's claims and suppressing his answer and
defenses to the counterclaim, The trial Jjudge found
that NefT failed to appear for a deposition as required
by the September 26, 2006 order, and failed to return
CIL's property as required by the court's Septermber
26 and September 29, 2006 orders. The judge addi-
tionally found that Neff's failure to comply with the
cowrts orders was deliberate and contumacious, In
our view, there is sufficient credible evidence in the
record to support the judge's findings.

As we stated previously, Mr. Rihacek was the attor-

‘ney for the plaintiffs and Sommer at the time the

court entered the September 2006 orders, Mr. Riha-
cek also represented these parlies in October 2006,
Mr. Wolf, who was counsel for CIL and Coates,
wrote to Mr. Rihacek and attempted to schedujed
Neff's deposition within the time required by the Sep-
tember 29, 2006 order. According to Mr. Wolf, Mr.
Rihacek did not respond to his letter, and Neff never
appeared for his deposition,
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*9 At the February 5, 2007 hearing, Mr, Rihacek
stated that Neff did not appear for the deposition be-
cause Neff “was sick at the time In addition, Neff"
testified that he had surgery in December 2005 to
remove certain “stones.” NefT also had progiate sur-
gery in January 2006, Neff asseried that afler the
January 2006 surgery, he was on “doctor's orders to
be on a very reduced schedule,"Neff said that he had
a recurrence of his medical problems in November
2006, and he had additional prostate surpery in Janu-
ary 2007,

Although NefPs testimony indicates that he expeti-
enced medical problems at various times in 2006,
Neff failed to establish that he was too ill to appear
for a deposition in October 2006 as ordered by the
court, Indeed, in his testimony at the February 5,
2007 hearing, Neff conceded that he continued to
practice Jaw afier the January 2006 surgery, and his
practice included real estate closings and engaging in
litigation as a sole practitioner, 2t

ENI, We note that Neff submitted certain
doctor’s notes to substantiste his assertions
regarding his medical problems. The notes
do not state that Neff was toa ill to appear
for a deposition in October 2006,

Even if Neff had been on a “very reduced schedule”
as fie claimed, he failed to explain why he could not
fit a deposition in this “reduced schedule,” Further-
more, Neff's claim that he was too sick to appear for
a deposition in October 2006 is inconsistent with his
assertion at the hearing that he would have appeared
for bis deposition “if someone had scheduled Ly
The record therefore supports the judge’s find ing that
NefF failed to appear for his deposition as sequired by
the court’s order and his failure to do so was deliber-
ale and contumacious,

The record also supports the judge's finding that Neff
deliberatcly and contumaciously filed to comply
with the court’s orders requiring the retum of CIL's
automobiles and engincs. At the hearing, Mr. Riha-
cek testiffed that he advised Neff to comply with the
court’s orders but Neff refused to do so, insisting in-
stead that Mr. Rihacek prepare a motion to sequester
CIL's property based on a claim of spoliation of evi-
dence. The motion was never filed and CIL's auto-
mobiles and engines were not returned to CIL until
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March 2007.

The evidence establishes that Neff knew about the
court'’s orders requiring that plaintiffs retum CIL's
property and chose not to comply. The record also
establishes that neither Neff nor his attomey ever
advised the court that they had objections to the re-
turn of the property. The record therefore supports
the judge's finding that Neff failed to comply with the
court's orders requiring the return of CIL's property
and his non-compliance with those orders was delib-
erate and contumacious.

Neff argues, however, that the judge abused his dis-
cretion by imposing the “nitimate sanction” of dis-
missal with prejudice for his discovery violations.
Neff contends that defendants were not prejudiced by
his failure to comply with the court's orders. We dis-
agree,

As Coates pointed out in his certification filed on
February 1, 2007, this litigation has placed a signifi-
cant burden upon CIL and the employees of that
company. CIL has incurred counsel fees in endeavor-
ing to have Neff and the other plaintiffs comply with
the court’s orders, Morcover, Coates asserted that CIL
has been hammed by what he views as groundless
allegations. Coates says that the delay in resolving
plaintiffs' claims has harmed the company and im-
paired its ability to raise capital. In our view, Coates'
assertions are credible and they provide sufficient
support for the judge's finding that CIL and Coates
were prejudiced by the discovery violations,

*10 Neff also arpues that, even if CIL and Coates
were prejudiced, any such prejudice could have been
fully addressed by monetary sanctions. Again, we
disapree. Even if CIL and Coates had not been preju-
diced by NefPs failure to comply with the court's
orders, dismissal with prejudice can be ordered
“when the litigant rather than the attormey was at
fault.” Zaceardi, supra. 88 N.J. at 253.Because Nefl's
failure to comply with the court’s orders was his fault,
and not the fault of his attorney, dismissal of Nefl's
pleadings with prejudice was not an abuse of discre-
tion, regardless of whether defendants suffered any
prejudice.

Accordingly, we affirm the provisions of the Febru-
ary 13, 2007 order, as amended, dismissing Neff's
claims and suppressing his answer and defenses to
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the counterclaim with prejudice.
V.

We next consider the appeals by SRV, 1107 and
Sommer. These parties maintain that the judge
abused his discretion by dismissing and/or suppress-
ing their pleadings. SRV, 1107 and Sommer argue
that they could not have deliberately or conuma-
ciously violated the court's September 2006 discov-
ery orders because they were not aware of those or-
ders. SRV and 1107 further maintain that the judge
made no specific findings that Sommer, cither indi-
vidually or as president of the corporations, deliber-
ately or contumaciously failed to comply. with the
court's arders,

We agreo with SRV, 1107 and Sommer that the judge
mistakenly exercised his discretion by dismissing
and/or suppressing their pleadings with prejudice, It
is clear from the record that plaintiffs and Sommer
violated the court’s orders, However, while the record
supports a finding that Neff deliberately and contu-
maciously violated the orders, the evidence does not
support similar findings regarding SRV, 1107 or
Sommer, The evidence also does not justify imputing
Neff's wrongful conduct to SRV or 1107.

At the February 35, 2007 evidentiary hearing, Mr.
Rihacek testified that Neff was his primary contact in
handling thic litigation. Although Sommer did not
testify at the hearing, he submitted a certification in
support of the motion for reconsideration of the Feb-
quary 13, 2007 order. In his certification, Sommer
stated that he was never advised about the court's
September 2006 discovery orders. Sommer also as-
serted that he did not know about the court’s orders
until sometime 1ate in January 2007, when he teamned
about the motion to dismiss plaintiffs' complaint for
failure to comply with those orders.

In a supplemental cedification dated March 23, 2007,
Neff stated that Sommer was not in court when the
September 2006 orders were entered. Neff asserted
that after Mr. Rihacek took over as counsel for plain-
tiffs and Sommer, Sommer was not involved in the
handling of the case. Neff stated that he did not dis-
cuss the litigation with Sommer “at any time”.

Neff additfonally asserted that Mr. Kennedy, the at-
tomey who replaced Mr. Rihacek, provided Sommer
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with a copy of the court's September 2006 orders,
However, Mr, Rihacek did not withdraw from the
case until November 2006, Therefore, if Mr, Ken-
nedy had provided the orders to Sommer, that would
have occurred after the deadlines established by the
court's September 2006 orders.

*11 The trial judge found that, despite Sommer's as-
sertions to the contrary, Neff and Sommer had a close
relationship during the fitigation and that Neff and
Sommer had communicated with each other as to the
status of the litigation. Although the record suggests
there may have been some communication between
NefF and Sommer regarding the litigation, there is no
dircct evidence which establishes that Sommer had
specific knowledge of the court's September 2006
discovery orders and deliberately chose not to com-
ply with them,

In addition, the evidence does not warrant a finding
that Sommer deliberately violated the court's orders,
Neff was the party who directed Mr, Rihacek not to
comply with the court's order requiring the return of
CIL's property. There is no evidence that Sommer
instructed Mr. Rihacek to disregard the judge's or-
ders. There also is no evidence that Sommer deliber-
ately refused to appear for a deposition, or instructed
Neffnot to appear for his deposition.

Furthermore, there is insufficient evidence to Justify
tmputing Neff's wrongfol conduct to SRV and 1107.
Although Neff may have been a principal of the cor-
porations, and Neff may have been Mr. Rihacek's
primery contact person for the litigation, there is no
direct evidence that the corporations delegated any
binding decision-making authority to Neff for the
handling of the case. Even if the corporations had
delegated some decision-making responsibility to
Neff for the lawsuit, there is no evidence that the cor
perations authorized Neff to deliberately and contu-
maciously disregard the court's discovery orders,

We therefore conclude that the Jjudge mistakenly ex-

. ercised his discretion by dismissing SRV's and 1107's

claims, suppressing their answer and defenses to the
counterclaim, and suppressing Sommer's answer and
defenses to the third-party complaint,

We add, however, that while the trial Jjudge erred by
imposing the “ultimate sanction” of dismissal with
prejudice upon SRV, 1107 and Sommer, that daes
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not preclude the judge from consideting on remand
whether monetary sanctions are warranted in this
matter. Although the failure by SRV, 1107 and
Sommer to comply with the court's Scptember 2006
discovery orders was not deliberate and contuma-
cious, the fact remains that these parties did not com-
ply with the court's orders and their failure to comply
prejudiced defendants by causing them to incur costs
and expenses that they would not have otherwise
incutred.

Rule 4:23-2(b) permits a trial court to order a delin-
quent party to pay the reasonable expenses, including
attomeys' fees, eaused by the party's failure to com-
ply with a court's discovery order, “unless the court
finds that the failure was substantially justified or that
other circumstances make an award of £Xpenses tin-
Just."Ibid. On remand, the trial Jjudge may consider
whether SRV, 1107 and Sommer should be required
1o bear the costs and expenses incurred by defendants
due to the failure by SRV, 1107 and Sommer to com-
ply with the courl's orders. The Judge alzo may con-
sider whether Neff should bear some part of those
expenses. The rule permits the court to impose mone-
tary sanctions vpon a delinguent party in addition to
the dismissal of the party's pleadings with prejudice.
Ibid,

*12 Affirmed in pant, reversed in pant, and remanded
for further proceedings in conformance with this
opinion, We do not retain jurisdiction,

N.J.Super.A.D.,2008.
Neff v. Coates

Not Reported in A2d, 2008 WL [985022
(N.J.Super.A.D.)

END OF DOCUMENT
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Superior Court of New Jersey,
Appellate Division,
Stephianie SKIDMORE and Michael Skidmore, her
husband, Plaintiffs-Appellants,
.

WALL STADIUM CONCESSIONS, INC., Wall
Stadium Enterprises, Inc., Wall Stadivm; Tucker
Nicol; Thomas Nicol; and Concession Supply Co.,

’ Ing., Defendonts,
and
William JOHNSON; and B.J'S Concessions Corp,
Defendants-Respondents.
Argued Feb, 15, 2006,
Decided March 8, 2006.

On appeal from Superior Court of New Jersey, Law
Division, Ocean County, Docket No. L-1460-01,
George W. Conk argued the cause for appellants
{Hanna & Anderson and Tulipan & Conk, attor-
neys; Mr. Conk, of counsel and on the brief;
Douglas B. Haona, on the brief).

George A. Prutting, Jr. argued the cause for re-
spondents William Johnson and B.J's Concession
Corp. {Prutting & Lombardi, attomeys; Mr. Prut-
fing, Jr., of counsel and on the brief).

Before Judges SKILLMAN and PAYNE.

_ PER CURIAM.

" %1 Plaintiffs appeal from a summary judgment dis-

missing their complaint against defendants BJ.
Coneessions, Inc. and one of its principals, William
J. Johnson.

On June 6, 1999, plaintiff Stephanic Skidmore
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suffered personal injurics from an electric shock in
the course of her employment as a concession stand
worker at Wall Stadium. The electric shock oc-
curred when plaintiff came into contact with a
three-prang electric cord of a pretzel warmer that
was allegedly plugped into an ungrounded two
socket extension cord.

B.J. Concessions supplied the pretzel warmer and
the pretzels sold at the stadium to plaintiffs' em-
ployer, and it received 75% of the proseeds from
the sale of the pretzels. Although Johnson and other
B.J. Concessions employces were sometimes
present at Walt Stadium when the pretzels were be-
ing sold, discovery did not reveal any evidence that
B.J. Concessions played a vole in determining the
Tocation of the pretzel warmer plaintiff operated or
in connecting the warmer to the clectrical recept-
acle. Discovery also did not reveal any evidence
that B.J. Concessions was aware (bat the three-
prong electrical cord on the pretzel warmer was al-
legedly connected to a two-prong ungrounded cx-
tension cerd or that this alleged hazardous condi-
tion would have been visible to B.). Concession's
cmployees. In fact, plaintiff did not present any
-evidence that the cxtension cord was even in use at
the time of her accident,

In gronting summary judgment, Judge O'Bricn
stated in a written opinion:

The plaintiff contends that the defendantsusedan
jmproper extension cord that caused the °

plaintiffs injuries. However, the plaintiff bas
failed to ideatify who plugged in the extension
cord and when it was used. All of the defendants
deny cver secing the extension cord before, as
does the plaintiff. None of the defendants know
how the extension cord pot there and who de-
cided to use it. The defendanis testified that they
did not sign for the pretze! warmer nor place it in
its location. Rather, they opine that the mainten-
ance supervisor of the Stadium probably signed
for and placed the unit where it is. The plaintiff
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has failed to identify who was responsible for the
installation of the pretzel warmer with the exten-
sion cord. When viewing the facts in the light

. most favorsble to the plaintiff, the facts indicate
that [Wall Stadium's employees] placed the pret-
zel warmer in its curcent location,

«. There are simply no facts to support a claim
that the defendants were responsible for the
placemcent of the extension cord or that they even
knew about it. The plaintiff relics on mere specn-
lation and assumption to conclude that one of the
defendants placed the extension cord or fwas] re-
sponsible for its placement.

We affim the summary judgment in favor of B.J.
Concessions and Johnson substantially for the reas-
ons expressed by Judge O'Brien. We also note that
Plaintifl did not allege that there was any defect in
the pretzel warmer and did not assert any products
liability claim. We reject plaintiffs orpument,
raised for the first time on appeal, that BY, Conces-
sfons had a duty to inspect the arca where plaintiff's
cmployer placed the pretzel warmer to determine
whethier there was a hidden hazardous condition.

*2 Affirmed,

N.J.Super.AD,,2006.

Skidmore v. Wall Stadium Concessions, Inc.

Not Reporfed in A.2d, 2006 WL 552505
{(NJ.Super.AD.)
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